
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 
Chief Executive 

Phil Drury 
MCIAT, ACIOB 

 
Municipal Buildings 
Boston 
Lincolnshire   PE21 8QR 
Tel: 01205 314200 
Fax: 01205 364604 

 

 

 

20 November 2018 
 
TO: ALL MEMBERS OF THE CABINET 
 

 
NOTICE OF MEETING OF THE CABINET 

 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are invited to attend a meeting of the Cabinet on 
Wednesday, 28th November, 2018 at 10.00 am 

In the Committee Room, Municipal Buildings, West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR 

 
PHIL DRURY 
Chief Executive 
 
Membership: 
 
Leader of the Council – Councillor Michael Cooper 
Deputy Leader – Councillor Aaron Spencer 
Councillors David Brown, Martin Griggs, Claire Rylott, Paul Skinner and Nigel Welton 

 
 

A G E N D A 
 
PART I - PRELIMINARIES 
 

A   MINUTES (Pages 1 - 10) 
 

 To sign and confirm the minutes of the last meeting, held on 17th October 2018. 
 

B   APOLOGIES  
 

 To receive apologies for absence. 
 

C   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS  
 

 To receive declarations of interests in respect of any item on the agenda. 
 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 

 
 

D   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC  
 

 To answer any written questions received from members of the public no later than 
5 p.m. two clear working days prior to the meeting – for this meeting the deadline 
is 5 p.m. on Friday 23rd November 2018. 
 
 

PART II - AGENDA ITEMS 
 

1   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY (STANDING ITEM)*  
 

2   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE (BTAC) 
(STANDING ITEM)  
 

3   COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME - 2019/20 (Pages 11 - 18) 
 

 (A report by Gemma Creasey, Council Tax and Benefits Manager)  
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Aaron Spencer  
 

4   QUARTER 2 REPORT - PERFORMANCE, RISK AND FINANCE (Pages 19 - 74) 
 

 (A report presented by Suzanne Rolfe, Transformation & Governance Manager, 
and Paul Julian, Chief Finance Officer) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Aaron Spencer  
 

5   WASTE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY FOR LINCOLNSHIRE (Pages 75 - 214) 
 

 (A report by Christian Allen, Head of Operations) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor David Brown  
 

6   STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY CONSULTATION - BOSTON ALTERNATIVE 
ENERGY FACILITY (Pages 215 - 276) 
 

 (A report by the Deputy Chief Executive) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor David Brown   
 

7   LEISURE, GUILDHALL AND SPORT - FUTURE OPERATIONAL 
ARRANGEMENTS (Pages 277 - 280) 
 

 (A report by Phil Perry, Head of Place and Space) 
 
Portfolio Holder: Councillor Claire Rylott  
 
 
 



 

 

 
 
 

8   EXCLUSION OF THE PUBLIC AND PRESS  
 

 To consider resolving - That under Section 100(A)(iv) of the Local Government Act 
1972, as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) (Variation) 
Order 2006, the public and press be excluded from the meeting for the following 
items of business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of exempt 
information as defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12A of the Order. 
 

9   EXEMPT APPENDICES - REVIEW OF OFFERS, AND POTENTIAL 
CONTINUING COUNCIL OPERATIONS AND BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
BUSINESS CASE (Pages 281 - 290) 
 

 Please note: These appendices contain exempt information and are attached as 
appropriate. 
 

 
 

* In accordance with the Constitution, recommendations of Overview and Scrutiny 
Committees referred to Cabinet (if any) shall be included at this point in the 
agenda (unless they have been considered in the context of the Cabinet 
deliberations on a substantive item on the agenda) within six weeks of the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee completing its report / recommendations. 

 
Call-In –any decision taken by the Cabinet concerning an item on this agenda can be 
‘called in’ in accordance with the Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision 
notice being published.  It is expected that the decision notice will be published on                                   
30th November 2018.  Subject to this publication, the deadline for calling in a decision 
is 5 p.m. on Friday 7th December 2018. 
 

 
 

This meeting may be subject to being recorded 
 

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except during 
the consideration of exempt or confidential items. 

 

Emergency Procedures In the event of a fire alarm sounding all attendees are 
asked to leave the building via the nearest emergency exit and make their way to 

the Fire Assembly Point located in the car park at the rear of the Municipal 
Buildings. 

 
Alternative Versions - Should you wish to have the agenda or report in an alternative format 
such as larger text, Braille or a specific language, please contact Democratic Services on 
direct dial (01205) 314227 
 
 
The person to contact about the agenda and documents for this meeting is Lorraine Bush, 
Democratic Services Manager, Municipal Buildings, Boston Tel. no: 01205 314224  e-mail 
lorraine.bush@boston.gov.uk 



This page is intentionally left blank



BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
 

 
NOTICE OF DECISIONS TAKEN BY CABINET ON 17 OCTOBER 2018 

 
DATE OF PUBLICATION: FRIDAY, 19 OCTOBER 2018 

 
DEADLINE FOR CALL-IN: FRIDAY, 26 OCTOBER 2018 

 
NOTES: 
 
A COPY OF THE CABINET AGENDA HAS BEEN PREVIOUSLY CIRCULATED TO 
ALL MEMBERS OF THE COUNCIL.  IF YOU REQUIRE ANY FURTHER 
INFORMATION ON ANY ISSUE PLEASE CONTACT, IN THE FIRST INSTANCE, THE 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER OR OFFICER NAMED IN THE RIGHT HAND COLUMN. 
 

 
MEETING OF THE CABINET 17 October 2018 
 
 
Present: 
Councillor Michael Cooper, in the Chair 
Councillors Aaron Spencer, David Brown, Claire Rylott and Nigel Welton 
 
Officers –  
Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer, Head of Place and Space, Head of 
Environmental Operations, Head of Regulatory Services, Head of Corporate Services 
and Democratic Services Manager 
 
30   MINUTES 

 
The minutes of the meeting of the Cabinet held on 5 September 2018 were received and 
signed by the Chairman. 
 
31   APOLOGIES 

 
Apologies for absence were received from Councillors Martin Griggs and Paul Skinner 
and the Monitoring Officer.  
 
32   DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS 

 
No declarations of interest were made. 
 
33   QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC 

 
A question was submitted by Mr. Darron Abbott to be asked of Councillor Nigel Welton:-  
 
“Many Councils have a definition for Community Groups, I cannot find one issued by 
Boston Borough Councils, so I have attached two from other Councils. Both are very 
similar in definition, If Boston Borough Council had a definition would it be similar to 
these? If not how would it differ?   

Page 1

Agenda Item A



 
Response by Councillor Welton:-  
 
“I thank Mr. Abbott for notice of his question. 
 
The Council does not have a definition of community group.” 
 
Supplementary question asked by Mr. Abbott:-  
 
“I thank Councillor Welton for his very brief answer, but unsurprising answer. I suppose 
this goes along with many things here at Boston Borough Council, if we do not have 
written guidelines the Council can do what it damned well wants without recriminations. 
 
Would it not be good practice to draw up a policy for Community Groups to make the 
Council appear at least little professional? As you will see from the two examples 
supplied both state that members of the community group’s committee should not be 
paid. Does it not concern Councillor Welton that one community group the council is 
funding has already stated at least twice in documents available on the Council’s own 
website, that the committee members intend to pay themselves for their voluntary time 
from public funds?” 
 
Response by Councillor Welton:-  
 
“Thank you I am glad you have raised this definition.  I have looked at various definitions 
of community groups, not just those you forwarded, and found them to be very helpful.  
If I lived in Woking the best practice issued by that Council would be particularly useful.  
Therefore, I will ask Cabinet to look at best practice across local authorities in setting up 
community groups to support our groups going forward.” 
 
34   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY (STANDING 

ITEM)* 
 

There were no recommendations from the scrutiny committees for consideration.  
 
35   RECOMMENDATIONS FROM THE BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE 

(BTAC) (STANDING ITEM) 
 

A recommendation from the Boston Town Area Committee relating to public 
conveniences was the subject of a report on the agenda.  
 
36   HERITAGE STRATEGY FOR THE BOROUGH OF BOSTON (UPDATE) 

 

 
DECISION 
 
That the updated Heritage Strategy for the Borough of Boston be 
adopted and published. 

Portfolio 
Holder 

and 
Officer 

 
Cllr 

Rylott  
 

PP 

Page 2



Cabinet 
17 October 2018 

 

 
 

 

 

 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
The Head of Place and Space introduced a report on a Heritage Strategy which set out 
clear aims and objectives to understand, restore, protect and share Boston’s heritage.  
 
The strategy recognised Boston’s rich and unique heritage as an irreplaceable asset for 
current and future generations which should be sensitively and proactively managed to 
maximise benefit for the people, economy and environment of the town and surrounding 
borough. 
 
The structure of the strategy reflected five key objectives:-  
 

 To provide tangible evidence of the value of Boston’s heritage; 

 To demonstrate value through recent project initiatives and seek ways to build on 
excellent foundations; 

 To understand the existing and potential future challenges faced by Boston’s 
heritage; 

 To continue to develop and build a broad base for support and appreciation of 
Boston’s heritage; 

 To develop a series of achievable short term and longer term priority projects 
based on the findings of the strategy. 

 
The strategy linked the value of heritage to Boston’s development, placebranding and 
offer as a destination and place to live.  Successful investments in heritage within 
Boston had been reviewed including the Market Place redevelopment, the Partnership 
Schemes in Conservation Areas shop front scheme and signage and interpretation 
placebranding project ‘Explore and Discover’. The schemes, together with other 
projects, had made a substantial positive impact on Boston and had further developed 
and advanced partnership working in the local area.  
 
Nine key areas of activity had been identified to establish a clear direction within the 
strategy:-  
 

 Knowledge and awareness 

 Condition 

 Economic viability 

 Residential viability 

 Unsympathetic development and re-development 

 Capacity 

 Community cohesion 

 Location 

 Attracting investment 
 
The strategic direction of the strategy was in line with the Council’s strategic ambition 
‘Boston – Open for Business’ where its corporate priorities were based on ‘Prosperity, 
People, Place and Public Service’. 
 

Page 3



Three themes were highlighted which provided a clear focus of attention for action in 
relation to the nine areas to develop:-  
 

 Understanding and valuing the heritage 

 Realising the potential of the heritage 

 Managing and collaboration within Boston’s heritage 
 
To reconcile development of the nine identified areas with the three strategic themes, a 
number of objectives and associated actions to address them had been incorporated 
into an action plan. The actions would not necessarily be undertaken in isolation or 
exclusively associated with the strategy, the intent was for heritage projects to be 
pursued and delivered using the overarching action plan to inform specific activity 
planning and community engagement to achieve a cohesive and complimentary 
strategic direction to addressing Boston’s heritage.  
 
The draft Boston Heritage Strategy had been subject to a period of public consultation 
and comments received had been incorporated into the final draft strategy.  The strategy 
was then considered by the Planning Committee on 18 September and recommended to 
Cabinet for adoption.  
 
Cabinet endorsed the strategy stating that it recognised the importance of heritage to 
the town, which should be protected.  It was commented that the document should be 
kept up to date and used to support heritage funding bids in the area.  
 

 

 
OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  
 
Not to adopt the strategy.  

 

 
RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  
 
None. 

 

 
RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  
 
None.  

 
 
37   BOSTON TOWN CENTRE CONSERVATION AREA MANAGEMENT PLAN 

2017 TO 2020 (UPDATE) 
 

 
DECISION 
 
That the updated Boston Town Centre Conservation Area Management 
Plan 2017 to 2020 be adopted. 

Portfolio 
Holder 

and 
Officer 

 
Cllr 

Rylott 

Page 4



Cabinet 
17 October 2018 

 

 
 

 
PP 

 

 

 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
The Head of Place and Space introduced a report providing an update on the Boston 
Town Centre Conservation Area Management Plan 2017-2020. 
 
The Management Plan provided a succinct summary of some of the challenges facing 
the Boston Town Centre Conservation area and looked to highlight the opportunities 
available to capitalise on programmes of restoration and enhancement. Also set out was 
the Council’s commitment to the management and enhancement of the area in 
partnership with key stakeholders.  
 
In 2009 the Boston Town Centre Conservation Area was added to Historic England’s 
Heritage at Risk Register.  The Management Plan recognised the successful and 
proactive projects that had been developed to mitigate risk and to improve the 
conservation area and public realms. 
 
Priority objectives had been identified to enable realisation of the Management Plan:-  
 

 Priority one. Continue to support the implementation of the PSiCA scheme. 
 

 Priority two. Support the aims and objectives of Boston’s Townscape Heritage 
Project to enhance the eastern side of the market place. 

 
 Priority three. Boston Borough Council to continue monitoring all current 

enforcement action affecting Listed Buildings within the Conservation Area to 
remedy their contribution to the erosion of the special character of the area. 

 
 Priority four. Using the recently produced Boston Heritage Strategy, identify 

areas of support for the Conservation Area Management Plan and work with 
key stakeholders to agree actions and ownership. 

 
 Priority five. Actively support the aim of the South East Lincolnshire Local 

Plan in relation to conservation to achieve enhancement of the Boston Town 
Centre Conservation Area, facilitating development where appropriate. 

 
Longer term complimentary objectives for developing the Conservation Area were 
identified within the plan:-  
 

 Identify properties at risk within the Conservation Area and take 
appropriate action. 

 Ensure provision of access to advice and guidance on historic property 
management. 

 Reverse the negative impact of unsuitable alterations and poor design on 
the special character of the conservation area.  

 Continue to support public realm improvements. 

Page 5



 Continue to address traffic management concerns. 

 Encourage sensitive and appropriate development/redevelopment. 
 
The plan also reviewed the development, management and enforcement powers which 
could be used to prevent the loss of the special distinctiveness of the historic 
environment and to remedy breaches, unauthorised works or neglect which could be 
deemed detrimental to the building in question or the surrounding area.  
 
The long term aim of the Management Plan was the removal of all of Boston Town 
Centre Listed Buildings at risk from the Historic England’s at Risk Register.  This would 
considerably contribute towards the removal of the Town Centre Conservation Area 
from the Heritage at Risk Register. 
 
With the synergies and associated action plan of the Boston Heritage Strategy aiding 
delivery of projects to raise the priority and longer term objectives of the Conservation 
Area Management Plan, there was a strong framework to structure and achieve those 
ambitions.  
 
The draft of the Management Plan had been subject to a period of public consultation 
and comments received had been incorporated into the plan.  The Management Plan 
was then considered by the Planning Committee on 18 September and recommended to 
Cabinet for adoption.  
 
Cabinet expressed support for the plan.  
 

 

 
OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  
 
Not to adopt the Boston Town Centre Conservation Area Management Plan. 

 

 
RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  
 
None. 

 

 
RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  
 
None. 

 
 
38   REPORT ON BOSTON TOWN AREA COMMITTEE (BTAC) ASSETS - 

PUBLIC CONVENIENCES 
 

 
DECISION 
  
That the recommendations put forward by the Boston Town Area 
Committee (BTAC) to improve the Council’s public conveniences (and 
expenditure of £12,550 from the unallocated reserve sum at the end of 

Portfolio 
Holder 

and 
Officer 

 
Cllr 

Page 6



Cabinet 
17 October 2018 

 

 
 

2017/18, with the completion of the works expected by the end of the 
financial year), be approved. 

Welton 
 

CA 
 

 

 
REASON FOR DECISION 
 
Councillor Nigel Welton, Portfolio Holder for Town Centre, introduced a report by the 
Head of Operations seeking approval for expenditure by the Boston Town Area 
Committee for improvements to the public conveniences. 
 
The report stated that during a tour of BTAC assets held on 20 June, Members 
discussed current public convenience provision and opportunities for improvement.  
 
A consequent report was considered at the BTAC meeting held on 25 July when it had 
been agreed to establish a Sub Group to examine the issues in more detail and make 
recommendations for consideration at the BTAC meeting in September 2018.  
 
The priorities agreed by the Sub Group were to:-  
 

 Improve current facilities; 

 Reduce expenditure on unnecessary repairs due to vandalism; 

 Maximise income from entrance fees to the facilities to enable re-investment in 
improvements.  

 
The Sub Group examined information relating to responsive and planned expenditure on 
the public conveniences, income derived from entrance fees and vandalism experienced 
at each of the facilities.  The Group undertook a tour of the facilities to view the current 
condition, fixtures and fittings and consider relative benefits and costs of installing 
alternatives.  
 
A programme of improvements was drawn up by the Sub Group focusing on reducing 
incidents of vandalism by installing security grilles and replacing sensor operated taps 
with conventional push taps at the facilities in Central Park, Wide Bargate and Lincoln 
Lane and replacing the flooring with ceramic anti-slip floor tiles at the Lincoln Lane 
facility.  
 
The Sub Group considered access issues to the disabled facilities at each of the 
locations which were operated by a RADAR key and available 24/7 to people who held 
RADAR keys, as this would be affected by the installation of security grilles.  
Consultation was undertaken with the Chair and Secretary of the Boston Disability 
Forum who were content with the proposals to bring security arrangements for disabled 
access into line with those for male and female provision, as their members did not 
expect preferential treatment.  
 
At the meeting of BTAC on 26 September the proposals put forward by the Sub Group 
were considered and it was agreed to recommend to Cabinet that expenditure from the 
unallocated reserve sum of up to £12,550 be approved to allow completion of the works 
before the end of the financial year. 

Page 7



 
In accordance with the delegation from Cabinet to BTAC, agreement was sought for the 
expenditure as it was over the £10,000 limit for BTAC to approve.  
 
A fully costed breakdown of the works was appended to the report.  It was anticipated 
that a saving in the revenue budget of between £2,000 and £3,000 would be achieved 
as a result of the works due to a significant reduction in the requirement for responsive 
expenditure on doors, locks, taps and plumbing.  
 
Once the works had been completed the facilities would be more robust and better 
protected from vandalism with a consequential benefit to users of remaining available 
more often, being fit for purpose and in a pleasant condition.  
 
In response to comments regarding the estimated cost of works, it was noted that BTAC 
had carefully scrutinised the expenditure to ensure the works were as required and the 
replacement fittings would be robust, hard wearing and safe.  The costs quoted were a 
‘worst case scenario’ and it was expected that the final amount would be less than the 
budgeted costs.  
 

 

 
OTHER OPTIONS OR ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  
 
Not to approve the expenditure. 

 

 
RECORD OF ANY CONFLICT OF INTEREST  
 
None. 

 

 
RECORD OF ANY DISPENSATION GRANTED  
 
None. 

 
The meeting ended at 10.20 a.m. 

 

Signed by the Chief Executive  
 
       
 
 

19 October 2018 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 8



Cabinet 
17 October 2018 

 

 
 

 
These decisions will come into force (and may then be implemented) on the expiry of 
five clear working days after the date of this notice UNLESS the decisions are 
subjected to the Call-In procedure or are starred minutes requiring Full Council 
approval.  
 

 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 28 NOVEMBER 2018 

SUBJECT: COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME – 2019/20 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: AARON SPENCER - FINANCE 

REPORT AUTHOR: COUNCIL TAX AND BENEFITS MANAGER 

EXEMPT REPORT? No 

 

 

SUMMARY 
 
The Council Tax Support Scheme was introduced in April 2013, and the 
Council’s 2018/19 scheme was agreed in January 2018. This report updates 
members on the operation of the scheme to date, and provides an update on 
the process now being undertaken and the options being put forward for 
consultation, prior to the formal approval of the 2019/20 scheme by Council in 
January 2019.  
 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Cabinet reviews the scheme to date, reviews the proposed options and 
notes the formal consultation, then makes recommendations on the Council 
Tax Support Scheme for the 2019/20 year for Council approval in January 
2019. 
 
 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
To enable members to review the operation of the scheme to date in line with 
the requirements of the Local Government Finance Act 2012, and propose 
scheme options for 2019/20 prior to the recommendation of a scheme to 
Cabinet, and then Council, once the consultation process is completed. 
 
 

 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
To not undertake a review. 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 3



REPORT 
 
1 INTRODUCTION AND BACKGROUND  
 
1.1  As part of the Government’s programme of welfare reform, the Council 

Tax Benefit scheme was replaced by localised support arrangements 
for Council Tax from 2013/14, with Government grant support reduced 
by 10%. From April 2013, Councils are required to establish local 
Council Tax Support (CTS) schemes annually. The support is in the 
form of a discount applied to the Council Tax demand notice. 

 
1.2  The Welfare Reform Act also contains provisions regarding the 

introduction of Universal Credit (UC) which impacts on the future 
administration of Housing Benefit. There continues to be a phased 
approach to the introduction of a new single welfare credit. UC roll-out 
for the Boston area began in April 2015 and UC full service was rolled 
out in the Boston area on the 12th September 2018, although this is 
currently for new claims only and migration of existing claims is 
currently not due to be complete until 2023. 

 
1.3  The reform of council tax support was accompanied by a new cash-

limited government grant to councils, which was taken into account in 
setting the Council Tax Base and when forming the first year’s CTS 
local scheme.  
 

1.4 Whilst the new regulations provided councils with flexibility to set up 
their own local arrangements, the Government expressed clear 
intentions in relation to certain aspects of a local scheme. These 
included: 

  
• For pensioners there should be no change in the level of 

awards as a result of this reform. This includes both existing 
and new benefit claimants 

• Councils were required to also consider ensuring support for 
other vulnerable groups  

• Local schemes should support work incentives, and in 
particular avoid disincentives to move into work 

 
1.5 The Government expects that Councils should continue to have a 

significant degree of control over how the current, and any future 
reduction in, expenditure on the current council tax support bill is 
achieved. This includes freedom to collaborate to reduce costs, 
develop schemes that support priorities that are shared by a number of 
neighbouring authorities and the ability to manage financial risks.  

 
1.6  At the time of setting up Boston’s local scheme, the CTB caseload was 

made up in the following way –  
 
  

Page 12



Table 1 - Profile of Council Tax Benefit customers (as at July 2012) 
 

                            Number                    Percentage          CTB expenditure  

Working Age  3,194  49.95%   
Pensioners  3,187  50.05%   
Total  6,381  100%  £4,889,578* 

 
*Estimated full year expenditure. A breakdown of working age and pension 
age expenditure is not available. 
 
1.7 During each year the level of CTS (amount and caseloads) fluctuates 

and it is only at the end of a financial year that we can be assured of 
the total expenditure incurred. Pensioner caseloads tend to attract 
higher levels of awards than those of working age. This is due to 
factors such as higher levels of income, non-dependents in the 
household and generally going on and off benefits in the working age 
claimant group. 

 
2 BOSTON’S LOCAL SCHEME  
 

2.1  The Council’s current local scheme uses a number of principles:- 
  

Protecting the most vulnerable – pension-age and war 
pensioners  

A means-testing scheme based on the Council Tax Benefit 
rules as far as possible  

The scheme will be reviewed annually  

 
2.2 After extensive modelling of the various options available, the local 

Council Tax Support scheme was approved, and included elements 
that:-  

 
Protect war pensioners from reductions in support  
Maximum entitlement to be capped at 75% of Council Tax 

liability  

   
2.3  In 2016/17 a small number of adjustments were agreed, and the review 

of the scheme for 2017/18 retained them and identified that the 
projected costs were contained within the resources available. A similar 
scheme to previous years, with up-ratings in line with the Government 
for specific deductions, was approved for the current year. 

 
 

3 CURRENT SCHEME FIGURES 
 
3.1 At 31 March 2018, the caseload and spend was as follows –  
 
                            Number                    Percentage          CTS expenditure  

Working Age  2,457 50.29%  £1,496,653 
Pensioners  2,428 49.71%  £2,100,924 

Page 13



Total  4,885 100%  £3,597,577 
 
3.2 The outturn position for 2017/18 was a 5.2% increase to the direct 

costs of the council tax support scheme when compared to 2016/17. 
There was a reduction in the caseload of some 4%. This is due to the 
increases in council tax with the additional sum for Adult Social Care. 

 
3.3 At 31 July 2018, the caseload and spend for 2018/19 was as follows –  
 
                            Number                    Percentage          CTS expenditure  

Working Age  2,468 50.38%  £1,615,241  
Pensioners  2,431 49.62%  £2,139,210 
Total  4,899 100%  £3,754,451** 
 
** This figure fluctuates in year with caseload changes and final expenditure 
will not be determined until 31 March 2019. 
 
 
4.  Proposals for the 2019/20 Council Tax Support scheme 
 
4.1 When approving the 2018/19 CTS scheme, it was proposed that a 

fundamental review of the scheme would not be undertaken for at least 
two years due the delays in the roll out process of UC. This will allow 
sufficient evidence to determine the ongoing impacts of UC’s 
introduction. 

  
 The delays have also had a knock-on impact for our pensioner 
caseload and we will not see any changes to their housing costs being 
paid for from Housing Benefit until after March 2022. The ongoing 
issues with regard to households where there are more than two 
children moving on to UC also present problems and there will be a 
requirement for these cases to continue to claim legacy benefits, 
including that of HB and CTS. 

  
 On this basis, it is proposed that the 2019/2020 CTS scheme be 

consulted on as follows. 
 
 

Option 1 
 
Continuation of the current scheme, as it is, with a ‘no change’ 
approach, up-rating the amounts used in the calculation of Council Tax 
Support for working age claimants in line with Department for Work and 
Pensions’ up-rating for working age social security benefits and non-
dependant deductions. 

 
This option would maintain a consistent approach to Boston’s CTS 
scheme since its introduction in 2013/14.  It continues to recognise the 
additional needs of the vulnerable through the approach to its 
calculation. 

Page 14



 
Any further reduction in the grant funding or increase in CTS awards 
would need to be found from other budget areas or service cuts. Any 
consultation process should include this as an option with views on 
how or what services should be affected. 
 
 
Option 2 
 

          Continuation of the 2018/19 scheme, but not apply any up-ratings. 
 

This would reduce the cost of the scheme marginally, but mean that 
up-rating adjustments would not align with those used nationally. 

 
Any further reduction in the grant funding or increase in CTS awards 
would need to be found from other budget areas or service cuts. Any 
consultation process undertaken should include this as an option with 
views on how or what services should be affected. 
 
 

5 Additional information 
 
5.1 The Council is required to consult with major preceptors and the public 

in terms of any scheme changes.  Any consultation should run for a 
reasonable period of time, and the responses to the consultation will be 
made available to members, and ultimately Council, as part of the 
decision making process. The more flexibility there is around 
consultation and the scheme options to be included in the consultation, 
the greater the likelihood that the consultation can be based on the 
best available information and therefore provide better information on 
which the Council can set its scheme for the following year.  

 
5.2 The financial risk of the localised scheme is shared with Lincolnshire 

County Council and the Police and Crime Commissioner for 
Lincolnshire, as our major precepting authorities.  Unlike Council Tax 
Benefit which was a fully funded scheme, Council Tax Support is now a 
local discount, and has the effect of reducing the council tax base. 

 
5.3     The final decision regarding the scheme design rests with this Council.  
  

Page 15



 
6  Decision making and consultation 
 

6.1 In order to ensure that the 2019/20 localised CTS scheme is 
implemented for April 2019, the following timetable of consultation and 
decision making is being followed:- 

 

Consultation to include major 
preceptors, other interested parties, 
and Corporate and Community (C & 
C) Committee 

October - November 2018 
 
  

Analyse consultation responses By 23 November 2018 

C & C Committee 
Cabinet  
To recommend to Council the 
2019/20 Local Council Tax Support 
(CTS) scheme 

1 November 2018 
28 November 2018, post 
consultation 

Council formally approves final 
2019/20 Local CTS scheme 

21 January 2019 

Notification of approved new scheme 
to those affected, if required 

February 2019 

Implementation of new scheme 1 April 2019 

 

 
CONCLUSION 
 
There is a statutory requirement for an annual review of the Council’s Council 
Tax Support scheme, and this report presents options that will form part the 
consultation process. C&C agreed that their preferred option would be option 
1 in November 2018. Cabinet in November 2018 will consider responses and 
propose its recommendations on the 2019/20 Council Tax Support scheme 
for formal Council approval in January 2019. 
 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The impacts upon the Council’s budgets of the options, once Council approval 
has been given, will be included in the 2019/20 Budget and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. It is anticipated that these will be in line with the costs of 
the current year’s scheme.  
 

 
  

Page 16



 

LEGAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The Local Government Finance Act 2012 requires councils to review local 
schemes on an annual basis. 
  

 
 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
An equality impact assessment will be undertaken as any specific proposals 
for amending the scheme going forward are considered. 
 

 

APPENDICES 
 
None 

 

BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
None 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

A report on this item has not previously been considered. 

Page 17



FINANCE PROFORMA 

 
BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 
PROFORMA FOR EXECUTIVE APPROVAL OF THE RELEASE OF RESOURCES 
(CAPITAL AND REVENUE BUDGETS) 
 
FROM:   

 

THIS PROFORMA PROVIDES THE FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 IN RESPECT OF THE ATTACHED 

     
REPORT:  2019/20 Council Tax Support scheme 
REPORT DATE: 1 November 2018  
 
 £ Year 1 £ Year 2 £ Year 3 £ Year 4 £ Year 5 
 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 
Revenue      
      
      
      

Total Revenue 
Cost 

     

 
Funding required:   Considered by: Date: 
Total capital cost 
 

£0  Corporate and 
Community Committee 
 
Cabinet 

1 Nov 
2018  
 
28 Nov 
2018 

Revenue cost 
 

£0    

Financial Services Comments 
 
There are no financial implications arising at this stage. The report to Council seeking 
approval on the 2019/20 CTS scheme to be adopted will identify budgetary 
considerations which will then be included in the 2019/20 Budget and Medium Term 
Financial Strategy. 
 
Risk 
 
That future caseload increases, and/or that impacts of wider Welfare Reform 
measures accrue, and additional costs are incurred. 
 
Procurement 
 
n/a 
 
Value for Money Efficiency 

 
n/a 
 
This FP is valid for 3 months 
from FP date 

If this FP is no longer required please 
advise Finance 

If there are changes to the original 
report it may invalidate this document, it 
must be reviewed by Finance. 

 

Page 18



 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO:  CABINET 

DATE: 28 NOVEMBER 2018 

SUBJECT: QUARTER 2 REPORT –  
PERFORMANCE, RISK AND FINANCE 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR SPENCER – FINANCE 

REPORT AUTHOR: HEAD OF CORPORATE SERVICES / HEAD OF 
FINANCIAL SERVICES 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 

 

SUMMARY 
This is the quarterly report covering performance, risk and finance monitoring 
information for Quarter 2 of 2018/19 (April to September 2018). 
 

 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
1. To note the quarterly monitoring information for Q2. 

2. To agree the specific finance recommendations, summarised below: 

 F1: To approve the fees proposed for Bereavement and Licensing. 

 F2: To approve the reserve movements detailed in Table 6.  

 F3: To approve the updated capital programme as detailed in Table 10 

 F4: That the supplementary estimate in respect of Local Government 
Association (LGA) be approved, as set out in table 13. 

 

 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
Members are accountable for the delivery of the Council’s priorities and this 
monitoring information should be used as a tool to report on progress and highlight 
any key challenges forecast 
 

 

 
ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
Alternative reporting arrangements 
 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 19

Agenda Item 4



REPORT 
 

Performance (Appendix A) 

 
1. Areas of success / improvement 
 

 Major and minor planning applications (CP1) 

 Number of businesses visited to support business growth (CP1) 

 Housing completions (CP2) 

 Empty properties (CP2) 

 Benefit processing times (CP2) 

 Broadly compliant food businesses (CP2) 

 Swim sessions at GMLC (CP2) 

 Residual household waste per household (CP3) 

 Car parking permit income (CP3) 

 Freedom of Information and Subject Access requests (CP4) 

 Sickness absence (CP4) 
 
2. Areas of concern / watching brief 
 

 Other planning applications (CP1) 

 Improved Housing Standards (CP2) 

 Fly tip response (CP3) 

 Market income (CP3) 

 Switchboard (CP4) 
 
3. Other items of note 
 

 Contamination in domestic recycling (CP3) 

 Commercial waste increase in income and number of customers (CP3) 

 1,134 fixed penalty notices have been issued since the service started in 
April 2017 to the end of Q2 (CP3) 

 Parish Council project 

 Inclusive Boston Project reporting 

 Compliments across service areas, particularly for events 
 

Risk (Appendix B) 

 
4. Update on risks in Quarter 1 

 
4.1 Each quarter we monitor our strategic risks – those risks which could impact 

most on the achievement of our corporate priorities as set out in the Corporate 
Plan (www.boston.gov.uk/corporateplan) – Prosperity; People; Place; Public 
Service. 

 
4.2 There are no new strategic risks to report in Quarter 2.  
 

Page 20

http://www.boston.gov.uk/corporateplan


4.3 Corporate Management Team (CMT) have completed their in-depth review of 
the strategic risks and the outcome was reported in Quarter 1. 

 
4.4 Summary of strategic risks (full details in Appendix B) 

 

Corporate 
Priority 

Risk name Risk owner Risk score Risk rating 
Management 

assurance 
(RAG) 

1: Prosperity 

Flood risk 
Michelle 
Sacks 

8 Medium Amber 

Growth and 
local economy 

Michelle 
Sacks 

9 Medium Green 

Local Plan 
Michelle 
Sacks 

6 Medium Amber 

2: People 

Housing Andy Fisher 12 High Red 

Welfare Paul Julian 4 Medium Green 

Health Phil Perry 6 Medium Green 

3: Place Town Centre Phil Perry 6 Medium Green 

4: Public 
Service 

Population 
change 

Andy Fisher 9 Medium Green 

Budget Paul Julian 12 High Amber 

Capacity 
Katharine 
Nundy 

6 Medium Green 

Transformation 
Programme 

Paul Julian 9 Medium Amber 

Brexit Paul Julian 9 Medium Green 

Overall 

Civil 
contingency 
risks 

Andy Fisher 8 Medium Green 

Compliance 
Michelle 
Sacks 

6 Medium Green 

Reputation 
Katharine 
Nundy 

6 Medium Green 

 

 

Financial management (Appendix C) 

 
5. Finance headlines: 

 At the Q2 point in the year the total net expenditure for the year to 31 
March 2019 is forecast to be £9.551m, compared to the budget for the year 
of £9.492m; a projected net overspend of £59k (section 2). 

 Table 1 details spend for the year against budget by service area, table 2 
by portfolio holder and table 3 by corporate priority.  BTAC is now included 
and separately identified in the tables, for completeness and transparency. 

 Variations to budget (section 3) 

 Controlling Migration Fund (section 4, table 4) 

 Trading income (section 5; table 5) – recommendation for Cabinet to 
approve the fees proposed for Bereavement and Licensing 

Page 21



 Reserves (section 6; table 6) – recommendation for Cabinet to approve the 
reserve movements detailed in the table 

 Treasury management (section 7) 

 Capital (section 8; table 10) – recommendation for Cabinet to approve the 
updated capital programme as detailed in the table 

 Consultancy costs (section 9; table 11) 

 Debt collection (section 10; table 12) 

 Supplementary estimates (section 11, table 13) – recommendation that the 
supplementary estimate in respect of Local Government Association (LGA) 
be approved, as set out in the table 

 Insurance (section 12; table 14) 

 Procurement exemptions (section 13)  

 Localisation of Business Rates and Council Tax Support Scheme (section 
14; table 15) 

 Other financial matters (section 15) 
 
 
CONCLUSION 
 
Overall, performance in Quarter 2 of 2018/19 was in line with targets. 
 
Strategic and operational risks continue to be managed in accordance with the Risk 
Management Framework. 
 
 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
The financial implications are set out in the ‘Finance’ section of the report, with 
specific recommendations highlighted in the recommendations section at the 
beginning of this covering report 
 

 
 

LEGAL & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
Local Government Act 1999 
 

 

 
ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
The performance and risk implications are set out in the relevant sections of the 
report, with specific recommendations highlighted in the recommendations section at 
the beginning of this covering report 
 

 

Page 22



CONSULTATION 

Consultation has been undertaken with CMT. 

 

 

 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report:- 
 

APPENDIX A Q2 performance 

APPENDIX B Q2 risks 

APPENDIX C Q2 finance 

 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the production of this report 
 

 

 
CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

Name of body Date 

Audit & Governance Committee – risk element only 12/11/2018 

Performance Clinic 16/11/2018 

 
 

Page 23



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

Performance Q2 2018/19 – Appendix A 
 
Performance measures: directly within the Council’s control; used to monitor how our 
services are performing against set targets 
 
Corporate Priority 1: Prosperity 
 

CP1: performance measures 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 

S
c

ru
ti

n
y
 

2017/18 
– full year 

2018/19 
– Q2 

A
c

tu
a

l 

T
a
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

A
c

tu
a

l 

T
a
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

% of major planning applications 
determined within 13 weeks 

L EP 73% 75%  79.17% 75%  

% minor planning applications 
decided within 8 weeks 

L EP 71% 65%  67.44% 65%  

% of all other applications 
determined within 8 weeks 

L EP 82% 80%  75.76% 80%  

Comment: The graphs below and over the page demonstrate the upward trajectory for cumulative 
performance. The performance for Q2 alone (not cumulative) is 100% for majors, 85.71% for 
minors and 85.94% for other applications.  

Number of businesses visited to 
support business growth 

L EP 54 New 26 25  

Number of events attended to 
promote the Borough 

L EP 5 New 2 2  

 
Corporate Priority 2: People 
 

CP2: performance measures 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 

S
c

ru
ti

n
y
 

2017/18 
– full year 

2018/19 
– Q2 

A
c

tu
a

l 

T
a
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

A
c

tu
a

l 

T
a
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

Housing completions H CC 394 390  236 155  

Number of affordable homes 
delivered (gross) 

H CC 106 75  76 76  

Number of non-local authority 
owned empty properties returned 
into occupation 

H CC 82 60  43 30  

Improved Housing Standards H CC 94 100  19 75  

Comment: Target linked to Controlling Migration Fund (CMF) project target (100 for Q2 although 
reduced a little). Proactive work started however results take time to feed through following 
informal advice or notice. 

Benefit processing time – new 
claims (days) 

F CC 3.71 10  3.68 10  

Benefit processing time – change 
in circumstances 

F CC 7.50 14  6.60 14  

Page 25



 

 

CP2: performance measures 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 

S
c

ru
ti

n
y
 

2017/18 
– full year 

2018/19 
– Q2 

A
c

tu
a

l 

T
a
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

A
c

tu
a

l 

T
a
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

Council Tax Support processing – 
new claims 

F CC 5.47 10  7.02 10  

Council Tax Support processing 
time – change in circumstances 

F CC 11.65 14  7.29 14  

% of broadly compliant food 
businesses 

E CC 98.30% 95%  98.69% 95%  

% of food safety inspections 
completed against those required 
by the Food Law Code of Practice 

E CC 100% 100%  98.65% 100%  

Swim sessions at GMLC TA EP 162,963 155,000  87,325 85,000  

 

Corporate Priority 3: Place 
 

CP3: performance 
measures 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 

S
c

ru
ti

n
y
 

2017/18 
– full year 

2018/19 
– Q2 

A
c

tu
a

l 

T
a
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

A
c

tu
a

l 

T
a
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

Household waste 
reused, recycled, 
composted 

E EP 41.52% 44.09%  45.62% 45.90%*  

Residual household 
waste per household 

E EP 540kg 525kg  249kg 267kg*  

% of fly tip reports 
responded to within 2 
working days 

E EP 84.77% New 81% 88%*  

Comment: 60 fly tips were collected on the same day that they were reported during this period 
(19.93%). Performance is slightly down on the same period last year due to the driver’s unplanned 
leave and a change in personnel from North Sea Camp. There was also an increase in volume as 
can be seen from the graph on the next page. 

Car parking income 
against monthly profile* 

TC EP £828,905 £900,000  £220,092 £221,620  

Comment: This quarter is showing a small off set on budget to £1528 however the overall budget 
for the year to date is still performing above the budget 

Car Parking permit 
income vs budget 

TC EP £80,711 £69,220  £17,551 £13,490  

Market Income TC EP £167,035 £180,000  £42,638 £48,890  

Comment: There has been an improvement in the income for the Market closing the gap in this 
quarter. The Market is currently undergoing a piece of work following the recommendations 

                                                
*
 Target is the actual from Q2 last year 

*
 This includes income from tickets purchased via the MiPermit app 

Page 26



 

 

CP3: performance 
measures 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 

S
c

ru
ti

n
y
 

2017/18 
– full year 

2018/19 
– Q2 

A
c

tu
a

l 

T
a
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

A
c

tu
a

l 

T
a
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

approved by Cabinet on 5th September. 

 

Corporate Priority 4: Public Service 
 

CP4: performance measures 

P
o

rt
fo

li
o

 

S
c

ru
ti

n
y
 

2017/18 
– full year 

2018/19 
– Q2 

A
c

tu
a

l 

T
a
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

A
c

tu
a

l 

T
a
rg

e
t 

P
e

rf
o

rm
a

n
c

e
 

Business Rates collection (% 
collected) 

F CC 98.19% 98%  57.20% 57.30%  

Council Tax collection (% 
collected) 

F CC 96.12% 96%  53.83% 53.34%  

Comment: Collection is slightly ahead of target - We will now monitor this carefully following the 
implementation of Universal Credit.  There is a high risk that collection will fall due to the re-
assessment and re-billing of Universal Credit cases that fluctuate on a monthly basis. 

Average time taken to respond to 
FOI/EIR requests (working days) 

F CC 7 20  7 20  

Average time taken to respond to 
Subject Access requests 
(calendar days) 

F CC 41 40  25 days 1 month  

Comment: Law changed allowing one calendar month for responses 

Sickness absence – overall 
(days) 

L CC 7.5 7.0  2.3 3.5  

Sickness absence – long term L CC 5.5 5.0  1.43 2.5  

Sickness absence – short term L CC 2.0 2.0  0.87 1.0  

Switchboard - % of abandoned 
calls 

F CC 8% 10%  9.50% 10.00%  

Switchboard – average waiting 
time (in seconds) 

F CC 48 45  73 45  

 

Performance key 
: Performance better than target; : Performance on target; : Performance worse than target 
 

Portfolio key 
E: Environment; F: Finance; H: Housing and Communities; L: Leader; R: Regulatory; TA: Tourism, 
Arts, Culture & Heritage; TC: Town Centre 
 

Scrutiny key 
CC: Corporate and Community Committee; EP: Environment and Performance Committee 

Trend measures: provide context and not directly within the Council’s control; used to 
inform decision making and policy. 
 

Page 27



 

 

Corporate Priority 1: Prosperity 
 

 
 
 

 
 

 -  

 5.000  

 10.000  

 15.000  

 20.000  

 25.000  

 30.000  

17/18-Q1 17/18-Q2 17/18-Q3 17/18-Q4 18/19-Q1 18/19-Q2 

Gross (£m) 24.567  24.129  24.322  24.261  25.532  25.363  

Net (£m) 20.068  19.427  19.872  19.730  20.637  20.308  

Collectable business rates 

17/18:Q1 17/18:Q2 17/18:Q3 17/18:Q4 18/19:Q1 18/19:Q2 

Major 86% 100% 63% 56% 64% 79% 

Target 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 75% 

0% 

20% 

40% 

60% 

80% 

100% 

120% 

Major planning applications determined on time 

Page 28



 

 

 
 

 

 
 
The Government tracks planning performance over a cumulative 2 year period. Boston’s 
performance is currently at 72.5% for majors (against a minimum standard of 60%) and 73.78% for 
minors and others (against a minimum standard of 70%). 

17/18:Q1 17/18:Q2 17/18:Q3 17/18:Q4 18/19:Q1 18/19:Q2 

Minor 76% 85% 71% 54% 45% 67% 

Target 65% 65% 65% 65% 65% 65% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

Minor planning applications determined on time 

17/18:Q1 17/18:Q2 17/18:Q3 17/18:Q4 18/19:Q1 18/19:Q2 

Other 97% 93% 84% 60% 62% 76% 

Target 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 80% 

0% 

10% 

20% 

30% 

40% 

50% 

60% 

70% 

80% 

90% 

100% 

Other planning applications determined on time 

Page 29



 

 

 

 
 

 

Corporate Priority 2: People 
 

 
 

Trend measures 2017/18 2018/19 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

160 

180 

17/18:Q1 17/18:Q2 17/18:Q3 17/18:Q4 18/19:Q1 18/19:Q2 

Number 147 152 171 160 145 175 

Number of registered planning applications 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

450 

500 

17/18: Q1 17/18: Q2 17/18: Q3 17/18: Q4 18/19: Q1 18/19: Q2 

New apps 353 433 320 453 379 356 

New housing register applications 

Page 30



 

 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

Number of taxi drivers suspended/revoked 3 38 39 39 0 0 

Number of vehicles suspended/revoked 8 18 23 29 5 10 

Number of taxi driver/vehicle hearings 1 1 3 8 3 7 

Number of premises licences revoked 0 1 5 2 0 1 

Number of premises licence hearings 1 4 4 6 2 5 

Comment: 3 hearings in Q2 – 2 for new premises granted and 1 review hearing (Licence revoked 
and not appealed) 

 

Corporate Priority 3: Place 
 

 
 

Commercial waste: 
 

Trend measures 2017/18 
2018/19 

Trend 
Q1 Q2 

% growth in commercial waste service compared to 
year end 2017/18 

£177,927 £200,026 £206,286 +16% 

Number of commercial waste customers compared 
to 2017/18 baseline 

276 293 304 +10% 

 

0% 

5% 

10% 

15% 

20% 

25% 

30% 

35% 

15/16 16/17 17/18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 Aug-18 

BBC 18% 27% 29% 31% 33% 33% 30% 30% 

Lincs average 19% 23% 27% 31% 31% 32% 29% 27% 

Contamination in Domestic Recycling 

Page 31



 

 

 
 

 
 
Breakdown of ‘other household’ items: 

 Furniture: 87 

 Mattresses: 59 

 Wood: 37 

 Textiles: 32 

 Toys: 22 

 Garden items: 14 
 
This does not correspond exactly to the number of ‘other household’ items overall because there 
may be multiple types of items in one ‘other household’ incident. 
 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

350 

400 

450 

15/16: Q2 16/17: Q2 17/18: Q2 18/19: Q2 

Number 226 408 302 339 

Number of fly tip incidents in Q2 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

160 

180 

200 

Fly tip incidents by type 

17/18-Q2 18/19-Q2 

Page 32



 

 

 
 

 
 
A total of 1,134 fixed penalty notices have been issued since the service started in April 2017 to 
the end of Q2. 
 
  

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

Single Item Car Boot Small Van Transit Van Tipper Significant 

2017/18_Q2 84 45 108 53 11 1 

2018/19_Q2 68 86 104 46 14 5 

Fly tip incidents by volume 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

17/18: Q1 17/18: Q2 17/18: Q3 17/18: Q4 18/19: Q1 18/19: Q2 

Number 243 188 152 248 105 198 

Fixed Penalty Notices issued 

Page 33



 

 

Location of Fixed Penalty Notices issued: April to September 2018 
 
Borough area 
 

 
 

Town area in focus 
 

 

Page 34



 

 

 
 
 

 
  

0 

1000 

2000 

3000 

4000 

5000 

6000 

Q1 17/18 Q2 17/18 Q3 17/18 Q4 17/18 Q1 18/19 Q2 18/19 

Count 4881 5152 4563 3274 4766 4407 

Guildhall Door Count 

£0.00  

£10,000.00  

£20,000.00  

£30,000.00  

£40,000.00  

£50,000.00  

£60,000.00  

£70,000.00  

£80,000.00  

£90,000.00  

A
rt

ill
er

y 
R

o
w

 

B
ar

ga
te

 G
re

en
 

B
o

to
lp

h
 S

tr
ee

t 

B
u

o
y 

Ya
rd

 

C
at

tl
e 

M
ar

ke
t 

C
u

st
o

m
 H

o
u

se
 Q

u
ay

 

D
o

u
gh

ty
 Q

u
ay

 

G
eo

rg
e 

St
re

et
 

M
ar

ke
t 

P
la

ce
 

M
au

d
 S

tr
ee

t 

M
u

n
ic

ip
al

 B
u

ild
in

gs
 

P
u

m
p

 S
q

u
ar

e 
 

So
u

th
 S

q
u

ar
e

 

Sp
ay

n
e 

R
o

ad
  

St
an

ila
n

d
 

St
at

io
n

 A
p

p
ro

ac
h

 

St
 G

eo
rg

e'
s 

R
o

ad
 

Tu
n

n
ar

d
 S

tr
ee

t 

V
ic

to
ri

a 
P

la
ce

 

W
es

t 
En

d
  

W
id

e 
B

ar
ga

te
  

Income by car park 

Apr-Sep17 Apr-Sep18 

Page 35



 

 

 

Car Park  Apr-Sep17 Apr-Sep18 Difference 

Artillery Row £5,968.26 £5,684.59 -£283.67 

Bargate Green £51,100.59 £50,088.05 -£1,012.54 

Botolph Street £8,677.37 £7,346.86 -£1,330.51 

Buoy Yard £3,374.04 £3,659.48 £285.44 

Cattle Market £83,517.50 £83,425.47 -£92.03 

Custom House Quay £30,095.34 £28,002.48 -£2,092.86 

Doughty Quay £13,934.01 £15,689.11 £1,755.10 

George Street £1,824.46 £2,635.45 £810.99 

Market Place £38,993.02 £38,376.95 -£616.07 

Maud Street £11,880.98 £11,844.37 -£36.61 

Municipal Buildings £843.04 £998.58 £155.54 

Pump Square  £9,476.05 £23,183.55 £13,707.50 

South Square £3,099.90 £8,776.17 £5,676.27 

Spayne Road  £4,170.73 £4,485.76 £315.03 

Staniland £16,923.11 £15,781.02 -£1,142.09 

Station Approach £4,870.63 £6,066.46 £1,195.83 

St George's Road £49,935.56 £49,549.68 -£385.88 

Tunnard Street £15,221.59 £18,234.50 £3,012.91 

Victoria Place £4,775.09 £5,576.79 £801.70 

West End  £40,118.42 £40,743.05 £624.63 

Wide Bargate  £8,276.60 £11,601.50 £3,324.90 

Total  £407,076.29 £431,749.87 £24,673.58 

 

 
 

0 

500 

1000 

1500 

2000 

2500 

17/18: Q1 17/18: Q2 17/18: Q3 17/18: Q4 18/19: Q1 18/19: Q2 

Average footfall 1925 2008 2121 1680 1968 1930 

Average pedestrian footfall 

Page 36



 

 

 
 

 
 
 

0 

50 

100 

150 

200 

250 

300 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Q2 263 234 284 159 202 143 

Number of CCTV directed/assisted arrests: Apr-
Sep 

0 

20 

40 

60 

80 

100 

120 

140 

160 

180 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Q2 93 127 168 119 112 102 

Number of CCTV evidential packages: Apr-Sep 

Page 37



 

 

 
 

Trend measures 
2017/18 2018/19 

Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 

Number of Stage 1 Antisocial Behaviour (ASB) letters 14 11 21 26 19 15 

Number of Stage 2 Antisocial Behaviour (ASB) letters 7 7 5 7 3 6 

Number of Acceptable Behaviour Contracts (ABCs) 1 5 6 0 1 0 

Number of injunctions 0 1 1 1 3 0 

Number of Community Protection Notice Warning letters (CPNWs) 
relating to the PSPO 

0 0 0 0 0 5 

Number of Community Protection Notices (CPN) relating to the 
Public Spaces Protection Order (PSPO) 

1 0 0 0 0 1 

 

  

0 

100 

200 

300 

400 

500 

600 

700 

800 

2013/14 2014/15 2015/16 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 

Q2 574 677 742 449 610 348 

Number of CCTV incidents recorded:  Apr-Sep 

Page 38



 

 

Corporate Priority 4: Public Service 

 
 
Comment: There is a new type of online payment for Q2 – HMO Licensing – 78 payments totaling 
£38,760 

 
Q2 complaints and compliments 
 
Complaints: 
 
Complaint Service area Justified? Outcome 

Noise from the fair in 
Central Park 

Events No 

Residents are informed of fair dates in 
advance and noise is monitored and 
kept to a minimum as much as 
possible. 

Harry Potter themed 
afternoon tea at the 
Guildhall disappointing 

Guildhall No 

Comments noted but complaint not 
justified. Other attendees very 
pleased with the event and did not 
share these criticisms. Will consider 
points made when future events are 
run. 

Complaint about the 
housing team and poor 
advice 

Housing No Appropriate housing advice provided 

Upset about the way she 
was spoken to in relation 
to rent deposit scheme 

Housing No 

No evidence of wrongdoing on the 
part of the Council. A meeting has 
been set in October to address the 
complainant’s housing needs. 

Alleged incompetent 
advice, service and 
support offered by BTAC 
in relation to grant 
application. 

Housing, Health 
and Community 
Services 

No 
Processes have been followed with 
due diligence. Guidance and support 
was provided. 

Bin not collected due to Operations No Evidence of contamination. Ops team 

0 

1000 

2000 

3000 

4000 

5000 

6000 

7000 

8000 

9000 

17/18: Q1 17/18: Q2 17/18: Q3 17/18: Q4 18/19: Q1 18/19: Q2 

Number 6384 5923 7696 8097 7527 6790 

Number of online payments 

Page 39



 

 

Complaint Service area Justified? Outcome 

alleged contamination x2 rang the customer to explain and 
advised on how to resolve the 
situation. 

Complaint about brown 
bins x2 

Operations No 

No evidence that bins were damaged 
by BBC or due to defect, therefore 
customers will have to pay for 
replacements. 

Refuse lorry parked in 
disabled bay 

Operations No 

Following investigation, the vehicle 
had stopped briefly to empty the litter 
bin and moved when requested. 
There is no evidence to support the 
allegations made about the driver's 
behavior. Referred to the LGO who 
did not investigate. 

Complaint about lack of 
understanding about 
equality and diversity 

People 
Services 

No 
No evidence to support the complaint. 
Comments re equality training noted. 

Planning complaint – lack 
of communication 

Planning  No 

Resolved by a meeting between the 
Development Manager and the 
complainant and a commitment that 
the application will go to Planning 
Committee in August 

Alleged incorrect 
processing of housing 
benefit overpayment 

Revenues and 
Benefits 

No 
Overpayment is correct. Payment 
arrangements have now been made 

Allegation of 
maladministration against 
Boston Borough Council 

Planning Partly 

Apologies for the delay in responding 
due to the exit of the previous 
Development Manager. Otherwise, no 
wrongdoing on the part of the Council 
and any specific complaints against 
the National Grid should be made 
directly to them. 

Complaint about dirty 
public toilet 

Public 
conveniences 

Partly 

Apologies for the experience. The 
toilets were cleaned every hour that 
day but the blood was smeared in 
between cleaning. Customer advised 
that an Improvement Group is looking 
at BTAC public conveniences 

Offended by request for 
information relating to a 
mental health condition 
and alleged comments 
made by a member of staff 

Revenues and 
Benefits 

Partly 
Letter sent to explain why we ask for 
this information. No offence was 
intended.  

Complaint about memorial 
plaque and rose 

Bereavement 
Services 

Yes 

Apologies for the poor state of the 
rose and the plaque. Both will be 
replaced and the lease extended for 
an additional period as compensation. 

Delay in providing a 
wheelchair ramp (Disabled 
Facilities Grant)  

Housing Yes 

Unacceptable delay and the 
contractor/supplier has offered formal 
apologies. Work now has a start date. 
Lessons have been learned about the 
design of the ramp which has caused 
some of the delay so will no longer be 
recommended. 

Complaint about Geoff Leisure Yes Cost of admission refunded due to 

Page 40



 

 

Complaint Service area Justified? Outcome 

Moulder Leisure Centre poor state of the facilities 

Complaint about the 
flooring in the training pool 
girls changing rooms 

Leisure Yes 

Apologies made. Long term plans are 
in place to address the flooring and 
short term measures are in place in 
the meantime. Other issues have 
been addressed by the staff and will 
be raised with the swimming club 
when they return in September 

Concerns about the 
training pool lighting and 
flooring 

Leisure Yes 

Lighting fixed. Capital project next 
year to replace flooring. Matting 
purchased to cover the problem areas 
of the flooring in the short term 

Complaint about delay in 
conducting a standards 
investigation 

Monitoring 
Officer 

Yes 
Apologies for delay in responding to 
standards complaint. Improvements 
made to process 

Complaint about refuse 
driver blocking entrance to 
care home when an 
ambulance needed access 

Operations Yes 

Apology given. The waste supervisor 
has addressed the situation, spoken 
to the crew and it will not happen 
again. 

Repeated non collection of 
bins x5 

Operations Yes 

Apologies for missed collection – 
added to recollection list and note 
added to round sheet for crew and to 
supervisors list for monitoring 

Bus station toilets locked 
Public 
conveniences 

Yes Complaint resolved over the phone 

 
LGO decisions 
 
18003638: Mr X says the Council granted prior approval for the change of use of an agricultural 
building to a dwelling house in 2016 even though the application did not comply with permitted 
development requirements. The complaint was closed because Mr X did not suffer a level of 
injustice that warrants further investigation by, or a remedy from, the Ombudsman. 
 
18004362: The Ombudsman will not investigate Mr X’s complaint about the Council’s handling of 
his neighbour’s planning application. The complaint is late and the Council’s decision does not 
cause Mr X significant injustice. 
 
18007665: Complaint about a refuse van that had stopped in a disabled parking bay.  The 
Ombudsman will not investigate this complaint because it is unlikely an investigation would lead to 
a different outcome. 

 
Compliments: 
 
Compliment Service area 

Can I just say what amazing service for getting both of these purchase orders 
done in super speedy time 

Business Support 

This newsletter just gets better and better by the week.  The in-bedded link to 
a You Tube video [some weeks ago now] that demonstrated which waste 
products could be recycled and which could not, was so helpful and easy to 
understand.  Great idea with an instant impact. This week’s newsletter has no 
less an impact particularly the update on Boston In Bloom.  Well done to the 
team. 

Communications 

Unplugged Recycling Ltd: Thank you for the article in the bulletin. We will let 
you know of any change to our business following your kind inclusion of 
Unplugged into the Council's media. 

Communications 

Page 41



 

 

Compliment Service area 

Thank you from the MP re PSPO enforcement Community Safety 

Polite helpful awesome staff Customer services 

Thank you from Frampton Parish Council for all the help and guidance to 
ensure Frampton Parish Council's compliance with the new General Data 
Protection Regulations. At a recent national training course it was stated that 
Boston Borough Council were the most proactive Borough Council offering 
help to their Parish Councils! 

Data Protection 

Active Boston - Brilliant day! Well done to all involved for organising and 
participating 

Events 

Active Boston - I thought the event was a real success and well organised so 
well done you. 

Events 

Active Boston - It was a great day and very well organised on your behalf. We 
had a lot of interest....I will keep you posted and will let you know if we gain 
any new members 

Events 

Active Boston - Just to say well done for a well organised event Events 

Active Boston - the event was well attended, I bet you are very happy!  
Thanks for having us, we did 40 health checks in total on the day. 

Events 

Active Boston - The girls really enjoyed the day, and we have had a few new 
members join  since seeing our displays on the day so it was really worth it for 
us. It was very well organised, and was a great day overall so thank you, 

Events 

Active Boston - we really enjoyed it, the children enjoyed different sports, with 
the archery proving really popular. Well done for getting it all together. The 
day as a whole looked really good, well done to you!!  We would definitely like 
to be involved next time. 

Events 

Active Boston - You had a fantastic turnout and such a great range of 
activities and support - I do hope you get to do it again next year I am sure it 
was well appreciated - everyone I spoke to seemed to think it was a super 
event and even the gods were kind to us and Thor kept away - just had a 
couple of drops of rain as I walked back to the car and that was it. 

Events 

Beach day event - We all had a fantastic afternoon thank you Events 

Comment on Facebook from the Active Boston event - Brilliant day! Well 
done to all involved for organising and participating. 

Events 

Compliments re the event on Saturday (open air cinema). It was superb and 
very well organised 

Events 

Fairy Door Hunt. My girls had such a great time. Thank you Events 

Had a great time at the outdoor cinema Lion King. Great to do something 
different locally. Appreciate the effort involved to put this on. 

Events 

I was one of the main organisers of the Teddy Bears Picnic in Central Park. I 
would like to personally thank two members of your team, xxx & xxx, who 
without their professionalism and hard work, the event would not have been 
anywhere near as good as it was, with so many Boston families' enjoying a 
wonderful day together at the event. I cannot thank them enough for the long 
hours and help, both these members of staff gave in helping to organise and 
promote the event. For although they are paid to achieve success, they seem 
always to go beyond normal working and contacting hours to help. Also 
thanks to xxx and xxx for their part in setting up the site early in the morning 
and putting it all away as well. BIG thanks to the ladies. Boston Town 
councillors should be very grateful for the team in helping to promote Boston 
as a place to come to work, live, shop and play. 

Events 

Just to say a Big Thank for asking Paisley Atlanta to perform on Saturday at 
Central Park,  and all your hard work very impressed with the whole event , 
well done and pass our thank to all your staff. 

Events 

Just wanted to drop you an email to say thank you for helping us get sorted 
with our day in the park at such short notice. Some of the other guys are 
finding it really hard to work with their relevant Borough Councils so just 

Events 

Page 42



 

 

Compliment Service area 

wanted to say thanks again for helping us make the day a success. 

Sausage and Beer Festival: Brilliant afternoon in the park. Great atmosphere 
and music… Great selection of real ales. And polite and helpful staff. Looking 
forward to next year. 

Events 

Sausage and Beer Festival: Plenty here and music really good, also near to 
home 

Events 

Sausage and Beer Festival: What a fab afternoon a great opportunity for local 
business and local talent me and my friends had a wonderful afternoon so 
well organised well done to all involved 

Events 

Sausage and Beer Festival: What a great day! We came about 3pm and 
stayed til the end. Based on some comments I have seen, I can agree that it 
wasn’t perfect but this was the first one in what is hopefully an annual event. 
This is a great opportunity for local producers to showcase their produce and 
for us locals to get behind them. Oh and I never expected the dance off! 

Events 

Thank you for inviting us to the Active Boston event. We really enjoyed it as it 
was very busy and the day just flew by. We had a number of parents saying 
that the day was the first real time that their child had gone outside and done 
any exercise.  They also said about the booklet that they’re given in their last 
week at school that tells them about what they can do in the holidays and that 
it is really useful. 

Events 

Thank you for organising the Classic Cars at Market Place on Thursday 2 
August 2018. Not too many cars but, and this is important, the owners were 
there with their cars and we could talk to them and get some history. Spent 
over an hour chatting. Well worth the taxi fare. Please do it again next year! 

Events 

The Active Boston GoExplore Treasure Hunt was really good, very popular, 
busy from 10:30 throughout and the engagement we had was brilliant. We 
had some young people with us for hours, a couple were there literally all day. 
I have been to a lot of community events in the past but this was one of the 
best organised and probably the most popular I have ever been to. It was a 
really good day. 

Events 

Viking event: Was a brilliant show. Me and my grandson learnt a lot about the 
Vikings. 

Events 

Viking event: xxx and xxx enjoyed looking around the Vikings camp (and they 
loved your giant chair!). 

Events 

xxx on Facebook said about today’s craft activities: Really nice event to keep 
the grandchildren amused for an hour or so. Colouring, painting, wand 
making, wooden spoon decorating, glitz and glitter and time in the sand.  

Events 

Thank you to the Finance team, particularly xxx, for all their help looking after 
the budget for the Steps Forward project (LCVS) - she is doing a splendid 
job!! 

Finance 

If you are looking for a building that's amazing, impressive and located in an 
historical town, look no further than the Boston Guildhall. Founded in the 
medieval period and one of a few Guildhall buildings still around, this place is 
as interesting as any person interested in history could ask for. 

Guildhall 

We stopped off here for a visit as we were in Boston for the day. Friendly staff 
members pointed us in the right direction to start our tour. What a great old 
Medieval building. Lots of exhibits and information as you walk round and a 
short film about its history before you start. Great that you can take your time 
and there are some lovely dressing up clothes for the kids. What a great free 
attraction in Boston and would definitely recommend visiting. 

Guildhall 

Wedding. Firstly can I thank you for all of the courtesy given to us by you and 
the rest of the team. If you can please pass on our thank to everybody, we 
had a really good service and enjoyed the day immensely. 

Guildhall 

Disabled Facility Grant: Thank you for all you have done for us Housing 

Thank you to the housing team and all concerned for the new shower Housing 

Page 43



 

 

Compliment Service area 

provided by Disabled Facilities Grant (DFG). I am so pleased to be able to 
have a shower again and I appreciate everything you have done. Thank you. 

Thank you to xxx for report to Witham Central and Carlton Road 
Neighbourhood Group for report regarding a planning application for the 
Fancy Lounge. They felt that their views had been accurately represented 
and that they had been listened to. They were grateful to have had input into 
the system and felt valued. 

Licensing & Land 
Charges 

All sorted now, very early visit, many thanks to you both and the waste teams.  Operations 

Dead cat found in a bin and taken to the pet crematorium who contacted the 
owner to inform them. The owner was very grateful to know what had 
happened and wanted to thank the council officer who had set the system up 

Operations 

Facebook posts relating to fly tipping including statements from members of 
the public encouraging people to report it to the Council. “Someone from the 
council have already been out to this…If anyone sees fly tipping or a mess 
anywhere, report it to the council. They can’t remove what they don’t know 
about and soon as they know, its sorted pretty quick… All the issues I raised 
with the council via the photographs I took of areas needing attention are 
being dealt with.” 

Operations 

I hadn’t been up to the Pilgrim Memorial site for a fortnight, choosing shadier 
pathways to walk my dog, until this morning.  The place was pristine: no litter, 
bins empty, sun shining, water sparkling.  As it should be! 

Operations 

I was very pleased to see Mum's street looking so much better. I really hope it 
stays that way. Thank you very much for sorting it. (Following complaint about 
rubbish and general uncleanliness in Pulvertoft Lane and Edwin Street) 

Operations 

I would just like to say how nice the hanging baskets and planters around the 
war memorial are looking this year. They bring a cheery smile to my face 
when I come to work. I would also like to comment on how well the central 
park is kept. I take my dog there some mornings and usually there is a lot of 
rubbish strewn about but there is always someone with a wheelie bin working 
away early in the morning picking it up (around 7 to 7.30) You maybe get tired 
of people moaning about stuff so I thought I would just let you know that I for 
one appreciate all the effort put into making the town look nice. thank you 

Operations 

In response to Facebook post about the education and enforcement team 
being on Boston Market answering questions on recycling and general waste 
issues: “Well I think you’re doing a great job Boston Borough Council, that xxx 
is just a stirring Stanley 

Operations 

Rang to say thank you for supplying him and his wife with an extra green bin 
for medical waste as his wife has recently been diagnosed. He said he really 
appreciated the service and that it helped him out a lot. He was also very 
thankful for being supplied with extra recycling bags. 

Operations 

Ref: Bulk collection. I wish to thank you "Council" for a wonderful service, 
from the time I asked the lady on Reception 16th July she kindly booked an 
estimator for the 17th July. Estimator arrived, quoted price, I agreed and 
cleared on to van by 2 very helpful and courteous men. 

Operations 

Unplugged Recycling Ltd: Thank you for the article in the bulletin. We will let 
you know of any change to our business following your kind inclusion of 
Unplugged into the Council's media. 

Operations 

Wants to say a big thank you to the bin men as she is on an assisted 
collection - she says they are always really kind to her and very helpful. They 
do a wonderful job and work incredibly hard so she has bought some biscuits 
for them for her next blue, green and brown bin collections to say a big thank 
you. 

Operations 

Wants to thank the council for their quick and efficient service, rang to request 
hedge cutting and was completed the next day. 

Operations 

I’ve become increasingly frustrated in recent years at the mind-set and Planning 

Page 44



 

 

Compliment Service area 

performance of the planning profession which can be overly focused on 
process and not sufficiently interested in the outcome.  It is refreshing when 
we come across true professional planners who are committed to providing a 
high quality planning service. 
 
The application was submitted in February and, since picking this application 
up in April ,xxx immediately reviewed the proposals and all associated 
matters. She promptly raised questions that we were able to answer in close 
dialogue with her.  She arranged a useful site visit to jointly review the 
heritage matters with the Conservation Consultant, drafted thorough, detailed 
and extremely well presented reports for Committee and presented all 
matters extremely well. 
 
I appreciate that this is no more than you should expect of your senior officers 
but I can assure you that this isn’t usual from our experience across the 
country. 

The ADS support (supporting the introduction of Universal Credit) is brilliant 
from our point of view. So impressed, particularly with xxx, who definitely went 
above and beyond for a very vulnerable customer in week one. 

Revs/Bens 

Boston is such an interesting place and the market place is modern but still 
has the history.   

Town Centre 

Could you pass on my thanks for including our Race Night/Hog Roast in the 
publication even though I had not had the time to put the event on the Visit 
Boston Website or anywhere to come to think of it. I appreciate the efforts of 
whoever took the time to include the event in the publication. 

Town Centre 

 
RIPA 
 
The Regulation of Investigatory Powers Act 2000 (RIPA) regulates the powers of public bodies to 
carry out surveillance and investigation. There were no RIPA applications in Q2. 
 

  

Page 45



 

 

Transformation projects 
 

Boston explore and discover’ signage project - phase 2. Incorporating Pilgrim 2020 interpretation 

 Have received useful and positive feedback from the HLF at a September meeting in their 
Nottingham offices. Currently working up bid and establishing partner working protocol, 
where appropriate with Heritage Lincolnshire. Budgets being developed along with bid 
development. 

 
Car parking review of fees and provision 

 A review of Fees and Charges has been carried out for this service area and no proposals 
have been put forward for an increase or decrease. There is a report currently been written 
following the Audit visit to review options within the car parking service. Possibilities include 
introduction of parent and child spaces; review option of electric charging points within car 
parks. 

 
Commercial waste project 

 Growth in customer numbers and income 
 
Crematorium capital scheme 

 The site has now been totally cleared and Property Services have been requested to work 
up the tenders 

 
Development plan for cemetery heritage 

 The Friends Group is liaising with Property Services to establish cost of minor 
weatherproofing repairs to the Old Chapel. Public events programme has finished for this 
season now. 

 
Economic Development Action Plan 

 Finalising action plan to reflect Local Plan adoption 
 
GMLC project – online swimming lessons 

 Phase 2 works ongoing, reliant on new Scuba program link which is currently being written 
by DELTA. 

 
Inclusive Boston Project 

 Bringing Learning Into Communities: staff recruited as planned; better than target 
performance on number of classes held and number of attendees; cultural events planned 
for the next 12 months 

 Christmas in Boston community group: match funding of £10,000; pledges for shop 
Christmas trees, sponsorship deals and donations 

 Christmas events and festivities (Boston Borough Council): Christmas programme of 
events including Illuminate Parade in place and promoted; expanded Christmas Market with 
Santa’s Grotto; community workshops run by Transported Arts 

 Housing: Enforcement Officer recruited; 500 proactive visits planned in 18/19; target of 200 
homes improved 

 Multi-Use Games Pitches: procurement underway 

 Leisure Services: Refurbishment underway 

 Community Safety: Antisocial Behaviour Officer recruited; events planned in Q3 

 Citizens Advice Mid Lincolnshire: additional staff recruited; 93 clients have accessed the 
service to date including a 10% increase in non-UK nationals accessing the service 

 Lincolnshire Community & Voluntary Service: 2 Community Development workers 
recruited; 11 community champions active in the new leadership network 

 Parish of Boston: 2 staff recruited; 13 coffee and chat events held with 280 attendees (160 
from Eastern European countries); 12 volunteers recruited (10 from Eastern European 
countries)  

 Taylor Itex: Open Engagement event to be held in Q3 

Page 46



 

 

 
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy 

 Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) has approved the Strategy for adoption by all 
partners. 

 
Leisure, Culture and Community Services 

 Two trusts expressed an interest. Discussions ongoing on way forward.  
 
Markets – moving towards a break even model 

 The task and finish review made recommendations which were approved by Cabinet bar 
one on 5th Sept.  A project plan is now been worked up following these recommendations 
and also a conference the Town Centre Services Manager recently attended. This project 
plan includes rebranding of the market, in line with the toolkit; developing feature days on 
the market; and highlighting a stall holder every month in the local paper. 

 
Municipal Buildings – letting of surplus office accommodation to external agencies 

 Citizens Advice Bureau (CAB) in occupation; completion of office alterations 
 
Parish Council project 

 Improvements in communications with parish council monthly newsletter – now has a 
Monitoring Officer blog and information as well as sharing best practice.  

 Set up regular Parish liaison meetings and clerks training. 

 Rural isolation project – collaboration project started to identify rurally isolated and lonely 
people. 

 
Street Scene project 

 Finalised options confirmed, draft presentation to Project Sponsor on 15 October 2018 
 
Structures on the Edge Sculpture Project Havenside Country Park/Pilgrim memorial site 

 Environment Agency engineers have been met on site and feedback shared with the 
selected artists in relation to constraints on structure and location. 

 
Townscape Heritage Project (THI) 

 Seeking expressions of interest 
 
 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B 

 
 

Risk Q2 2018/19 
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Risk name Description 

R
is

k 
o

w
n

e
r 

Existing control 
measures in 
place 

Residual (net) risk score Risk control: 
Terminate; 
Tolerate; 
Transfer; Treat 

Action/s 
(monitored in 
P+) 

If Treat, 
target risk 
score and 
explanation 

Management 
assurance 

(RAG) 

Likelihood Impact Total 

1 to 4 
  

1 to 4 
  

1 to 16 
  

C
P

1
 

Flood risk 

The risk of 
flooding may 
adversely 
impact on the 
Council's ability 
to achieve its 
corporate 
priority of 
prosperity 

MS 

Strategic Flood 
Risk Assessment; 
Lincolnshire 
Flood Risk 
Strategy; 
working closely 
with the 
Environment 
Agency; joint 
working with LCC 
and South 
Holland on the 
Local Plan; plans 
for the Boston 
Barrier (which 
will reduce risk 
of tidal flooding 
from 2% to 
0.3%); 
Lincolnshire 
Resilience Forum 

2 
Possible 

4 
Critical 
impact 

8 
Medium 

risk 

Tolerate; 
continue to 
work with 
partners to 
manage flood 
risk and its 
impact; deliver 
the Local Plan; 
the risk score 
will only reduce 
when the 
Boston Barrier 
is in place 

Submission of 
the Local Plan 

N/A 

Amber; 
Reviewed by 
CMT on 
20/12/17; no 
changes 
recommended 

C
P

1
 Growth and 

local 
economy 

Growth is vital 
to the future 
ability of the 
Council to 
achieve its 
corporate 
priority of 
prosperity 

MS 

Proactive 
approach to 
growth; 
economic 
development 
plan 

3 
Probable 

3 
Major 
impact 

9 
Medium 

risk 
Treat 

Implementation 
of the Economic 
Development 
Plan 

Aim to reduce 
the likelihood 
of lack of 
growth to 
possible due 
to ED Plan 

Green; 
Reviewed by 
CMT on 
6/12/17; no 
changes 
recommended 

P
age 49



Appendix B 

 
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Risk name Description 

R
is

k 
o

w
n

e
r 

Existing control 
measures in 
place 

Residual (net) risk score Risk control: 
Terminate; 
Tolerate; 
Transfer; Treat 

Action/s 
(monitored in 
P+) 

If Treat, 
target risk 
score and 
explanation 

Management 
assurance 

(RAG) 

Likelihood Impact Total 

1 to 4 
  

1 to 4 
  

1 to 16 
  

C
P

1
 

Local Plan 

Lack of delivery 
on the Local 
Plan will have 
an impact on 
the ability of 
the Council to 
achieve its 
corporate 
priority of 
prosperity 

MS 

Local Plan 
delivery plan; 
plans for a local 
plan board to 
oversee actions 
post-adoption 

2 
Possible 

3 
Major 
impact 

6 
Medium 

risk 

Tolerate; 
continue to 
work on 
delivering the 
Local Plan on 
schedule 

Adoption of the 
Local Plan 

N/A 

Amber; 
Reviewed by 
CMT on 
27/6/18 – 
changes to 
wording only 

C
P

2
 

Housing 

Lack of housing 
delivery, across 
tenures that 
means that the 
range of 
housing needs 
that exist 
within the 
Borough 
cannot be met. 
 
A lack of 
delivery will 
have 
overarching 
negative 
impacts that 
affect the 
economy, 
business 
confidence and 
the ability of 
the Council to 
achieve its 

AF 

Development of 
a new Local Plan. 
Delivery of 
Housing Strategy 
Actions. 
Developing 
Transformation 
Programme to 
focus on wider 
housing enabling 
and housing 
delivery. 
 

4 
Almost 
certain 

3 
Major 
impact 

12 
High risk 

Tolerate; 
continue to 
work with 
partners to 
drive the 
delivery of new 
Housing  

Submission of 
local plan.  
Monitoring of 
total housing 
delivery.  
Monitoring of 
affordable 
housing 
delivery. 

N/A 

Red; Reviewed 
and updated by 
CMT on 
24/1/18; 
increased from 
medium to high 
risk 

P
age 50



Appendix B 

 
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Risk name Description 

R
is

k 
o

w
n

e
r 

Existing control 
measures in 
place 

Residual (net) risk score Risk control: 
Terminate; 
Tolerate; 
Transfer; Treat 

Action/s 
(monitored in 
P+) 

If Treat, 
target risk 
score and 
explanation 

Management 
assurance 

(RAG) 

Likelihood Impact Total 

1 to 4 
  

1 to 4 
  

1 to 16 
  

corporate 
priority to 
support and 
protect 
vulnerable 
people and 
meet the wider 
housing needs 
of the 
community;  

C
P

2
 

Welfare 

There is a risk 
that ‘universal 
support – 
delivered 
locally’ will 
impact on the 
ability of the 
Council to 
achieve its 
corporate 
priority to 
support and 
protect 
vulnerable 
people 

PJ 

'Universal 
support - 
delivered locally' 
project work 
underway with 
partners to 
ensure support 
and training is in 
place for staff 
and local people 

2 
Possible 

2 
Minor 
impact 

4 
Medium 

risk 

Tolerate; 
continue to 
work on the 
'universal 
support - 
delivered 
locally' project 
with partners 

Monitor impact 
of universal 
credit 

N/A 

Green; 
Reviewed by 
CMT on 
16/5/18 – no 
changes at this 
time – to be 
reviewed again 
post Universal 
Credit roll out in 
September 
2018 

P
age 51



Appendix B 

 
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Risk name Description 

R
is

k 
o

w
n

e
r 

Existing control 
measures in 
place 

Residual (net) risk score Risk control: 
Terminate; 
Tolerate; 
Transfer; Treat 

Action/s 
(monitored in 
P+) 

If Treat, 
target risk 
score and 
explanation 

Management 
assurance 

(RAG) 

Likelihood Impact Total 

1 to 4 
  

1 to 4 
  

1 to 16 
  

C
P

2
 

Health 

There is a risk 
that health 
issues will 
impact on the 
ability of the 
Council to 
achieve its 
corporate 
priority to 
support and 
protect people; 
long term 
health issues, 
deprivation, 
local 
perceptions, 
apathy, 
unsustainable 
health services 

PP 
Partnership 
working with 
health 

3 
Probable 

2 
Minor 
impact 

6 
Medium 

risk 

Tolerate; 
continue to 
work with 
partners to 
deliver the 
Boston Health 
& Wellbeing 
Strategy and 
Action Plan 

Partnership 
work on the 
Boston Health & 
Wellbeing 
Strategy and 
Action Plan 

N/A 

Green; 
Reviewed by 
CMT on 
18/4/18 – 
changes to 
wording only 

C
P

3
 

Town centre 

The future 
sustainability of 
the town 
centre in terms 
of retail, 
housing and car 
parking will 
have an impact 
on the ability of 
the Council to 
achieve its 
corporate 
prosperity and 
place priority 

PP 

Prosperous 
Boston and 
Markets task and 
finish groups 

2 
Possible 

3 
Major 
impact 

6 
Medium 

risk 
Treat 

Prosperous 
Boston and 
Markets task 
and finish 
groups 

Aim to reduce 
the likelihood 
of the town 
centre 
deteriorating 
to possible 
and to take all 
available 
opportunities 
to reshape a 
vibrant town 
centre 

Green; 
Reviewed and 
updated by 
CMT on 
10/1/18; risk 
score reduced 
from 9 to 6 – 
still medium 

P
age 52



Appendix B 

 
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Risk name Description 

R
is

k 
o

w
n

e
r 

Existing control 
measures in 
place 

Residual (net) risk score Risk control: 
Terminate; 
Tolerate; 
Transfer; Treat 

Action/s 
(monitored in 
P+) 

If Treat, 
target risk 
score and 
explanation 

Management 
assurance 

(RAG) 

Likelihood Impact Total 

1 to 4 
  

1 to 4 
  

1 to 16 
  

C
P

4
 Population 

change 

There is a risk 
that population 
change will 
impact on the 
ability of the 
Council to 
achieve its 
corporate 
priorities of 
people & 
prosperity 

AF 

Inclusive Boston 
projects; 
Controlling 
Migration Fund 

3 Probable 
3 

Major 
impact 

9 
Medium 

risk 
 Treat 

 Inclusive Boston 
projects – 
progress 
monitored in 
quarterly 
reporting 

N/A 

Green; 
Reviewed by 
CMT on 2/5/18 
and 13/6/18; 
wording 
changed and 
likelihood 
increased to 3 

C
P

4
 

Budget 

There is a risk 
around the 
long term 
balancing of 
the budget 
with economic 
and funding 
uncertainty 
impacting on 
the ability of 
the Council to 
achieve its 
corporate 
priority of 
public service 

PJ 

Medium Term 
Financial 
Strategy; 
budgetary 
process; sound 
level of reserves; 
continued close 
monitoring; 
refresh of 
transformation 
programme; 
maintenance of 
the value list 

3 
Probable 

4 
Critical 
impact 

12 
High risk 

Tolerate; 
continue to 
have a robust 
budget setting 
and MTFP 
process in 
place; continue 
to drive the 
delivery of the 
refreshed 
transformation 
programme; be 
less risk averse 
when making 
decisions about 
transformation 

Delivery of 
MTFP; quarterly 
reporting; 
implementation 
of the 
transformation 
programme 

N/A 

Amber; 
Reviewed by 
CMT on 
18/10/17; no 
changes 
recommended; 
specific wording 
added in 
relation to 
Internal 
Drainage Board 
(IDB) risk in Q4 

P
age 53



Appendix B 

 
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Risk name Description 

R
is

k 
o

w
n

e
r 

Existing control 
measures in 
place 

Residual (net) risk score Risk control: 
Terminate; 
Tolerate; 
Transfer; Treat 

Action/s 
(monitored in 
P+) 

If Treat, 
target risk 
score and 
explanation 

Management 
assurance 

(RAG) 

Likelihood Impact Total 

1 to 4 
  

1 to 4 
  

1 to 16 
  

C
P

4
 

Capacity 

There is a risk 
that capacity 
will impact on 
the ability of 
the Council to 
achieve its 
corporate 
priority of 
public service 

KN 

Recruitment and 
retention project 
completed; 
succession 
planning 
ongoing; HR 
policies and 
procedures; 
good 
management 
practice; 
member training 
and 
development; 
there is capacity 
in priority areas 

2 
Possible 

3 
Major 
impact 

6 
Medium 

risk 

Tolerate; 
continue to 
train and 
develop staff 
and members 
and maximise 
resources by 
prioritising and 
shared services 

Workforce 
planning; 
succession 
planning 

N/A 

Green; 
Reviewed by 
CMT on 
01/11/17 – no 
changes 
recommended 

C
P

4
 Transformati

on 
Programme 

There is a risk 
that the next 
phase of the 
transformation 
programme will 
impact on the 
ability of the 
Council to 
deliver public 
service 

PJ 

Transformation 
Programme; 
project 
management 
methodology; 
governance in 
place via 
Transformation 
Board and 
quarterly 
reporting 

3 
Probable 

3 
Major 
impact 

9 
Medium 

risk 

Tolerate; 
continue to 
drive the 
delivery of the 
transformation 
programme 

Delivery of the 
transformation 
programme; 
review of the 
project 
management 
guidelines 

N/A 

Amber; 
Reviewed by 
CMT on 
11/07/18 – 
likelihood score 
increased to 3 

C
P

4
 

Brexit 

The outcome of 
the 
referendum 
has resulted in 
economic 
uncertainty and 
there may be 

PJ 

Medium Term 
Financial 
Strategy; 
budgetary 
process; sound 
level of reserves; 
continued close 

3 
Probable 

3 
Major 
impact 

9 
Medium 

risk 

Tolerate; 
continue to 
have robust 
financial plans 
and monitoring 
in place 
pending more 

Quarterly 
financial 
reporting 

N/A 

Green; 
Reviewed by 
CMT on 
15/11/17 – no 
changes 
recommended 

P
age 54



Appendix B 

 
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Risk name Description 

R
is

k 
o

w
n

e
r 

Existing control 
measures in 
place 

Residual (net) risk score Risk control: 
Terminate; 
Tolerate; 
Transfer; Treat 

Action/s 
(monitored in 
P+) 

If Treat, 
target risk 
score and 
explanation 

Management 
assurance 

(RAG) 

Likelihood Impact Total 

1 to 4 
  

1 to 4 
  

1 to 16 
  

other changes 
around 
migration, the 
local 
workforce, and 
the legal 
framework in 
which we 
operate that 
are also 
uncertain at 
this time 

monitoring clarity 

O
ve

ra
ll Civil 

contingency 
risks 

There are 
community 
risks which will 
impact on the 
ability of the 
Council to 
operate 
effectively 

AF 

Community Risk 
Register 
monitored by 
the Lincolnshire 
Resilience Forum 
(LRF) 

2 
Possible 

4 
Critical 
impact 

8 
Medium 

risk 

Tolerate; 
continue to 
work with the 
LRF 

Working in 
partnership with 
the Lincolnshire 
Resilience 
Forum 

N/A 

Green; 
Reviewed by 
CMT on 
7/02/18 – 
changes to 
wording only 

P
age 55



Appendix B 

 
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Risk name Description 

R
is

k 
o

w
n

e
r 

Existing control 
measures in 
place 

Residual (net) risk score Risk control: 
Terminate; 
Tolerate; 
Transfer; Treat 

Action/s 
(monitored in 
P+) 

If Treat, 
target risk 
score and 
explanation 

Management 
assurance 

(RAG) 

Likelihood Impact Total 

1 to 4 
  

1 to 4 
  

1 to 16 
  

O
ve

ra
ll 

Compliance 

There is a risk 
that non-
compliance 
with legal 
requirements / 
governance / 
internal 
controls will 
impact on the 
ability of the 
Council to 
operate 
effectively 

MS 

Internal controls, 
policies and 
procedures in 
place; annual 
governance 
statement; 
internal audit; 
safeguarding 
policy and 
procedures; 
ongoing work to 
improve contract 
management 
and to update 
the contract 
register; 
Member training 
programme and 
corporate 
training 
programme in 
place; revised 
scheme of 
delegation; 
effective 
complaints 
management 
process 

2 
Possible 

3 
Major 
impact 

6 
Medium 

risk 

Tolerate; 
continue to 
ensure 
compliance 
with legal 
requirements, 
governance 
and internal 
controls; 
improve 
contract 
register 

Internal audit 
reporting; 
review of 
contract 
register; 
Member Code of 
Conduct to be 
finalised and 
adopted; 
procurement 
training 

N/A 

Green; 
Reviewed by 
CMT on 
30/05/18 – 
changes to 
wording only 

P
age 56



Appendix B 

 
 

C
o

rp
o

ra
te

 

P
ri

o
ri

ty
 

Risk name Description 

R
is

k 
o

w
n

e
r 

Existing control 
measures in 
place 

Residual (net) risk score Risk control: 
Terminate; 
Tolerate; 
Transfer; Treat 

Action/s 
(monitored in 
P+) 

If Treat, 
target risk 
score and 
explanation 

Management 
assurance 

(RAG) 

Likelihood Impact Total 

1 to 4 
  

1 to 4 
  

1 to 16 
  

O
ve

ra
ll 

Reputation 

There is a 
reputational 
risk to the 
Council which 
could impact 
on the ability of 
the Council to 
operate 
effectively 

KN 

Internal and 
external 
communication, 
press releases, 
bulletins, 
website, social 
media; policy, 
protocol and 
training for 
speaking to the 
press 

2 
Possible 

3 
Major 
impact 

6 
Medium 

risk 

Tolerate; 
continue to 
communicate 
effectively and 
work with the 
press to 
portray the 
Council 
accurately 

Production of 
press releases, 
bulletins; use of 
social media; 
development of 
Visit Boston, 
Think Boston 
etc; work with 
the Youth 
Council 

N/A 

Green; 
Reviewed by 
CMT on 
21/02/2018 – 
changes to 
wording only 

 
Environmental enforcement risk reviewed by CMT on 7/3/18 and removed as a strategic risk. The contract has been in place for over a year so we now have data to 
inform the risk score and it has been agreed to downgrade it to an operational risk rather than a strategic risk. 
 

Guidance on scoring for information 
 
Risk appetite categories: 
 

 
 

P
age 57



Appendix B 

 
 

 
 

P
age 58



Finance Q2 2018/19 – appendix C 

 

1 The National Picture – key financial events during Quarter 2 2018/19 

 
The main issues affecting the Council in the second quarter of 2018/19 were: 
 

 RPI decreased to 3.3% and CPI increased to 2.4% at September 2018; 

 Bank base rate increased to 0.75% (on 2 August 2018). 
 

2 Revenue Budget   

 

At the Q2 point in the year the total net expenditure for the year to 31 March 2019 is forecast to be 
£9.551m, compared to the budget for the year of £9.492m; a projected net overspend of £59k.  
The graph below profiles the budget and spending on a monthly basis for the year. 
 
Graph 1 – Comparison of budget to spend to date 

 

 
 

 

 

 

 

-2,000,000

0

2,000,000

4,000,000

6,000,000

8,000,000

10,000,000

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

£
 V

al
u

e

Period

Budget Actual

Page 59



 
Table 1 details spend for the year against budget by Service Area; Table 2 details spend for the year 
by Portfolio Holder; and Table 3 details the spend for the year by Corporate Priority, as requested 
by Corporate and Community Scrutiny Committee. BTAC is now included and separately identified 
in the Tables, for completeness and transparency. 
 
Table 1 – Net spend by Service Area: 
 

Service Area Net 
Budget 
2018/19 

 
 

£000 

Projected 
Outturn 

 
2018/19 

 
£000 

Variance 
(under 
spend)/ 

overspend 
 

£000 

Summary of Main Variances 

Chief Executive 359           379 20 Economic Development 

Deputy Chief Executive  812 757 (55) Planning income, Elections 
cost repayment, Members 
allowances & Civic Review 

Chief Finance Officer 947 903 (44) Verify Earnings & Pension 
funding from DWP, Custom 
Build Grant, UC Welfare 
Reform income  

Head of Corporate 
Services 

 
1,101 

 
1,101 

 
- 

 

Head of Regulatory 
Services 

 
1,570 

 
1,454 

 
(116) 

Flexible Homelessness 
support grant, Housing 
Enforcement. 

Head of Operations  956 939 (17) Commercial Waste, Refuse / 
Recycling & Vehicle Holding 
A/c. 

Head of Place and Space (305) (222) 83 Parking, Leisure income & 
Markets income. 

BTAC    655 655 -  

Internal Drainage Board 
Levies 

 
1,884 

 
1,884 

 
- 

 

Interest 
Payments/(Receipts) 

 
(6) 

              
       (140) 

 
(134) 

Interest Receivable variance 
(345k); Int.Payable variance 
211k 

Capital Financing  931 1,054 123 Capital Programme –Section 
8  

Earmarked Reserve 
Movements 

 
588 

 
787 

 
199 

 

 
Reserve Movement –Section 
6  

TOTAL 9,492 9,551 59  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 60



 
Table 2 – Net spend by Portfolio Holder Area: 
 

Portfolio Holder Area Net 
Budget 
2018/19 

 
       
£000 

Projected 
Outturn 
2018/19 

 
       £000 

Variance 
(under 
spend)/ 

overspend 
          £000 

Summary of Main Variances 

Town Centres (733) (670) 63 Parking, Markets income. 

Environment 1,910 1,893 (17) Vehicle Holding A/c, 
Commercial Waste & Refuse / 
Recycling. 

Housing, Property & 
Community 

 
629 

 
         513 

 
(116) 

 Flexible Homelessness 
support grant, Housing 
Enforcement.  

Finance 1,999 1,955 (44) Verify Earnings & Pension 
funding from DWP, Custom 
Build Grant, UC Welfare 
Reform income 

Leader  1,220 1,185 (35) Planning income, Elections 
cost repayment, Members 
allowances, Civic Review & 
Economic Development. 

Tourism, Arts, Culture 
and Heritage 

 
(117) 

 
(97) 

 
20 

 
Leisure income. 

Regulatory 532 532 -  

BTAC 655 655 -  

Internal Drainage Board 
Levies 

 
1,884 

 
1,884 

 
- 

 

Interest 
Payments/(Receipts) 

(6)         (140) (134) Interest Receivable (345k); 
Int.Payable 211k  

Capital Financing  931 1,054 123 Capital Programme –Section 
8  

Earmarked Reserve 
Movements 

 
588 

 
787 

 
199 

 
Reserve Movement –Section 
6  

TOTAL 9,492 9,551 59  

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Page 61



 
 
Table 3 – Net spend by Corporate Priority: 
 

Priority Net 
Budget 
2018/19 
       
£000 

Projected 
Outturn 
2018/19 

       £000 

Variance 
(under)/ 

overspend 
        £000 

Summary of Main Variances 

Prosperity 726 811 85 Planning income, Leisure 
income, Markets income & 
Economic Development. 

People 951          743     (208) Homelessness support grant, 
Verify Earnings & Pension 
funding & Housing 
Enforcement  

Place 1,874 1,857 (17) Commercial Waste, 
Refuse/Recycling & Vehicle 
Holding A/c 

Public Service 1,889 1,900 11 Insurance, Custom Build 
Grant, Elections & Corporate 
Democratic Core 

BTAC 655 655 -  

Internal Drainage Board 
Levies 

 
1,884 

 
1,884 

 
- 

 

Interest 
Payments/(Receipts) 

(6)         (140) (134) Interest Receivable (345k); 
Int.Payable 211k 

Capital Financing  931 1,054 123 Capital Programme –Section 
8  

Earmarked Reserve 
Movements 

 
588 

 
787 

 
199 

 
Reserve Movement – Section 
6  

TOTAL 9,492 9,551 59  

Page 62



3. Variations to budget 

 

 Budget 
2018/19 
£’000 

Variance 
2018/19 
£’000 

Outturn 
2018/19 
£’000 

Comments 

Total Service Expenditure and Drainage board levies 7,973    

Additional Costs     

 Members’ allowances  30  Increase in Members’ allowances  

    Other Movements  42  Various smaller variances 

    Vehicle holding account  20  Contract costs 

    Commercial Waste  10  Increased volume – variable cost 

    Housing Enforcement  27  HMO licensing software (funded from income) 

    Parking  38  Insurance   

    Corporate & Democratic Core  25  Professional services – Property Fund purchases 

    Economic Development  20  Primary Engineer (funded from Tax Reserve) 

    Interest Payments 
 211  

See Note 7. Projected Total Interest Payable 
£322k, Budgeted Total Interest Payable £111k. 

  423   

Reduced Costs     

    Civic review  (30)    

  (30)   

Additional Income     

    Flexible Homelessness support grant  (40)  To be used to support Housing strategy. 

    Custom Build Grant  (19)  New burdens grant, to revenue in year 

    Verify Earnings & Pensions Funding   (24)  Funding to combat income related fraud  

    Refuse / Recycling (ELDC rounds)  (23)  Additional income – revised charges 

    Commercial Waste  (24)  Growing service (Q1 position £15k favourable) 

    Planning income  (22)   Above YTD Budget. 

    Housing Enforcement  (49)  HMO Licensing (some to cover software) 

    Housing Enforcement 
 (54)  

Return of unused Empty Homes Funding from 
Lincolnshire Housing Partnership. 

    Elections  (33)  Repayment General Election 17-18 costs 

    Housing Benefit 
 (68)  

UC/Welfare Reform income (to be moved to 
Reserves – funding ends 31/03/19) 

    Interest Receivable 
 (345)  

Projected Total Interest Receivable (£462k), 
Budgeted Total Interest Receivable (£117k). 

P
age 63



  (701)   

Reduced Income     

     Leisure Income 
 20  

Reduction in gym memberships, admission and 
course fees 

     Market Income  25  Income variance forecast  

  45   

TOTAL SERVICE EXPENDITURE           7,710  

     

Capital Financing and Reserve Appropriations 1,519    

          Increase in Capital Financing from Revenue  123  See section 8 

          Proposed Movement in Earmarked Reserves  199  See section 6 

       322   

TOTAL RESERVE APPROPRIATIONS   1,841  

     

TOTAL SPENDING   9,551  

TOTAL FINANCING   (9,492)  

Projected Over/(Underspend)   59  

     

P
age 64



4 Controlling Migration Fund 

 
This section has been introduced this year, to enable the spending of the £1.4m Controlling 
Migration Funding to be reported. 
 
Table 4 – Breakdown of Bid and Cumulative Spend to September 2018 
 

Spend Category Breakdown 
of Bid 

 
£’000 

Spend to 
30 Sep 
2018 
£000 

A Passion for People Project 80            32 
Community Leadership, Advice 
& Integration 

467 46 

Adding Value to Learning 114 57 
Doing what’s important for our 
community 

 
726 

 
9 

Total 1,387 144 

 

5 Trading Income  

 
The Council has a number of demand led budget areas which are reliant on receiving 
income for services provided.  Income from Commercial Waste and Planning are projected 
to be above the budget, however Markets and Leisure are estimated to be below budget, 
resulting in an anticipated net £19k reduction from budgeted income for the year from these 
services. These areas are included in the following table: 
 
Table 5 – Trading Income Outturn: 
 

Income Area Budget 
 

£000 

Projected 
Outturn 

£000 

Variance 
 

£000 

Building Control  (184) (184) - 
Planning  (465) (487) (22) 
Land Charges  (99) (99) - 
Licensing  (121) (121) - 
Garden Waste (400) (400) - 
Bereavement  (803) (803) - 
Commercial Waste (185) (209) (24) 
Parking  (987) (987) - 
Markets  (180) (135) 45 
Leisure (833) (813) 20 

Total (4,257) (4,238) 19 

 
Fees and Charges  
 
Licensing 
 
In accordance with the Corporate Charging Policy, fees for The Animal Welfare (Licensing of 
Activities involving Animals) (England) Regulations 2018, which took effect on 1 October 2018 
are set as follows: 
 
The fees for existing licences which have transferred across from the previous legislation will 
remain unchanged.  This applies to Dog Breeding, Riding Establishments, Cat and Dog 
Boarding and Pet Shop Licences 

Page 65



New Licence regimes for keeping or  training of animals for exhibition and day care for dogs is 
set as the same level as the existing animal welfare licence fee  for dog boarding, being £122. 
Where additional inspection of the premises is required due to an appeal against a risk rating 
the fee is set at £80.  
 
A full costing exercise will be undertaken at a time when actual licence application processing 
timescales are known and the fees will be revised no later than 1 April 2020. 
 
Bereavement 
 
Recorded Delegated Decision. Interim fee added to Bereavement Services Fees and Charges: 
Purchase of Exclusive Right of Burial for Cremated Remains plot at Fosdyke Cemetery - £500.  
This fee is in the proposed list of fees and charges for 2019/20, but request for the service 
received this year. Fee is based on half the level of the fee levied for a full sized plot.  
 

Recommendation:  
 
F1 To approve the fees proposed for Bereavement and Licensing. 
 

 

6  Reserves 

 
The following table shows the level of earmarked reserves held at the beginning of the 
year, movements in the year, and the projected position at 31 March 2019: 
 
Table 6 – Reserves 
 

Income Area Balance 
1 April 
2018 
£000 

Previously 
Approved 
Movement 

£000 

Proposed 
Movement 

 
£000 

Balance 
31 March 

2019 
£000 

Capital Funding  3,635 379 (9) 4,005 
Transformation Reserve 874 (46) (9) 819 
Repairs and Renewals  714 (66) 48 696 
ICT Reserve 397 - - 397 
Housing Reserve 1,153 (166) 73 1,060 
Controlling Migration  489 41 - 530 
Climate Change Reserve 150 15 - 165 
Insurance Reserve 260 30 - 290 
Community Cohesion 10 - - 10 
Mitigation Reserve - - 109 109 
Tax Reserve (Business 
Rates/VAT) 

 
1,059 

 
388 

 
           (20) 

 
1,427 

Total 8,741 575 192 9,508 

  
Notes 

 Capital Funding Reserve – the proposed movement in reserve reflects changes 
to in-year financing requirements associated with the revised capital programme as 
set out in section 8. 

 Transformation Reserve – reflects changes in the timing of expected project 
spend. 

 Housing Reserve – the proposed movement in reserve reflects additional grant 
income received during quarter 2. 

 Controlling Migration Reserve – the forecast year-end position reflects the level 
of grant held to meet the cost of projects as shown in table 4. 

Page 66



 Mitigation Reserve – as set out in the Capital & Treasury Strategy approved by 
Council on 30 April 2018, this new reserve will mitigate the risk to the revenue 
budget of possible future downturns in returns from the capital Property Funds. 
Additional investment returns from Property Funds less cost of borrowing set aside 
to protect against downward move in fund value. 
 

Recommendation:  
 
F2 To approve the reserve movements detailed in Table 6.  
 

 
 

7 Treasury Management 

 
At 30 September 2018 the Council held £14.100m in cash investments (£16.405m at 30 June 
2018) and £16.521m in property funds (£1.122m at 30 June 2018).  
 
The graph below shows that investment income earned to 30 September totalled £83,300 
comprising £44,100 from cash investments and £39,200 from property funds. A significant uplift 
in property fund income will occur in the second half of this year following purchases at the end 
of August and September totalling £15.489m.   
 
The Council achieved an average rate of return for the quarter of 0.61% on its cash investments 
and an average 3.06% from its property funds. 
 
 
Graph 2 – Comparison of investment income budget to actual  
 

 
 
  

£462,000 

£117,000 

£83,300 

£0

£50,000

£100,000

£150,000

£200,000

£250,000

£300,000

£350,000

£400,000

£450,000

£500,000

Apr May June July Aug Sep Oct Nov Dec Jan Feb Mar

Month

Actual, Budget , and Projected Investment Income 

Projected Outturn

Budget

Actual

In
te

re
st

 r
ec
ei
va
b
le

Page 67



Table 7 - Property Funds – Financial Performance Summary (Initial £1m)  
 

Property  
Fund 

Sum 
Invested 

 
£’000 

Fair Value 
31 March 

2018 
£’000 

Fair Value 
30 Sept 

2018 
£’000 

Income 
received 
2018/19 
£’000 

BlackRock  500 564 575 7 

Schroders  250 283 294 4 

Threadneedle  250 264 267 6 

TOTAL 1,000 1,111 1,136 17 

 
 
Table 8 - Property Funds – Financial Performance Summary (new holdings: as at 30 
September 2018) 
 

Property  
Fund 

Settlement 
Date 

Capital 
Exp. 

 
£’000 

Fair Value 
at date of 
acq’n 
£’000 

Fair Value 
30 Sept 

2018 
£’000 

Cum. 
gain/(loss) 
at 30 Sept 
£’000 

BlackRock  28.09.18 4,000 4,000 4,026 26 

Schroders  07.09.18 4,000 4,020 4,055 55 

Threadneedle  31.08.18 2,989 2,901 2,907 (82) 

Threadneedle  28.09.18 500 483 484 (16) 

M&G  14.09.18 4,000 3,905 3,912 (88) 

TOTAL  15,489 15,309 15,384 (105) 

 
The difference between purchase price (Capital Expenditure) and fair value at the date of 
acquisition reflects premiums payable or discount received against the Funds’ ‘Net Asset Value’ 
price at the settlement date. 
 
Temporary borrowing of £10.5m was undertaken in September 2018 (see Table 6 below), to 
part-finance the acquisition of the new property fund holdings, with the remainder coming from 
existing cash resources.   
 
Table 9 – Borrowing at 30 September 2018 

 

Local Authority 
Amount  
£’000 

Duration Rate 

South Holland District 
Council 

2,000 1 Month – Repayable 
05/10/18 

1.00% 

Edinburgh City Council 4,000 2 Months – Repayable 
13/11/18 

0.83% 

Edinburgh City Council 4,500 2 Months – Repayable 
27/11/18 

0.83% 

Total 10,500   

 
Interest payable (including that for the existing long term £1m loan) at 30 September was 
£59,100, against the year’s original budget of £111,250. Based on current projections, the total 
interest payable for 2018/19 is estimated at £322,000 (this assumes that the remaining £4.5m is 
placed in Q3 and that all £20m long term PWLB borrowing is undertaken by 31 December 
2018).  
 

  

Page 68



8  Capital 

 
The following table shows the latest approved capital programme for 2018/19 as reported to 
Cabinet on 5 September 2018, plus other known in-year changes together with actual spend to 
the end of quarter 2:  
 
Table 10 – Capital Programme for 2018/19 
 

Scheme Latest 
Approved 

5 Sept 
2018 
£’000 

Qtr. 2 
Changes 

 
 

£’000 

Revised 
Program. 

 
 

£’000 

Actual  
to 

30 Sept 
2018 
£’000 

Scheme     
Commercial  Property Funds* 20,000 - 20,000 15,489 
Disabled Facilities Grants** 695 - 695 84 
Housing Strategy 200 - 200 200 
Homeless Hostels Refresh 15 - 15 - 
Municipal Buildings Alterations  19 - 19 - 
Housing Scheme – Julian’s Yard/Ingelow 
Avenue 

 
25 

 
- 

 
25 

 
- 

Marginal Viability Fund*** 3,500 (1,818) 1,682 - 
Boston Masterplan - Feasibility Study - 47 47 - 
Resurfacing and Footpath Improvements 8 - 8 - 
Estates Works 10 - 10 - 
Industrial Units Refresh 10 - 10 - 
Voluntary Centre Office Alterations 21 (1) 20 11 
PSICA (Shop Front Scheme)     
          Haven Wharf 
          23 High Street, Boston 
          49 Market Place, Boston 
Town Centre Heritage Scheme**** 

125 
184 
68 

200 

- 
- 
- 

 (200) 

125 
184 
68 

- 

125 
- 
- 
- 

PRSA Investment 58 - 58 - 
PRSA Upgrading of Existing/New Facilities 80 - 80 - 
Enhanced Play Equipment and Recreational 
Facilities – Garfitts Lane 

 
73 

 
- 

 
73 

 
- 

GMLC Investment in Gym and Spa Area 123 - 123 23 
Multi Use Games Area***** 
St Botolph’s Grant 

269 
- 

(269) 
50 

- 
50 

- 
50 

Chancel Restoration 28 11 39 11 
Information Technology Refresh 30 - 30 - 
Microsoft Licences 43 - 43 18 
Vehicle Replacement     
    Ford Transit Tipper Vans 86 2 88 61 
    Replacement Mower   27 - 27 27 
    Refuse Vehicle 157 (2) 155 155 
St John’s Depot Accommodation 18 - 18 - 
Upgrade to Bartec Collective 40 - 40 - 
Crematorium – Priority works to Chapel 19 (9) 10 9 
Crematorium – Provision of Parking and 
Resurfacing Works 

 
65 

 
- 

 
65 

 
- 

 26,196  (2,189) 24,007 16,263 

Page 69



 
*Commercial Capital Property Funds 
 
By 30 September 2018, of the £20m approved capital programme sum, funds had been placed 
as follows - £3.489m with Threadneedle and £4.0m each with Schroders, Black Rock and 
M&G.  The Council will be placing £4m with AEW and an additional £0.5m with Threadneedle at 
the end of October to complete the purchases. 
 
Further information on the acquisition of property fund units, and their funding, can be found in 
section 7 above and in the Quarter 2 Treasury Management and Capital Strategy Update Report 
to Audit and Governance Committee on 12 November 2018. 
 
(http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=128&MId=1292&Ver=4) 

 
**Disabled Facility Grants 
 
The annual budget for 2018/19 is £695k, which comprises of £517k Better Care Fund allocation 
for the year and £178k carried forward from 2017/18.  The waiting list has now been cleared, 
although there is still a significant amount and value of cases being progressed. The speed of 
this is dependent on the clients’ agents and availability and capacity of contractors.  
 
Spend as at the 30 September was £84k with commitments of £235k, and a further £371k in the 
progress of being specified and priced by the Lincolnshire Home Independence Agency. 
  
***Marginal Viability Fund (MVF) 
 
The provisional award of £3.5m under the MVF Fund remains subject to Homes England’s final 
offer and receipt of their formal funding agreement.  Drawdown is expected in four tranches 
equating to one payment of £1.682m in Quarter 4, 2018/19 and three payments making up 
£1.818m in 2019/20. 
 
****Town Centre Heritage Scheme 
 
Scheme now planned to commence in 2019/20. 
 
*****Multi Use Games Area 
 
Scheme now planned to commence in 2019/20. 
 

Recommendation:  
 
F3 To approve the updated capital programme as detailed in Table 10 
 

 

Capital Financing 
 

Latest 
Approved 

5 Sept 
2018 
£’000 

Qtr. 2 
Changes 

 
 

£’000 

Revised 
Program. 

 
 

£’000 

Actual to 
30 Sept 

2018 
 

£’000 

External Grants and Contributions 5,179 (2,226) 2,953 159 
Capital Reserve 664 10 674 306 
Transformation Reserve 50 77 127 100 
Repairs and Renewals Reserve 103   (50) 53 9 
Housing Reserve 200 - 200 200 
Borrowing 20,000 - 20,000 15,489 

 26,196 (2,189) 24,007 16,263 

Page 70

http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=128&MId=1292&Ver=4


 

9 Consultancy costs 

 
Where specialist work is required, the Council seeks support from third parties when necessary.   
 
Table 11 – Consultants 
 

Consultant Q2    
£000 

Activity 

Link Asset Services 4 Treasury services  

Anderson and Glenn 12 Architectural consultant 

Elysian Associates 1 VAT Consultancy Services  

Heritage Trust of 
Lincolnshire 

1 Archaeologist services 

Total 18  

 

10 Debt Collection 

 
A review of debts is undertaken every month and monitoring is reported against targets.  Debts 
approved for write off by the Chief Finance Officer under the approved delegation, after all 
appropriate and proportionate recovery actions had been undertaken, were £96,358 for Council 
Tax, £46,928 for Business Rates, £13,288 for Housing Benefit Overpayments and £8,976 for  
Sundry Debts. 
 
An analysis of the Council’s Sundry Debts held at 30 September 2018 is shown in the following 
table: 
 
Table 12 – Sundry Debt analysis  

 

11 Supplementary Estimates 

 
Supplementary estimates reflect instances where the Council has received additional income in 
the quarter, notified since the formal budget was set and its use is for a specific purpose.   
 
Table 13 – Supplementary Estimates  
 

Supplementary Estimates requiring Cabinet approval Amount 
£ 

Local Government Association (LGA): Leisure (productivity expert programme) (7,000) 

To be taken to Revenue in year (Corporate & Democratic Core)  7,000 

 

Recommendation:  
 
F4 That the supplementary estimate in respect of Local Government Association 

(LGA) be approved, as set out in table 13. 
 

 

  

Quarter 1 Not yet 
due 

0-30 days 31-91 
days 

92-365 
days 

Over 365 
days 

Total 

Amount £ 108,885 85,107 45,805 22,419 15,135 277,351 

Page 71



12 Insurance  

 
The number of insurance claims against the Council is relatively small. Although claims are 
higher than in the previous year, they remain in line with the past 4 years’ average. Not all 
claims result in the Council making a settlement payment. 
 
 A summary of the number of claims received, comparing them to 2017/18, is given below. 
 
Table 14 – Insurance claims received 
 

Cover Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Total 

Public Liability 2 (0) 4 (1) 0 (0) 0 (1) 6 (2) 

Employer’s Liability 0 (1) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (1) 

Motor 1 (0) 0 (0) 0 (3) 0 (2) 1 (5) 

Property 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 0 (0) 

Total 3 (1) 4 (1) 0 (3) 0 (3) 7 (8) 

 
(Previous year comparison in brackets) 
 

13 Procurement Exemptions 

 
Following the review of the Contract Procedure Rules (CPR) agreed by Council on 10 October 
2016, any proposed exemptions over £25,000 now require prior approval before acceptance. 
 
There are no exemptions to be approved in quarter 2. 

 

14 Localisation of Business Rates and Council Tax Support Scheme 

 
Table 15 – Localisation of Business Rates 
 

 
These figures represent the position for 
the current year due to the Council’s 
participation in the successful Lincolnshire 
100% localisation Business Rates Pilot 

Base 
Estimate 

Included in 
2018/19  

£ 

Projected 
Outturn 

 
2018/19 

£ 

Deficit/ 
(Surplus) in 

 
2018/19 

£ 

Business Rates income for the year 19,524,122 19,062,747 461,375 

Less: Lincolnshire County Council share 
(40%) 

 
(7,809,649) 

 
(7,625,099) 

 
(184,550) 

Boston Borough Council’s Share (60%) 11,714,473 11,437,648 276,825 

Renewable Energy Schemes 205,000 205,000 - 

Business Rates - Tariff adjustment (7,959,251) (7,959,251) - 

Business Rate Income credited to 
General Fund 3,960,222 3,683,397 276,825 

 
The projected outturn for the year to 31 March 2019 shows an overall deficit against the base 
estimate of £461,375 of which £276,825 is Boston BC’s element.  This deficit will carry over into 
2019/20 retained business rates position, and will be used to calculate retained business rates 
for the 2019/20 budget and Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS). Funding to cover this 
amount will come from the Tax Reserve. 
 
Business Rates Assurance  
 
This report covers the results for the first eighteen months of the new 2017 Rating List up to 30 
September 2018.  As a result of this revaluation, new counts have been started from 1 April 
2017. 

Page 72



 
Of the 291 new cases finalised since 1 April 2017, a further 42 business rate assessments have 
been identified for the 2010 Rating List (making 238 extra ones from the start in 2014) and 62 
extra ones have been identified for the 2017 Rating List.  2017 List Rateable Value growth of 
£1.95m has been achieved so far from these cases.  The positive impact on rates payable 
across both Lists has been £0.73m (3.57%).  Boston’s net share is £0.41m and this is worth an 
extra £0.38m to this Council annually. Unfortunately this does not translate into additional 
funding for the Council overall, as there are other changes taking place that would, without the 
Business Rates Assurance Function, reduce the Council’s share of total business rate income. 
 

The Valuation Office Agency (the body responsible for maintaining the Rating Lists) still has 60 
rating appeals outstanding for the 2010 Rating List (equating to 2.5% of Boston’s total rating 
assessments in that List), and there is an appropriate provision in the Council’s Accounts for the 
potential losses associated with any successful appeals.  No meaningful data is yet available on 
outstanding appeals on the 2017 Rating List, although the outcome of successful appeals is 
monitored as the appeals are determined. 
 

Council Tax Support Scheme 
 

2018/19 is the sixth year of the localised Council Tax Support (CTS) scheme. Following the 
statutory annual review during 2017/18, the decision was made to go forward into this year with 
a largely unchanged scheme, but allowing for national up-ratings to be applied. This scheme 
continues to support the Government’s Welfare Reform agenda to bring further reductions to the 
national benefits bill. The continuation of the scheme sustains the required protection of those of 
pension age, protects vulnerable customers and encourages people into employment. A more 
fundamental review of the Council’s CTS scheme will not take place until the local impacts of 
Universal Credit (UC) are known, which is unlikely to be for at least two years given the pace and 
extent of introduction of UC in Boston. The first UC cases here are due to commence in 
September 2018.  
Whilst Collection of Council tax remains steady and on track against forecasts, there is still some 
uncertainty of the overall ongoing impact of CTS. In recognition, we continue to remain prudent 
in setting the bad debt provision in this area.  
 

The number recipients of CTS in 2018/19 continues to show a roughly even split between working 
age claimants and pensioners.  
 

15 Other Financial Matters 
 

Audit and Governance Committee 
 

A number of reports were presented to Audit and Governance Committee on the 23 July 2018: 
 

 Report to those charged with Governance (ISA 260) 

 Audited Financial Report 2017/18 

 Treasury Management Update – Quarter 1 2018/19 

 Internal Audit – Progress Report 2018/19 

 Learning and Development 

 Work Programme   
 

A number of reports were presented to Audit and Governance Committee on the 17 September 
2018: 
 

 Introduction to New External Auditor - Mazars   

 Quarter 1 Risk Report 2018/19 

 Property Fund Update 

 Internal Audit Progress Report 2018/19 

 Work Programme 

 

Page 73



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 

 

 

 

 
REPORT TO:  CABINET 
 
DATE:    28 NOVEMBER 2018 
 
SUBJECT: WASTE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 
     
REPORT AUTHOR:  HEAD OF ENVIRONMENTAL OPERATIONS 
 
PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR DAVID BROWN – ENVIRONMENT 
 
EXEMPT REPORT:  NO  
 
 

 
SUMMARY 
 
The Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire, previously referred to as the Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS), sets out how members of the 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) can work together to deliver the strategic 
vision…’To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-
friendly waste management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire’ 
 
The draft version of the Strategy was approved for public consultation by the LWP on the 
8th March 2018 and subsequently by this Committee on 18th April and by Cabinet on 16th 
May 2018. The public consultation phase commenced on the 4th April and closed on 2nd 
July. 
 
A response to the public consultation was submitted by Boston Borough Council, 
formulated from feedback obtained during the All Member Briefing event held on 7th 
March 2018. The draft formal response was shaped by this Committee and approved by 
Cabinet prior to being sent to the LWP as the formal Boston Borough Council public 
consultation response. 
 
Over the summer, the LWP have reflected on the public consultation exercise and have 
attempted to incorporate as much of the feedback as possible into the amended version 
of the strategy, known as Final Version 6.0. This version was put before the LWP on 10th 
September and received formal approval with a recommendation requesting the formal 
adoption of the strategy by all partner organisations within the LWP.   
 
Prior to this Committee meeting, Members were afforded the opportunity to review the 
final version 6.0 of the strategy at an All Member Briefing event held on 8th October and 
attended by Councillor Eddy Poll, Lincolnshire County Councillor and Chairman of the 
LWP. The briefing was well attended and members were invited to address questions to 
the panel following a presentation by Officers illustrating the changes made since the 
published draft version of the strategy concluded public consultation.  

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 75

Agenda Item 5



 
The Environment and Performance Committee considered the report at its meeting held 
on 13 November 2018 and noted its recognition at the consultation process undertaken.  
The committee unanimously agreed the officer recommendation in that it endorsed the 
proposed Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire and recommended that Cabinet 
agree formal adoption of the Strategy at its meeting on the 28 November 2018 (subject to 
the Strategy in the same form being formally adopted by all the other waste collection 
authorities in Lincolnshire) 
 
 

 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Cabinet agree formal adoption by the Council of the proposed Waste Management 
Strategy for Lincolnshire, attached at Appendix A, (subject to the Strategy in the same 
form being formally adopted by all the waste collection authorities in Lincolnshire). 
 
 

 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
Boston Borough Council, as a waste collection authority and member of the Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership, is committed to formally adopting this Strategy so as to protect the 
environment by delivering sustainable waste management services and to establish best 
value waste management practices across the county. 
 
 

ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED 
 
There are no alternatives to consider. 
 
 

 

 

REPORT:  

1. A WASTE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY FOR LINCOLNSHIRE 

 
1.1 The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) brings together the public bodies within 

Lincolnshire responsible for the collection and disposal of waste and include: 

 Seven Waste Collection Authorities (WCA’s) – Boston Borough Council, City 

of Lincoln Council, East Lindsey District Council, North Kesteven District 

Council, South Holland District Council, South Kesteven District Council and 

West Lindsey District Council; 

 One Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) – Lincolnshire County Council; and 

 One Waste Regulatory Authority – The Environment Agency. 

1.2 The LWP’s previous Strategy was adopted in 2008 and now requires review.  This 
new Strategy has been developed as a joint venture between the WDA and the 

Page 76



WCA’s, with significant commitment from all members of the LWP in order to arrive 
at a genuinely shared vision and future strategy for the county and its residents. 

 
1.3 The strategy document is set out in the following format; 
 
  Summary 
 

This Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire sets out how the members of the 
LWP will work together to protect the environment by delivering sustainable waste 
management services and to establish best value waste management practices for 
the benefit of Lincolnshire. 

 
The LWP’s vision for this Strategy is:  

 
“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer 
friendly waste management solutions that give value for money to 
Lincolnshire.” 

 
2.  This version of the Strategy 
 
2.1 This final version of the Strategy has been prepared and revised in discussion with 

the members of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP). It takes into account 
feedback received during a period of public consultation undertaken between April 
and July 2018. (Public consultation feedback is summarised in Appendix B of the 
strategy document itself). In addition to the endorsement of the LWP as a body, 
each partner council has adopted this JMWMS through its own formal processes. 

 
3. Layout of the document 
 
3.1 In addition to this summary, the Strategy includes the following chapters: 
 

2.  Introduction 
Gives more detailed background information about why we need a new Strategy. 

 
3.  What are the key legislative drivers? 
Background information which has been taken into account in shaping the Strategy. 

 
4.  How has the strategy has been developed? 
Details of the process followed to develop this Strategy. 

 
5.  Where are we today? 
An assessment of the Partnership's current services and future needs. 

 
6.  What are we aiming for? 
Our vision and objectives for what we want to achieve. 

 
7.  How will we get there? 
Sets out the types of action identified to fulfil our objectives – These will be 
expanded upon in further detail in a separate Action Plan to be updated annually. 

 

Page 77



8.  The next steps: Monitoring, implementing and reviewing the strategy 
How we will check that we are fulfilling our objectives. 

  
3.2 The strategy document also includes a number of appendices which give further 

explanatory details to support the main text. One of these is the initial Action Plan 
setting out the work which the LWP will undertake to move forwards with the 
objectives of this Strategy. The Action Plan will be reviewed annually to ensure that 
it remains up to date. 

 
4. Where are we today? (see Chapter 5) 
 
4.1 In order to consider what we would like to achieve and how we might do so, it is 

important to establish where we are starting from. Chapter 5 sets out detailed 
information, including: 

 An analysis of the nature and performance of existing services; 

 The impact of any service changes already firmly planned (if any); 

 Projections of future waste quantities; and 

 The impact of changes in waste quantities on overall performance if no 
changes, other than those already firmly planned, are introduced. 

 
4.2 This information makes it clear that, whilst we have achieved a lot in recent years, 

we now face a number of challenges, such as: 
 

 A growing population producing more waste each year; 

 Funding from central government decreasing each year; 

 A falling recycling rate locally and a stalled rate nationally, whilst the national 
government is committing to higher targets set by the EU; 

 Waste going into the wrong bin – A quarter of what we receive in our 
recycling collections is not recyclable, whilst a quarter of what we receive in 
our general waste collections is actually recyclable; and 

 Volatile markets for recyclable materials. 
 
5. What are we aiming for? (see Chapter 6) 
 
5.1 In order to work towards our vision, the Partnership has developed and agreed a 

set of high-level objectives, which are key drivers for the delivery of this strategy. In 
line with the vision, each of these objectives is to be considered in the light of the  
Partnerships shared values that:  

 
All Objectives should ensure that services provided under the Strategy 
represent the best possible environmental option which gives value for 
money for Lincolnshire residents. 

 
 
 
  

Page 78



 
 
5.2 The ten strategic objectives are as follows: 
 

Objective 1 To improve the quality and therefore commercial value of our recycling 
stream. 
 

Objective 2 To move towards a common set of recycling materials  
 

Objective 3 To consider the introduction of separate food waste collections where 
technically, environmentally and economically practicable. 
 

Objective 4 To explore new opportunities of promoting waste minimisation and of 
using all waste as a resource in accordance with the waste hierarchy.  
 

Objective 5 To contribute to the UK recycling targets of 50% by 2020 and 55% by 
2025. 
 

Objective 6 To find the most appropriate ways to measure our environmental 
performance and set appropriate targets.  
 

Objective 7 To seek to reduce our carbon footprint. 
 

Objective 8 To make an objective assessment of what further waste 
processing/disposal capacity is required and, as necessary, secure 
appropriate capacity.  
 

Objective 9 To regularly review the LWP governance model in order to provide the 
best opportunity to bring closer integration and the implementation of the 
objectives. 
 

Objective 10 To consider appropriate innovative solutions in the delivery of our waste 
management services. 
 

 
6. How will we get there? (see Chapters 7 & 8) 
 
6.1 In order to achieve these objectives, this Strategy is accompanied by a separate 

Action Plan, the initial version of which is attached as Appendix D, detailing what 
will be done when and by whom. The Action Plan will be reviewed and revised 
annually to ensure that it remains up to date and addresses any new challenges 
arising during the lifetime of the Strategy.  

 
6.2 Chapter 7 sets out some of the themes which are reflected in the action plan: 
 

Seeing the wider picture (see section 7.1) 

 Developing links with other local authorities 

 Engaging with the commercial sector 

 Addressing any waste processing capacity gaps 
 

Page 79



 
 
Balancing economic and environmental benefits (see section 7.2) 

 Ensuring value for money 

 Caring for the environment 

 Finding the balance in practice 
 

Reviewing what we collect and how (see section 7.3) 
 

Getting our messages across (see section 7.4) 

 To those living in Lincolnshire – e.g. What to put in which bin 

 To the national government – Influencing national strategy and policy to tie in 
with our own 

 To other stakeholders – Parish Councils, Environment Agency, etc. 

 To the commercial sector – To waste producers and waste businesses 
 
6.3 Chapter 7 also summarises (see section 7.5) each of the key work streams which 

are included in the Action Plan.  
 
6.4 We will also (as detailed in Chapter 8) ensure that we keep working to achieve our 

objectives throughout the lifetime of this Strategy. This will include: 
 

Monitoring the strategy (see section 8.1) – Measuring our performance both in 
existing ways (such as recycling percentages) and in new ways which better reflect 
how we are doing compared to our strategic objectives. 

 
Implementing the strategy (see section 8.2) – Ensuring that our work is: 

 Appropriately funded, 

 Done in partnership across the members of the LWP, and 

 Properly focussed through the use of an action plan. 
 

Reviewing the strategy (see section 8.3) – This will, in line with government 
guidance, happen at least every five years, and will also need to react to changing 
circumstances such as the UK's departure from the European Union.  

 
7. What happens now? 
 
7.1 During the summer, the LWP have reflected on the public consultation exercise and 

produced Final Version 6.0 of the strategy. This version received the formal 
approval of the LWP on 10th September with a recommendation requesting the 
formal adoption of the strategy by all partner organisations within the LWP.   

 
7.2 Prior to this Committee meeting tonight, Members were afforded the opportunity to 

review the final version 6.0 of the strategy at an All Member Briefing illustrating the 
changes made since the published draft version of the strategy concluded public 
consultation in the summer.  

 
  

Page 80



 
Conclusion 
 

It is the Final Version of the Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire which is before 
members this evening. For information, a summary of the changes made to the strategy 
following public consultation together with the presentation slide decks delivered at the All 
Member Briefing event are appended to this report, at appendix B,C and D. 
  
The Environment and Performance Committee considered the report at its meeting held 
on 13 November 2018 and unanimously agreed the officer recommendation to endorse 
the proposed Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire and recommend that Cabinet 
agree formal adoption of the Strategy by the Council at its meeting on the 28 November 
2018. 
 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
No financial implications as a result of this report. 
 
Once the strategy has been adopted by this Council and the adoption process has been 
concluded by all LWP members, any changes to budgets identified will be brought to 
members for consideration as appropriate. 
 

 

LEGAL & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
Under the Waste and Emissions Trading Act 2003, authorities in two-tier areas have a duty 
to have a Waste Management Strategy. This allows Waste Collection Authorities and 
Waste Disposal Authorities to work together in deciding how they will manage municipal 
waste in their area. 
 
An equalities impact assessment has been completed by the author of the strategy and 
can be made available to Members should they wish to view it. The consultation 
questionnaire includes a question relating to the Equality Act 2010 and the duty on 
organisations to ascertain how people with ‘protected characteristics’ may be impacted by 
the strategy and how those impacts might be eliminated or mitigated. Feedback obtained 
from consultation respondents, during the 3 month consultation period, has been used to 
inform amendments to the Final Version of the strategy and will be used to inform 
implementation of the strategy objectives once adopted. 
 
Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA) is the term used to describe the application of 
environmental assessment to plans and programmes in accordance with European Council 
Directive 2001/42/EC ‘on the assessment of the effects of certain plans and programmes 
on the environment’ (known as the SEA Directive). 
 
The SEA Directive is enacted in England through the “Environmental Assessment of Plans 
and Programmes Regulations. These Regulations introduced a requirement for an SEA to 
be produced for a number of statutory plans and programmes, including Waste 
Management Plans. Bodies such as the LWP should ensure that the SEA is an integral 
part of developing, and later delivering, their Local Waste Plan. 

Page 81



 
The overarching objective of the SEA Directive is: “To provide for a high level of protection 
of the environment and to contribute to the integration of environmental considerations into 
the preparation and adoption of plans… with a view to promoting sustainable development, 
by ensuring that, in accordance with this Directive, an environmental assessment is carried 
out of certain plans…which are likely to have significant effects on the environment.” 
 
The main requirements introduced by the SEA Regulations are that: 

 Consultation with statutory bodies is undertaken on the scope of the SEA; 

 The findings of the SEA are published in an Environmental Report, which sets out 
the significant effects of the plan; 

 Consultation is undertaken on the plan and the Environmental Report; 

 The results of consultation are taken into account in decision-making relating to the 
adoption of the plan; and 

 Information on how the results of the SEA have been taken into account is made 
available to the public. 

 
SEA extends the evaluation to the broader policy and strategy of regional, county and 
district level plans. It is a systematic process that identifies and predicts the potential 
significant environmental effects of plans/programmes, informing the decision making 
process by testing different alternatives or options against environmental objectives. 
 
The Environmental Report sets out the results of the SEA. It provides a systematic 
appraisal of the potential environmental impacts of the Waste Strategy and identifies 
measures to prevent, reduce and where possible offset any significant adverse effects of 
implementing that strategy on the environment. 
 
The full environmental report completed on the waste management strategy can be made 
available to Members should they wish to view it. 

 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
Consultation on the Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire has been undertaken with the Portfolio 
Holder for Environment, Cabinet Members (public consultation draft version), Environment 
and Performance Committee Members (public consultation draft version), with those 
Members that attended the two All Member Briefing events held on 7th March 2018 (public 
consultation draft version) and the 8th October 2018 (Final Version 6.0), Environment and 
Performance Committee Members (Final Version 6.0). 
 
  

Page 82



 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 
 

APPENDIX A The Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire. 
Final Version 6.0 – October 2018. 

APPENDIX B What’s new in the final JMWMS (version 6.0) 

APPENDIX C Slide deck presented to the All Member Briefing on 
8th October by Matthew Michell of Lincolnshire 
County Council. 

APPENDIX D Slide deck presented to the All Member Briefing on 
8th October by Christian Allen, Head of 
Environmental Operations at Boston Borough 
Council 

 

 

 
BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 
No background papers as defined in Section 100D of the Local Government Act 1972 
were used in the production of this report. 
 
 

 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 
 

 
See below 
 

Name of body Date 
 

All Member Briefing event 7th March 2018 

E&P Overview and Scrutiny Committee - JOINT MUNICIPAL 
WASTE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY FOR LINCOLNSHIRE – 
PUBLIC CONSULTATION DRAFT 

18th April 2018 

Cabinet -  JOINT MUNICIPAL WASTE MANAGEMENT 
STRATEGY FOR LINCOLNSHIRE – BOSTON BOROUGH 
COUNCIL SUBMISSION TO PUBLIC CONSULTATION 

16th May 2018 

All Member Briefing event 8th October 2018 

E&P Overview and Scrutiny Committee - WASTE 
MANAGEMENT STRATEGY FOR LINCOLNSHIRE  

8th November 2018 

 
 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 2018 

 

APPENDIX A

Page 85



Page 86



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 3 of 59 

Table of contents 

Foreword – By Chair and Vice Chair of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 

1 Summary 

2 Introduction 

3 What are the key legislative drivers? 

4 How has the strategy been developed? 

5 Where are we today? 

6 What are we aiming for? 

7 How will we get there? – Our "Forward Plan" 

8 The next steps: Monitoring, implementing and reviewing the strategy 

 

Appendices 

Appendix A – Development of Vision & Objectives 

Appendix B – Consultation Results 

Appendix C – Neighbouring Authorities 

Appendix D – Initial Action Plan 

Appendix E – Glossary of Terms & Abbreviations 

  

Page 87



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 4 of 59 

Foreword 

By Chair and Vice Chair on behalf of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 

Welcome and thank you for your interest in Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's 

waste management strategy for Lincolnshire.  

It is clear the cost of waste collection and disposal in the county will increase 

over the coming years, a fact that led all eight partner agencies to come 

together and work towards a sustainable strategy for today and for the future. 

The LWP consulted the public on the strategy and it has now been formally 

adopted. It is aimed at keeping those expected cost increases to a minimum, 

while safeguarding our environment and making the best use of the resources 

available to us. 

However, it is not just local action that is needed to make a difference. The 

strategy includes plans to lobby for changes to current legislation, particularly 

around food packaging. 

Where we can't reduce waste or recycle it, we need to use it as a resource in 

itself – to create energy – and the waste partnership will work with other 

organisations to make sure we can do this as efficiently and economically as 

possible.  

The joint strategy has been put together with the help and hard work of 

councillors and officers from the partner councils and with input from the 

public. 

But this is just the beginning of our work. It is a plan of action for the LWP to 

follow, but with the flexibility required to make it possible for all of us to 

improve and develop our waste reduction, recycling and disposal efforts. 

  

Page 88



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 5 of 59 

1 Summary 

This Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) for Lincolnshire sets out how the 

members of the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) will work in partnership to protect the 

environment by delivering sustainable waste management services and to establish best value waste 

management practices for the benefit of Lincolnshire. 

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's vision for this Strategy is: 

“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-

friendly waste management solutions that give value for money to 

Lincolnshire.” 

 

1.1 This version of the Strategy 

This final version of the Strategy has been prepared and revised in discussion with the members of 

the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP).  It takes into account feedback received during a period of 

public consultation undertaken between April and July 2018. 

In addition to the endorsement of the LWP as a body, each partner council has adopted this JMWMS 

through its own formal processes. 

 

1.2 Layout of the document 

In addition to this summary, the Strategy includes the following chapters. 

2. Introduction 

Gives more detailed background information about why we need a new Strategy. 

3. What are the key legislative drivers? 

Background information which has been taken into account in shaping the Strategy. 

4. How has the strategy been developed? 

Details of the process followed to develop this Strategy. 

5. Where are we today? 

An assessment of the Partnership's current services and future needs. 

6. What are we aiming for? 

Our vision and objectives for what we want to achieve. 

7. How will we get there? 

Sets out the types of action identified to fulfil our objectives – These will be expanded upon 

in further detail in a separate Action Plan to be updated annually. 

8. The next steps: Monitoring, implementing and reviewing the strategy 

How we will check that we are fulfilling our objectives. 

Page 89



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 6 of 59 

This document also includes a number of appendices which give further explanatory details to 

support the main text.  One of these, Appendix D, is the initial Action Plan setting out the work 

which the LWP will undertake to move forwards with the objectives of this Strategy.  As stated 

elsewhere, the Action Plan will be reviewed annually to ensure that it remains up to date. 

 

1.3 Where are we today? (see Chapter 5) 

In order to consider what we would like to achieve and how we might do so, it is important to 

establish where we are starting from.  Chapter 5 sets out detailed information, including: 

 An analysis of the nature and performance of existing services; 

 The impact of any service changes already firmly planned (if any); 

 Projections of future waste quantities; and 

 The impact of changes in waste quantities on overall performance if no changes, other than 

those already firmly planned, are introduced. 

This information makes it clear that, whilst we have achieved a lot in recent years, we now face a 

number of challenges, such as: 

 A growing population producing more waste each year; 

 Funding from central government decreasing each year; 

 A falling recycling rate locally and a stalled rate nationally, whilst the national government is 

committing to higher targets set by the EU; 

 Waste going into the wrong bin – A quarter of what we receive in our recycling collections is 

not recyclable, whilst a quarter of what we receive in our general waste collections is 

actually recyclable; and 

 Volatile markets for recyclable materials. 

 

1.4 What are we aiming for? (see Chapter 6) 

In order to work towards our vision, the Partnership has developed and agreed a set of high-level 

objectives, which are key drivers for the delivery of this strategy.  In line with the vision, each of 

these objectives is to be considered in the light of the Partnership’s shared values that: 

All Objectives should ensure that services provided under the Strategy represent the best 

possible environmental option which gives value for money for Lincolnshire residents. 

The ten objectives are as follows: 

Objective 1. To improve the quality and therefore commercial value of our recycling stream. 

Objective 2. To move towards a common set of recycling materials. 

Page 90



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 7 of 59 

Objective 3. To consider the introduction of separate food waste collections where technically, 
environmentally and economically practicable. 

Objective 4. To explore new opportunities of promoting waste minimisation and of using all 
waste as a resource in accordance with the waste hierarchy. 

Objective 5. To contribute to the UK recycling targets of 50% by 2020 and 55% by 2025. 

Objective 6. To find the most appropriate ways to measure our environmental performance, 
and set appropriate targets. 

Objective 7. To seek to reduce our carbon footprint. 

Objective 8. To make an objective assessment of what further waste processing/disposal 
capacity is required and, as necessary, secure appropriate capacity. 

Objective 9. To regularly review the LWP governance model in order to provide the best 
opportunity to bring closer integration and the implementation of the objectives 
set by the strategy. 

Objective 10. To consider appropriate innovative solutions in the delivery of our waste 
management services. 

 

1.5 How will we get there? (see Chapters 7 & 8) 

In order to achieve these objectives, this Strategy is accompanied by a separate Action Plan, the 

initial version of which is attached as Appendix D, detailing what will be done when and by whom.  

The Action Plan will be reviewed and revised annually to ensure that it remains up to date and 

addresses any new challenges arising during the lifetime of the Strategy. 

Chapter 7 sets out some of the themes which are reflected in the action plan: 

 Seeing the wider picture (see section 7.1) 

o Developing links with other local authorities 

o Engaging with the commercial sector 

o Addressing any waste processing capacity gaps 

 Balancing economic and environmental benefits (see section 7.2) 

o Ensuring value for money 

o Caring for the environment 

o Finding the balance in practice 

 Reviewing what we collect and how (see section 7.3) 

 Getting our messages across (see section 7.4) 

o To those living in Lincolnshire – e.g. What to put in which bin 

o To the national government – Influencing national strategy and policy to tie in with 

our own 

o To other stakeholders – Parish Councils, Environment Agency, etc. 

o To the commercial sector – To waste producers and waste businesses 

Chapter 7 also summarises (see section 7.5) each of the key workstreams which are included in the 

Action Plan. 

Page 91



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 8 of 59 

We will also (as detailed in Chapter 8) ensure that we keep working to achieve our objectives 

throughout the lifetime of this Strategy.  This will include: 

 Monitoring the strategy (see section 8.1) – Measuring our performance both in existing 

ways (such as recycling percentages) and in new ways which better reflect how we are doing 

compared to our strategic objectives. 

 Implementing the strategy (see section 8.2) – Ensuring that our work is: 

o Appropriately funded, 

o Done in partnership across the members of the LWP, and 

o Properly focussed through the use of an action plan. 

 Reviewing the strategy (see section 8.3) – This will, in line with government guidance, 

happen at least every five years, and will also need to react to changing circumstances such 

as the UK's departure from the European Union. 

  

Page 92



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 9 of 59 

2 Introduction 

2.1 Background 

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) brings together the public bodies within Lincolnshire 

responsible for collection and disposal of waste, including: 

 Seven Waste Collection Authorities (WCA’s) – Boston Borough Council, City of Lincoln 

Council, East Lindsey District Council, North Kesteven District Council, South Holland District 

Council, South Kesteven District Council and West Lindsey District Council; 

 One Waste Disposal Authority (WDA) – Lincolnshire County Council; and 

 One Waste Regulatory Authority – The Environment Agency. 

This Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS) provides a strategic framework through 

which the partners of the LWP can express their shared vision and strategic objectives for the 

handling of municipal waste.  Furthermore, it meets the requirements of the Waste and Emissions 

Trading Act 2003 to have such a joint strategy. 

The LWP’s previous Strategy was adopted in 2008, necessitating this review.  This new Strategy has 

been developed as a joint venture between the WDA and the WCA’s, with significant commitment 

from all members of the LWP in order to arrive at a genuinely shared vision and future strategy. 

In addition to this main Strategy document, the JMWMS process has produced: 

 A Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA), as required under the Environmental 

Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations 2004.  The SEA provides a thorough 

environmental assessment of a number of scenarios which can deliver the objectives set by 

the strategy.  In accordance with Government guidance, the SEA process, including the 

preparation of an Environmental Report, has been conducted at the same time as 

developing the Strategy; and 

 An Action Plan of work to be undertaken to move towards the objectives identified in the 

Strategy.  The intention is to update the Action Plan annually for the lifetime of this Strategy. 

The initial Action Plan is attached as Appendix D to this document.  The SEA Environmental Report is 

available from the JMWMS web page1. 

 

2.2 Scope and context 

In developing this Strategy, a balance has been sought between reducing costs and "doing the right 

thing" environmentally.  "Doing the right thing" (ideally the "best" thing) involves reference to a 

number of key documents. 

  

                                                           
1
 https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/ 

Page 93



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 10 of 59 

 

2.2.1 The Waste Hierarchy 

Article 4 of the revised EU Waste Framework Directive lays down a five-step hierarchy of waste 

management options which must be applied by Member States in this priority order.  In order of 

preference, these options are shown below in Figure 2-1. 

Figure 2-1  The Waste Hierarchy 

 

The Waste Hierarchy helps to encourage a change in thinking so that waste is considered as a 

resource to be made use of, with disposal being the last resort. 

Regulation 12 of the Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2012 asserts the need for us to 

consider the Waste Hierarchy in choosing how to handle all our waste streams, so this directs the 

principles under which our Strategy must be written. 

It should also be noted that the most preferred options are to prevent things from becoming waste 

in the first place, or to make it possible to reuse them.  This is reflected in our Objective 4 which has 

now, as described in Section 6.1, been expanded to specifically mention waste minimisation. 

2.2.2 UK Policy and Legislation on Waste 

This includes the following, further details of which are given in section 3.2 of this Strategy: 

 Waste Management Plan for England (2013) 

 25 Year Environment Plan (January 2018) 

 Resources and Waste Strategy (due during 2018) 

2.2.3 Lincolnshire's Previous Waste Strategy (2008) 

Lincolnshire’s previous Waste Strategy identified 10 key objectives.  Considerable progress has been 

made on these over the last decade, including: 

Objective 5 To increase progressively the recovery and diversion of biodegradable waste from 
landfill, to meet and exceed the Landfill Directive diversion targets. 

Objective 6 To ensure that residual waste treatment supports energy recovery and other 
practices higher up the waste hierarchy. 

Page 94

http://www.google.co.uk/url?sa=i&rct=j&q=&esrc=s&source=images&cd=&cad=rja&uact=8&ved=0ahUKEwjv_aHW2tLYAhXQYVAKHfEWBiAQjRwIBw&url=http://islwastemanagement.co.uk/isl-blog/waste-hierarchy-duty-of-care-in-northern-ireland-what-businesses-need-to-know/&psig=AOvVaw20FO1aXMelyDTBBagaaOZa&ust=1515856229051561


Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 11 of 59 

Through the building of the new Energy from Waste (EfW) 

facility in Hykeham, which began receiving waste in 2013, we 

now send less than 5% of our waste to landfill.  This reduced our 

landfill tonnage so much that we achieved our 2020 Landfill 

Directive diversion target as soon as the EfW was in full 

operation, and we have continues to achieve that target in every 

year since then. 

Our EfW facility also ensures that our residual waste is treated 

higher up the waste hierarchy than landfill. 

Objective 7 To deliver best value for money waste management services, addressed on a 
countywide basis. 

The lifetime of our 2008 Strategy has coincided with a period of unprecedented cuts to the funding 

which local authorities receive from national government.  The LWP authorities have achieved large 

budget savings during this time, but have continued to provide a high level of service to the public. 

Whilst our previous objectives were considered in developing this new Strategy, it is important to 

note that: 

 Some of those objectives have already met – e.g. Objective 5 as described above. 

 The new Strategy needs to reflect the changing political landscape – e.g. Financial austerity 

and the UK's exit from the European Union. 

 Changing the focus may help to renew the impetus and impact which have been lost as the 

previous Strategy has aged. 

 

2.3 What does the waste strategy cover? 

This Strategy is intended to fulfil the duty, under the Waste and Emissions Trading Act (2003) that: 

"The waste authorities for a two-tier area must… have for the area a joint strategy for the 

management of… waste from households, and… other waste that, because of its nature or 

composition, is similar to waste from households" 

In preparing this Strategy, in order to ensure a holistic approach and to identify possible synergies, 
the process also needs to take into account links between: 

 The Waste Strategy as a whole and the LWP partner authorities' strategic approach to other 
related matters, including (but not limited to): 

o Other environmental matters (e.g. Natural Environment Strategy) 
o Public health 
o Economic growth (e.g. Development Plans) and the consequential effects on waste 

growth. 

 Our Waste Strategy and those of neighbouring local authorities, and 

 Each individual Objective and all other Objectives within the Strategy. 

  

Page 95



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 12 of 59 

3 What are the key legislative drivers? 

This chapter outlines the main legal requirements for waste management that the Partnership has 

either already met or will need to meet as new legislation and requirements are introduced. It then 

considers the legislation regarding planning for any new waste management facilities and services 

that may be required to enable the Partnership to meet its future targets. 

 

3.1 European waste policy and legislation 

The European Union is currently the major source of the UK's environmental legislation and 

guidance in relation to the management of waste.  Whilst, in the longer term, the UK's exit from the 

European Union may see the UK diverge from EU waste policy and legislation, the UK Government 

have indicated their intention to continue to comply with EU legislation for the foreseeable future. 

A number of European Directives have been introduced which aim to increase levels of recycling and 

recovery, and thus reduce the amount of waste which is landfilled.  A number of these have recently 

been amended as part of the EU's Circular Economy Package (CEP) which came into force on 4th July 

2018.  In particular, the CEP includes changes to the Waste Framework Directive and Landfill 

Directive, both of which are key drivers for the LWP's strategic thinking. 

Full details of the CEP are available online, for example on the website of the Council of the EU2, but 

they are summarised below under the following headlines: 

 Waste Hierarchy 

 Recycling/reuse targets 

 Separate collections of specific materials 

 Landfill targets 

3.1.1 Waste Hierarchy 

This provides a framework of how sustainability in waste management can be increased 

progressively.  It is described in detail in Section 2.2.1 of this JMWMS. 

3.1.2 Recycling/reuse targets 

The UK government is committed to meeting the EU targets for the recycling of "municipal waste" 

(Table 3-1).  However, it should be noted that the definition of this differs from that of the former 

headline UK recycling rate (National Indicator 192).  Indeed, different EU member states measure 

this in a variety of ways, and the LWP has joined others in lobbying the UK government to consider 

including the recycling of Incinerator Bottom Ash (IBA) which would considerably boost the LWP's 

reported recycling rate.  Indeed, the reported rate for the UK as a whole already includes the 

recycling of metals extracted from IBA, whereas the official rate for individual councils does not.  

Further information regarding this can be found in section 5.5 of this Strategy. 

                                                           
2
 http://www.consilium.europa.eu/en/press/press-releases/2018/05/22/waste-management-and-recycling-

council-adopts-new-rules/ 

Page 96



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 13 of 59 

Table 3-1 EU recycling/reuse targets 

 By 2020 By 2025 By 2030 By 2035 

Total reuse and recycling of 
municipal waste 

50% 55% 60% 65% 

 

3.1.3 Separate collections of specific materials 

Before the introduction of the CEP there was already a requirement, transposed into UK law, for 

separate collections of paper, metal, plastic and glass: 

 "Where necessary… to ensure that waste undergoes recovery operations… and to facilitate 

or improve recovery"; and 

 "if technically, environmentally and economically practicable" (or "TEEP" for short). 

The CEP supplements this with the requirement, subject to the same "TEEP" caveat, for separate 

collections of: 

 "Bio-waste" (including food waste) by 31st December 2023; and 

 Textiles and hazardous waste by 1st January 2025. 

It remains to be seen how these requirements will be reflected in the new UK Resources and Waste 

Strategy or transposed into UK law, particularly in the light of the "TEEP" caveat.  This should 

become clearer with the publication of Defra's new Resources and Waste Strategy due towards the 

end of 2018. 

3.1.4 Landfill targets 

The UK Government responded to the original EU Landfill Directive both by setting equivalent 

targets (under the Landfill Allowance Trading Scheme, LATS) for each local authority, and by 

increasing the cost of landfill through an escalating rate of Landfill Tax, and the UK has achieved the 

2020 target well ahead of time.  Whilst the LWP's development, under its previous Waste Strategy, 

of an energy from waste facility brought us well within our LATS targets, the minimisation of our 

Landfill Tax bill, particularly in the face of predicted population and waste growth, remains a key 

driver. 

 

3.2 National waste policy and legislation 

Much of the UK's waste legislation transposes the above EU legislation.  It is currently unclear how 

Brexit will affect UK legislation in the future, but the UK Government has expressed a desire initially 

to retain EU-related waste legislation. 

Another element of uncertainty surrounds the UK Government's long-anticipated 25 Year 

Environment Plan which was published in January 2018.  Whilst the Plan contains, as described 

below, some pledges on waste, the promised new Resources and Waste Strategy is anticipated to 

arrive around the same time as the adoption of this Lincolnshire Strategy.  This JMWMS is intended 

Page 97



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 14 of 59 

to be flexible enough to react to any significant changes resulting from that new national strategy, 

particularly through the commitment to an annual review of the accompanying Action Plan. 

3.2.1 Waste Management Plan for England 

The 2013 Waste Management Plan for England sets out a number of strategic priorities which need 

to be taken into account in this Strategy for Lincolnshire.  These include: 

 Implementing the Waste Hierarchy. 

 Measures to promote high quality recycling. 

o The Waste (England and Wales) Regulations 2011, transposing the revised EU Waste 

Framework Directive, require the separate collection of waste paper, metal, plastic and 

glass from 2015 onwards wherever separate collection is necessary to get high quality 

recycling, and is practicable. 

o The Waste and Resources Action Programme (WRAP), will advise local authorities and 

others, including on best practice in collections. 

o The introduction of Regulations relating to Material Recovery Facilities (MRFs), including 

mandatory sampling weights and frequencies for inputs and outputs. 

 Separate collection of biowaste. 

o The Government has identified anaerobic digestion as the best technology currently 

available for treating food waste. 

3.2.2 UK 25 Year Environment Plan 

The government's 25 Year Environment Plan3 was published in January 2018.  On the subject of 

waste it included, on page 29, the following commitment. 

We will minimise waste, reuse materials as much as we can and manage materials at the 

end of their life to minimise the impact on the environment. We will do this by: 

 Working towards our ambition of zero avoidable waste by 2050 

 Working to a target of eliminating avoidable plastic waste by end of 2042. 

 Meeting all existing waste targets – including those on landfill, reuse and recycling – 

and developing ambitious new future targets and milestones. 

 Seeking to eliminate waste crime and illegal waste sites over the lifetime of this Plan, 

prioritising those of highest risk. Delivering a substantial reduction in litter and 

littering behaviour. 

 Significantly reducing and where possible preventing all kinds of marine plastic 

pollution – in particular material that came originally from land. 

The Plan includes a statement (page 85) that Defra will be: 

Publishing a new Resources and Waste strategy in 2018 aimed at making the UK a world 

leader in resource efficiency. It will set out our approach to reducing waste, promoting 

                                                           
3
 https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/673203/25-year-

environment-plan.pdf 

Page 98



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 15 of 59 

markets for secondary materials, incentivising producers to design better products and how 

we can better manage materials at the end of life by targeting environmental impacts. 

It is currently anticipated that this Resources and Waste strategy will be released in October 2018.  

Our Strategy Action Plans for future years will need to take this new national strategy into account, 

particularly with regard to any specific targets which are set. 

3.2.3 National Planning Policy  

The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF), introduced in March 2012 and revised in July 2018, 

sets out the Government's national planning policies for England.  This is supported by online 

Planning Practice Guidance. The overarching aim of the NPPF is to achieve sustainable development 

by ensuring economic, social and environmental gains are sought jointly and simultaneously through 

the planning system. At the centre of this is a presumption in favour of sustainable development.  

The NPPF must be taken into account in the preparation of  development plan documents, and is a 

material consideration in planning decisions. However, whilst the NPPF includes both general 

policies and specific policies, the specific policies do not extend to waste.  Instead, these are set out 

in the National Planning Policy for Waste (NPPW) (October 2014).  

The NPPW sits alongside the National Waste Management Plan (December 2013) and sets out the 

national framework for planning for waste management.  It outlines the planning system's key roles 

in delivering the new facilities that are essential for implementing sustainable waste management 

and protecting the environment and human health.  The emphasis is on delivering sustainable 

development, driving waste up the hierarchy, seeing waste as a resource and disposal as the last 

option. 

3.2.4 Other National Strategies 

The UK Government has set out several other Strategies which include elements relating to waste 

management. 

 The Industrial Strategy sets out plans: 

o For "moving towards a regenerative circular economy"; 

o To "take further measures to strengthen the markets for secondary materials"; and 

o To further develop the "Midlands Engine". 

 The Clean Growth Strategy – Includes, under the heading "Enhancing the Benefits and Value 

of Our Natural Resources", proposals to: 

o "Work towards our ambition for zero avoidable waste by 2050, maximising the value 

we extract from our resources, and minimising the negative environmental and 

carbon impacts associated with their extraction, use and disposal"; 

o "Publish a new Resources and Waste Strategy"; 

o "Explore new and innovative ways to manage emissions from landfill"; and 

o "Invest £99 million in innovative technology and research for agri-tech, land use, 

greenhouse gas removal technologies, waste and resource efficiency". 

 

Page 99



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 16 of 59 

3.3 The Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan (MWLP) 

The County Council has produced the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan under its statutory 

duties as the Mineral and Waste Planning Authority for the County. Planning law requires that all 

applications for planning permission for waste development must be determined in accordance with 

this plan unless material considerations indicate otherwise.  This plan is comprised of two parts, 

each forming a development plan document: 

 the Core Strategy and Development Management Policies (CSDMP) document (adopted on 1 

June 2016) – which sets out the key principles to guide the future extraction of minerals and 

the form of waste management development in the County up to 2031, together with the 

development management policies against which applications for those types of 

development will be assessed; and 

 the Site Locations document (adopted on 15 December 2017), which includes specific 

proposals and policies for the provision of land for mineral and waste development. 

The Strategic Objectives of the plan include: 

 protecting the environment and local communities from the negative impacts of waste 

development, reducing residual impacts and delivering improvements where possible, and 

ensuring new facilities include high standards of design and layout, sustainable construction 

methods, good working practices and environmental protection measures; 

 through prioritising the movement of waste up the waste hierarchy,  minimising greenhouse 

gas emissions by reducing reliance on landfill, maximising opportunities for the re-use and 

recycling of waste, facilitating new technologies to maximise the renewable energy potential 

of waste as a resource, and promoting the use of carbon capture technology; and 

 delivering adequate capacity  for managing waste more sustainably when it is needed; and 

ensuring waste is managed as near as possible to where it is produced. 

In relation to waste, the plan is based on directing new waste facilities, including extensions, to areas 

in and around the County's main settlements (Lincoln, Boston, Grantham, Spalding, Bourne, 

Gainsborough, Louth, Skegness, Sleaford and Stamford) where the highest levels of waste are 

expected to be generated. The strategy does, however, recognise that some developments are likely 

to be developed outside these areas, including biological treatment of waste such as anaerobic 

digestion and open-air windrow composting.  

The plan identifies, through the Site Locations document, locations for a range of new or extended 

waste management facilities to meet the predicted capacity gaps for waste arisings in the County for 

the period up to and including 2031. This will involve the building of waste management facilities for 

recycling and an energy from waste facility mainly for the management of Local Authority Collected 

Waste, and commercial & industrial waste. The plan identifies that facilities for the management of 

the county's Local Authority Collected Waste are already in place, with any future needs relating to 

replacement facilities. There is no requirement for further landfill facilities. The need for specialised 

thermal treatment and hazardous landfill would continue to be met by national facilities outside the 

county.  The plan also safeguards waste management facilities from redevelopment to non-waste 

uses or from the encroachment of incompatible development. 

Page 100



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 17 of 59 

The plan makes provision to meet the requirement for waste facilities through one  site   specifically 

allocated and safeguarded for waste development, and 16 areas (industrial areas) where waste uses 

are considered acceptable alongside other industrial and employment uses (providing flexibility and 

choice). 

To sum up, the Lincolnshire MWLP provides the spatial context and locational criteria for new waste 

facilities covering all waste streams.  Whilst it sets out the predicted requirement for new facilities, 

this is only indicative and is used to ensure that sufficient land is available for new waste facilities to 

meet the capacity gaps.  In practise, the LMWLP has allocated far more land for future waste 

management than will be required in order to allow flexibility.  The LWP will therefore need, 

particularly in considering the need for the development of new waste management facilities, to 

refer to the Lincolnshire MWLP. 

 

3.4 Relationship with Neighbouring Authorities 

Whilst each neighbouring authority was specifically contacted during our Public Consultation on this 

JMWMS, only a limited number of responses were received.  These are shown in Appendix C. 

Strong working relationships are required with our neighbouring authorities and, as highlighted by 

the response from North Lincolnshire Council, we will look for opportunities for joint infrastructure 

developments where this is mutually beneficial.  In developing and implementing our Action Plan, 

we will seek to identify such opportunities. 

We will also seek to continue dialogue with our neighbours once as the UK Government's 

transposition of the EU Circular Economy package becomes clearer, particularly through Defra's new 

Resources and Waste Strategy. 

  

Page 101



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 18 of 59 

4.1 Background  

The previous Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire was published in June 

2008. 

That Strategy was compiled by following Government guidance on waste management strategies 

and assessed in accordance with the ODPM guidance ‘A Practical Guide to the Strategic 

Environmental Assessment Directive’ (2005). 

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership has identified that a new joint waste strategy and a SEA are 

required. 

 

4.2 Development of a new waste strategy  

The development of this new strategy has also made use of the 2005 guidance from the Office of the 

Deputy Prime Minister (ODPM).  Although this is no longer available online, it is still generally 

considered to be the most relevant national guidance on the subject. 

The guidance sets out three questions which should be answered in developing a Waste Strategy.  

We have addressed each of these questions as described below. 

4.2.1 "Where are we today?" 

Chapter 5 summarises the services currently provided by each of the LWP authorities.  It also 

includes an analysis of the quantities of each waste stream and material being handled, and a 

forecast of future waste quantities. 

4.2.2 "Where do we want to get to and when?" 

The ODPM guidance describes this as "the objectives for how waste will be managed more 

sustainably in the future".  Chapter 6 sets out the LWP's shared objectives, developed and agreed 

through a series of workshops and meetings early in the Strategy process.  Chapter 6 also addresses 

the main challenges facing the LWP during the period covered by this Strategy. 

4.2.3 "What do we need to do to get there?" 

Chapter 7 gives an overview of the actions identified by the Partnership as being needed to achieve 

the objectives of this Strategy.  It essentially sets out a 'route map' showing how those objectives will 

be achieved. 

  

Page 102



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 19 of 59 

The necessary actions have been set out in more detail in an Action Plan for the first year of the life 

of this Strategy.  This includes details of: 

 who will need to do what? and 

 by when? 

In order to ensure that the Action Plan continues to deliver in future years, a revised version will be 

produced annually.  This will respond to any changes in the ongoing quantity and composition of 

waste, as well as to any other necessary factors. 

 

4.3 Strategic Environmental Assessment 

The Department for Environment, Food & Rural Affairs' (Defra) "Guidance on Municipal Waste 

Management Strategies" states that "as a minimum the Strategy should undergo a Strategic 

Environmental Assessment (SEA)." 

In general, SEA permits analysis of all draft Strategy provisions against a series of environmental 

objectives.  The aim is to ensure the effects of the Strategy are positive with regard to the County’s 

environmental features.  Any significant adverse effects identified must be avoided, remedied or 

mitigated. 

In view of this an SEA has been undertaken in parallel with the Strategy process, with both 

documents feeding into each other as appropriate.  The SEA was completed in line with: 

 Environmental Assessment of Plans and Programmes Regulations’ (SI 2004/1633) ‘SEA 

Regulations’  

 Government Guidance on SEA and SA: https://www.gov.uk/guidance/strategic-

environmental-assessment-and-sustainability-appraisal 

This will include several stages of consultation, initially with statutory consultees (Natural England, 

Historic England and the Environment Agency) and then alongside public consultation on this Waste 

Strategy. 

 

4.4 Stakeholder Engagement 

In addition to the statutory consultation for the SEA, the Defra guidance on Waste Strategies makes 

it clear that engaging with various stakeholders is vital to the development of an effective Strategy.  

Our Strategy process has involved this in a number of ways including the following. 

4.4.1 LWP Authorities 

The overall objectives and initial proposals for a way to work towards them were developed jointly 

by the eight authorities of the LWP.  This was achieved by holding two workshop sessions in July 

2017.  Those sessions were facilitated by an independent chair in order to ensure that the views of 

all partners were captured and given an equal footing. 

Page 103



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 20 of 59 

Full details of the workshops and their outputs can be seen in Appendix A. 

Amongst other things, the workshops established an overall framework for how the format of the 

strategy would lead from the overarching "Vision" to specific practical actions in an "Action Plan". 

Figure 4-1  Overall structure of the Waste Strategy 

 

Further engagement with all LWP partners has continued throughout the Strategy process, including 

through regular LWP meetings, with many partners using formal scrutiny processes to assist in its 

development, and through formal adoption of the documents at the end. 

4.4.2 Public Consultation 

A draft version of the JMWMS was made available for a period of 90 days of public consultation 

between April and July 2018.  This final version of the Strategy, and its accompanying Action Plan, 

reflect the feedback received from the consultation. 

Full details of the results of the consultation process are shown in Appendix B of this Strategy. 

  

Page 104



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 21 of 59 

5 Where are we today? 

Before deciding what we want to achieve in the future, and of how we are going to do so, it is 

essential that we have a proper understanding of our current services and of what waste we are 

likely to need to deal with during the period covered by this Strategy. 

This chapter provides a summary of the necessary baseline information including, as prescribed in 

Defra's 2005 JMWMS Practice Guide: 

 An analysis of the nature and performance of existing services; 

 The impact of any service changes already firmly planned (if any); 

 Projections of future waste quantities; and 

 The impact of changes in waste quantities on overall performance if no changes, other than 

those already firmly planned, are introduced. 

 

5.1 Demographics 

Within the East Midlands Region, Lincolnshire is the largest county covering 592,075 hectares, and 

the fourth largest in England covering 5% of England. 

The following information on the population of Lincolnshire all comes from the Lincolnshire 

Research Observatory website4. 

As at the 2011 Census: 

 Lincolnshire is a large and sparsely populated county.  In England 18% of the population live 

in rural areas, that is in towns of less than 10,000 people, in villages, hamlets or isolated 

dwellings.  In Lincolnshire the figure is 48%. 

 Lincolnshire is home to 306,971 households.  The average household is made up of 2.32 

persons, similar to the figure of 2.27 for England as a whole. 

 Lincolnshire has an ageing population with nearly 21% of its population being over 65 years 

of age compared to the England figure of just over 16%, with East Lindsey having the highest 

proportion at 26%. 

The population of Lincolnshire grew by over 10% between 2001 and 2011, which is faster than the 

figure for England of just under 8%.  As can be seen in Table 5-1, estimates indicate that 

Lincolnshire’s population continues to grow faster than the national rate for England, by a further 

5.3% between 2011 and 2017.  Most of our WCA's saw growth between 5.2% and 6.0% (above the 

national average of 4.9%) during that same period, but it should be noted that population growth in 

East Lindsey was significantly lower (at 2.4%) and in North Kesteven was significantly higher (at 

6.9%). 

  

                                                           
4
 http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/Population.aspx  

Page 105

http://www.research-lincs.org.uk/Population.aspx


Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 22 of 59 

Table 5-1 Population estimates 

Area 2011 Census 
2017 Mid 

Year Estimate 
Growth 

Boston BC 64,637 68,500 6.0% 

City of Lincoln 93,541 98,400 5.2% 

East Lindsey DC 136,401 139,700 2.4% 

North Kesteven DC 107,766 115,200 6.9% 

South Holland DC 88,270 93,300 5.7% 

South Kesteven DC 133,788 141,700 5.9% 

West Lindsey DC 89,250 94,300 5.7% 

Lincolnshire 713,653 751,200 5.3% 

England 53,012,456 55,619,400 4.9% 

 

Forecasts are that population growth for Lincolnshire going forwards (10% higher in 2041 than in 

2017) will continue to be a little lower than the average for England.  It should be noted, however, 

that this official estimate doesn't take into account specific housing developments, and the 

expectation is that the population will grow by more than this.  Either way, these extra people are 

likely to produce a significant amount of additional waste which the LWP will need to collect and 

dispose of. 

 

5.2 Waste arisings 

5.2.1 UK arisings summary 

Defra's report "UK Statistics on Waste"5 (published February 2018 included the following key points 

regarding the national situation in 2014: 

 The UK generated 202.8 million tonnes of total waste in 2014. 

 Over half of this (59%) was generated by construction, demolition and excavation. 

 UK generation of commercial and industrial waste in 2014 was 41.9 million tonnes. 

 Only 26.8 million tonnes, around 13% of the total, was "waste from households". 

Clearly, household waste is a relatively small proportion of overall waste, and needs to be 

considered in the light of the wider picture. 

5.2.2 Current Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) 

As a predominantly rural county, the largest waste stream in Lincolnshire comes from agricultural 

services which, according to the Waste Needs Assessment produce for the Lincolnshire Minerals and 

                                                           
5
 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-waste-data  

Page 106

https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-waste-data


Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 23 of 59 

Waste Local Plan (Site Locations Document)6, represents some half of the total waste stream.  In 

comparison, LACW represents around 10% of the total waste arisings in the county. 

It should be noted that whilst the County Council is required to consider all waste streams in the 

development of its Minerals and Waste Local Plan, agricultural waste is largely dealt with at source 

rather than requiring the County Council's attention in its role as Waste Planning Authority.  

Furthermore, the Waste and Emissions Trading Act 20037 states in Section 32(1), in defining the duty 

to have a Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy, that this Strategy should only cover the 

management of: 

(a) waste from households, and 

(b) other waste that, because of its nature or composition, is similar to waste from 

households. 

Therefore this Strategy focuses on LACW, which can include waste from the following sources (as 

defined in the Controlled Waste Regulations 2012): 

 Waste from households – This makes up the vast majority of LACW; 

 Other "household waste" – e.g. From schools and hospitals; 

 Some waste from commercial premises (such as shops, offices and restaurants); and 

 Some waste from construction and demolition (C&D) activities. 

Table 5-2 shows the breakdown of LACW across Lincolnshire, with 360,701 tonnes arising in 2017/18 

of which around 96% is household waste. 

Table 5-2 Summary of Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) in Lincolnshire 2017/18 

Sources: Collection (purple) = County Council Waste Data Management System; Disposal (orange) = Wastedataflow
8
 

Waste Stream 2017/18 (Tonnes) % of Total Waste Stream 

Local Authority Collected Waste 360,701  

Waste collected at kerbside by WCA's 274,180 76% of LACW 

Other waste collected by WCA'si 16,289 5% of LACW 

Waste collected at HWRC's 69,500 19% of LACW 

Other LACWii 731 <1% of LACW 

Total Household Waste collectediii 346,777 96% of LACW 

Total Household Waste disposed ofiii 346,329  

Household Waste reused, recycled or composted 150,553 44% of Household Waste Disposal 

Household Waste sent for energy recovery 179,976 52% of Household Waste Disposal 

Household Waste landfilled 13,151 4% of Household Waste Disposal 

i – Includes street sweepings, litter, bring banks, trade waste, etc. 

ii – Largely consists of waste from charities for which the WDA provides disposal. 

iii – Totals collected and disposed of differ due to changes in stock levels at Waste Transfer Stations. 

 

 

                                                           
6
 http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-

development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-
examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Downlo
ad/106584  
7
 http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/33/contents  

8
 http://www.wastedataflow.org/  

Page 107

http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584
http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584
http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584
http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2003/33/contents
http://www.wastedataflow.org/


Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 24 of 59 

Figure 5-1 Sources of LACW in 2017/18 

 

Figure 5-2 Destinations of Household Waste in 2017/18 

 

5.2.3 Waste growth 

As was reported in the LWP's previous Waste Strategy, between 2000/01 and 2006/07 the total 

tonnage of Local Authority Collected Waste (LACW) in Lincolnshire rose by over 13%.  Table 5-3 and 

Figure 5-3 below, however, show that we actually saw a fall in waste thereafter, with only one 

subsequent year (2016/17) seeing more waste generated than 2006/07. 

Table 5-3 Waste growth trends in Lincolnshire between 2007 and 2018 

Source: Wastedataflow
9
 

Year 
Municipal Waste 

(Tonnes) % Change 
Household 

Waste % Change 

2006/07 365,537  349,663  

2007/08 352,123 -3.67% 338,676 -3.14% 

2008/09 359,798 +2.18% 348,280 +2.84% 

2009/10 349,784 -2.78% 336,893 -3.27% 

2010/11 355,209 +1.55% 341,886 +1.48% 

2011/12 349,736 -1.54% 336,073 -1.70% 

2012/13 345,232 -1.29% 335,028 -0.31% 

                                                           
9
 http://www.wastedataflow.org/  

76% 

5% 

19% 
<1% Waste collected

at kerbside by
WCA's

Other waste
collected by
WCA's

Waste collected
at HWRC's

Other LACW

44% 

52% 

4% 

Household Waste
reused, recycled or
composted

Household Waste
sent for energy
recovery

Household Waste
landfilled

Page 108

http://www.wastedataflow.org/


Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 25 of 59 

Year 
Municipal Waste 

(Tonnes) % Change 
Household 

Waste % Change 

2013/14 346,795 +0.45% 335,216 +0.06% 

2014/15 354,503 +2.22% 342,132 +2.06% 

2015/16 355,849 +0.38% 343,574 +0.42% 

2016/17 366,947 +3.12% 353,819 +2.98% 

2017/18 360,155i -1.85% 346,329 -2.12% 

Overall Change (since 2006/07) -1.47%  -0.95% 

i – The definition of Municipal Waste differs slightly from LACW, so this total is different to that in Table 5-2. 

 

Figure 5-3 Annual Tonnage of LACW in Lincolnshire 

 

It should be noted that the total tonnage has been very erratic, making it difficult to predict any 

given year.  However, closer analysis reveals that much of the variation is due to weather conditions 

on the quantity of green waste received for composting – e.g. Snow in March 2018 restricted early-

Spring growth.  Figure 5-4 shows the total tonnage excluding green waste. 

Figure 5-4 Annual Tonnage excluding Green Waste 

 

 

310,000

320,000

330,000

340,000

350,000

360,000

370,000

Other LACW

Household Waste

240,000

250,000

260,000

270,000

280,000

290,000

300,000

310,000

Page 109



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 26 of 59 

This shows a clearer trend from which conclusions can be drawn: 

 Total tonnage fell for several years up to 2012/13, possibly due to the economic downturn 

making the public less likely to throw things away. 

 There has been an upturn in recent years, possibly as the economy picks up again. 

In view of the most recent upward trend, and ongoing population growth, it is forecast that LACW 

arisings will continue to grow.  This is in line with the forecasts in the Waste Needs Assessment that 

accompanies the Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan10 which suggests that LACW tonnages 

will grow as shown in Table 5-4. 

The forecasts consist of a two part assumption: 

1) That the population will grow by 0.66% per annum; and 

2) That each person will produce more waste each year. 

Whilst the second part may seem a pessimistic assumption, particularly given the fall in waste in 

2017/18, over the preceding four years (to2016/17) waste growth per person was around 0.7% per 

annum. 

Table 5-4 LACW growth scenario from Lincolnshire Minerals and Waste Local Plan 

 2016 to 2020 2021 to 2031 

Population growth 0.66% per annum 0.66% per annum 

Waste per head growth 0.5% per annum 0.25% per annum 

Total Growth 1.16% per annum 0.91% per annum 

 

These increases are small for any given year, but would represent an increase of over 15% (around 

50,000 tonnes of extra household waste) in 2031. 

 

5.3 Waste composition 

In order to assess the effectiveness of our current waste management services, it is crucial to 

identify the total quantities collected of each type of waste.  Whilst this is relatively simple for 

separately-collected waste types (e.g. paper in bring banks), the full picture can only be seen by 

assessing the composition of streams of mixed waste including all of those listed below in Table 5-5. 

Ideally, the composition of each of these streams should be identified through detailed analysis of 

representative samples of real waste which has been collected.  However, to do this for all streams 

would be impractical, so their composition has been measured as shown in Table 5-5. 

  

                                                           
10

 http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-
development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-
examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Downlo
ad/106584  

Page 110

http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584
http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584
http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584
http://uk.sitestat.com/lincolnshire/lincolnshire/s?Home.residents.environment-and-planning.planning-and-development.minerals-and-waste.site-locations-examination.131110.articleDownload.106584&ns_type=pdf&ns_url=https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk//Download/106584


Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 27 of 59 

Table 5-5 Method of assessing composition of each mixed waste stream 

Waste stream Composition assessed by 

Kerbside-collected mixed dry 
recyclables 

Regular sampling and analysis in line with Materials Recycling 
Facility (MRF) Code of Practice 

Kerbside-collected 
residual/general waste 

One-off sampling and analysis undertaken in September 2017 

HWRC-collected 
residual/general waste 

Use of Defra-compiled national average figures for HWRC residual 
waste (most recent available is for 2010/11) 

Other streams of mixed waste 
(e.g. flytipping) 

Use of Defra-compiled national average figures for the most 
appropriate category listed (most recent available is for 2010/11) 

Separately-collected (e.g. paper 
in bring banks) 

Composition is known as there is usually only one type of waste in 
each collection 

 

5.3.1 Kerbside-collected mixed dry recyclables (MDR) 

The composition of this waste stream is well known as the Materials Recycling Facility (MRF) Code of 

Practice requires our MRF contractor to undertake regular sampling and analysis of the material 

both going into and coming out of their sorting processes. 

Figure 5-5 Composition of MDR in 2017/18 

 

Figure 5-5 summarises the sampling data for 2017/18 and shows that of the total tonnage collected: 

 Around 68% was "target" recyclables – This is what the LWP has asked the public to put 

into the kerbside recycling collections. 

 Around 5% was other recyclables – Whilst not on the specified list, our current MRF 

contractor is able to recycle these as well.  However, this may not be recyclable at all 

MRF's. 

 Nearly 27% was not recyclable – This should not be in these collections, and is addressed 

in this Strategy. 

22.4% 

15.6% 

9.1% 
4.2% 

16.7% 

5.4% 

26.6% Target Paper

Target Card

Target Plastics

Target Cans

Target Glass

Other Recyclables

Non-recylable

Page 111



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 28 of 59 

5.3.2 Kerbside-collected residual/general waste 

Since this one waste stream makes up around 40% of the total waste collected by the LWP, a 

sampling exercise was undertaken in September 2017 to establish what materials are contained in it.  

This involved using socio-economic data to identify an individual round in each WCA area which 

represented, as closely as possible, that Council's area as a whole.  A random sample of waste from 

each of those seven rounds was then analysed. 

Figure 5-6 shows collated data for the county as a whole.  The percentages were calculated by 

multiplying the figures for each WCA by the total tonnage they collected in 2016/17 since those 

collecting a higher tonnage collect a higher proportion of the overall waste stream. 

Figure 5-6 Composition of Residual Waste in 2016/17 

 

Many of the categories listed are self-explanatory but the largest two are: 

 "Putrescibles" = Mostly food waste 

 "Misc. Combustible" = Mostly nappies and sanitary products 

More detailed headlines from the sampling exercise were that the overall composition includes: 

 Around 15% home-compostable food – e.g. Vegetable peelings; 

 Around 13% other food – e.g. cooked food, meat and dairy products; and 

 Nearly 20% materials which the LWP already collect at kerbside either for recycling or 

composting. 

5.3.3 Overall composition 

Combining data from all these individual waste streams, Table 5-6 summarises the calculated overall 

composition of the waste collected by each of the main methods during 2017/18.  Table 5-6 also 

Page 112



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 29 of 59 

shows the overall composition of all LACW in 2017/18, calculated by adding all the mixed-stream 

totals to the quantities of each waste type collected separately (e.g. from bring banks).  For 

consistency, the waste type groups listed are those used in the 2017 kerbside residual waste 

sampling exercise. 

Table 5-6 Tonnage of each waste type collected by each method in 2017/18 

 Kerbside 
Collectionsi 

Household 
Waste 

Recycling 
Centres 

Other Local 
Authority 
Collected 

Waste 

TOTAL Local 
Authority 
Collected 

Waste 

% of Local 
Authority 
Collected 

Waste 

Card 15,276 2,103 574 17,953 5.0% 

Paper 31,713 1,252 933 33,898 9.4% 

Plastic Film 18,155 727 358 19,240 5.3% 

Dense Plastic 22,636 3,790 504 26,930 7.5% 

Textiles 7,299 1,946 602 9,847 2.7% 

Glass 16,010 875 3,036 19,921 5.5% 

Ferrous 4,993 2,444 189 7,626 2.1% 

Non-Ferrous 3,468 1,009 148 4,624 1.3% 

Misc. Combustible 19,999 17,197 831 38,028 10.6% 

WEEE 1,034 4,707 114 5,856 1.6% 

Potentially Hazardous 527 1,544 110 2,181 0.6% 

Misc. Non-Combustible 5,621 13,416 3,279 22,316 6.2% 

Kitchen and Food Waste 47,119 586 1,145 48,851 13.6% 

Garden Waste 62,498 17,308 2,424 82,230 22.8% 

Other Putrescibles 14,086 369 158 14,613 4.1% 

Fines 598 226 1,473 2,298 0.6% 

Liquids 2,903 0 691 3,593 1.0% 

TOTALS 273,934 69,500 16,570 360,005  

i – Includes collections of residual, recyclables and garden waste. 

 

Figure 5-7 shows the overall composition of LACW from 2017/18 with the waste types ordered from 

highest to lowest percentage. 

  

Page 113



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 30 of 59 

Figure 5-7 Overall composition of LACW in 2017/18 

 

Points to note regarding all the above data include that: 

 Between them, kerbside collections and HWRC's account for around 95% of our LACW, so 

the composition of other streams hasn't been examined in detail. 

 The largest waste type which is not currently collected for recycling or composting is kitchen 

and food waste.  Details of the proportion of the total for each waste type (including what is 

collected mixed in with general waste) is currently recycled or composted is shown in 

Section 5.5. 

 

5.4 Current Waste Management 

The current waste management infrastructure needs to be reviewed to provide a baseline on which 

to develop the Waste Strategy.  This review focuses on: 

 Waste collection services 

 Waste transfer and logistics 

 Recycling and composting arrangements 

 Treatment and disposal of residual waste 

 Existing contracts for all of the above 

 Service performance measures 

 Current waste management costs 

5.4.1 Waste Collection Services 

Within Lincolnshire it is the district, borough and city councils (as WCA's) that have the responsibility 

to collect waste from households, and the County Council (the WDA) that has the responsibility to 

dispose of it, as well as to operate HWRCs. 

  

Garden
Kitchen and Food Waste
Misc. Combustible
Paper
Dense Plastic
Misc. Non-Combustible
Glass
Plastic Film
Card
Other Putrescibles
Textiles
Ferrous
WEEE
Non-Ferrous
Liquids
Fines
Potentially Hazardous

Page 114



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 31 of 59 

Kerbside collections – collections by/for WCAs 

Table 5-7 below provides a summary of the current kerbside collection services offered by each 

WCA. 

All authorities that are using wheelie bins for their residual waste collection have a “no side waste 

policy” in place.  This means that, apart from specific exceptions (e.g. just after Christmas), residents 

are not allowed to place other wastes (e.g. sacks) alongside their wheelie bins.  South Holland 

operates a sack collection system and will collect side waste. 

It should be noted that, as part of Defra's consistency agenda, WRAP are seeking to establish 

whether a national standard set of bin colours would help to make things clearer for the public and 

thus increase recycling rates11.  In view of this, any consideration of a more standardised approach 

for Lincolnshire should take account of the feedback from that work.  However, in the absence of 

any additional government funding, it is unlikely that bins will be replaced sooner than at the end of 

their natural lifetime. 

 

                                                           
11

 https://www.letsrecycle.com/news/latest-news/wrap-consults-on-national-colour-scheme-for-bins/ 

Page 115

https://www.letsrecycle.com/news/latest-news/wrap-consults-on-national-colour-scheme-for-bins/


Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 32 of 59 

Table 5-7 Kerbside collection services offered by each Waste Collection Authority (WCA) 

The following indicates the service provided to the majority of households by each WCA.  Colour shading shows the colour of bin provided for each service. 

Unless otherwise stated, collections are provided using a wheelie bin and fortnightly/alternate weekly collections (AWC). 

Waste Collection Authority Residual Waste Mixed Dry Recyclables Green Waste 

Boston Borough Council AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins 
Charged service 
No service in Winter 

City of Lincoln Council i AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins 
Charged service 

East Lindsey District Council AWC in 180 litre bins 
(240 litre for larger families) 

AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins 
Charged service 
Reduced service in Winter 

North Kesteven District Council ii AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins  iii AWC in 240 litre bins 
Charged service 

South Holland District Council Weekly collection in sacks Weekly collection in sacks AWC in 240 litre bins 
Charged service 

South Kesteven District Council AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins AWC in 240 litre bins 
Charged service 

West Lindsey District Council AWC in 180 litre bins iv 
(240 litre for larger families) 

AWC in 240 litre bins iv AWC in 240 litre bins 
Charged service 
No service in Winter 

i – City of Lincoln have alternative arrangements for higher-density inner city areas, using 140 litre bins, communal bins or sacks as appropriate, some of 

which (mainly residual waste) are collected weekly. 

ii – North Kesteven – Since 2009 new builds receive, as standard, a 180 litre bin for residual waste and a 360 litre bin for MDR. 

iii – Black wheelie bin with green lid 

iv – Around 2,000 WLDC terraced properties receive a weekly sack collection instead of wheelie bins 

P
age 116



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 33 of 59 

Table 5-8 Current Collection Contract Arrangements 

WCA How collections are provided 

Boston BC Service provided in-house  

City of Lincoln Contract with Biffa 

East Lindsey DC  Service provided in-house  

North Kesteven DC Service provided in-house  

South Holland DC Service provided in-house  

South Kesteven DC Service provided in-house  

West Lindsey DC Service provided in-house  

 

Every household in every WCA area receives a residual waste collection.  Table 5-9 summarises the 

number of households in each WCA area that are currently provided with kerbside recycling and 

green waste collections. 

Table 5-9 Households receiving recycling/green waste kerbside collection in 2017/18 

 Boston  
East 

Lindsey  
Lincoln  

North 
Kesteven  

South 
Holland  

South 
Kesteven  

West 
Lindsey  

Dwelling Stock 29,360 68,060 45,220 50,270 40,070 63,050 42,660 

Number of HH – 
dry recyclables 

ALL ALL 44,300 ALL ALL ALL ALL 

Number of HH – 
green wastei 7,648 29,053 16,355 30,800 3,155 28,324 39,660 

i – Green waste collection numbers are lower because they are a charged-for, opt-in service. 

 

Bring banks for recyclables – collections by/for WCAs 

Many of our WCAs currently operate a network of bring banks placed in various locations to receive 

recyclable material.  The County Council either arranges and pays for the recycling of this material, 

or pays Recycling Credits to each WCA for it. 

Bulky household waste – collections by/for WCAs 

Bulky waste falls outside the scope of the regular WCA kerbside collection service as these items are 

generally too large or too difficult to be handled by the normal means.  The WCAs across the 

Partnership offer bulky waste collection on demand for item such as furniture, mattresses and large 

household appliances.  Each district has its own policy on charging for these collections. 

Commercial waste – collections by/for WCAs 

Currently Boston Borough Council, South Kesteven District Council and West Lindsey District Council 

operate collections of commercial waste from business premises, and other WCAs are considering 

doing so.  The Strategy, through its ongoing Action Plans, should consider whether it would be 

appropriate to have a common policy. 

  

Page 117



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 34 of 59 

Street cleansing – collections by/for WCAs 

Each WCA provides a regular service across their area. Busy places, such as shopping precincts and 

high streets usually have permanent cleaning staff or daily cleansing regimes.  General waste such as 

litter is handled in the same way as other residual waste, but road grit from street sweepers is kept 

separate as the County Council has separate arrangements in place for the recycling of it. 

Abandoned and end of life vehicles – collections by/for WCAs 

Abandoned vehicles that are on public land are removed in accordance with the relevant legislation 

by each district within its area, and then the County Council arranges for disposal where necessary. 

Fly tipped waste – collections by/for WCAs 

Fly tipping is a serious national problem.  As well as being unsightly, it can lead to serious pollution of 

the environment and harm to human health, and is costly to remove and dispose of correctly.  Most 

fly tipped waste is handled in the same way as residual waste, and all WCAs have enforcement 

polices which inform the process by which offenders will be investigated and prosecuted. 

Clinical waste – collections by/for WDA 

The Controlled Waste Regulations 2012 define this type of waste: 

“clinical waste” means waste from a healthcare activity (including veterinary healthcare) that— 

(a) contains viable micro-organisms or their toxins which are known or reliably believed to 

cause disease in humans or other living organisms, 

(b) contains or is contaminated with a medicine that contains a biologically active 

pharmaceutical agent, or 

(c) is a sharp, or a body fluid or other biological material (including human and animal tissue) 

containing or contaminated with a dangerous substance within the meaning of Council 

Directive 67/548/EEC on the approximation of laws, regulations and administrative 

provisions relating to the classification, packaging and labelling of dangerous substances(b), 

and waste of a similar nature from a non-healthcare activity. 

The WDA arranges for both the collection and disposal of waste in categories (a) and (b) above.  The 

WCAs collect items in category c. 

Household Waste Recycling Centres – collections by/for WDA 

The County Council operates 11 HWRCs across the county to which residents can bring their 

household waste.  Tables 5-10 and 5-11 below summarises respectively: 

 Table 5-10 – The location of and contractual arrangements for each HWRC; and 

 Table 5-11 – The facilities provided at each HWRC. 

  

Page 118



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 35 of 59 

Table 5-10 HWRC Contractual and Operational Arrangements 

Unless stated otherwise, opening hours are standardised as 09:00hrs to 16:00hrs Friday, Saturday, 

Sunday and Monday (closed Tuesday, Wednesday and Thursday). 

NB – All sites are closed on 25th and 26th December and 1st January every year. 

Location Site Ownership Operated by Opening hours 

Lincoln HWRC 
Great Northern Terrace 
LN5 8LG 

County Council Carl Drury Ltd. 09:00hrs to 16:00hrs 
7 days a week 

Boston HWRC 
Bittern Way 
PE21 7RQ 

County Council Carl Drury Ltd. 09:00hrs to 16:00hrs 
7 days a week 

Spalding HWRC 
West Marsh Rd 
PE11 2BB 

County Council Carl Drury Ltd. Summer 
(1st April to 31st October) 

08:00hrs to 16:00hrs 7 days a 
week. 

Winter 
(1st November to 31st March) 

08:00hrs to 16:00hrs Friday, 
Saturday, Sunday and Monday. 

Gainsborough HWRC 
Long Wood Road, 
Corringham Road Ind Est, 
Gainsborough, DN21 1QB 

County Council Carl Drury Ltd. Standard 
(09:00hrs to 16:00hrs Friday, 

Saturday, Sunday and Monday) 

The Rasens HWRC 
Gallamore Lane Industrial 
Estate, Gallamore Lane, 
Middle Rasen, LN8 3HA 

County Council Carl Drury Ltd. Standard 

Bourne HWRC 
South Fen Road 
PE10 0DN 

County Council Recycle It Wright Ltd. Standard 

Grantham HWRC 
Mowbeck Way 
NG31 7AS 

County Council Recycle It Wright Ltd. Standard 

Sleaford HWRC 
Pride Parkway 
NG34 8GL 

County Council Recycle It Wright Ltd. Standard 

Louth HWRC 
Bolingbroke Road 
LN11 0WA 

County Council Sid Dennis & Sons Ltd. Standard 

Skegness HWRC 
Warth Lane 
PE25 2JS 

County Council Sid Dennis & Sons Ltd. Standard 

Kirkby on Bain HWRC 
Tattershall Road 
LN10 6YN 

FCC 
Environment 

FCC Environment Standard 

 

Page 119



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 36 of 59 

Table 5-11 – Materials accepted at Household Waste Recycling Centres as of April 2018 

HWRC Site 

R
es

id
u

al
 w

as
te

 

G
re

en
 

W
o

o
d

 

P
la

st
ic

s 

P
ap

er
 

C
ar

d
b

o
ar

d
 

M
at

tr
es

se
s 

W
EE

E 

B
o

o
ks

 &
 C

D
s 

Te
xt

ile
s 

H
o

u
se

h
o

ld
 

C
h

em
ic

al
s 

G
la

ss
 b

o
tt

le
s/

ja
rs

 

C
o

o
ki

n
g 

O
il 

M
in

er
al

 O
il 

Le
ad

 A
ci

d
 

B
at

te
ri

es
 

H
o

u
se

h
o

ld
 

b
at

te
ri

es
 

P
la

st
er

b
o

ar
d

 

So
il 

R
u

b
b

le
 

P
re

ss
u

ri
se

d
 G

as
 

C
yl

in
d

er
sI 

Sc
ra

p
 M

et
al

 

R
e

-u
se

 

Bourne x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Boston x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Gainsborough x x x x x x x x x x x x x x ii x x x x xI x x 

Grantham x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Kirkby on Bain x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Lincoln x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Louth x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Rasens x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Skegness x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Sleaford x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

Spalding x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x x xI x x 

 

An "x" indicates that the stated waste stream is collected separately at the stated HWRC. 

i) Gas cylinders are accepted where necessary, but should ideally be returned to a gas supplier, particularly as a deposit refund is sometimes 

available. 

ii) Lead acid batteries are no longer accepted at Gainsborough due to repeated security issues.  Residents are recommended to contact a scrap 

dealer. 

P
age 120



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 37 of 59 

5.4.2 Waste Transfer and Logistics 

Some waste streams are delivered directly to an appropriate treatment or disposal site.  For the 

majority of waste streams, LCC provides a number of Waste Transfer Stations (WTSs) to receive 

waste both from WCA collections and from HWRCs, enabling the waste to be bulked up for 

transportation to centralised destinations. 

Some WCAs use more than one WTS depending on where waste is collected and/or what type of 

waste it is.  Likewise, many of these WTSs receive waste from more than one WCA or HWRC. 

WTSs operated by Lincolnshire County Council 

The WDA directly operates a network of five WTSs around the County.  Table 5-12 shows the 

location of each WTS, as well as the tonnage of each type of waste received at each site. 

The WDA lets contracts for the transportation of waste from each WTS to the appropriate 

destinations. 

Table 5-12 Location and 2017/18 tonnage throughput for WDA WTSs 

Location Residual 
Waste 

(Tonnes) 

Mixed Dry 
Recyclables 

(Tonnes) 

Road Grit 
(Tonnes) 

Other 
(Tonnes) 

TOTAL 
(Tonnes) 

Boston WTS 
Slippery Gowt Lane 
PE21 7AA 

42,722 7,423 986  51,131 

Gainsborough WTS 
Marshall Lane 
DN21 1GD 

15,697 8,162 1,652  25,512 

Grantham WTS 
Occupation Road 
NG32 2BP 

28,376 13,086 1,305  42,767 

Louth WTS 
Bolingbroke Road 
LN11 0WA 

31,471 10,982 1,733 Glass = 622Te 
Mattressesi = 1Te 

44,809 

Sleaford WTS 
Pride Parkway 
NG34 8GL 

14,428 5,652 954 Mattressesi = 26Te 21,060 

i – Mattresses are often delivered in in loads of mixed residual waste.  This is the weight of 

mattresses which were delivered (and weighed) separately. 

 

Other WTSs used by the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 

Arrangements are in place for the use of several other WTSs owned and operated by third parties.  

Details are shown in Table 5-13. 

  

Page 121



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 38 of 59 

Table 5-13 Location and 2017/18 tonnage throughput for third party WTSs 

Location Operator Arranged 
by 

Mixed Dry Recyclables 
(Tonnes) 

Green Waste 
(Tonnes) 

Hykeham Mid UK Recycling Lincs CC 13,600  

Market Deeping Mid UK Recycling Lincs CC 10,500 2,600 

Boston Mick George Boston BC  4,200 

 

5.4.3 Recycling and composting arrangements 

Green waste 

There is generally no need for the use of WTSs for green waste as, both from kerbside collections 

and from HWRCs, it is sent directly to a network of composting facilities across the county under 

contracts operated by the County Council.  In 2017/18 72,619 tonnes of green waste was sent to 

these facilities, which are identified in Table 5-14. 

Table 5-14 Current Composting Facilities 

Composting operator  Location(s) 

Clarkeson Recycling Riby 

Greenaway Alford 

Land Network (Gainsborough)  Sturgate 

Land Network (Melton)  Melton Mowbray 

Land Network (N.E.Lincs) South Elkington  

Material Change Crowland  

MEC Recycling Swinderby / Saxilby 

Mid UK Recycling Caythorpe / Colsterworth 

 

Mixed dry recycling 

All the WCAs operate a kerbside collection of mixed dry recyclables (MDR) which includes a wide 

range of materials.  Historically each WCA has accepted a different mix of materials but the 

Partnership has identified that it would like to move towards a more standardised recyclable stream 

where possible.  The benefits of such standardised collections include: 

 Making the service easier to understand and thus, in line with our strategic vision, more 

"customer friendly"; and 

 Acting in line with the government's "consistency" agenda which seeks to reduce the 

number of different recycling systems in place across the UK. 

As part of the implementation of this JMWMS, the LWP will be working together towards this aim.  

At the time of writing, discussions are progressing well towards agreement on a common recycling 

mix.  Once agreed, any changes will be publicised through a unified communications campaign using 

a wide range of methods and media. 

In September 2018 the LWP agreed to focus on those materials which should not be deposited in 

recycling collections.  These materials will never be part of the recycling mix, and thus can be the 

Page 122



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 39 of 59 

subject of communications regardless of any future changes to that mix.  Figure 5-7 shows the 

publicity to be used, in most areas as stickers to go onto recycling bins. 

Figure 5-7 "No Thanks" bin sticker 

 

The County Council has a contract for the processing of this MDR at Materials Recycling Facilities 

(MRF’s) located in the county.  Once collected, each WCA delivers their MDR either to one or more 

of the WTS’s provided by the County Council, or directly to the MRF contractor. 

Other dry recycling 

Separately-collected recyclables from WCA bring banks and from HWRC’s go to a number of 

different destinations under a variety of different arrangements. 

5.4.4 Treatment and disposal of residual waste 

The LWP's 2008 Waste Strategy included two Objectives which focussed on residual waste: 

Objective 5 – To increase progressively the recovery and diversion of biodegradable waste from 

landfill, to meet and exceed the Landfill Directive diversion targets. 

Objective 6 – To ensure that residual waste treatment supports energy recovery and other 

practices higher up the waste hierarchy. 

In line with these objectives we have, during the lifetime of that Strategy, moved almost entirely 

from sending residual waste to landfill to using the new Energy from Waste facility at Hykeham.  

Indeed, we have done this so successfully that the majority of landfill sites in Lincolnshire either have 

already closed or are likely to close in the near future.  Further information regarding this is shown in 

Table 5-15. 

  

Page 123



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 40 of 59 

Table 5-15 Residual Waste Contracts 2017 

i – Includes around 1,400 tonnes of rubble from HWRCs. 

Given the limited future availability of landfill, the high cost of landfill tax, and that landfill sits at the 

bottom of the Waste Hierarchy, it seems sensible that the LWP aspires in the long term to send zero 

waste to landfill. 

This aspiration, and the fact that the Hykeham EfW does not have the capacity to process the 

forecasted quantities of residual waste, are reflected in one of our key objectives: 

Objective 8. To make an objective assessment of what further waste processing/disposal 
capacity is required and, as necessary, seek to secure appropriate capacity. 

 

5.5 Service performance measures 

Whilst the statutory reporting of National Indicators was removed in 2011, the percentage of 

household waste sent for reuse, recycling or composting (former NI 192) remains a generally 

accepted headline measure of the performance of local authority waste and recycling services. 

Table 5-16, and the accompanying Figure 5-9, show the County Council's (and thus the LWP's) overall 

performance against all three of the waste-related former National Indicators: 

 NI 191 = Residual Household Waste per Household 

 NI 192 = Percentage Household Waste sent for Reuse, Recycling or Composting 

 NI 193 = Percentage of Municipal Waste Sent To Landfill 

  

Page 124



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 41 of 59 

Table 5-16 National Indicator (NI) performance since 2007/08 

 

2
0

0
7

/0
8

 

 2
0

1
0

/1
1

 

2
0

1
1

/1
2

 

2
0

1
2

/1
3

 

2
0

1
3

/1
4

 

2
0

1
4

/1
5

 

2
0

1
5

/1
6

 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

2
0

1
7

/1
8

 

NI191: Residual 

Household Waste kg per 

Household 
534.1  496.8 486.7 496.7 511.4 522.0 547.6 561.9 578.0 

NI192: % HH waste sent 

for Reuse, Recycling or 

Composting 

50.5  52.9 52.8 51.3 49.6 49.6 47.0 46.7 43.5 

NI193: % Municipal 

Waste Sent To Landfill 50.2  46.8 46.4 47.1 25.2 4.1 3.6 4.0 3.8 

 

Figure 5-9 National Indicator (NI) performance since 2007/08 

 

In addition to the three National Indicators, Figure 5-9 also shows an additional measure for 

recycling performance.  Defra have recently announced that the overall UK recycling rate (as 

reported to the EU) will be measured in a different way.  In line with practice in a number of other 

EU nations, the national rate will include metals recycled from Incinerator Bottom Ash (IBA) such as 

that generated at our EfW facility.  Since this is the basis on which the UK's performance will be 

measured against the EU target of 50% recycling by 2020, it seems appropriate to record the LWP's 

performance on the same basis in addition to the official NI192 rate. 

Table 5-17 shows this higher recycling percentage alongside our official performance.  It should be 

noted that our recycling rate on that basis would have been around 1.5% higher each year since our 

EfW facility opened in 2013. 

0%

10%

20%

30%

40%

50%

60%

70%

80%

200

250

300

350

400

450

500

550

600

NI 191 (kg) NI 192 (%)

NI 193 (%) Adjusted recycling rate (%)

Page 125



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 42 of 59 

Table 5-17 Increased recycling performance by inclusion of metals recycled from EfW ash 

 

2
0

0
7

/0
8

 

 2
0

1
0

/1
1

 

2
0

1
1

/1
2

 

2
0

1
2

/1
3

 

2
0

1
3

/1
4

 

2
0

1
4

/1
5

 

2
0

1
5

/1
6

 

2
0

1
6

/1
7

 

2
0

1
7

/1
8

 

NI192: 

Percentage HH 

waste sent for 

Reuse, Recycling 

or Composting 

50.5%  52.9% 52.8% 51.3% 49.6% 49.6% 47.0% 46.7% 43.5% 

Adjusted 

recycling rate 

(including metals 

from EfW ash) 

50.5%  52.9% 52.8% 51.3% 50.0% 51.2% 48.5% 48.3% 45.0% 

 

5.5.1 Quantity of residual waste (NI191) 

Following the introduction of our 2008 Strategy, the weight of residual (non-recycled) waste 

produced by each household fell significantly.  Indeed, the 486.7kg per household which we 

achieved in 2011/12 was equivalent to 225.8kg per head, which was well on target for achieving our 

2008 Waste Strategy Objective of 225kg per head by 2020. 

Unfortunately this downward trend ended at that point and we have seen a steady increase to a 

level even higher than in 2008, with the present figure of 578kg equating to around 261kg per head 

of residual waste.  Although the fall and subsequent rise may partly be a result of the global 

economic downturn (people buy less and thus throw away less when times are financially difficult) 

and the subsequent recovery, this is a trend that needs reversing. 

Table 5-18 Residual and total waste vs recycling rate in 2017/18 

 
Residual household 
waste per household 
(NI191) 

Total household 
waste collected per 
person (BV84) 

Household waste 
reused, recycled or 
composted (NI192) 

Boston BC 597kg 395kg 35.2% 

City of Lincoln 507kg 359kg 35.1% 

East Lindsey DC  456kg 384kg 42.1% 

North Kesteven DC 521kg 405kg 43.9% 

South Holland DC 562kg 331kg 27.2% 

South Kesteven DC 506kg 381kg 40.9% 

West Lindsey DC 514kg 430kg 46.0% 

LWP Total (WCA's + HWRC's)i 578kg 461kg 43.5% 

2016/17 LWP Total 562kg 478kg 46.7% 
i – The LWP total weight is higher than that for the individual WCA's as each WCA figure doesn't include waste collected 

from their residents at County Council HWRC's. 

Page 126



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 43 of 59 

It is interesting to note that the two WCA's with the lowest overall recycling rate also have the 

lowest total waste per person, particularly since the Waste Hierarchy (see section 2.2.1 for details) 

makes it clear that waste prevention should have a higher priority than recycling. 

5.5.2 Recycling performance (NI192) 

It is clear from the above data that the LWP's headline recycling rate has been in slow decline since a 

peak of 52.9% in 2010/11.  This fall in recycling has been accompanied by an increase in the quantity 

of residual waste to be disposed of. 

Table 5-19 shows the recycling and composting performance of each Waste Collection Authority and 

across the HWRC network during 2017/18. 

Table 5-19 Recycling and composting performance in 2017/18 

 

Household waste 
reused, recycled 
or composted 
(NI192) 

Household waste 
recycled 
(BV82a) 

Household 
waste 
composted 
(BV82b) 

Boston BC 35.2% 19.6% 15.6% 

City of Lincoln 35.1% 19.1% 16.1% 

East Lindsey DC  42.1% 20.1% 22.0% 

North Kesteven DC 43.9% 19.1% 24.9% 

South Holland DC 27.2% 22.0% 5.2% 

South Kesteven DC 40.9% 22.4% 18.5% 

West Lindsey DC 46.0% 18.1% 27.8% 

LWP Total (WCA's + HWRC's)i 43.5% 22.2% 21.2% 

2016/17 LWP Total 46.7% 24.4% 22.3% 
i – The overall LWP recycling performance is higher than that for most of the individual WCA's as each WCA figure doesn't 

include waste recycled by their residents at County Council HWRC's. 

The headline figure of 43.5% for the LWP as a whole shows a considerable fall compared to the 

2016/17 figure of 46.7%.  Two factors have particularly contributed to this fall: 

 Composting – Around 5,000 tonnes less garden waste was presented to us.  Since we 

received some 7,000 tonnes less waste in all, it seems possible that weather conditions have 

generated less garden growth.  This is not unprecedented, but the extra composting could 

have boosted our recycling rate by around 0.8%. 

 Recycling – Compositional analysis shows that we continue to see an increased amount of 

non-recyclable waste presented in our collections of Mixed Dry Recyclables.  This is 

combined with a fall of over 2,500 tonnes in the total quantity presented in those 

collections. 

Whilst the Government no longer sets targets for individual authorities, it should be noted that the 

UK is currently committed to meeting the EU recycling targets including 50% by 2020 and 65% by 

2035.  However, there are uncertainties over this as: 

 The impact of the UK’s exit from the EU is unclear at the time of writing, although it would 

currently appear that the UK will retain this overall target in some form; and 

Page 127



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 44 of 59 

 Four different calculation methods are available to EU members, and none of these matches 

exactly with the UK's former NI 192.  At least one of the alternatives could significantly 

improve the headline recycling rate for the LWP as shown in Figure 5-9 and described 

beneath it. 

5.5.3 Landfilling performance (NI193) 

The main success story during the period of the previous Waste Strategy has been in the way in 

which we dispose of residual waste, with the percentage of Municipal Waste sent to landfill (NI 193) 

falling from over 50% in 2007/08 to under 4% in 2017/18.  This has been driven by: 

 The LWP's commitment to move waste further up the EU Waste Hierarchy; and 

 The need to reduce the County Council's annual spend on Landfill Tax. 

This success has been achieved through two major initiatives: 

1) The opening of the new Energy from Waste facility in Hykeham.  This now diverts over 

150,000 tonnes per annum from landfill, and thus moves it up the Waste Hierarchy from 

"disposal" to "recovery".  The facility has recently received Planning Permission to increase 

capacity to 170,000 tonnes per annum. 

2) The recycling of road grit.  This diverts around 4,000 tonnes per annum from "disposal" to 

"recycling". 

5.5.4 Recycling capture rate for each waste type 

One way to identify areas in which recycling performance can be improved is to consider the 

proportion of the total quantity collected of each material (as listed in section 5.3.3, Table 5-6) which 

is captured for recycling.  This is shown below in table 5-20. 

Table 5-20 Recycling capture rate for each waste stream in 2017/18 

Key 

Green = Above 70% 

Yellow = Above 50% 

Red = Below 20% 

 

TOTAL Local 
Authority 
Collected 

Waste 

Tonnage 
Reused, 

Recyled or 
Composted 

Percentage 
Reused, 

Recyled or 
Composted 

Card 17,953 12,325 68.7% 

Paper 33,898 17,740 52.3% 

Plastic Film 19,240 580 3.0% 

Dense Plastic 26,930 8,145 30.2% 

Textiles 9,847 1,025 10.4% 

Glass 19,921 14,528 72.9% 

Ferrous 7,626 4,322 56.7% 

Non-Ferrous 4,624 2,284 49.4% 

Page 128



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 45 of 59 

 

TOTAL Local 
Authority 
Collected 

Waste 

Tonnage 
Reused, 

Recyled or 
Composted 

Percentage 
Reused, 

Recyled or 
Composted 

Misc. Combustible 38,028 10,220 26.9% 

WEEE 5,856 4,419 75.5% 

Potentially Hazardous 2,181 1,035 47.5% 

Misc. Non-Combustible 22,316 14,419 64.6% 

Food 48,851 0 0.0% 

Garden 82,230 72,619 88.3% 

Other Putrescibles 14,613 0 0.0% 

Fines 2,298 0 0.0% 

Liquids 3,593 0 0.0% 

TOTALS 360,005 163,661  

 

The capture rate for WEEE (electricals), glass and garden waste exceeds 70%.  Several other streams 

exceed 50% recycling: paper, card, ferrous metals, and "miscellaneous non-combustible" (which 

includes soil and rubble from HWRC's). 

At the other end of the spectrum, for those streams marked in red, the capture rate is less than 20%.  

Whilst some of these streams are, by definition, unlikely to be recyclable (e.g. "fines" are particles of 

waste which are too small to be identified), other streams show room for considerable improvement 

– e.g. food waste and textiles. 

5.5.5 Other ways to measure environmental performance 

It is important to note that, in developing this Strategy, a key task has been to reassess whether the 

former National Indicators represent the best way to measure the performance of the LWP.  This 

review will be included in the Action Plan to accompany this Strategy document, and reflects the 

need to measure our success in meeting the objectives chosen by the Partnership. 

 

5.6 Current waste management costs 

In addition to measuring environmental performance, it is essential to measure how well we are 

meeting the challenges of diminishing budgets. 

To enable comparison with historical costs, the costs of waste management in 2017/18 outlined in 

Table 5-21 are the totals of those formerly reported by each LWP authority as part of the Best Value 

Performance Indicator regime – BV86 for WCAs and BV87 for WDAs.  The table also shows the 

equivalent 2006/07 cost per household which was included in the 2008 Strategy. 

  

Page 129



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 46 of 59 

Table 5-21 Costs of waste collection and disposal for 2017/18 

 

Collection Costs 
(Total across all LWP WCA's) 

Disposal Costs 

Number of 
Households 

Overall cost 
of collection 

£/ HH 
Municipal 

Waste 
(Tonnes) 

Overall cost of 
disposal 

£/ tonne 

2006/07 308,931 £15,718,152 £50.88 365,537 £17,270,000 £47.25 

2017/18 338,690 £14,879,176 £43.93 360,155 £18,774,000 £52.13 

 

Despite increases in costs due to inflation and other factors, such as fuel tax, we have managed to 

achieve sufficient efficiency savings to reduce the overall cost of waste collection. 

Disposal costs have risen a little overall, but considerable savings have been achieved compared to 

where we might have been, particularly had we continued to send large quantities of waste to 

landfill, for which Landfill Tax has increased significantly from £21 per tonne in 2006/07 to over £86 

in 2017/18. 

  

Page 130



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 47 of 59 

6 What are we aiming for? 

The Partnership has made significant strides forwards during the lifetime of the previous Strategy, 

particularly in the development of an energy from waste facility to divert non-recycled waste away 

from landfill.  This chapter identifies the challenges faced by the Partnership, currently and over the 

next few years, and the proposed approach to meeting these challenges. 

6.1 Strategic objectives 

In preparing this JMWMS, the LWP held two workshops to identify their overarching vision and 

objectives.  Details of the process are included in Appendix A. 

As a result, and as identified at the beginning of this document, the Partnership has the vision: 

“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-friendly waste 

management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire.” 

89% of responses to the public consultation either agreed or strongly agreed with this vision, and a 

number of comments were received in support of the combined focus on value for money, care for 

the environment and customer-friendly services. 

Opinion was divided as to whether the first priority should be money or the environment.  In view of 

that, the LWP have clarified that they will be seeking the best environmental option which can be 

afforded. 

In order to work towards this vision, the Partnership have developed and agreed a set of high-level 

objectives, which are key drivers for the delivery of this strategy.  In line with the vision, each of 

these objectives is to be considered in the light of the Partnership’s shared values that: 

All Objectives should ensure that services provided under the JMWMS represent the best 

possible environmental option which gives value for money for Lincolnshire residents. 

The ten objectives, generated at the July 2017 workshops and, where stated, refined through the 

consultation feedback, are as follows: 

Objective 1. To improve the quality and therefore commercial value of our recycling stream. 

This ties in with the EU and UK government commitments to move away from a "make, use, 
dispose" model towards a more circular economy. 

 

Objective 2. To move towards a common set of recycling materials. 

The UK government have expressed the view that the large number of different systems cause 
public confusion, and thus hamper people's ability to put the right things into recycling collections. 
Consultation:  This received considerable support and, in the light of feedback received, it has been 
strengthened by the removal of the word "consider". 

 

Page 131



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 48 of 59 

Objective 3. To consider the introduction of separate food waste collections where technically, 
environmentally and economically practicable. 

The EU and UK government support food waste collections. 
Consultation:  Responses were divided as to whether this was a good idea.  Supporters pointed out 
the environmental benefits, whilst others raised practical issues.  The addition of "where practicable" 
allows for these concerns to be addressed, including through the undertaking of trial collections. 

 

Objective 4. To explore new opportunities of promoting waste minimisation and of using all 
waste as a resource in accordance with the waste hierarchy. 

The waste hierarchy remains a key driver.  This "promoting" will include both communicating with 
the public and lobbying of government and manufacturers for changes to the wider picture. 
Consultation:  In line with responses, specific reference is now made to waste minimisation. 

 

Objective 5. To contribute to the UK recycling targets of 50% by 2020 and 55% by 2025. 

Whilst it could be argued that recycling rate is not a true reflection of environmental performance, it 
remains the headline measure both at UK and at EU level. 
Update:  The EU Circular Economy Package has introduced longer-term targets and we will need to 
respond to how these are featured in Defra's new Resources and Waste Strategy. 

 

Objective 6. To find the most appropriate ways to measure our environmental performance, 
and set appropriate targets. 

This will allow us to set targets which address progress towards our objectives rather than just 
chasing targets for their own sake. 

 

Objective 7. To seek to reduce our carbon footprint. 

This is a key way to measure the overall environmental impact of the services which we provide. 
Consultation:  This was strongly supported, particularly if it allows us to measure the impact of 
transportation. 

 

Objective 8. To make an objective assessment of what further waste processing/disposal 
capacity is required and, as necessary, secure appropriate capacity. 

Forecasts are that we will continue to see considerable waste growth, and we need to ensure we 
have sufficient capacity to handle it in the best way possible. 
Consultation:  In line with feedback, this has been expanded to include all waste streams rather than 
just residual (i.e. non-recycled) waste. 

 

Objective 9. To regularly review the LWP governance model in order to provide the best 
opportunity to bring closer integration and the implementation of the objectives 
set by the strategy. 

Whilst the LWP consists of a number of separate authorities, it is essential that we seek ways to 
work together to achieve the best outcomes for the people of Lincolnshire as a whole. 

 

Objective 10. To consider appropriate innovative solutions in the delivery of our waste 
management services. 

It is important not to be held back by sticking with existing practices where something new could 
improve things. 

Page 132



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 49 of 59 

 

6.2 The challenges we face 

Whilst the move from landfill to energy from waste as the main route for disposal of non-recycled 

waste has largely overcome the largest challenge identified in our previous Strategy, a number of 

key issues remain. 

The landscape is uncertain as it is unclear what direction the Government's Waste and Resources 

Strategy, and resulting policy, will take as the UK leaves the European Union, but it seems clear that 

we will need to address falling recycling rates and increasing waste arisings. 

6.2.1 Falling recycling rates in Lincolnshire 

As indicated in Chapter 5, the Lincolnshire County Council recycling rate (which covers the LWP as a 

whole) has fallen in recent years from a peak of 52.9% in 2010/11 to 43.7% in 2017/18. 

Whilst the overall tonnage collected from kerbside recycling bins has remained relatively stable, we 

have seen a rise in the percentage of that material which is not recyclable.  In 2017/18 over a 

quarter couldn’t be recycled, and this continues to rise still further.  This includes some recyclables 

which had been damaged by those non-recyclable wastes – e.g. Paper made wet and dirty by food 

waste – a situation made worse by more stringent MRF regulation and an increasing emphasis on 

material quality worldwide. 

6.2.2 The national and international picture 

Defra statistics12 show that the rate of recycling of waste from UK households has stalled.  A small 

rise in 2016 followed a fall in 2015, meaning that the 2016 rate of 45.2% was very similar to that of 

44.9% in 2014. 

As shown in Figure 6-1, this stalling follows a number of years of growth.  It is also interesting to note 

that the recycling rate for Wales is considerably higher than that in England, and that in Wales things 

operate very differently, including: 

 There is a different method of financing waste management; 

 All councils offer separate food waste collections; and 

 Some authorities operate three or even four weekly residual waste collections. 

  

                                                           
12

 https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/uk-waste-data 

Page 133



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 50 of 59 

Figure 6-1 Defra chart showing data on recycling from UK households 

 

This issue is made more complex by uncertainty over what recycling rate we should be seeking to 

achieve.  Our current national target is the EU target of 50% recycling of waste from households by 

2020.  Beyond that, the EU Circular Economy Package sets targets rising to 65% in 2035.  The interim 

targets are set out in section 3.1.2 of this Strategy. 

Following the UK decision to exit the EU, the UK Government seem inclined to retain existing EU-

related legislation, but it is unclear whether the 2035 target will apply to the UK.  Furthermore, a UK-

wide target is not currently binding on individual local authorities. 

A further complication is that, as described in section 5.5, the UK's national performance is 

measured (and reported to the EU) on a different basis to the official recycling rate attributed to 

individual UK councils and thus to the LWP.  Although the LWP has joined in lobbying for this to be 

rectified, there is no indication that a change is imminent. 

6.2.3 Growth in waste arisings 

As described in Chapter 5, each year usually sees growth in the tonnage of waste for which the LWP 

is responsible.  There are two reasons for this increase: 

 Population growth – Lincolnshire’s population grew by more than 5% between 2011 and 

2017.  See section 5.1 for further details. 

 Weight of waste per person – Whilst this stabilised somewhat during the economic 

downturn, there is concern that this will now resume its historical upwards trend. 

This is a particular concern given that our Energy from Waste facility is already operating at close to 

full capacity and, without a new processing route, any additional residual waste would have to be 

sent to landfill. 

  

Page 134



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 51 of 59 

7 How will we get there? – Our "Forward Plan" 

In order to deliver the aims and objectives to which the Partnership aspires (see earlier chapters), it 

is essential that work undertaken by each partner organisation is focussed on actions which will 

further the objectives as set out in this Strategy. 

This work is summarised in an Action Plan, the initial version of which has been developed alongside 

the preparation of this main Strategy document and is included herewith as Appendix D.  Once 

adopted, the Action Plan will be reviewed on a regular basis (see Chapter 8) to ensure that it remains 

up to date for the lifetime of the Strategy, with additional actions added as work programmes are 

developed. 

This chapter summarises the key themes which will shape our work together over the next few 

years, and these will guide the ongoing development of our Action Plan.  In order to ensure that the 

LWP's efforts are focussed in the right direction, this chapter includes a table showing the links 

identified between each theme and each of our strategic objectives. 

Also included here is information regarding the key workstreams identified for the initial Action Plan. 

 

7.1 Seeing the wider picture 

It is crucial that each LWP partner authority is proactive in seeking to consider their actions in as 

broad a context as possible.  This will feature a number of diverse elements including those shown 

below. 

7.1.1 Developing links with other local authorities 

Any local authority is stronger when it learns from and, where appropriate, seeks to work with other 

councils.  We will do this by: 

 Strengthening relationships within the LWP 

 Working with and learning from authorities outside the LWP 

7.1.2 Engaging with the commercial sector 

Particularly in a time of reducing council budgets, it is important that we engage with businesses 

working in the waste sector in order to: 

 Seek new opportunities to improve our services or save money 

 Seek ways in which we could benefit by being more commercially-minded 

 Be more aware of the potential value of the waste which we collect 

 Help to fill any processing capacity gaps 

7.1.3 Addressing any waste processing capacity gaps 

We have already identified some waste streams where there may be insufficient capacity at local 

facilities.  The largest and most pressing of these is that forecasts indicate that our growing 

Page 135



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 52 of 59 

population are likely by 2037 to produce 54,000 tonnes per annum of residual waste above and 

beyond the capacity of our existing EfW facility. 

In order to mitigate against this, particularly in the light of expected growth in Lincolnshire’s 

population, we need to ensure that we: 

 Make good forecasts of how much of each waste type we are likely to have 

 Promote the development of infrastructure for new and existing waste streams 

 

7.2 Balancing economic and environmental benefits 

It is essential that every attempt is made to provide services which give value for money to the 

people of Lincolnshire, particularly due to the need for prudence with the public purse and ongoing 

annual reductions to Council budgets.  However, it is also important where possible to maximise the 

positive environmental impacts of how we handle our waste. 

The importance of both of these aspects is reflected in their inclusion in the Vision which the 

Partnership has agreed for this Strategy: 

“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-friendly waste 

management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire.” 

7.2.1 Ensuring value for money 

Providing the best overall value for money for the council-taxpayers of Lincolnshire may mean 

finding innovative ways to fairly distribute costs and savings incurred by different authorities as part 

of any service change. 

7.2.2 Caring for the environment 

This will be undertaken in a number of ways, including: 

 Following the Waste Hierarchy – This is enshrined in law 

 Improving the environmental impact of existing services – e.g. use of heat from the Energy 

from Waste facility 

 Reducing our carbon footprint 

 Adopting and promoting “circular economy” thinking 

 Considering the use of new and innovative technology 

7.2.3 Finding the balance in practice 

In the light of consultation responses received, including those from partner authorities, the LWP 

have agreed to assess the benefits of different options by seeking "the best environmental option 

which can be afforded". 

 

Page 136



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 53 of 59 

7.3 Reviewing what we collect and how 

A key element of the implementation of this Strategy is our response to the WRAP-sponsored work 

to assess the various options for how each of the LWP’s Waste Collection Authorities operate their 

collection services.  The decision-making process will need to feature a variety of elements such as: 

 Evaluating the business case – Do the finances stack up? 

 Focusing on streams with the most economic and/or environmental value 

 Identifying barriers and how to overcome them – e.g. startup costs of service changes 

 Considering the introduction of new collections – e.g. food waste 

 The impact on collection rounds and collection vehicles 

 The disposal both of the new collections and of other streams affected by the removal of 

some material 

 

7.4 Getting our messages across 

It is essential that we communicate well so that we, as Councils, are not acting in isolation.  This 

means developing plans for how to deliver key messages: 

 To the users of our waste services – e.g. What to put in which bin 

 To the national Government – Influencing national strategy and policy to tie in with our own 

 To other stakeholders – Parish Councils, Environment Agency, etc 

 To the commercial sector – To waste producers and waste businesses 

Communicating with the public is particularly important, particularly in the event of any changes to 

services.  Indeed, this ties in directly with our strategic vision by making our services more customer-

friendly, and by making it as easy as possible for people to help us to protect the environment and to 

provide value for money. 

In communicating these messages it is important that, as well as explaining what we would like the 

public to do, we also explain why – i.e. how it will help to achieve our strategic objectives. 

 

Page 137



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 54 of 59 

Table 7-1 Linking themes with strategic objectives 

Theme/Project Obj.1 Obj.2 Obj.3 Obj.4 Obj.5 Obj.6 Obj.7 Obj.8 Obj.9 Obj.10 

Seeing the wider picture 
Developing links with other local authorities – Strengthening relationships within 
the LWP  

Y 
      

Y 
 

Developing links with other local authorities – Working with and learning from 
authorities outside the LWP      

Y 
 

Y Y Y 

Engaging with the commercial sector – Seek ways in which we could benefit by 
being more commercially-minded 

Y   Y      Y 

Engaging with the commercial sector – Be more aware of the potential value of the 
waste which we collect 

Y Y  Y       

Engaging with the commercial sector – Help to fill any processing capacity gaps   Y Y    Y   

Addressing any waste processing capacity gaps – Make good forecasts of how 
much of each waste type we are likely to have 

Y  Y     Y   

Addressing any waste processing capacity gaps – Promote the development of 
infrastructure for new waste streams 

Y  Y Y   Y Y   

Balancing economic and environmental benefits 

Ensuring value for money Y  Y Y      Y 

Caring for the environment – Following the Waste Hierarchy    Y   Y    

Caring for the environment – Improving the environmental impact of existing 
services 

Y   Y Y Y Y    

Caring for the environment – Reducing our carbon footprint       Y    

Caring for the environment – Adopting and promoting “circular economy” thinking Y   Y      Y 

Reviewing what we collect and how 
Evaluating the business case   Y Y       

Focusing on streams with the most economic and/or environmental value Y Y  Y       

Identifying barriers and how to overcome them Y Y Y  Y     Y 

Considering the introduction of new collections    Y Y  Y    

Getting our messages across 
To the Lincolnshire public     Y      

To the national government     Y Y     

To other stakeholders – Parish Councils, Environment Agency, etc   Y  Y Y     

To the commercial sector – To waste producers as well as waste businesses Y Y Y Y Y   Y  Y 

 

P
age 138



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 55 of 59 

7.5 Key workstreams for initial Action Plan 

The initial Action Plan has been developed on behalf of the LWP by an Officer Working Group 

including representatives from each partner council. 

Six separate streams of work have been identified to enable us to begin to work towards the 

objectives identified in this Strategy.  In the initial Action Plan, attached as Appendix D, each 

workstream is listed with one or more specific actions which relate to it. 

Further details of each workstream, and how it relates to our objectives, are listed below. 

7.5.1 Strategic Review of Kerbside Mixed Dry Recycling Collection and Disposal 
Scope: To investigate the feasibility of ‘harmonising’ the countywide kerbside MDR mix to 

find the most effective balance between reducing residual waste, increasing recycling 
rates, reducing contamination and maximising the value of our recyclate, taking into 
account household/population growth forecasts. 
 
In line with Consultation feedback, this workstream will also include: 

 A communications campaign to ensure that the public are well-informed 
about the service, and the part they can play in its success; and 

 A review of Household Waste Recycling Centres and how they tie in with 
kerbside services. 

 

Supports: Objectives 1,2,4,5,7,8 and 10 

 

7.5.2 Food Waste Trial 
Scope: A wide range of operational waste issues are being considered as part of the 

development of the Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy. To assist in 
increasing the capacity at the Energy from Waste facility, one of these proposals is 
the potential for a countywide food waste collection and recycling service. 
 
It has therefore been decided to undertake a food waste trial in selective locations 
within South Kesteven District Council (SKDC), to cover urban, rural and semi-rural 
areas, totalling some 4733 properties. 
 

Supports: Objectives 1,2,3,4,5,7,8 and 10 

 

7.5.3 Strategic Review of Options for Continuous Improvement for Waste Collection and 
Disposal Arrangements in Lincolnshire 

Scope: To identify the most efficient and effective collection and disposal methods for 
managing the County’s municipal waste.  This will be a “theoretical” exercise 
ensuring existing arrangements are NOT taken into account.  All collection and 
disposal methods will be considered. 

Supports: Objectives 7,8,9 and 10 

 

7.5.4 Location of additional processing/disposal sites 

Scope: To identify high users of energy within Lincolnshire, both current and anticipated 
through Local Plans and other plans, so consideration can be given to investigate the 
opportunities for appropriate waste infrastructure and deliver a co-ordinated 
effective and efficient waste collection/disposal service, including for future growth. 

Page 139



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 56 of 59 

This will also assist in the consideration of the financial aspects through the local 
energy produced and ensuring that the infrastructure is environmentally friendly by 
reducing carbon mileage. 

Supports: Objectives 7,8 and 10 

 

7.5.5 Choosing performance indicators appropriate to measure environmental 
performance 

Scope: To identify a suite of performance indicators which give a clear way of measuring our 
environmental performance, including our carbon footprint.  This will allow us to 
measure our progress towards our strategic objectives. 

Supports: Objectives 6 and 7 

 

  

Page 140



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 57 of 59 

8 The next steps: Monitoring, implementing and reviewing 

the strategy 

To help identify the best option for managing our waste in the future, we have begun to: 

 Assess options for our waste collections; and 

 Consider the disposal implications of those collection options. 

However there are further considerations required to ensure the strategy can be implemented 

successfully to meet our shared strategic objectives. 

 

8.1 Monitoring the strategy 

In order to know how well we are meeting our strategic objectives, it is important to establish and 

report on appropriate measures. 

The key measures which are currently reported to the Partnership include: 

 Percentage of household waste sent for reuse, recycling or composting (formerly a National 

Indicator, NI 192) – This is particularly important as it reflects our contribution to the 

national recycling target. 

 Total tonnage of residual (non-recycled) waste – This is important as it reflects how well we 

are doing in implementing the waste hierarchy, both by recycling and through waste 

minimisation. 

As a result of our new strategic objectives, and in line with Objective 6, new measures will need to 

be considered in order to monitor key issues such as our combined carbon footprint.  The 

development of a new suite of measures is included in the Action Plan to accompany this Strategy, 

and will help us to pursue our Vision “to seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, 

customer-friendly waste management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire.”. 

In developing new measures, such as carbon emissions, it is important not to lose sight of the big 

picture, such as: 

 Advances we have made over the last few years – e.g. Compare performance not just with 

current services but also with where we would be if we landfilled everything. 

 Side benefits of our services – e.g. Use of the energy generated at the EfW facility. 

Once a suite of performance indicators has been agreed, these will be regularly reported to the LWP, 

with statistical data accompanied by sufficient commentary that informed decisions can be made on 

any necessary changes to service provision or to future versions of the Action Plan. 

 

  

Page 141



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 58 of 59 

8.2 Implementing the strategy 

8.2.1 Funding and support 

Due to council budgets reducing, and the need to adopt more sustainable waste management 

practices, further pressure will be placed on service budgets.  While the Partnership has begun to 

identify ways in which our combined services might be improved, these will need to be considered 

pragmatically in the light of the available budget.  The Partnership will also need to actively seek any 

funding opportunities, whether from Government or otherwise, which can help us to afford to 

undertake work in support of the Objectives identified in this Strategy. 

8.2.2 Partnership working 

To ensure the Partnership continue to improve services and develop efficiencies it is essential to 

work together to deliver the strategy.  Working together enables the collection and disposal 

requirements to be coordinated to ensure that future collection service provision is provided with 

adequate treatment and disposal infrastructure. 

In accordance with Objective 9, we are committed: 

To regularly review the LWP governance model in order to provide the best opportunity to 

bring closer integration and the implementation of the objectives set by the strategy. 

8.2.3 Implementing the strategy 

The Partnership has made a commitment to implement this strategy and has recognised that 

significant changes are required over the next 10 years.  To deliver these changes an action plan has 

been prepared by the Partnership which clarifies the actions and tasks required to meet 

theobjectives as set out in the Strategy. 

The delivery of tasks within the action plan will need to be monitored and reviewed annually to 

ensure the Partnership will deliver the targets it sets itself through this Strategy.  Where significant 

changes occur, the action plan will be updated accordingly. 

The action plan establishes how the Strategy will be delivered, considering what will be required by 

the Partnership in terms of: 

• Action required to deliver waste minimisation and further increase recycling and 

composting; 

• Future changes or improvements to collection services (residual waste, dry recycling, garden 

waste and potential food waste); and 

• Investments required to deliver future residual waste treatment facilities and additional 

recycling infrastructure. 

 

  

Page 142



Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire 

FINAL Version 6.0 – October 2018  Page 59 of 59 

8.3 Reviewing the strategy 

This Strategy will need to be regularly reviewed in order to ensure that our shared objectives remain 

appropriate, and to change them if necessary.  This will, in line with government guidance, happen 

at least every five years, meaning that the LWP will undertake an initial review by 2023 at the latest. 

This will be particularly important in the light of any changes to theoperational and legislative  

landscape, including: 

• The UK's departure from the European Union, and any changes in UK waste legislation and 

policy which arise from that; and 

• The level of funding provided to each Authority by the UK Government. 

As previously stated, the accompanying Action Plan will also be regularly reviewed to enable us to 

continue to meet our objectives. 

Page 143



i 

Appendix A – Development of Vision & Objectives 

As a joint Strategy, shared by all LWP partner authorities, an important part of the strategy 

development process was to ensure early involvement from all. 

Two workshops were held in July 2017 at which partners had a series of discussions through which a 

shared Vision and Objectives were agreed.  Full details of these workshops, and the output from 

them, are shown in the attached report. 

With the addition of a 10th Objective to reflect the LWP's desire to seek innovative solutions, this 

Vision and Objectives were presented in the Consultation Draft of the JMWMS, and were generally 

well received.  In response to feedback received, the agreed Objectives have been updated, 

although each one still retains the theme which was set out at the original workshops. 

  

Page 144



Ricardo Energy & Environment 

 

 

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
Workshops  

___________________________________________________ 
Report for Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership JMWMS 

 

ED 10614  |  Issue Number 1   |   Date 03/08/2017 

 

 
 

Page 145

matthew.dobson
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_1
Typewritten Text
ii

matthew.dobson_2
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_3
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_4
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_5
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_6
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_7
Typewritten Text



  

  
Ricardo in Confidence Ref: Ricardo/ED10614/Issue Number 1 

 

 
 

 

 

 
 
 

Customer: Contact: 

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership John Woodruff 
Ricardo Energy & Environment 
Gemini Building, Harwell, Didcot, OX11 0QR, 
United Kingdom 

 

t: +44 (0) 1235 75 3263 

e: john.woodruff@ricardo.com 

 
Ricardo-AEA Ltd is certificated to ISO9001 and 
ISO14001 

Customer reference: 

ED10614 

Confidentiality, copyright & reproduction: 

This report is the Copyright of Ricardo Energy & 
Environment. It has been prepared by Ricardo 
Energy & Environment, a trading name of 
Ricardo-AEA Ltd, under contract to Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership dated 03/08/2017. The 
contents of this report may not be reproduced in 
whole or in part, nor passed to any organisation 
or person without the specific prior written 
permission of Lincolnshire Waste Partnership. 
Ricardo Energy & Environment and LWP accept 
no liability whatsoever to any third party for any 
loss or damage arising from any interpretation or 
use of the information contained in this report, or 
reliance on any views expressed therein. 
 
 

Author: 

John Woodruff, Gareth Morton, Helen Sankey 

Approved By: 

John Woodruff 

Date: 

03 August 2017 

Ricardo Energy & Environment reference: 

Ref: ED10614- Issue Number 1 

Page 146

matthew.dobson_8
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_9
Typewritten Text
iii



Ricardo Energy & Environment Lincolnshire Waste Partnership  
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy Workshops   

 
 

   
 
Ricardo in Confidence Ref: Ricardo/ED10614/Issue Number 1 

   

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership – Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy 
Workshops 

Introduction 

As the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership’s (LWP)'s only Waste Disposal Authority (WDA), Lincolnshire 
County Council (LCC) has taken responsibility for the project management of the review of its current 
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy (JMWMS).  
 
In order to ensure that that the JMWMS is jointly owned by all the authorities in the LWP, the WDA 
arranged two workshop sessions, to which each LWP member authority was invited. These were 
designed to encourage input from across the LWP in formulating the Visions and Objectives of the 
Strategy through the capture of a balance of views from across the LWP member authorities. 
 
The Workshops were held at the Hykeham Energy from Waste Visitor Centre.  
 
The first Workshop, on 6th July 2017, was titled “What do we want to achieve?" and aimed to reach 
agreement on the Vision and broad brush Objectives for the JMWMS.  
 
The second Workshop, on 20th July 2017, was titled "How do we achieve it?" and aimed to develop a 
framework for the action plan.  
 
The Workshops were Chaired and facilitated by Ricardo Energy & Environment, to provide an 
independent voice, with the aim of ensuring all attendees were able to voice their opinions, concerns, 
experience and ambitions. A key aim of the workshops was to ensure that the JMWMS is equally 
informed by input from all eight LWP authorities. 
 
Over twenty delegates from the eight authorities (Boston Borough Council, City of Lincoln Council, 
East Lindsey District Council, North Kesteven District Council, South Holland District Council, South 
Kesteven District Council, West Lindsey District Council, and Lincolnshire County Council) attended 
each workshop to contribute to the discussion and put forward their views. A list of the attendees at 
each workshop can be found at Appendix 1. 
 

Workshop Methodology 

Each workshop commenced with a briefing from the Chair outlining the overarching process of 
developing the Strategy, and consideration of legislative and political constraints, opportunities and 
other influencing factors impacting on the Strategy. Attendees were then invited to contribute to 
discussions regarding challenges and opportunities and their priorities for the Partnership. 
 
To facilitate discussion, a Scoping Paper had been prepared, setting out the broad Objectives as 
identified by the County Council. Additionally, information had been compiled to summarise the aims 
of the current (2008) Strategy, and performance indicators demonstrating performance across the 
original ambitions.  
 
The Agenda for each Workshop was designed to provide enough time for a thorough analysis of the 
Scoping Paper, with the option of changing, adding, revising, removing or redesigning each of these 
elements. 
 
The workshops utilised a combination of group discussions, break-out sessions and summary 
deliberations to scope the issues, challenges and opportunities, whilst identifying the key priorities for 
the LWP.  

Page 147

matthew.dobson_10
Typewritten Text
iv



Ricardo Energy & Environment Lincolnshire Waste Partnership  
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy Workshops   

 
 

   
 
Ricardo in Confidence Ref: Ricardo/ED10614/Issue Number 1 

   

Summary of Outcomes 

During the discussions, a general structure of elements of the Strategy began to form: this is 
illustrated below: 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Discussions regarding each of these elements are set out in the following sections. 

1. Vision 

At the second workshop, the Vision for the Strategy agreed in Workshop 1 was re-presented to the 
group and agreed: 
 

Vision for the Lincolnshire Joint Municipal Waste Management strategy 
 

“To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-friendly waste 
management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire.” 

 

2. Objectives 

At the second workshop, attendees considered the revised Strategic Objectives. All comments, 
considerations, concerns and criticisms from Workshop 1 had been recorded, and these were used to 
thoroughly revise the Objectives in line with the Workshop’s overall feedback and input. 
Subsequently, these revised Objectives had been circulated by e-mail for further feedback. 
Comments were generally positive, but further comments were received, and these had been 
incorporated into a third iteration of each Objective where necessary. Some Objectives had been 
combined or removed, as they were considered actions. 
 
Attendees at the second workshop analysed, considered and amended each Objective, until 
agreement was reached on the final iteration of each one. A summary of the evolution of the 
Objectives, from Scoping Paper to final iteration, can be found at Appendix 2. 
 
Throughout the review of the list of Objectives, it became clear that two over-riding elements were 
being repeated, and were in danger of making the Objectives unnecessarily wordy and repetitive. It 
was thus agreed that these two over-riding values should be applied when considering any of the 
other Objectives. 
 
A hierarchy was thus agreed whereby the LWP will have its vision, underneath which are the 
elements which describe the values which inform each of the Objectives.  
 
All Objectives should ensure that services provided under the JMWMS represent the best 
possible environmental option which gives value for money for Lincolnshire residents. 

 
Vision 

 
Common values 

 
 

Objectives 
 

Forward Plan 
 

Action Plan 

Page 148

matthew.dobson_11
Typewritten Text
v



Ricardo Energy & Environment Lincolnshire Waste Partnership  
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy Workshops   

 
 

   
 
Ricardo in Confidence Ref: Ricardo/ED10614/Issue Number 1 

   

 
The agreed Objectives will thus all be subject to these overarching approaches, which clearly tie in 
with the "value for money" and "environmental" aspects of the Vision. 
 
The discussions around the common values developed a preference for ordering the Objectives to 
reflect the priority order of: value for money; environmental outcomes; and other Objectives.  
 
In the light of the comments from attendees, to reflect this approach, the financial Objectives move to 
the top of the list, whilst the environmental Objectives follow, ordered by their position in the Waste 
Hierarchy. This leaves the LWP governance review as the final Objective, recognising that it is 
currently less of a priority as a review was done in 2016. 
 
The revised list of Objectives in the Summary reflects the revised ordering agreed. 
 

The draft agreed Objectives:  
 

1. To improve the quality and therefore commercial value of our recycling stream 

 

2. To consider moving towards a common set of recycling materials.  

 

3. To consider the introduction of separate food waste collections 

 

4. To explore new opportunities of using all waste as a resource in accordance with the 
waste hierarchy. 

 

5. To contribute to the UK recycling target of 50% by 2020.  

 

6. To find the most appropriate ways to measure our environmental performance, and 
set appropriate targets.  

 

7. To seek to reduce our carbon footprint. 

 

8. To make an objective assessment of whether further residual waste 
recovery/disposal capacity is required and, if necessary, seek to secure appropriate 
capacity.  

 

9. To regularly review the LWP governance model in order to provide the best 
opportunity to bring closer integration and the implementation of the Objectives set 
by the Strategy. 

 

 
It was noted that further editing of the Objectives may be necessary as a result of the Strategic 
Environmental Assessment (SEA) and Public Consultation processes, as well as any changes in 
external factors between now and the adoption of the Strategy. 
 

3. Forward Plan 

Attendees at the 2nd workshop were briefed on the need to develop a Forward Plan as part of the 
main JMWMS document.  This Plan will summarise the types of strategic action required to fulfil the 
agreed objectives. 

 
Whilst discussions at both workshops largely only focussed as far down as the objectives, those 
discussions did identify a number of types of action required to achieve the agreed Objectives. 

Page 149

matthew.dobson_12
Typewritten Text
vi



Ricardo Energy & Environment Lincolnshire Waste Partnership  
Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy Workshops   

 
 

   
 
Ricardo in Confidence Ref: Ricardo/ED10614/Issue Number 1 

   

 
The list attached as Appendix 3, prepared by the County Council, was intended to be shared at the 
2nd workshop, but the planned session to discuss and revise it was superseded by the need to talk 
about specific and urgent actions regarding one of the objectives – the introduction of food waste 
collections. 
 
This list will be circulated in a format which allows for further comment and for the addition of other 
proposed action types for the Forward Plan. 
 

4. Strategic Action Plan 

The initial Action Plan will be a separate document developed from the JMWMS Forward Plan.  This 
will differ from the Forward Plan in that it will: 

 
1) Be more detailed – i.e. who will do what and by when. 

2) Contain targets and activities which are "SMART" – i.e. Specific, Measurable, Achievable, 

Relevant and Time-based. 

3) Cover only the first year of the Strategy's lifetime – It will be reviewed annually thereafter. 

Work on the Action Plan will begin once the Forward Plan has captured the types of action which are 
required to meet the agreed strategic objectives. 
 
 

Food Waste Collections 
 
Having said that work on the Action Plan is to begin later, discussions planned to happen at 
Workshop 2 regarding actions to go into the Forward Plan were postponed in light of the urgent 
requirement for movement on the assessment of food waste collections, as identified by elected 
Members meeting together prior to Workshop 2. 

 
Work is underway, including as part of the WRAP-sponsored assessment of collections consistency, 
to identify and allocate the necessary actions, including: 
 

 Assessment of the costs to introduce collections. 

 Assessment of the possible disposal savings. 

 Consideration of a pilot project to begin as soon as possible. 

 Information-gathering from other authorities who have introduced such collections. 

 Visits to see possible vehicles for doing the collections. 

This work will need to be monitored, recorded, and included in the JMWMS documentation. 

Page 150

matthew.dobson_13
Typewritten Text
vii



 

 

 
 
 
 

The Gemini Building  
Fermi Avenue 
Harwell 
Didcot 
Oxfordshire 
OX11 0QR 
United Kingdom 
t: +44 (0)1235 753000 
e: enquiry@ricardo.com 
 

ee.ricardo.com 

Page 151

matthew.dobson_14
Typewritten Text
viii

matthew.dobson_15
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_16
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_17
Typewritten Text

matthew.dobson_18
Typewritten Text



ix 

Appendix B – Consultation Feedback 

A formal consultation process was undertaken from 4th April to 2nd July 2018.  This appendix 

summarises the results of that consultation and its influence on the final version of the JMWMS. 

 

Summary 

The draft strategy was generally well received, and responses to the consultation indicated a high 

level of support for the overall direction of the JMWMS.  Specifically, of the 147 responses to the 

survey: 

 89% agreed or strongly agreed with the vision we have set out 

 75% agreed or strongly agreed that the proposed objectives can achieve that vision 

Many of the comments received tied in with the vision which we have set out, agreeing that the LWP 

should: 

 Ensure value for money; 

 Care for the environment; and 

 Provide customer-friendly services. 

Other comments suggested areas in which the JMWMS could be strengthened or revised.  Examples 

of how these are reflected in the revised version of the JMWMS are shown below. 

Feedback received How revised JMWMS reflects this 

Specific actions need to be identified to show 
how the LWP will work to achieve their 
objectives. 

An initial Action Plan has been produced and is 
attached as Appendix D.  This Action Plan will be 
reviewed on an annual basis to ensure it remains 
up to date and effective. 

Better publicity is needed to ensure that people 
know what to put into which collections. 

The Action Plan includes: 

 A review to try to simplify our collection 
schemes; and 

 A communications campaign. 

Opinion was divided over whether food waste 
collections were a good idea. 

The Action Plan includes undertaking a trial to 
assess the effectiveness of food waste 
collections.  This trial, which actually began in 
June 2018, will enable decisions on possible 
wider collections to be based on real data. 

 

Consultation process 

As part of the waste strategy and SEA process there is a statutory requirement to undertake 

consultation.  Furthermore, consultation enables the LWP to take into account the views of the 

public and other stakeholders in the final JMWMS. 

Page 152



x 

It is recommended that the consultation period lasts for 90 days, but this is not statutory.  The public 

were consulted on the proposed draft strategy and the draft environmental report, which presents 

the outcomes of the Strategic Environmental Assessment (SEA). 

There are numerous consultation methods available and each authority is free to choose how their 

consultation is undertaken. 

Consultation methods selected 

The LWP chose to carry out a formal consultation between 4th April and 2nd July 2018 (90 days).  The 

documents made available during the consultation period were:  

 The full draft strategy and appendices 

 Summary of the strategy 

 Draft environmental report and its appendices 

The consultation took the following forms:  

 Publicising the consultation 

 Web-based consultation documents and questionnaire 

 Paper documents and questionnaire (available on request) 

 Libraries and LWP council offices 

 Face to face briefings for Elected Members at LWP councils 

Publicising the consultation 

In order to reach as wide an audience as possible, a variety of means were used to publicise the 

consultation, including: 

 Press releases – These were taken up and published by a number of media outlets 

 Social media advertisements – Facebook and Twitter 

 Direct emails to key groups 

o Statutory SEA consultees (Environment Agency, Natural England & Historic England); 

o Parish Councils in Lincolnshire; 

o A variety of waste-related businesses in Lincolnshire; and 

o Neighbouring councils. 

Questionnaire – Web-based approach 

In the light of the aims set out in the vision – to protect the environment and provide value for 

money – it was decided that the focus of the consultation should be online rather than producing 

large numbers of paper copies. 

Local residents and any other interested parties could access all consultation documents through the 

Recycle for Lincolnshire area of the Lincolnshire County Council website.  A web-based questionnaire 

was provided to invite views on key topics, the benefit being that, as well as receiving comments, it 

provided statistics giving an indication of overall opinion.  Also, a dedicated email account 

(wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk) was provided for other feedback and queries. 

Page 153

mailto:wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk


xi 

In total 147 completed questionnaires were completed, including five which were received in paper 

form and typed in by council staff.  The results are summarised later in this appendix. 

Questionnaire – Paper copies 

Whilst our preferred engagement method was online, the website made it clear that we were happy 

to send out on request paper copies of any or all of the documents.  A number of items were sent 

out in the post but, unfortunately, only five paper questionnaires were returned. 

Questionnaire – Libraries and LWP council offices 

Aware that not everyone has access to the internet, and in order to reach as wide an audience as 

possible, paper copies of key documents were sent out for display in public locations around the 

county: 

 The main office of each of the eight LWP partner councils; and 

 All 15 of the County Council's core public libraries. 

In addition to a single reference copy of the full JMWMS and a poster advertising the consultation, 

each location received several copies of the following which could be taken away: 

 A brief summary version of the JMWMS document – Essentially Chapter 1, including how to 

access the full documents and how to respond; 

 The consultation response form; and 

 A Freepost return envelope. 

Face to face briefings for Elected Members at LWP councils 

Between them, Councillors are the elected representatives of every member of the public in 

Lincolnshire.  In order to ensure the JMWMS captures the views of the wider Membership of each 

Council, representatives of the LWP visited each of the eight LWP councils to give a face to face 

briefing, and to invite them to submit a formal consultation response.  These responses are 

summarised later in this appendix. 

 

Questionnaire results 

The questionnaire consisted of 10 questions which, for clarity, are divided below into four sections.  

Several questions came as a pair with a selection list for the first part (to allow for statistical analysis) 

and a follow-up question asking for further information. 

It was decided not to ask for any personal details so that answers could remain truly anonymous.  

This also avoids possible issues under Data Protection legislation as it would be difficult to justify 

that such information was necessary. 

The following responses almost all were submitted online.  The five paper copies received was typed 

into the online form by a member of council staff to allow them to be included in the statistical 

reporting. 

Page 154



xii 

 

Responder details 

1. In what capacity are you responding to this survey? 

We have managed to obtain the views of a significant number of Lincolnshire residents.  

Unfortunately we have not heard much from other groups. 

 Responses Notes 

Lincolnshire Resident 126 Also received seven responses via email 

County Councillor 2 The County Council also responded via 
formal Council submission – see later in 
this appendix 

District Councillor 6 All seven District Councils also 
responded via formal Council 
submission – see later in this appendix 

Parish/Town Councillor 5 Also received two Parish Council 
responses via email 

Waste business employee/owner 4 Also received two responses via email 

Neighbouring authority representative 0 Details sent to all neighbouring 
authorities. None used the survey, but 
two responded directly by email. 

Other 4 All were formal responses from LWP 
partner authorities. Also received three 
"other" responses via email 

TOTAL 147  

 

2. In which area do you live or are you/your organisation based? 

Whilst some areas are better represented than others, we have managed to get multiple responses 

from every area within Lincolnshire.  The two "other" responses were people who did not answer 

this question. 

 

 

14 
18 

39 
33 

15 14 12 

2 

0

10

20

30

40

B
B

C

C
o

LC

EL
D

C

N
K

D
C

SH
D

C

SK
D

C

W
LD

C

O
th

er

Waste Collection Authority 

Page 155



xiii 

Contents of draft JMWMS 

3. Do you agree or disagree with the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's vision for this 

Strategy? 

89% of responders agree or strongly agree with the vision as set out in the draft JMWMS: 

"To seek the best environmental option to provide innovative, customer-friendly waste 

management solutions that give value for money to Lincolnshire". 

 

Why have you answered this way? 

Concern was expressed that the vision was too long, and that balancing the contrasting elements 

could be used as an excuse for poor performance – e.g. 'it was innovative but too expensive' or 'it 

was effective but not customer friendly'.  It was also suggested that the vision should mention waste 

minimisation. 

As with other questions, comments not directly related to this question will be included in the list of 

"comments received" given later in this Appendix. 

 

4. Are there any key issues, other than those we have identified, which should be driving 

our Waste Strategy? 

43% of responders believed other issues should be considered. 

 

47% 

42% 

10% 

1% 

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

57% 

43% 
No

Yes

Page 156



xiv 

If you answered "no", then what else should we include? 

Due to the wide range of suggestions, proposed additions are included in the list of "comments 

received" given later in this Appendix. 

 

5. Do you agree or disagree that the objectives we have set out will enable us to meet the 

challenges we face and therefore achieve our vision? 

75% of responders agree or strongly agree with this. 

 

Why have you answered this way? 

Those who disagreed expressed a variety of concerns and suggestions, including: 

 Funding – Need to lobby central government for more funding 

 Commit more – Should say what we'll do, not "consider" or "seek to" 

 Food waste collections – Not convinced of the environmental or financial benefits 

 Costs – Need to think long-term savings even if it means extra costs now 

 Commercial waste – Need to consider this, not just household waste 

 Education – Need better communications to educate the public 

 

  

18% 

57% 

21% 

4% 

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 157



xv 

6. Do you agree or disagree that our Forward Plan, as described in Chapter 7, contains all 

the actions we need to achieve our objectives? 

72% of responders agree or strongly agree with this. 

 

Why have you answered this way? 

There were multiple responses along similar lines: 

 We need to state a more specific list of actions 

 We need to communicate better with the public 

Other comments have been grouped together and included in the list of "comments received" given 

later in this Appendix. 

 

7. Do you have any specific concerns about the strategy? 

48% of responders have specific concerns. 

 

If you answered "yes", please tell us what concerns you have. 

Due to the wide range of concerns expressed, these are included in the list of "comments received" 

given later in this Appendix. 

 

13% 

59% 

25% 

3% 

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

52% 

48% 
No

Yes

Page 158



xvi 

Equality issues 

The Equality Act 2010 places organisations under a duty to ascertain how people with 'protected 

characteristics' are impacted by an organisation's activity, and how steps may be taken to mitigate 

or eliminate adverse impact(s). 

8. Do you think the draft strategy could have a positive or negative impact on you (or 

someone you care for or support) due to any of the following? 

 Positive 
Impact 

No Impact Negative 
Impact 

Don't Know 

Age 14% 47% 19% 20% 

Sex (male/female) 9% 69% 6% 16% 

Disability 9% 43% 21% 27% 

Sexual orientation 6% 73% 2% 19% 

Pregnancy and maternity 9% 55% 13% 22% 

Marriage and civil partnership 8% 72% 2% 18% 

Race (ethnicity)  5% 72% 4% 19% 

Religion or belief 6% 73% 2% 18% 

Gender reassignment 5% 73% 2% 20% 

 

There was a general feeling that, for most people groups and particularly for future generations, the 

impact would be positive.  However, there were three categories for which more people identified a 

negative impact than a positive one: 

 Age 

 Disability 

 Pregnancy and maternity 

The opportunity was given to identify other specific groups who could be impacted. The only other 

group suggested was residents of terraced properties, and the impact suggested has been included 

in the table below. 

Also, some respondents expressed concern that, until the Action Plan identifies specific service 

changes, it is not possible to identify possible impacts. 

If you have identified a potential impact, how would the proposed strategy impact you (or 

someone you care for or support) and how could any negative impacts be reduced? 

The comments made in this section have been added to the Equality Impact Analysis which is being 

undertaken to accompany the JMWMS.  The below summarises the responses received, including 

suggestion mitigation for negative impacts.  These impacts, and appropriate mitigation, will be 

considered in putting the JMWMS into action. 

NB – The impacts listed are those identified in consultation responses and, in some cases, it is not 

clear what the perceived impact actually is. 

 

Page 159



xvii 

Negative Impact Groups affected Mitigation 

Age Disability Pregnancy 
and 

maternity 

Other 

Confused by service 
changes 

Y Y Y Race 
(language) 

Focussed 
communications 
through a variety of 
methods 

Difficulty moving heavy 
wheelie bins 

Y Y Y Sex 
(did not specify 

which) 

Assisted collections 

Repeated emptying of 
kitchen caddy 

Y Y Y  Small kitchen caddy 
with liner 

Possible infection from 
decaying food 

Y Y Y  Lidded kitchen caddy; 
exterior bin; weekly 
collections 

HWRC / bring bank 
access 

Y Y Y Sex 
("parents with 
children and 
single parent 
families being 

more likely to be 
female") 

Proactive assistance 
from site staff 

Access to plastic recycling 
if kerbside service 
removed due to Deposit 
Return Scheme 

 Y   Consideration of 
alternative service if 
this happens 

Nappies & formula milk 
produce extra waste 

  Y  Response suggested: 
"Promote breast-
feeding and reusable 
nappies" 

Lack of space for storing 
multiple bins 

   Residents of 
terraced 

properties 

Consideration of 
alternative service 

 

In addition to the specific negative impacts which were identified, it has also been noted that a 

number of other respondents also expressed, in the text of their answers to other questions, the 

view that age could be an issue, and that the LWP need to ensure that services are accessible to 

everyone. 

 

  

Page 160



xviii 

Strategic Environmental Assessment 

The remaining questions related to the Environmental Report which accompanies the JMWMS.  This 

was prepared as part of the Strategic Environmental Assessment, a process which we are required to 

undertake alongside the development of the JMWMS itself. 

9. Does the Environmental Report correctly identify the likely significant effects of the 

draft Joint Municipal Waste Management Strategy? 

77% of responders said "yes". 

 

If you answered "no", please tell us what else you think should be included. 

Most of those who answered "no" said that the Environmental Report was too long and too 

complicated to read.  Unfortunately the SEA process is prescribed by legislation, and the contents of 

the Environmental Report reflect that process.  We have endeavoured to take the SEA results into 

account in writing the JMWMS. 

Others said that the SEA is difficult to assess without seeing the Action Plan which will accompany 

the JMWMS. Potential environmental impacts will indeed be considered in developing the initial and 

future Action Plans. This will include the location of potential new waste facilities, which was 

another topic raised. 

One responder was concerned that there is not enough focus in the SEA on climate change and 

carbon emissions.  This was raised in other responses with regard to the overall JMWMS, and is 

reflected in our objective "to seek to reduce our carbon footprint". 

Other responses to this question raised concerns about the JMWMS in general, and these are 

included in the list of "comments received" given later in this Appendix. 

 

  

77% 

23% 

Yes

No

Page 161



xix 

10. Do you agree or disagree that the draft JMWMS has sufficiently taken account of the 

information provided in the Environmental Report? 

81% of responders agree or strongly agree with this. 

 

If you disagree, please tell us what else you think should be taken into account. 

Those who "strongly disagree" all expressed concern over the length and complexity of the 

Environmental Report, as did several of those who "disagree".  As already stated, this is necessary 

due to how the SEA process is prescribed by legislation. 

Other responses to this question mirror concerns raised in response to earlier questions, and these 

are included in the list of "comments received" given later in this Appendix. 

 

Comments received 

Formal responses from LWP partners 

As previously stated, in order to ensure the JMWMS captures the views of the wider Elected 

Membership of each Council, representatives of the LWP visited each of the eight LWP councils to 

give a face to face briefing.  Each council was invited to submit a formal consultation response. 

The following provides a summary of those responses. 

Five responses were submitted in the form of the same questionnaire as used by the public.  These 

are included in the statistical results shown above, and are summarised below. 

  

11% 

70% 

15% 

4% 

Strongly agree

Agree

Disagree

Strongly disagree

Page 162



xx 

3 – Do you agree or disagree with the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership's vision for this Strategy? 

3 x Strongly agree (1 further partner said "strongly agree" in their non-questionnaire response) 
1 x Agree 
1 x Disagree – "Not specific enough" 

4 – Are there any key issues, other than those we have identified, which should be driving our 
Waste Strategy? 

2 x No 
3 x Yes – Include: 

 Containing costs/maximising income 

 Education and regular information to the public 

 Wider national and global picture and circular economy 

 Managing expectations of increasing recycling rate whilst budgets are increasingly stretched 

 Waste minimisation and packaging reduction 

5 – Do you agree or disagree that the objectives we have set out will enable us to meet the 
challenges we face and therefore achieve our vision? 

1 x Strongly agree 
2 x Agree 
2 x Disagree – Need specific actions & targets 

6 – Do you agree or disagree that our Forward Plan, as described in Chapter 7, contains all the 
actions we need to achieve our objectives? 

3 x Agree 
2 x Disagree – Need specific action plan 

7 – Do you have any specific concerns about the strategy? 

5 x Yes – We need a specific action plan & targets 

8 – Do you think the draft strategy could have a positive or negative impact on you (or someone 
you care for or support) due to any of the following? 

No specific impacts identified 

9 – Does the Environmental Report correctly identify the likely significant effects of the draft Joint 
Municipal Waste Management Strategy? 

2 x Yes 
3 x No – Need action plan and identification of specific infrastructure first 

10 – Do you agree or disagree that the draft JMWMS has sufficiently taken account of the 
information provided in the Environmental Report? 

5 x Agree – Although may need reassessing when Action Plan is developed 

 

Comments made by each partner, including those provided in the form of the questionnaire, are 

grouped together by theme below. 

Overall strategy 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Strategy and actions need to be agile to react to changes 

 Be customer-friendly / customer satisfaction 

 Ensure we consider the future, not just the present 

 Programme in a JMWMS review 

 Need "circular economy" thinking 

Other responses  Seek innovative ideas by looking for new ideas and technologies 

 Include section on "lessons learned" from previous JMWMS and action plan 

 Need more detailed review of previous (2008) JMWMS and lessons learned 

 Include more national and global context 

 Need to reflect rising costs due to waste growth 

Page 163



xxi 

Specific sections 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Need a specific action plan with timelines 

 Objectives to be more committed – "we will" rather than "consider" 

Other responses  Vision to say "Lincolnshire people" 

 Vision not specific enough 

 Add an objective on waste minimisation 

 Change Objective 8 from "residual waste" to "all waste" 

Recycling collections 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Need harmonising (nationally?) 

 Simpler collection system/mix 

 Kerbside collections of batteries and WEEE 

Other responses  Collect glass separately 

 More enforcement against contamination 

 Consider how to handle textiles 

Lobbying 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Manufacturers/government to reduce packaging 

Other responses  Use fewer types of plastic 

 Deposit Return Schemes for plastics are a good thing, so support them 

Food waste 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Food waste collections a good thing 

 Trial data important 

 Food waste collections need to be backed by education campaign 

 Needs proper consideration of funding of separate collections 

Other responses  Encourage food waste minimisation 

Education 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Need better engagement with the public 

 Promote waste hierarchy, including reduction and reuse 

 Need simple and consistent messages 

 Education through schools 

Other responses  How to reach "Houses in Multiple Occupation"? 

 Locally-targeted campaigns 

 Incentivise residents to recycle more 

 Add an objective on education 

 Change public perception of "landfill bin" with a better word than "residual" 

Disposal & processing 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Consider using out-of-county facilities 

Other responses  Use anaerobic digestion for food waste and garden waste 

 Use/develop local sites 

 Consider disposal options to handle population/waste growth 

 Maximise energy use from new and existing EfW facilities 

Funding 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Make clearer that Council funding is reducing and services need to contain 
costs 

Other responses  Ensure value for money to the public 

 Decide on the balance between costs and "doing the right thing 
environmentally 

  

Page 164



xxii 

Other 

Multiple similar 
responses 

 Better partnership working (including with neighbours?) 

 Review of HWRC provision (including cross-border arrangements?) 

 Review LWP governance model 

 Regular monitoring and reporting of performance 

Other responses  Specific data needs reviewing or updating 

 On-street recycling bins 

 Healthcare waste should be NHS responsibility 

 Need to better understand why recycling rates are falling 

 Need to review equality impacts and SEA when action plan has been 
developed 

 Support commercial waste collections  

 Move away from a specific recycling target 

 

Statutory Consultees 

As part of the Strategic Environmental Assessment process, we are required to consult with the 

Environment Agency, Natural England and Historic England. None of them raised any specific 

concerns regarding either the draft Environmental Report or the draft JMWMS. 

From others 

The following summarises the comments which were submitted to the consultation.  Every 

comment has been read individually but, due to the varied nature and sometimes personal nature of 

the individual responses, they are here summarised into themes. 

Themes mentioned by 10 or more people included: 

Theme Type(s) of response 

Care for the environment  An important thing to include 

 Not enough mention of climate change and carbon reduction 

 Seek to recycle more 

Value for money  An important thing to include 

 Councils need to think and act more commercially 

 Lobby government for more funding rather than raise Council Tax 

Balancing environment and 
cost 

Opinion was divided between: 

 Take the cheapest option rather than put up Council Tax 

 Do the right thing environmentally regardless of cost 

Include more direct and 
ambitious actions 

 Draft JMWMS doesn't identify enough specific actions 

 Whole JMWMS needs to be more ambitious 

 Set clear targets 

Improve 
communications/education 

 What to put in which collection 

 Especially important if services change 

Waste 
reduction/packaging 

 Not enough mention of waste reduction 

 Lobby national government for new legislation 

 Take action locally 

Page 165



xxiii 

Theme Type(s) of response 

Food waste collections Opinion was divided between: 

 They are a good thing – e.g. Better environmentally 

 They are a bad thing – e.g. Smell; costly to run; inconvenient 

Customer friendly services  Simpler recycling system 

 Need consistent services across the county 

 Ensure services are accessible to all, especially the elderly and 
disabled 

HWRC improvements  More reuse, especially by "people in need" 

 Improve site layout 

 Open more sites and for longer hours to combat flytipping 

 Accept extra materials – e.g. tyres; asbestos 

 Allow/arrange use of sites outside of county 

 

Conclusion 

The JMWMS has been reviewed and, where necessary, updated in line with the comments received 

through the consultation process.  The majority of this list matches the above summary of public 

responses, as these are also broadly in line with responses from LWP partners.  Where partners 

raised additional items, these are added at the foot of this table. 

Theme How revised JMWMS reflects this 

Care for the environment  Text added to back up the objective on carbon reduction 

 Action Plan to include assessment of carbon footprint 

Value for money  Already a strong focus of the draft JMWMS so no change 

Balancing environment and 
cost 

 Given the mixed views expressed as to which should take priority, 
the revised JMWMS clarifies the LWP's intention to choose the 
best environmental option that we can afford.  Any service 
changes will thus need to reflect this. 

Include more direct and 
ambitious actions 

 Action Plan produced to accompany JMWMS 

Improve 
communications/education 

 Included in Action Plan 

Waste 
reduction/packaging 

 Text added to make more reference to this 

Food waste collections  Action Plan includes a trial to get better information for an 
informed decision 

Customer friendly services  Collections under review through Action Plan 

 Any proposed service changes will consider accessibility to all 

HWRC improvements  HWRC services to be reviewed 

Additional items raised by LWP partners 

Reporting and review  Chapter 8 has been revised to be more specific on this 

Disposal and processing  More information added on future options to be considered 

 

  

Page 166



xxiv 

As referred to in Section 3.4 of this JMWMS, the implementation of this strategy, particularly in the 

enactment of the accompanying Action Plan, will need to take into account the waste management 

actions and strategies of our neighbouring authorities. 

In view of this, we specifically wrote to each neighbouring Council and/or Waste Partnership as part 

of the Public Consultation process, asking them for any information which they think it would be 

helpful for us to take into account. 

 

We received two consultation responses from neighbours. 

North Lincolnshire Council 

North Lincolnshire Council submitted a comprehensive response to each of the 10 proposed JMWMS 

Objectives.  These are shown below. 

Page 167



xxv 

 

P
age 168



xxvi 

 

The LWP notes NLC's general support for this JMWMS and will take into account the points made, particularly: 

 Their support for the consideration of municipal ownership of waste facilities, along with their interest in developing joint infrastructure assets; 

 Their interest in the concepts of a harmonised recycling mix and alternative measures for environmental performance; and 

 The references to the updated contents of the EU Circular Economy Package, which are reflected in this revised JMWMS. 

P
age 169



xxvii 

Nottinghamshire County Council 

"Nottinghamshire County Council welcomes the vision and aspirations set out within the draft 

strategy and future opportunities to share best practice and experience amongst local authorities. 

The County Council does not have any formal comments to make at this stage but would be grateful 

to be kept informed of progress with the strategy and the development of specific action plans in 

support of the strategy." 

The LWP notes NCC's general support for this JMWMS.  We will indeed continue to liaise with them 

regarding progress both with our own strategic developments and with theirs. 

  

Page 170



 

xxviii 

Appendix D – Initial Action Plan 

As described throughout this JMWMS, and as requested in numerous responses to the Public 

Consultation, this Action Plan sets out the actions which the LWP will undertake to work towards the 

Objectives which have been set. 

This appendix contains the initial Action Plan, including the dates by which each task will be 

completed.  It should be noted that some of the dates listed are before the adoption of the final 

version of this JMWMS.  That is because work is already underway on workstreams which are 

unlikely to change in the closing stages of the development of the Strategy. 

The Action Plan will be reviewed regularly in order to ensure it remains up to date in response to: 

 Whether the actions being undertaken are helping us to achieve our Objectives; and 

 Any changes in legislation or other strategic drivers. 

 

Page 171



 

xxix 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

1 Strategic Review of 
Kerbside Mixed Dry 
Recycling Collection and 
Disposal 

1,2,4,5,7,8 
and 10 

12th July 2018 – 
Initial Feedback to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership.  
 
End September 2018 
– Initial review 
completed and 
reported to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership 

Satisfaction with waste/recycling 
services by council - targets to be 
continuous improvement on base line 
performance.  
 
Recycling and composting rate by 
council- target to be agreed, but to 
reach a minimum of 50% by 2020.  
 
Reduction in baseline Mixed Dry 
Recycling contamination rate (27%). 
 
 
Reduction in carbon footprint from 
2017/18.  
 

To have a clear way forward on what is being 
collected and new contract in place for 2020. 
 
 
 
A consistent harmonised Mixed Dry Recycling mix 
across all Waste Collection Authorities. 
 
 
A common message on Mixed Dry Recycling that can 
be used by all partners and a clear communications 
campaign. 
 
A Mixed Dry Recycling contract in place flexible 
enough to reward commercial value of reducing 
contamination rates and non-target materials. 
 
Improved recycling rate over current baseline. 
 

1.01 Evaluation of the current 
volumes/weights of waste 
going to the Energy from 
Waste facility and to 
Materials Recovery 
Facilities and assessing the 
impact or difference on the 
factors above should 
kerbside collection waste 
streams be adjusted and/or 
harmonised. 

 Complete  
  

Produce a table and analysis for the 
factors impacting the waste streams.  
  
Officer Working Group to recommend 
to the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 
what the mix should be and what is 
achievable. 

Findings to be presented to the  Officer Working 
Group on the 8th August 2018 with recommendations.  

P
age 172



 

xxx 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

1.02 Outline infrastructure and 
capital costs of 
implementing these 
adjustments to the Waste 
Collection Authorities and 
Waste Disposal Authority.  

 Complete   Full costings to be reported to 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership with 
recommendations on the way 
forward. 

 

1.03 Assessment of the 
Materials Recovery 
Facility/Recycling market 
for Mixed Dry Recycling 
through soft market testing 
and direct market 
engagement, to identify 
potential suppliers to 
handle the Mixed Dry 
Recycling mix proposed and 
if so at what cost compared 
to current arrangements.  

 Results of soft 
market testing July 
2018. 
 
Procurement 
timeline key for 
understanding the 
mix from April 2020.  

What the Mixed Dry Recycling mix is 
going to be needs to be agreed as 
soon as possible before new contract 
to commence in 2020. 

Officer Working Group to agree the mix and report to 
the Lincolnshire Chief Executives meeting in 
September 2018 and Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 
with the recommendations.  

P
age 173



 

xxxi 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

1.04 Assessment of the public 
information and education 
campaign required to 
support effective 
implementation of a 
revised/harmonised Mixed 
Dry Recycling mix. 

 End September/ 
early Oct 2018 for 
sticker campaign to 
go on all bins across 
Lincolnshire to 
address the main 
contaminants.  

Satisfaction with waste/recycling 
services by council - targets to be 
continuous improvement on base line 
performance.  
 
Recycling and composting rate by 
council- target to be agreed, but to 
reach a minimum of 50% by 2020.  
To be revised periodically to meet 
national targets. 
 
To aid the recycling rate this is key 
marketing if the Mixed Dry Recycling 
mix changes. 
 
Improved recycling rate, satisfaction 
levels across the County remain high 
with residents and the message is 
clear.   

Improved awareness of what can/cannot be recycled, 
so as to align with the strategy document and 
agreement on a new Mixed Dry Recycling mix.  
 
 
Greater participation in recycling/composting 
schemes. 
Improving satisfaction with Council services. 
 
 
 
Lincolnshire Waste Partnership agreed short term 
that stickers should be produced for across the 
County saying NO to the main contaminants.  
 
A communications campaign to go alongside the 
sticker end Sept to tie in with National Recycling 
week. 

1.05 Feasibility of building a 
Materials Recovery Facility 
outline cost estimates. 

 To be confirmed by 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership.   

Business case to be completed before 
being considered by the Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership in November 2018. 

Decision to be made by Partnership after the business 
case discussed.   

1.06 Feasibility of having a dirty 
Materials Recovery Facility 
or more.   

 20th July 2018.  Business case to be completed before 
being considered by the Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership. 

Findings to be presented to the Officer Working 
Group initially on the 8th August 2018.  

1.07 Proposals for dealing with 
other recyclables at the 
kerbside such as textiles, 
batteries, household 
electrical items, batteries 
etc 

 To be confirmed To be agreed. To be agreed.  

P
age 174



 

xxxii 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

1.08 To tackle contamination in 
our current recycling 
stream, between now and 
when the Mixed Dry 
Recycling contract is re-let 
in 2020, develop an 
effective, simple public 
communication campaign. 

 End Sept 2018 all 
bins in the County to 
have a sticker on the 
recycling bin to try 
and reduce 
contamination.  

To aid the recycling rate by targeting 
the contamination.  
 
The levels of contamination to be 
monitored monthly to see if there is a 
decrease following the sticker 
campaign.  
 
Communications plan required around 
this as also need to join up the 
message that is being delivered locally 
and Nationally.    

Improved recycling rate, satisfaction levels across the 
County remain high with residents and the message is 
clear through communications campaign.  
 
 
 
 
 
Reduction to the 27% contamination rate.   

P
age 175



 

xxxiii 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

1.09 Secure expert input from: 

 Waste and 
Resources Action 
Programme (WRAP) 

 Communications 
teams 

 Procurement 
underway, 
consultants 
appointed end of 
August 2018. 
Inception meeting 
5th September 2018.  
 
Project timeline 
amended to final 
report late 2018.  

Further develop the Baseline to 
include predicted waste growth over 5 
and 10 years. 
 

An assessment of the impact of the two stream 
collection methodology (separate paper/separate 
food) against the baseline and in 5 and 10 years could 
this be three stream i.e. Food, Paper / card and 
Cardboard and others (plastic bottles, glass 
containers etc). 
 
An assessment of the impacts of alternative ‘two-tier’ 
cost sharing options on the member authorities of 
the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership. 
 
A high-level assessment of the options available to 
the Waste Disposal Authority for the provision of 
residual treatment / disposal facilities over and above 
those provided by the North Hykeham Energy from 
Waste facility. 
 
A high-level assessment of the service delivery 
options available to the Waste Disposal Authority 
with a view to maximising the financial benefit that 
can be accrued from alternative disposal technologies 
(e.g anaerobic digestion of separately collected food 
waste) for an agreed range of household waste 
streams. 

1.10 Research what has worked 
elsewhere: 

 Positive – i.e. What 
to put in? 

 Negative – i.e. 
What to leave out? 

 Some of this 
information will 
come from the soft 
market testing. 

 Clearer understanding gained to support the Mixed 
Dry Recycling mix.  
 
Follow-up meetings being held with report to Officer 
Working Group in Sept 2018. 

P
age 176



 

xxxiv 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

1.11 Review of the Household 
Waste Recycling Centres 

 November 2018 Review the existing arrangements 
across the County and look at the 
feasibility of more Centres if required. 

From the consultation it was a theme that the public 
want opening hours extended at current Centres and 
the possibility of more across the County.  

2 Food Waste Trial 1,2,3,4,5,7
,8 and 10 

12th Jul 18 – Initial 
Feedback to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership. 
 
22nd Nov 18 – 
Detailed Feedback 
to Lincolnshire 
Waste Partnership 

Measure number of residents in the 
trial. 
 
 
 
Measure the amount of waste 
collected and reduction in recycling 
contamination.  
 
Access the Mixed Dry Recycling 
contamination.  

Inform decision making about future collection and 
disposal options by assessing the available options 
during the trial to ensure momentum is maintained, 
including the recent Waste and Resources Action 
Programme (WRAP)work. 
 
Determine the service’s impact on households’ 
waste and recycling habits, especially volumes of 
food in other waste streams. 
 
Assess the impacts of cleaning up the Mixed Dry 
Recycling  contamination.  

2.01 Trial commences in South 
Kesteven area.  

 4th June 18 Maximise participation and 
understand households’ motivations 
for the trial. 
 
Measure the amount of food waste 
collected and determining if there is 
any reduction in the recycling 
contamination or quantity of residual 
waste presented. 
 
Determine the most effective 
messages and communications 
channels. 

Clearer understanding of food waste on recyclables 
and weights of residual. Weekly tonnages and 
composition analyses being undertaken. 

2.02 Initial results reported to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership.  

 12th July 18 Give an update on the 1st month’s 
figures from the trial.  

Report presented to Lincolnshire Waste Partnership. 
on the 12 July 2018.  
Completed task. 

P
age 177



 

xxxv 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

2.03 Detailed report to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership. 

 22nd November 18 Report with all of the measurements 
for how/if the scheme has been 
successful including costs and savings.  

The Lincolnshire Waste Partnership to receive 
information regarding the success or not of the trial. 
If successful, defining the extent of the food waste 
roll-out. 

2.04 Investigate expanding the 
trial to other areas in South 
Kesteven or discuss with 
other Districts a trial and 
costs for this piece of work. 

 Early 2019 Fully costed options to look at 
expanding the food waste trial either 
into South Kesteven or other Districts.  

Meeting to be arranged in September 2018 with 
Lincolnshire County Council and South Kesteven.  

3 Strategic Review of 
Options for Continuous 
Improvement for Waste 
Collection and Disposal 
Arrangements in 
Lincolnshire 

7,8,9 and 
10 

Early 2019 – 
Feedback to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership & 
Lincolnshire Chief 
Executives Group 

What are the benefits for this 
theoretically to identify an ideal 
solution without current restraints.  
 
  

To show the most effective and financially viable 
way of collecting and disposal of waste throughout 
the County.  

3.01 Initial analysis by 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership and the Officer 
Working Group using 
Design Council 
methodology. 

 May 18   

3.02 Further analysis by 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership and the  Officer 
Working Group using 
Design Council 
methodology 

 21st September 2018    

3.03 Interim update reported to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership & to Chief 
Executives Group 

 October 2018    

P
age 178



 

xxxvi 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

3.04 Further update  reported to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership & to Chief 
Executives Group 

 Early 2019    

4 Location of additional 
processing/disposal sites 

7,8 and 10 November 2018 – 
Feedback to 
Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership & Chief 
Executives Group 

Initial assessment of users within 
Lincolnshire  
 
Provide a map and short report on 
the main areas 
 
Report outputs to Lincolnshire Waste 
Partnership and obtain direction on 
what this information will be used for  

To support the feasibility of another Energy from 
Waste plant if required.   

4.01 A review of the previous 
report by Element Energy 
on the data gathered in the 
consideration of energy 
mapping within the Greater 
Lincoln area. 

  Draft short brief for Element to look at 
the wider area and obtain a quote and 
timeline for this piece of work.  

Locations to be ranked for suitable areas for a new 
Energy from Waste plant.  

4.02 Evaluating the Lincolnshire 
Enterprise Partnership work 
around utility infrastructure 
with our expected waste 
infrastructure work. 

 Delivery of findings 
by November 2018 

Energy mapping work for Greater 
Lincolnshire Enterprise Partnership 
completed.  
 
Energy Strategy for the Greater 
Lincolnshire Enterprise Partnership 
out for consultation. 

Energy Strategy and Local Industrial Strategy Energy 
Components out for consultation. 

P
age 179



 

xxxvii 
 

Ref Action Objectives 
Supported 
 

Key Dates KPI/ Targets Expected Outcome/Update 

5 Choosing performance 
indicators appropriate to 
measure environmental 
performance. 

7 and 6  Sept 2018  Carbon footprint baseline review. 
 
 
 
Review of existing Performance 
Indicators. 

The need for this came through in the consultation 
as a need to understand the Carbon footprint 
baseline so that it can be monitored effectively.  
 
To produce a suite of Performance Indicators that 
can then be effectively produced and reported to 
the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership.  

5.01 Evaluate the current 
information around carbon 
footprint  

 Sept 2018 Once the baseline has been 
established this the Officer Working 
Group can then look at targeting 
reduction and a communication plan.   

Outcomes of the consultation was that this needs to 
be a priority of the Strategy therefore an 
understanding of the baseline and targeting reducing 
this is key.  

5.02 Review the existing Key 
Performance Indicators to 
ensure fit for monitoring 
the Strategy outcomes 

 Sept 2018 Looking at what was previously 
measured and aligning new targets to 
the outputs of the Strategy.  

Have new Key Performance Indicators that are 
Specific, Measurable, Attainable, Relevant and 
Timely.  

 

P
age 180



 

xxxviii 
 

Term Abbrev. Description 

Alternate Weekly Collections AWC 
Typically, the collection of household residual wastes 
every other week, whilst during the intervening 
weeks recyclables and/or green wastes are collected. 

Anaerobic Digestion AD 
A process by which microorganisms break down 
biodegradable material in the absence of oxygen. 

Biodegradable Municipal Waste BMW 
Those elements of the municipal waste streams that 
will rot or degrade biologically. 

Controlled Waste Regulations CWR 
UK legislation categorising waste by contents and/or 
source. 

Department for Environment, 

Food & Rural Affairs 
Defra 

UK government department responsible for waste 
management (amongst other things). 

Energy from Waste EfW 
Any renewable energy technology that recovers 
energy from waste. 

Household Waste HW 

Waste from domestic properties including waste 
from residual refuse collections, material collected 
for recycling and composting, plus waste from 
educational establishments, nursing and residential 
homes and street cleansing waste. 

Household Waste Recycling 
Centre 

HWRC 
A place at which the public may deposit their 
household waste 

(Joint) Municipal Waste 
Management Strategy 

(J)MWMS 

Also referred to in this document simply as "the 
Strategy". 
It is a statutory duty for local authorities in two-tier 
areas to have a Joint MWMS. 

Landfill Allowance Trading 

Scheme 
LATS 

An initiative by the UK government to help reduce 
the amount of BMW sent to landfill. 
Abolished in 2013. 

Lincolnshire Waste Partnership LWP 

Also referred to in this document simply as "the 
Partnership". 
Brings together the public bodies within Lincolnshire 
responsible for collection and disposal of waste. 

Local Authority Collected Waste LACW 
Any waste collected by a local authority. 
Formerly known as "Municipal Waste". 

Minerals and Waste Local Plan MWLP 

Sets out: 

 the key principles to guide the future winning 
and working of minerals and the form of waste 
management in the county; and 

 the criteria against which planning applications 
for minerals and waste development will be 
considered. 

Municipal Solid Waste MSW 
A waste type consisting of everyday items that are 
discarded by the public. 

National Indicator NI 

One of a list of indicators used to measure local 
authority performance. 
Stopped being statutory from April 2011. 

Page 181



 

xxxix 
 

Term Abbrev. Description 

National Planning Policy 
Framework NPPF 

Introduced in March 2012, sets out the Government's 
overarching planning policies for England 

National Planning Policy for 
Waste NPPW 

Introduced in December 2013, sets out the national 
framework for planning for waste management 

Office of the Deputy Prime 
Minister ODPM 

Former UK government department with 
responsibility for some aspects of waste 
management (amongst other things). 

Putrescible waste  

The component of the waste stream liable to become 
putrid. 
For example: organic matter that has the potential to 
decompose with the formation of 
malodorous substances, usually refers to vegetative, 
food and animal products. 

Recycling Credits  

Statutory payments made by the WDA to a WCA 
which makes its own arrangements for the recycling 
of waste which it has collected. 

Strategic Environmental 
Assessment SEA 

A formal assessment of the environmental effects of 
a strategic document. 

Technically, environmentally 
and economically practicable TEEP 

A formal assessment of whether an individual option 
can reasonably be achieved. 
Found in several pieces of waste legislation. 

Waste Collection Authority WCA 

A local authority with the duty to collect specified 
wastes (including household waste). 
There are seven WCA's covering the LWP area: 
Boston Borough Council, City of Lincoln Council, East 
Lindsey District Council, North Kesteven District 
Council, South Holland District Council, South 
Kesteven District Council and West Lindsey District 
Council 

Waste Disposal Authority WDA 

A local authority with the duty to operate HWRC's 
and to dispose of waste collected by WCA's in its 
area. 
There is one WDA covering the LWP area: 
Lincolnshire County Council. 

Waste Planning Authority WPA 

A local authority with the duty to collect specified 
wastes (including household waste). 
There are seven WCA's covering the LWP area. 

Waste Regulatory Authority WRA 

Has responsibility for ensuring compliance with 
waste legislation. 
In England this is the Environment Agency. 

Waste and Resources Action 
Programme 

WRAP A government-sponsored organisation promoting 
recycling and other waste issues. 

 

 

Page 182



What’s new in the Final JMWMS (version 6.0) 

This document accompanies (for the LWP) the "Final" version (also known as version 6.0) of the JMWMS, and 

summarises the changes which have been made since the Revised Draft (version 4.1) which was presented to the 

LWP at their meeting on 10th September. 

Most of these changes were specifically agreed as part of the LWP's formal endorsement of the JMWMS, but a 

few additional minor changes (marked below as "supplementary") have arisen from the circulation (via the Officer 

Working Group) of a Final Draft (version 5.1). 

Section 
(page numbers as per 
Revised Draft v4.1) 

Change 

Supplementary: 
Throughout 

Deleted "DRAFT" watermark across each page to reflect that this is the Final 
JMWMS. 

Supplementary: 
Throughout 

Various items of tidying including: 

 Formatting of tables 

 Correction of spelling and capitalisation errors 

Cover Was 2008 version.  Now includes, as agreed: 

 New photos – EfW; HWRC; "no" campaign sticker; food trial 

 LWP logo (not individual partner logos) 

Foreword Added – Text provided by Chair and Vice Chair on behalf of LWP. 

Objective 3 
(sections 1.4 & 6.1) 

Reverted to "consider" – i.e. "To consider the introduction of separate food waste 
collections where technically, environmentally and economically practicable." 
Retained new (in version 4) reference to "TEEP" as this sets out the criteria for 
considering and ties in with what EU Circular Economy Package says on biowaste 
collections being subject to "TEEP". 

1.5 – How will we get there? 
(page 7 & 8) 

Added better references to where to find further details (in chapter 7 & 8) on 
each item in the bullet list, especially "getting our message across". 

Supplementary: 
1.5 – How will we get there? 
(page 7 & 8) 

In adding cross-references as per the above, it became clear that there was no 
reference to the recent (v4.1) addition to Chapter 7 of the Action Plan key 
workstreams, so have now added here: 
"Chapter 7 also summarises (see section 7.5) each of the key workstreams which 
are included in the Action Plan." 

Table 5-7 (page 32) SHDC green waste service is no longer a pilot, so removed statement which said 
that it was. 

5.4.1 – Waste Collections 
(page 33) 

Added SKDC to list of collectors of commercial waste 

Table 5-13 (page 38) Updated tonnages for non-LCC Waste Transfer Stations to newly-received 
2017/18 figures. 

Supplementary: 
5.4.3 – Recycling and 
composting arrangements 
(page 39) 

Added reference to progress already being made on agreeing a common 
"recycling mix" as this is referred to in the Action Plan. 

5.4.3 – Recycling and 
composting arrangements 
(page 39) 

In Mixed dry recycling, replaced references to Mid UK with "current contractor" 
(or similar) as this may change during the lifetime of the JMWMS. 

Table 5-21 (page 46) Now updated with 2017/18 figures which each of the 8 partner councils has 
provided.  These new numbers don't require a significant change to the 
explanatory text. 

APPENDIX B

Page 183



Section 
(page numbers as per 
Revised Draft v4.1) 

Change 

7.4 – Getting our messages 
across (page 53) 

Added extra text describing why we need to communicate better: 
Communicating with the public is particularly important, particularly in the event 
of any changes to services.  Indeed, this ties in directly with our strategic vision by 
making our services more customer-friendly, and by making it as easy as possible 
for people to help us to protect the environment and to provide value for money. 

Supplementary: 
7.4 – Getting our messages 
across (page 53) 

Further text added, following clarification of what was said at the LWP meeting 
(which had been recorded as "need to say why"): 
In communicating these messages it is important that, as well as explaining what 
we would like the public to do, we also explain why – i.e. how it will help to 
achieve our strategic objectives. 

Appendix D – Action Plan 
(page xxviii) 

Tidied up to: 

 Remove all names/initials 

 Expand and explain acronyms 

 Remove non public-facing references 

 

Further discussions – Innovation 

Concern was expressed at the 10th September LWP meeting as to whether the JMWMS fully reflects the 

commitment, in the Vision, to be innovative.  However, the general view was that this is already sufficiently 

reflected.  Relevant references include: 

• Objective 10 – "To consider appropriate innovative solutions" – The only Objective which the LWP 

agreed to add to the list after the initial workshops. 

• Objective 6 – Seeking "appropriate ways to measure our environmental performance" rather than 

sticking with just tonnage/percentage measures. 

• Section 7.2.1 – The need to find "innovative ways to fairly distribute costs and savings incurred by 

different authorities". 

• Section 7.2.2 – Ensuring we care for the environment by "considering the use of new and innovative 

technology". 

These will be put into practice through the Action Plan, with options appraisals to include consideration of 

appropriate innovative solutions.  Specifically, this will be important in the "Strategic Review of Options for 

Continuous Improvement for Waste Collection and Disposal Arrangements in Lincolnshire". 

Page 184



A Waste Strategy for 

Lincolnshire 

 
On behalf of 

the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership 

APPENDIX C

P
age 185



Who are the Lincolnshire Waste 

Partnership (LWP)? 

• Seven Waste Collection Authorities: 

 

 

 

• One Waste Disposal Authority – Lincolnshire 

County Council 

• One Waste Regulation  Authority – 

Environment Agency 

 

Boston BC City of Lincoln Council 

East Lindsey DC North Kesteven DC 

South Holland DC South Kesteven DC 

West Lindsey DC 

P
age 186



Working in Partnership 

In order to manage waste effectively together, 

the Lincolnshire Waste Partnership has a Joint 

Municipal Waste Management Strategy – 

JMWMS for short! 

P
age 187



Strategic Drivers 

• Waste growth 

• Waste is going in the wrong bin 

• Wider picture 

oUK – 25 Year Environment Plan / Waste & 

Resources Strategy 

o EU – Circular Economy Package / Brexit 

oWorld – Chinese recycling market 

P
age 188



The process so far… 

• Jul17 – Vision & Objectives 

• Nov17 – First draft to LWP 

• Mar18 – LWP agree Consultation Draft 

• Mar to Jul18 – Public Consultation 

• Jul18 – LWP review responses 

• Sep18 – LWP endorse Revised Draft 

• Late 2018 / early 2019 – Adoption? 

P
age 189



JMWMS Vision 

Developed by the LWP partners together 

through workshops in July 2017: 

“To seek the best environmental option to 
provide innovative, customer-friendly waste 
management solutions that give value for 

money to Lincolnshire.” 

Unchanged since then as 89% of consultees 

agreed with it. 

 

P
age 190



JMWMS Objectives 

Also from July 2017 workshops. 

Consultation: 75% agreed with these, but others 

felt they needed to be stronger. 

1 To improve the quality and therefore commercial value of our recycling 

stream. 

2 To move towards a common set of recycling materials. 

Previously “to consider moving…” 

3 To consider the introduction of  separate food waste collections where 

technically, environmentally and economically practicable. 

4 To explore new opportunities of promoting waste minimisation and of 

using all waste as a resource in accordance with the waste hierarchy. 

P
age 191



JMWMS Objectives 

5 To contribute to the UK recycling targets of 50% by 2020 and 55% by 2025. 

6 To find the most appropriate ways to measure our environmental 

performance, and set appropriate targets. 

7 To seek to reduce our carbon footprint. 

8 To make an objective assessment of what further waste processing/disposal 

capacity is required and, as necessary, secure appropriate capacity. 

Expanded to include all waste streams rather than just residual waste. 

9 To regularly review the LWP governance model in order to provide the best 

opportunity to bring closer integration and the implementation of the 

objectives set by the strategy. 

10 To consider appropriate innovative solutions in the delivery of our waste 

management services. 

P
age 192



What else does the Strategy include? 

The Consultation Draft already included: 

• A summary of key legislation 

• An assessment of our current services 

• Themes for actions to achieve our objectives 

• Notes on the next steps beyond adoption of 

the Strategy 

P
age 193



Adding an Action Plan 

Consultees wanted to see more specific actions 

so we’ve now developed and added an Action 

Plan including five workstreams agreed in 

discussion with the Chief Executives Group: 

1. Strategic Review of Kerbside Mixed Dry 

Recycling Collection and Disposal 

2. Food Waste Trial 

P
age 194



Adding an Action Plan 

3. Strategic Review of Options for Continuous 

Improvement for Waste Collection and 

Disposal Arrangements in Lincolnshire 

4. Location of additional processing/disposal 

sites 

5. Choosing performance indicators appropriate 

to measure environmental performance 

P
age 195



Taking into account your feedback 

Consultation feedback received from Boston BC 

was grouped into the following topics: 

• Demography 

• Harmonisation of waste streams / 

Contamination in MDR 

• Public Education / Information / Enforcement 

• Strategic / Financial / Innovation 

• Collection and Disposal Arrangements 

P
age 196



Feedback: Demography 

Population of Boston has been underestimated due 

to migrant workers. 

• Population figures are official estimates and 

are there to show growth compared to 

2011 census rather than to be used in 

detail. 

P
age 197



Feedback: Harmonisation of waste streams 

/ Contamination in MDR 

Would like commonality amongst WCA’s for 

recycling items. 

• Objective 2 says we’ll move towards a 

common set of recycling materials, and this is 

included in the Action Plan. 

Communication messages must be simple e.g. no 

food, no nappies. 

• “No thanks” campaign already underway. 

P
age 198



Feedback: Public Education / Information / 

Enforcement 

Public engagement to be used to inform people on 
what can go in each bin. 

• Action Plan includes a communications 
campaign once a common mix has been 
agreed. 

Public consultation; engage with parish councils. 

• All Parish Councils were specifically invited to 
respond to the JMWMS consultation, and 
several did. 

P
age 199



Feedback: Strategic / Financial / Innovation 

Carbon footprint concerns taking material to China, look 
at the whole cycle process. 

• Objectives 6 & 7 seek to find better ways to 
measure overall environmental performance, 
including carbon footprint. 

Manufacturers locally should be lobbied to reduce 
packaging and to use packaging that is simple to 
recycle. 

• Objective 4 now includes promoting waste 
minimisation, and that includes lobbying of 
manufacturers and government. 

P
age 200



Feedback: Collection and Disposal 

Arrangements 

There would be support from this council to host local 
waste disposal facilities. 

• Objective 8 says we’ll secure appropriate capacity, 
and this is included in the Action Plan. 

Cost of infrastructure to introduce food waste collections 
needs careful consideration as well as minimising 
environmental impacts. 

• Viability of food waste collections will be 
assessed both on financial and environmental 
grounds using feedback from the trial. 

P
age 201



What else is new? 

The 147 separate consultation responses included 

several repeated themes.  Many were similar to Boston 

BC’s response, but others included: 

• The need to balance caring for the environment and 

value for money. 

o The JMWMS now clarifies the LWP's intention to 

choose “the best environmental option that we 

can afford”.  

• Mixed opinions over the benefits of food waste collections. 

oWe are seeking to address people’s concerns 

through the trial scheme. 

P
age 202



Finalising the Strategy 

• Now that the LWP have endorsed the 

Strategy, each authority will need to put it 

through their own political processes for 

adoption. 

• The aim is to have the Strategy adopted by all 

authorities by early 2019. 

P
age 203



What happens after adoption? 

In order to ensure that the Strategy remains up 
to date, and that we continue to do things to 
meet our objectives, we will: 

• Review our Action Plan annually. 

• Review our performance against our 
objectives. 

• Respond to new challenges arising from the 
new national Waste & Resources Strategy, 
Brexit, etc. 

P
age 204



Further information 

• The JMWMS and associated documents are 

available online at: 

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-

lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/ 

• If you have any specific questions, please 

contact Matthew Michell at 

wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk 

P
age 205

https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/
https://www.lincolnshire.gov.uk/recycle-for-lincolnshire/waste-strategy-for-lincolnshire/
mailto:wastestrategy@lincolnshire.gov.uk


Thank you for your help in 

getting us to this stage! P
age 206



Agenda this evening  

• Introducing your hosts for the evening 

 

• Presentation:  A Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire – The Boston 
Perspective - Christian Allen Head of Environmental 
Operations 

 

• Presentation : A Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire – on behalf of 
the LWP - Matthew Michell 

 

• Q & A with your hosts 

 

APPENDIX D

P
age 207



A Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire  
 

The Boston Perspective 

P
age 208



Strategic challenges for Boston  

• Recycling rates are declining – in Lincolnshire, down from 
52.9% in 2010/11, to 46.7%, in 2016/17 

• Boston has 3rd Lowest recycling rate of all districts at 37.6%, 
(national average 44.3%) 2016/17. 

• Residual waste per household is increasing in Lincs, 496 kg’s 
in 2010/11 to 561 kgs in 2016/17  

• Boston performance on residual waste per household is 
poorest of all districts at 597 kgs (528 kgs exc. HWRC) 

• Recycling contamination rates amongst the highest in the 
county at 29% in 2017/18 (29%  August 2018) 

 

P
age 209



Strategic challenges for Boston  
Continued…… 

 

• Overall tonnage of waste collected in Boston has increased by 
5.35% or 1,500 tonnes since 2013/14 (c.28,000t total) 

• Forecast population growth of 4.6% (2011 census 64,637, mid 
year est.2016 67,600). 4.2% Lincolnshire. 

• New homes, additional 900 homes built between 2013-2017 
plus a further 1,900 homes in the pipeline to 2022 

• Managing costs of municipal waste services within the county 
and disposal capacity 

 

P
age 210



Strategic opportunities for Boston 

By adopting the Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire, we seek to 
achieve: 

• Improved recycling performance  

• Reduced household residual waste 

• Reduced contamination in recycling 

• Divert or recycle new waste streams eg plastic film, textiles, 
food waste 

• Managing the ‘whole  

 cycle costs’ of waste 

P
age 211



What could the future look like for waste 
and recycling services in Boston? 

Maximising these opportunities will require a fundamental shift in 
current collection arrangements: 

 

• Collection of food waste 

• Harmonising recycling streams 

• New collection methods & vehicles  

• Collection frequencies 

• Communication & education  

• Enforcement response 

P
age 212



Next Steps 

• Environment and Performance Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee 30th October – to recommend adoption of the 
strategy to Cabinet 

• Cabinet 29th November – approval to adopt the strategy on 
behalf of Boston Borough Council 

P
age 213



Q & A session 

• Councillor Eddy Poll – Chair of Lincolnshire Waste Partnership & 
Lincolnshire County Councillor 

 

• Councillor David Brown – Portfolio Holder for Environment, 
Boston BC  

 

• Matthew Michell – LWP/Lincolnshire County Council 

 

• Christian Allen – Head of Environmental Operations, Boston BC  

P
age 214



SUMMARY 
 

This report provides Members with information about the Boston Alternative Energy 
Facility that is proposed to be constructed on Riverside Industrial Estate.  
 
Whilst the project is only at pre-application stage, this report will enable Members to 
review the proposed development, consider the implications of the project and how 
Boston Borough Council and local residents will be formally consulted when the 
application for the Development Consent Order is submitted to the Planning Inspectorate 
for determination. 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 

To enable Members to consider the proposed methods of consultation and provide 
additional ideas to improve that engagement and have regard to the responses provided 
by the Environment and Performance Committee and officers. 

B O S T O N 
B O R O U G H C O U N C I L 

 
 

REPORT TO: OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY – ENVIRONMENT AND 
PERFORMANCE 

DATE: 8 NOVEMBER 2018 

SUBJECT: STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY CONSULTATION – BOSTON 
ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR DAVID BROWN - ENVIRONMENT 

REPORT AUTHOR: DEPUTY CHIEF EXECUTIVE 

EXEMPT REPORT? NO 

 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
1. Have regard to paragraph 3.2 and provide any further proposals as to how the wider 

community and other key stakeholders may be best consulted during the lifetime of 
this application. 

 
2. To consider the responses provided by the Environment and Performance Committee 

and officers to date and make further suggestions of issues that should be 
considered when responding to consultation. 

 

 

 
 
 
 
 Page 215

Agenda Item 6



ALTERNATIVES CONSIDERED  

 

None. 

 

REPORT 

1.0 INTRODUCTION 
 
1.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility is a state-of-the-art power generation plant 

that will generate 102 MW (gross) of renewable energy. It is proposed that it will 
deliver approximately 80 MW (net) to the National Grid. The energy recovery plant 
will be a gasification facility. The energy recovery plant will process one million 
tonnes of refuse derived fuel (RDF) as the feedstock (i.e. the fuel) to generate 
energy. This cutting-edge technology contributes to the UK Government’s target of 
generating at least 15% of energy from renewable sources, including energy from 
waste2, by 2020. 

 
1.2 The RDF will be sourced from UK suppliers and will comprise residual waste (i.e. 

‘black bag waste’) from householders that has not been segregated for recycling. 
Therefore, the facility will not use any source-segregated waste that can be 
recycled. 

 
1.3 The proposed facility is a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) 

because it will have a generation capacity over 50 MW of energy. This means it 
requires a Development Consent Order (DCO) under the Planning Act 2008. The 
DCO application will be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate (PINS), who will 
determine the application on behalf of the Secretary of State. The Boston 
Alternative Energy Facility is currently in the pre-application stage of the DCO 
process.  

 
1.4 The document that Boston Borough Council is currently being consulted on is the 

Statement of Community Consultation (SoCC) which has been created by the 
developer, the Alternative Use Boston Projects Ltd (AUBP). The aim of the SoCC 
is to clarify the development programme, lines of communication and means of 
engagement with the local community. During the determination of the application, 
the Boston Alternative Energy Facility will be measured against the commitments 
made in the SoCC. It is therefore a critical document in the consenting process. 

 
1.5 It is considered important to bring Boston Borough Council’s involvement in this 

process to Members’ attention.  
 
1.6 It is important that Members note that the SoCC is the method by which the 

developer must use to engage in pre-application advice with stakeholders which 
include statutory consultations such as the County and district councils as well as 
non-statutory consultations with the local community (e.g. residents’ associations), 
local interest and amenity groups, local businesses, local MPs and local 
councillors. 

 
1.7 The SoCC details the nature and extent of the consultation that the developer 

(AUBP) intends to undertake with the communities potentially affected by the 
Boston Alternative Energy Facility before the DCO application is submitted. In  

  

Page 216



 other words, this is Boston Borough Council’s and other stakeholders’ opportunity 
to engage in the pre-application process which is the best time (advice from the 
Inspectorate) to make comments regarding the proposed facility and its likely 
impacts. However, representations can be made during further consultations 
programmed to be carried out in the first quarter of 2019 as well as consultation on 
the Development Consent Order (planning application) once it has been submitted 
to the Inspectorate (PINS). 

 
1.8 The SoCC is a very well written document in Plain English and provides a 

comprehensive explanation of the BAEF and is included at Appendix A of this 
report. The BAEF project involves the extensive use of acronyms. A glossary of 
abbreviations is included at Appendix B of this report. 

 
2.0 The Proposal 
 
2.1 Full details of the proposed facility, process and location in addition to an 

explanation of ‘gasifiction’ are provided at Section 3 of the SoCC Report (Appendix 
A).  

 
2.2 Boston has the advantage of understanding how such a facility operates. In 2010, 

the developer (AUBP) gained planning permission under application B/09/0477 for 
a 12MW Gasification Power Station (Boston 1) that would process waste wood. 
The business was sold to AVIVA Investors in November 2015 along with the right 
to develop the facility. The site of that facility is adjacent to the site of the Boston 
Alternative Energy Facility. 

 
2.3 The major differences between the schemes are explained in detail within the 

SoCC Report. The biggest differences between the existing and proposed facilities 
are: - 

 

 scale (although not yet confirmed, the range of buildings including the 
gasification plant will be significantly larger than the existing plant and will 
generate almost nine times the amount of electricity  
 

 household waste (black bags) will be sourced from UK suppliers (not 
necessarily local) and transferred to the facility via three ships and cranes 
on a wharf constructed on the western bank of The Haven   and processed 
through a chemical reaction at 900°C to produce a synthetic gas. The 
“syngas” is then ignited and the hot flue gas (comprising water vapour, air, 
and carbon monoxide, plus non-hazardous ash residue) is then routed to 
the boiler section for het recovery which is how energy is generated 

 

 A lightweight aggregate manufacturing plant to process the residue from 
the gasification process 
 

 A storage area to house the incoming Refuse Derived Fuel (RDF) 
 

 A storage area for loading of the lightweight aggregate onto a ship for 
removal from the site. 

  

Page 217



 
3.0 The Consultation Process and response 
 
3.1 Full details of the consultation process are set out in Section 1.3 of the SoCC 

Report (Appendix A). 
 
3.2 Essentially, the developer is asking stakeholders to consider all elements of the 

draft SoCC. This will include items such as: 
 

 Has the developer provided enough information about the project and background 

information? 

 

 Have all the relevant stakeholders and geographical area been targeted? 

 

 Is it clear on what and how the local community will be consulted? 

 

 Are the proposed methods appropriate for the local demographic? 

 

 Were the venues for the Public Information Days and public inspection of key 

documents appropriate? 

 

 Is it clear how the local community can provide comments or receive further 

information about the proposals? 

 
3.3 Considering the degree and depth of consultation that is being carried out by the 

developer as set out in the SoCC, there appear to be no significant issues 
regarding the groups of people and organisations that have been consulted. 
Moreover, the SoCC itself is clear and well-written and covers bullet points 2-6. 
Therefore, the key issue surrounds the first bullet point, namely whether the 
developer has provided sufficient detail. Whilst the developer may consider that 
sufficient information has been provided at pre-application stage, Boston Borough 
Council wishes for the responses of Environmental Health, the Environment 
Agency, Economic Development and Environmental Operations to be given 
consideration, and more generally: - 

 

 The amenities of existing and future residential properties on both sides of 
the Haven (Fishtoft, Wyberton, Skirbeck and St Thomas’ Wards in 
particular) must be safeguarded and the application must demonstrate how 
this will be achieved. 
 

 The functionality of the Riverside Industrial Estate and businesses located 
within the area must not be significantly adversely affected by the BAEF.  
 

 The environment generally must not be significantly adversely affected by 
the BAEF. Fundamental to achieving these first three objectives is 
considering the location of the wharf and its proximity to the residential 
properties in Fishtoft Ward. Furthermore, more detail and assurances 
should be included to confirm that the RDF or ‘black bag waste’ will only be 
brought in by ships and not on lorries through Boston and the Riverside 
Industrial Estate. 

  Page 218



 

 Notwithstanding the previous use of the area in which the BAEF is proposed 
to be sited, the design, mass and scale of the BAEF must assimilate within 
the built and natural environment and not adversely affect the SSSI (The 
Wash). 
 

 4.0 Consultation responses from Boston Borough Council Officers  
 
4.1 The following responses have been received to date and will be included in the 

Council’s consultation response which must be submitted by 13th November 2018. 
 
4.2 Environmental Health provided a thorough and comprehensive response which 

included additional comments from the Environment Agency and has been 
included at Appendix C of this report. 

 
4.3 Forward Plans wished to raise no concerns with regard to the proposed facility but 

did raise the issue of flood risk mitigation as the facility is an energy generating 
proposal in a high flood risk and vulnerable location (rapid inundation). 

 
4.4 Boston Borough Council’s Head of Environmental Operations considers that the 

proposed development has great potential for partnership working which would 
contribute significantly towards Lincolnshire County Council’s Waste Strategy:  
 
‘Waste Strategy for Lincolnshire – Lincolnshire Waste Partnership (LWP) 2018. 
Final Version of the strategy is currently out for adoption by all of the LWP partners 
during the next 2-3 months. (LWP is made up of the county Council, as waste 
disposal authority and the 7 district/borough councils as waste collection 
authorities).  Boston are seeking to adopt the strategy on 28th November, subject 
to approval by E&P Committee and Cabinet. 

  
Assuming that this facility could process municipal waste from Lincolnshire, this 
proposal could support the LWP deliver 4 out of 10 strategic objectives in the 
aforementioned strategy: 

 
Objective 4: To explore new opportunities for promoting waste minimisation and of 
using all waste as a resource in accordance with the waste hierarchy. 

 
Objective 7: To seek to reduce our carbon footprint. 

 
Objective 8: To make an objective assessment of what further waste 
processing/disposal capacity is required and, as necessary, secure appropriate 
capacity. 

 
Objective 10: To consider appropriate innovative solution to the delivery of our 
waste management services. 
 
The current disposal facility for residual municipal waste in Lincolnshire, an Energy 
from Waste plant located in Lincoln, is due to reach its operational capacity in the 
next 2 to 5 years leaving Lincolnshire without disposal facilities for a growing 
burden of countywide municipal waste. Actions are underway to mitigate the 
impact of increasing residual waste volumes in the county but it is unclear whether 
these actions will be sufficient or delivered quickly enough to mitigate the impact  

  

Page 219



on the EfW plant in Lincoln. If the proposed BAEF could process waste from the 
south east of the county, it would offer a new option to future proof the EfW facility 
in Lincolnshire for many years and render development of additional waste 
processing infrastructure unnecessary in the county.   

 
Finally, the location of the Lincolnshire County Council owned and operated waste 
transfer station, on Nursery Road, Riverside Industrial Estate. Boston, 
Lincolnshire. PE21 7TN is ideally situated adjacent to the proposed development 
to offer the opportunity for the direct transfer of municipal waste, collected from 
households in Boston, East Lindsey and South Holland districts, directly to the 
proposed BAEF. {In section 3.4.7 on page 10 of the applicants Statement of 
Community Consultation report, the waste transfer station is incorrectly referred to 
as a ‘materials recycling facility that processes waste’. This is not the case. No 
processing of waste takes place at the waste transfer station, it is merely a facility 
for bulking-up waste into road transporters for onward transportation to processing 
facilities}.’ 

 
4.5 The Leader of the Boston Borough Council’s and the Council’s Economic 

Development Manager attended by invitation, a presentation delivered by Royal 
Haskoning who are the Boston Alternative Energy Facility environment and project 
management consultants which outlined the project process and delivery 
timescales. The Economic Development Manager submitted the following 
response:  

“The council’s economic development primary function is to develop 

and drive growth and enterprise across the borough to transform the 

local economy into a sustainable destination of choice for investing, 

working, living and visiting.  

In the context of the development of the Boston Alternative Energy 

Facility (BAEF) the impact on the local economy, job creation, business 

and supply chain growth has large scale economic impact on the 

community, however relevant consideration to the loss of employment 

land as allocated in the emerging South East Lincolnshire Local Plan 

needs to be raised. 

The impact of this development presents a significant opportunity for 

Boston as the economic centre and the wider economy to deliver 

diverse employment and skills opportunities in the energy sector and 

especially in Science, Technology, Engineering and Maths (STEM) and 

by working closely with Boston College to deliver a new energy 

apprenticeship programme.  

Initial conversations during a presentation with BAEF’s environment and 

project management consultants Royal Haskoning suggest that during 

the build process, approximately 400 workers will be required at project 

peak construction which will contribute to an increase in local retail and 

hospitality spend and job creation of over 100 new jobs once complete.  

Again, a positive impact of such a development would be in the 

indigenous growth in and facilitate the development of associated  

  Page 220



supply chains and support businesses not only during the build process, 

but also thereafter during operation which would play an important in 

underpinning key priorities as set out in the Council Plan 2017/18 – 

2019/20. 

However, a consideration needs to place on the size and scale of the 

project and the loss of important employment space and the pressure of 

the local road network during the build process and operation 

thereafter”. 

 
5.0 Conclusion 

 

5.1 In its response to this consultation, BBC wishes to stress the importance of certain 
issues and would expect those issues to be addressed and explained by the DCO 
application (see Para 3.3 of this report). 

 
5.2 It is important to re-iterate that the Statement of Community Consultation (SoCC) is 

essentially pre-application discussions between the developer and stakeholders. 
This report has been brought to Members’ attention due to the scale, importance 
and public interest of the proposed facility (BAEF). Boston Borough Council and 
other stakeholders will be consulted during early 2019 and when the Development 
Consent Order (DCO) is formally submitted to the Inspectorate (PINS). Members 
are therefore invited to suggest any further issues that need to be addressed by 
the developer.  In the event that there are further issues that have not yet been 
raised, there will be a minimum of two further opportunities to make representation.  

 
 

FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are no financial implications arising from this report. 

 

 

LEGAL & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
This proposal is a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) project and will be 
determined by PINS and the Council will be a consultee in this process. 
 
It is important that the consultation process will consider equalities and those who may 
be less able to access traditional methods of consultation and Members may wish to 
reflect the protected characteristics when considering the questions posed in paragraph 
3.2. 

 

 

ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
There are none in respect of this report. 

 

 
  

Page 221



BACKGROUND PAPERS 
 

 Final Report of the Statement of Community Consultation dated 15th October 2018 written  
by Athene Communications on behalf of the developer Alternative Use Boston Projects Ltd.  

 
 
CONSULTATION  
 
The report was considered by the Environment and Performance Committee at its 
meeting on 8 November 2018.  The minutes of the meeting are attached at Appendix D, 
and a proposed response to the Statement of Community Consultation is attached at 
Appendix E.  
 
 

APPENDICES 
 
Appendices are listed below and attached to the back of the report: - 

APPENDIX A Final Report of the Statement of Community 
Consultation 
 

APPENDIX B Glossary of Abbreviations 
 

APPENDIX C Consultation Response from Boston Borough Council’s 
Principal Environmental Health Officer 
 

APPENDIX D Minutes of the Environment and Performance 
Committee – 8 November 2018 
 

APPENDIX E Proposed response to the Statement of Community 
Consultation  
 

 

 
 

CHRONOLOGICAL HISTORY OF THIS REPORT 

 
Environment and Performance Committee – 8 November 2018 
 

 

Page 222



 

 
 

REPORT 

Statement of Community Consultation 
Boston Alternative Energy Facility 

  

Client: Alternative Use Boston Projects Ltd. 

  

Reference:  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-1001 

Revision: 1.0   Final 

Date: 15 October 2018 

APPENDIX A

Page 223



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-
1001 

i  

 

 
HASKONINGDHV UK LTD. 

 

 

 Rightwell House 
Rightwell East 

Bretton 
Peterborough 

PE3 8DW 
Industry & Buildings 

VAT registration number: 792428892 

 

+44 1733 334455 
+44 1733 262243 

email 
royalhaskoningdhv.com 

T 
F 
E 
W 

 

Document title: Boston Alternative Energy Facility  
Statement of Community Consultation 

 
 

Document short title: Boston Alternative Energy Facility SoCC  
Reference:  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-1001  

Revision: 1.0 Final  
Date: 15 October 2018  

Project name: Boston Alternative Energy Facility  
Project number: PB6934  

Author(s): Athene Communications  
 

Drafted by: Bethan Griffiths   

Checked by: Gary Bower (Royal HaskoningDHV)   

Date / initials: GB 15/10/18   

Approved by:    

Date / initials:    

    

Classification 

Project related 
 

 

  

 

Disclaimer 
No part of these specifications/printed matter may be reproduced and/or published by print, photocopy, microfilm or by 
any other means, without the prior written permission of HaskoningDHV UK Ltd.; nor may they be used, without such 
permission, for any purposes other than that for which they were produced. HaskoningDHV UK Ltd. accepts no 
responsibility or liability for these specifications/printed matter to any party other than the persons by whom it was 
commissioned and as concluded under that Appointment. The integrated QHSE management system of 
HaskoningDHV UK Ltd. has been certified in accordance with ISO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015 and OHSAS 
18001:2007. 

Page 224



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
ii  

 

 

Contents 

 Introduction 1 
1.1 Purpose of this Document 1 
1.2 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility 2 
1.3 The Consultation Process 2 

 About the Promoter 4 

 The Proposal 5 
3.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility 5 
3.2 What is Gasification? 5 
3.3 The Process  6 
3.4 Site Location 8 
3.5 Public Rights of Way 10 
3.6 Allocation 10 

 Consenting Process 12 
4.2 Pre-application Consultation 12 
4.3 Environmental Scoping 13 
4.4 Supporting Environmental Information 13 

 Environmental Effects and Benefits of the Project 14 
5.1 Potential Benefits and Effects 14 
5.2 Delivering on National Policies and Targets 14 
5.3 Delivering Regional and Local Economic Benefits 14 
5.4 Environmental Effects 15 

 The Consultation Process 16 
6.1 Consultation Objectives 16 
6.2 Consultation Strategy 16 
6.3 Phase One Consultation 16 
6.4 Hard To Reach Groups 17 
6.5 Advertising 18 
6.6 Phase Two Consultation 18 

Page 225



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
iii  

 

 What We Will Consult On 20 

 Identifying Our Consultees 21 
8.1 The Local Community 21 
8.2 Statutory Consultees 22 
8.3 Other Non-Statutory Consultees 22 

 Communication Tools 23 
9.2 Communication Methods 23 
9.3 Consultation Events 24 
9.4 Methods to provide consultation feedback 24 
9.5 How we will respond to consultee comments 25 
9.6 Timeline 26 
9.7 General consultation enquiries 26 
9.8 Local information points 27 

 Glossary of abbreviations 28 
 

Page 226



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
1  

 

 Introduction 

1.1 Purpose of this Document 
1.1.1 This document is the Statement of Community Consultation (SoCC) for the 

proposed Boston Alternative Energy Facility, which is to be located within the 
Riverside Industrial Estate adjacent to the River Witham (the Haven) in Boston, 
Lincolnshire. The SoCC provides information about the proposed strategy for 
consultation with local communities in accordance with section 47 of the Planning 
Act 2008 (the Act) in respect of the Boston Alternative Energy Facility.  

1.1.2 It explains how we have identified who to consult (see section 8), the consultation 
methods proposed (see section 9), the timescales for consultation and how 
consultees can help shape the project. 

1.1.3 Prior to finalisation, a draft version of this SoCC was issued to Lincolnshire County 
Council and Boston Borough Council in order to obtain their feedback prior to the 
formal consultation taking place. 

1.1.4 The document will be issued formally to Lincolnshire County Council, Boston 
Borough Council, South Holland District Council, South Kesteven District Council, 
North Kesteven District Council and East Lindsey District Council in accordance 
with section 47(2) of the Act, to obtain their response within the 28-day period.  

1.1.5 The SoCC is being advertised in the Boston Standard, Boston Target, Lincolnshire 
Free Press and the Spalding Guardian and is available on the Project website 
www.bostonaef.co.uk and at the information points listed in paragraph 9.8.2. 
Members of the local community are able to inspect and make feedback on the 
SoCC using the mechanisms listed in section 9.7 of this document. 

1.1.6 As well as local community consultation, Alternative Use Boston Projects Ltd 
(AUBP; the Applicant) is consulting with statutory consultees in accordance with 
section 42 of the Act. Information on this consultation process is outside the scope 
of this document. Details from statutory consultation will be available in the 
Consultation Report submitted as part of our formal application for the 
Development Consent Order (DCO). 

1.1.7 This SoCC has been prepared in accordance with the Ministry of Housing, 
Communities and Local Government’s (formerly the DCLG) pre-application 
process guidance note1.  

 

                                                   
1 https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-the-pre-application-process-for-major-infrastructure-projects 

Page 227

http://www.bostonaef.co.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/guidance-on-the-pre-application-process-for-major-infrastructure-projects


 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
2  

 

1.2 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility 
1.2.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility is a state-of-the-art power generation plant 

that will generate 102 MW (gross) of renewable energy. It is proposed that it will 
deliver approximately 80 MW (net) to the National Grid. The energy recovery plant 
will be a gasification facility. The energy recovery plant will process one million 
tonnes of refuse derived fuel (RDF) as the feedstock (i.e. the fuel) to generate 
energy. This cutting-edge technology contributes to the UK Government’s target of 
generating at least 15% of energy from renewable sources, including energy from 
waste2, by 2020.  

1.2.2 The RDF will be sourced from UK suppliers and will comprise residual waste (i.e. 
‘black bag waste’) from householders that has not been segregated for recycling. 
Therefore, the facility will not use any source-segregated waste that can be 
recycled. 

1.2.3 The proposed facility is a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) 
because it will have a generation capacity over 50 MW of energy. This means it 
requires a Development Consent Order (DCO) under the Planning Act 2008. The 
DCO application will be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate (PINS), who will 
determine the application on behalf of the Secretary of State. The Boston 
Alternative Energy Facility is currently in the pre-application stage of the DCO 
process. 

1.3 The Consultation Process 
1.3.1 The aim of the SoCC is to clarify the development programme, lines of 

communication and means of engagement with the local community. During the 
determination of the application, the Boston Alternative Energy Facility will be 
measured against the commitments made in the SoCC. It is therefore a critical 
document in the consenting process. 

1.3.2 PINS’ advice acknowledges that responding to a developer’s proposals at the pre-
application consultation stage is the best time to influence a proposal’s final design 
or mitigate any perceived impacts. 

1.3.3 This SoCC will detail the nature and extent of the consultation that AUBP intends 
to undertake with the communities potentially affected by the Boston Alternative 
Energy Facility before the DCO application is submitted.  

  

                                                   
2 The Government defines technologies such as gasification as ‘renewable’ in policy EN-3. 

Page 228



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
3  

 

1.3.4 The consultation process will focus on the details of the proposed DCO application. 
This will include: 

• Details of the project proposals and parameters; 

• Preliminary Environmental Information (PEI) that has been gathered and how this 
has informed and affected the design; 

• Proposals for maximising the positive effects of the Boston Alternative Energy 
Facility; and 

• Minimising and mitigating any adverse effects on the local community or 
environment that could be caused by the project. 

  

Page 229



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
4  

 

 About the Promoter 
2.1.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility will be developed and funded by AUBP. 

AUBP is a privately-owned project company.  

2.1.2 The project team has been involved in industrial development at the site in Boston, 
Lincolnshire since 2004. In March 2005 planning consent was obtained for a 
Special & Clinical Waste Processing Plant, with conditions discharged and 
construction started. In 2010, Alternative Use Group plc gained planning 
permission for a 12MW Gasification Power Station (Boston 1) that would process 
waste wood. The business was sold to AVIVA Investors in November 2015 along 
with the right to develop the facility. The site of that facility is adjacent to the site of 
the Boston Alternative Energy Facility.  

2.1.3 By September 2016 Boston 1 was transferred to Biomass UK No. 3 Ltd. The facility 
is currently undergoing commissioning (as at October 2018).  

  

Page 230



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
5  

 

 The Proposal 

3.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility 
3.1.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility is a proposed power-generation plant, with 

associated development, which will deliver approximately 80 MW of renewable 
energy to the National Grid. The development includes: 

• A wharf with cranes and berthing points for up to three ships; 

• A storage area to house the incoming RDF;  

• A processing facility to prepare the feedstock to a consistent specification; 

• Conveyors for transferring the processed material; 

• A gasification unit that will generate power, which will then be exported to the 
National Grid via a grid connection and substation; 

• A lightweight aggregate manufacturing plant to process the residue from the 
gasification process;  

• Infrastructure required for carbon capture, allowing a proportion of the carbon 
dioxide (CO2) from the gasification facility to be captured and converted to high 
grade CO2 for off-site industrial use; and 

• A storage area for loading of the lightweight aggregate onto a ship for removal from 
the site. 

3.1.2 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility will be designed to operate for an expected 
period of at least 25 years, after which ongoing operation will be reviewed. If it is 
not appropriate to continue operation the plant will be decommissioned. 

3.1.3 The proposal comprises a range of buildings, silos, conveyors and structures, the 
tallest of which will be the gasification plant exhaust stack and the proposed 
lightweight aggregate plant stack. The height of these features will be confirmed by 
detailed modelling of the exhaust plumes to ensure that there is no unacceptable 
impact to human health and the environment.  

3.2 What is Gasification? 
3.2.1 Gasification is a process that converts organic material (the organic content of the 

feedstock for the facility) into carbon monoxide, hydrogen and carbon dioxide (see 
Figure 3.1 for a schematic of this process). This is achieved by reacting the 
material at high temperatures (>900 °C), importantly without combustion, with a 
controlled (and limited) amount of oxygen. The resulting gas mixture is called 
‘syngas’ (i.e. synthesis gas) and is itself a fuel.  

Page 231



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
6  

 

3.2.2 This syngas is ignited and the hot flue gas (comprising water vapour, air, and 
carbon dioxide, plus non-hazardous ash residue) is routed to the boiler section of 
the plant for heat recovery which generates the energy. The power derived from 
gasification is considered to be a source of renewable energy in accordance with 
the definition in Government Policy3. The system employs technology to minimise 
and capture emissions. It uses an on-line Continuous Emission Monitoring System 
(CEMS) to provide continual monitoring of the exhaust gasses to ensure the overall 
system is running well within the Industrial Emissions Directive (IED) Emission 
limits. The residual ash is collected and routed to a lightweight aggregate plant, 
where it is converted into a lightweight aggregate product. 

 

 
Figure 3.1 Schematic of the gasification process 
 
3.2.3 When in operation, the Boston Alternative Energy Facility will generate energy 

equivalent to the power demand of more than 185,000 homes. This cutting-edge 
technology provides significant environmental benefits compared to landfill.  The 
UK has a target of generating at least 15% of energy from renewable sources, by 
2020. The facility will contribute to this target when built. 

3.3 The Process (see Figure 3.2 for process diagram) 
3.3.1 Household waste is separated at home by the householder into dry recyclables that 

are sent for recycling and residual ‘black bag’ waste, which contains material that 
cannot be recycled. This might either be because it is unsuitable, contaminated, or 
because there is no efficient recycling technology available for it. The RDF is made 

                                                   
3 National Policy Statement for Renewable Energy Infrastructure (EN-3) 

Page 232



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
7  

 

from this residual ‘black bag waste’ and will be sourced from UK suppliers only. 
The facility will not use any source-segregated recyclable waste.  

3.3.2 Currently, around three million tonnes of RDF from the UK is sent abroad to 
generate energy in European facilities. The Boston Alternative Energy Facility will 
process approximately one million tonnes of RDF, allowing the UK to benefit from 
this resource through generating energy rather than lose it to continental Europe. 

3.3.3 The RDF will be delivered to the facility by ship to a new dedicated wharf. The wharf 
will be able to receive two ships delivering the RDF at any one time. The RDF will 
be received in bales. The bales will be removed from the ships by crane and moved 
to a temporary storage area. 

3.3.4 The bales will be removed from the storage area using a first-in first-out principle. 
The bales will be taken to a feedstock processing unit, where the RDF will be 
shredded. The shredded material will then be mechanically sorted to remove items 
that are not suitable for gasification. This will comprise inert material (such as 
stones or glass), large bulky items and metals (ferrous and non-ferrous materials). 
These will be separately collected and recycled.  

3.3.5 The shredded material will be transferred to storage silos prior to being fed into the 
gasification plant. The material will be removed from the silos in metered quantities 
into the gasification process to generate energy. 

3.3.6 The residues from the gasification process will be in the form of an ash. There will 
be two types of residue: a non-hazardous ash from the gasification process; and a 
hazardous residue from the air pollution control system. The different types of 
residues will be collected separately in silos. The non-hazardous ash will be 
removed from the silos and transferred to the lightweight aggregates facility. The 
hazardous air pollution control residues are planned for removal from site and 
disposal in a hazardous waste facility. 

3.3.7 The lightweight aggregates facility will process the ash into a lightweight aggregate 
by blending it with a binder (typically river sediment; or clay). The mix is formed into 
pellets, with controllable variation in size between 4mm and 20mm. The pellets are 
dried before being fired in a kiln with a maximum temperature of 1,200°C. The 
aggregate is then cooled prior to storage. The heat from the cooling process is 
recovered and used within the plant. The aggregate is removed from the facility by 
ship via a dedicated berth. 

 
 

Page 233



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
8  

 

 
Figure 3.2 Boston Alternative Energy Facility process 

 
3.3.8 The DCO application for the proposed Boston Alternative Energy Facility will 

include all of these features. In addition, temporary works and associated 
infrastructure necessary for the construction and operation of the project shall be 
included.  

3.3.9 It is currently expected that the DCO application for the proposed project will be 
submitted in 2019.  

3.4 Site Location 
3.4.1 The site is located within the Riverside Industrial Estate to the south of Boston town 

centre (see Figure 3.3 for indicative red line boundary and site location). The 
eastern site margins are defined in part by The Haven (the tidal waterway of the 
River Witham between The Wash to the east and Boston town). A mixture of large 
and small industrial and business units is located to the north, west and south of 
the site. An overhead powerline on pylons traverses the site from north to south 
and bisects the site. The site will be adjacent to the Biomass UK No 3 gasification 
facility, which is currently in commissioning (as at October 2018). 

 

Page 234



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
9  

 

 
Figure 2.3 Indicative Red line boundary and site location 
 
3.4.2 The site is in the parliamentary constituency of Boston and Skegness; the 

Lincolnshire County Council division of Boston South; and Boston Borough 
Council’s St Thomas’ ward. The site is not covered by a civil parish and falls under 
the remit of the Boston Town Area Committee. 

3.4.3 The site comprises former agricultural fields bounded by drainage ditches and 
forms part of a wider emerging industrial/commercial area, as defined by local 
planning documents. 

3.4.4 The area is significantly influenced by urban/industrial features including electricity 
pylons, industrial units, cranes and gantries at the Port of Boston. 

3.4.5 Current access to the site is gained via the Riverside Industrial Estate's existing 
road network from Nursery Road. Access to the site is also intended to be gained 
from Bittern Way, from the newly-completed link road. 

3.4.6 A waste management facility (operated by Mick George) that processes 
construction and demolition waste is located to the west of the proposed wharf 
elements of the proposed development. That facility processes waste wood that 

Page 235



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
10  

 

will be used as feedstock for the Biomass UK No 3 gasification facility mentioned 
above. 

3.4.7 A new household waste recycling centre has been built to the west of the site, with 
access off Nursery Road/Bittern Way. To the south of the Boston Alternative 
Energy Facility site there is a material recycling facility (operated by Lincolnshire 
County Council) that processes household waste from South Lincolnshire (Boston 
and South Holland).  

3.5 Public Rights of Way 
3.5.1 There are existing public rights of way that cross the Boston Alternative Energy 

Facility site. A permanent diversion will be required in respect of the Macmillan Way 
public footpath, where it follows the line of the flood defence embankment within 
the site. The Preliminary Environmental Information Report (PEIR) and 
Environmental Statement (ES) will identify the precise extent of the affected 
footpaths and the proposed diversion strategies. 

3.6 Allocation 
3.6.1 The site is within a larger area of land that has been allocated for employment 

(industrial and commercial) development with reference to the saved policies of the 
adopted Boston Borough Local Plan 1999 and emerging South East Lincolnshire 
Local Plan (Draft 2016 – submitted to the Secretary of State in June 2017 and 
currently in Examination Phase).  

3.6.2 Policy SL3 (Waste Site and Area Allocations) identifies the proposal site lies within 
the allocated area referred to as WA22-BO which has been assessed as a potential 
suitable location for broad range of open and enclosed industrial facilities reflecting 
the nature of the established uses of the area and also the large area still available 
for development (see Figure 3.4).  

 

Page 236



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
11  

 

 
Figure 3.3 Allocation of Riverside Industrial Estate, Boston 
  

Page 237



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
12  

 

 Consenting Process 
4.1.1 A diagram of the full DCO Consenting Process is shown in Figure 4.1 below. This 

SoCC outlines the consultation required for the pre-application stage only to allow 
public stakeholders to influence the project before the DCO application is 
submitted.  

 
Figure 4.1 DCO Consenting process flow chart (Credit: 
https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2013/03/Application-
process-diagram2.png) 

4.2 Pre-application Consultation 
4.2.1 This document identifies below how local communities will be able to comment on 

the proposals and help shape the proposed DCO application for the project.  The 
first informal, non-statutory events of community consultation were held in 
September 2018. 

4.2.2 Formal, statutory consultation is anticipated to take place in the first quarter of 
2019. This round will mirror the first, informal round in terms of scope, content and 
reach, subject to any incorporated consultee suggestions and comments.  

4.2.3 As part of both the informal and formal consultation we will consult prescribed 

Page 238



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
13  

 

consultees (statutory consultees, statutory undertakers, relevant local authorities 
and relevant land ownership interests) and this will take place alongside the 
community consultation.  

4.3 Environmental Scoping 
4.3.1 Our Scoping Report was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate at the end of May 

2018 and accepted on the 7 June 2018. The Scoping Report contains our proposed 
approach to the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) for the project, including 
the scope of issues and the methodologies that will be considered in the EIA. The 
Scoping Opinion was published by PINS on 18 July 2018. 

4.4 Supporting Environmental Information  
4.4.1 The Project is considered ‘EIA development’ under Schedule 2 of the Infrastructure 

Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. The Boston 
Alternative Energy Facility is likely to have significant effects on the environment 
by virtue of factors such as its nature, size or location. Accordingly, an 
Environmental Impact Assessment must be carried out and an Environmental 
Statement, reporting on the likely significant environmental effects of the Project, 
must be prepared to accompany the DCO application. 

4.4.2 A Preliminary Environmental Information Report (PEIR) will be prepared before the 
final Environmental Statement. The PEIR will include details of preliminary 
assessment findings associated with the issues that were agreed at the Scoping 
stage. The PEIR is anticipated to be published for consultation in early 2019 and 
will be made available to the public to view free of charge at locations to be 
confirmed, as well as through publication on the Boston Alternative Energy Facility 
website and the PINS website. The PEIR will include a description of the proposals 
and baseline information (to date) and identify the potential impacts of the 
development, as well as possible mitigation measures to reduce, prevent or offset 
these. The responses from the public events held in September will help shape the 
PEIR. 

4.4.3 There will be a formal round of public information events after the PEIR is 
published. These are required by law as part of the consultation process for a DCO. 
This will allow the consultees to see how the first round of consultation influenced 
the PEIR; and will also allow further comments to be raised to help shape the final 
Environmental Statement. 

  

Page 239



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
14  

 

 Environmental Effects and Benefits of the Project 

5.1 Potential Benefits and Effects 
5.1.1 The Environmental Statement will identify likely significant environmental effects of 

the Boston Alternative Energy Facility and will set out the mitigation proposed to 
reduce any significant adverse effects; and will identify proposed benefits. 

5.2 Delivering on National Policies and Targets 
5.2.1 The UK is committed to generate at least 15% of energy demand from renewable 

energy sources by 2020. The proposed facility would provide a sustainable and 
renewable form of energy recovery, to contribute towards meeting renewable 
targets and carbon emissions and in accordance with the requirements of National 
Policy Statements EN-1 and EN-3. 

5.2.2 In particular, EN-1 sets out the Government’s conclusion that there is a significant 
need for new major energy infrastructure. EN-1 includes assessments of the need 
for new major renewable energy infrastructure. In the light of this, the need for 
infrastructure covered by EN-3 has been demonstrated and the Boston Alternative 
Energy Facility can help meet this need. 

5.2.3 EN-3 identifies that the recovery of energy from waste, where in accordance with 
the waste hierarchy, will play an increasingly important role in meeting the UK’s 
energy needs and can also contribute to meeting the UK’s renewable energy 
targets. Further, the recovery of energy from waste forms an important element of 
waste management strategies in both England and Wales. 

5.2.4 The EU action plan for the Circular Economy sets a target to reduce landfill to a 
maximum of 10% of municipal waste by 2030; and will also provide concrete 
measures to promote re-use and stimulate industrial symbiosis - turning one 
industry's by-product into another industry's raw material. 

5.3 Delivering Regional and Local Economic Benefits 
5.3.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility signifies a multi-million pound investment in 

the economy of Boston, Lincolnshire and the UK during its development and 
operation.  

5.3.2 The project will bring investment to the region’s economy and improve its economic 
resilience by increasing the diversity of employment sectors. 

5.3.3 During construction, it is anticipated that approximately 300 jobs will be created as 
well as contractual opportunities for local and UK companies. 

Page 240



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
15  

 

5.3.4 During operation, it is anticipated that the project will require a workforce of around 
80, including some highly skilled roles. 

5.3.5 It will also provide additional revenue to the Port of Boston as the RDF will arrive 
via ship; and the aggregate will depart on ships. 

5.4 Environmental Effects 
5.4.1 Our consultation materials will include information on the potential community 

impacts and likely environmental topics and will identify the topics which have the 
potential to give rise to significant effects during construction and/or operation. 
These are dictated by the Scoping Opinion from PINS and include topics such as 
socio-economics, health, cultural heritage and archaeology, traffic and transport, 
noise, air quality, soils, hydrology, ecology, the marine environment, landscape and 
visual impacts.  

5.4.2 Our second round of consultation will outline proposed environmental mitigation to 
avoid or reduce any adverse impacts on local communities; and will also highlight 
the significant potential benefits to the local and regional community, for example 
in relation to employment and training opportunities.  

  

Page 241



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
16  

 

 The Consultation Process 

6.1 Consultation Objectives 
6.1.1 The project team is committed to consulting widely, honestly and comprehensively 

– to allow representations to be incorporated into the project and influence it, where 
practicable and appropriate. 

6.1.2 PINS’ guidance on the pre-application process advocates early involvement of local 
communities, local authorities and statutory consultees, bringing about significant 
benefits for all parties by: 

• Helping the applicant identify and resolve issues at the earliest stage, which can 
reduce the overall risk to the project further down the line; as it becomes more 
difficult to make changes once an application has been submitted; 

• Enabling members of the public to influence proposed projects, feedback on 
potential options, and encouraging the community to help shape the proposal to 
maximise local benefits and minimise any downsides; 

• Helping local people understand the potential nature and local impact of the 
proposed project, with the potential to dispel misapprehensions at an early stage; 

• Enabling applicants to obtain important information about the economic, social 
and environmental impacts of a scheme from consultees, which can help rule out 
unsuitable options; 

• Enabling potential mitigating measures to be considered and, if appropriate, built 
into the project before an application is submitted; and  

• Identifying ways in which the project could without significant costs to promoters; 
support wider strategic or local objectives. 

6.2 Consultation Strategy 
6.2.1 The consultation strategy for Boston Alternative Energy Facility has been split into 

two phases as described below. 

6.3 Phase One Consultation 
6.3.1 We have completed a phase of early engagement to introduce the project to 

statutory bodies and key stakeholders, allowing them an opportunity to be aware 
of (and comment on if necessary) our initial proposals. An inception meeting was 
held with PINS in January 2018; with introductory meetings then held with Port of 
Boston in February 2018; Lincolnshire County Council in March 2018, and Boston 
Borough Council and the Environment Agency in April 2018.  

Page 242



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
17  

 

6.3.2 We have published a project brochure giving high level details of the proposed 
project that provides contact details for consultee engagement. Additionally, a 
website has been created showing details of the project and frequently asked 
questions; this went live at the start of the non-statutory consultation (September 
2018). The website will be updated as the consultation process progresses 
www.bostonaef.co.uk.  

6.3.3 We also met with the Local Communities Development Officer from Boston 
Borough Council to seek her expertise of the local area and advice when 
communicating with stakeholders.  

6.3.4 A series of informal Public Information Days were held in September 2018 (see 
section 9.2) as part of Phase One consultation.  

6.3.5 Phase One comprises a ‘non-statutory’ consultation, in that it is not formally subject 
to the statutory consultation requirements. As the proposed development is at an 
early stage, AUBP has taken the decision to undertake an initial informal 
consultation, which is not materially different to a statutory consultation in scope, 
reach and content. The consultees are those required to be consulted in statutory 
consultation, and AUBP has published newspaper advertisements and displayed 
posters at key locations across Boston to promote the Public Information Days. 

6.3.6 The events provided further information on our proposals, including details of 
potential local environmental and economic impacts, and gave those interested in 
the project an opportunity to provide feedback. 

6.3.7 Prior to the Public Information Days, letters were sent to key stakeholders including 
the MP, county and borough councillors and parish councils, with the offer of a 
meeting, In September 2018, meetings were held with Councillor Alison Austin, 
Boston Borough Council ward councillor for St Thomas Ward; Councillor Richard 
Austin, Boston Borough Council ward councillor for Wyberton; Councillor Michael 
Cooper, Leader of Boston Borough Council; Clive Gibbon, Economic Development 
Manager for Boston Borough Council; Neil McBride, Planning Manager at 
Lincolnshire County Council; Councillor Peter Bedford, Boston Borough Council  
ward councillor for Boston Coastal, and Councillor Daniel McNally,  

6.4 Hard To Reach Groups 
6.4.1 For the purpose of our consultation, we have defined ‘Hard to Reach’ groups as 

including those where English is not their first language and those living in rural 
areas. 

6.4.2 In order to secure the attention of the ‘Hard to Reach’ audiences, it is proposed to 
offer the opportunity for materials to be translated to other appropriate languages 

Page 243

http://www.bostonaef.co.uk/


 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
18  

 

on request. The languages, as agreed with Boston Borough Council, would be 
Polish, Lithuanian, Portuguese and Russian, and we will consider other languages 
on request. For the Phase One Public Information Days, a sentence was included 
on the poster in these four languages which offered a translated version on request. 
Employers close to the site were also contacted, and asked which languages were 
most commonly spoken by their employees. As a result, the posters were 
translated into Polish, Latvian and Lithuanian and sent to these businesses. 

6.4.3 This approach will be reviewed ahead of the Phase Two Public Information Days, 
and extended as required.  

6.4.4 Within the Boston Borough Council area, there is a sizeable element of the 
population who live rurally. In some of these areas, public transport is infrequent 
and internet capability is poor. For this reason, we are holding Public Information 
Days in a range of locations to ensure as many people as possible can attend, and 
will ensure both offline and online channels are used for communication. We 
arranged a maildrop via Royal Mail to homes within a five kilometre radius of the 
site with notification of the events. 

6.5 Advertising 
6.5.1 We have discussed the best channels to engage with the local Boston audience 

with a Community Engagement representative from Boston Borough Council. 
These channels will include: 

• Attending and presenting at relevant group meetings, including parish councils 
and community groups to provide information directly to them to facilitate their 
participation in the consultation process; 

• Information to be distributed to every home within a five kilometre radius of the 
site; 

• Newspaper adverts; 

• Use of parish council newsletters and communication channels; 

• Posters to be displayed on noticeboards and in shops in the local area, as well as 
at major local employers; 

• Press releases to local media; and 

• Posts on social media pages ahead of the Phase Two consultation period. 

6.6 Phase Two Consultation 
6.6.1 The second phase of consultation will be in early 2019 after the PEIR is published. 

Page 244



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
19  

 

The PEIR will inform the Environmental Statement (to that point) to support the 
DCO application. 

6.6.2 As required by law as part of the consultation process for a DCO, a round of formal 
Public Information Days (as part of the formal statutory consultation phase) will be 
held following the publication of the PEIR. During these events, we will update 
attendees on how the proposals have changed since the previous consultation 
earlier in the year, demonstrating how we have listened to feedback. We will 
capture any remaining questions and will document how these have influenced the 
development of the final Environmental Statement. These will be advertised in the 
same way as phase one consultation events, taking into account any lessons learnt 
during the phase.  

  

Page 245



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
20  

 

 What We Will Consult On 
7.1.1 The purpose of pre-application consultation is to gather views whilst the proposal 

is being developed to allow people the opportunity to influence the design of the 
project.  

7.1.2 It is important that it is clear what is being consulted upon during both the informal 
(non-statutory) and formal (statutory) phases of consultation. This will include: 

• Environmental factors (such as landscape and visual amenity, historic and 
archaeological features and local habitats and species); 

• Economic factors (commercial activities, employment opportunities and 
investment in the community); and 

• Social factors (such as public rights of way, noise during construction and 
educational opportunities). 

7.1.3 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility will be a source of renewable energy and 
the need for this is supported by the Government’s National Policy Statements EN-
1 and EN-3. For this reason, AUBP is not required to seek feedback on the need 
for the proposed facility. 

  

Page 246



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
21  

 

 Identifying Our Consultees 

8.1 The Local Community 
8.1.1 In defining the consultation area for the local community, we have identified an 

inner consultation area and a wider consultation area, shown in Figure 8.1.  

8.1.2 The inner area, shown in green, includes the community which has the potential to 
be most impacted by the proposals and this has been defined at a five-kilometre 
radius of the site. The wider area, within the red line, has been determined by the 
Boston Borough Council boundary. Residents in the wider area could experience 
some impact from the facility. This approach has been taken from good practice 
applied in consultations for other similar proposals. 

 
Figure 8.1 Map showing inner (5km radius to site) and outer (Boston Borough Council area) 
consultation areas 
 
8.1.3 We have focused on residents of the town of Boston itself and communities in the 

surrounding local area. However, the consultation events will be advertised on a 
regional basis using the Boston Standard (part of the Lincolnshire Series), 
Lincolnshire Free Press and Spalding Guardian, and we would encourage those 

Page 247



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
22  

 

from the wider area with comments and opinions to engage. 

8.2 Statutory Consultees 
8.2.1 We are required by section 42 of the Act to consult with certain organisations and 

people on our proposed application.  We will also notify these parties if the 
application is accepted by PINS.  Information on this consultation process is outside 
the scope of this document. Details from statutory consultation will be available in 
the Consultation Report submitted as part of our formal DCO application. 

8.3 Other Non-Statutory Consultees 
8.3.1 The other non-statutory consultees are those agencies and organisations with 

whom we consult with as best practice and these include:   

• Local communities, i.e. Residents’ Associations 

• Local interest and amenity groups 

• Local businesses 

• Local MPs; and 

• Local councillors. 

8.3.2 Please note that these lists are not exhaustive. 

  

Page 248



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
23  

 

 Communication Tools 
9.1.1 We want to create opportunities for as many people as possible to get involved with 

the consultation. To do so, we will ensure the following documents are prepared 
and are made available on the project website, with hard copies available on 
request:   

• Slide pack – to enable us to offer presentations to local groups who are interested 
in hosting a session.  

• Exhibition materials – we will run open drop-in Public Information Days. Information 
boards and materials exhibited will provide context to and summarise the 
proposals. Staff will be on hand to answer questions, talk to participants and aid 
their understanding of the project with the aim of assisting them to contribute their 
views.  

• Document library – key documents relating to the proposals will be uploaded to 
the project website, along with copies of the project brochure and of this SoCC. 
The documents will be uploaded to coincide with their release into the public 
domain. 

• This SoCC will be displayed at local authority offices and in other locations (see 
section 9.7); and will be available online through the project website.  

9.2 Communication Methods 
9.2.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility project team recognises that one method of 

consultation will not meet the requirements of every stakeholder group.  For this 
reason, it is proposed to use a variety of communication methods as shown below. 

 

Page 249



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
24  

 

 
 

9.3 Consultation Events 
9.3.1 A series of drop-in Public Information Days were held at the following venues and 

on the dates below: 

Ward Venue and Address Date 

Station White Hart Hotel, 1-5 High Street, Boston, PE21 
8SH 

Friday 14th September 
2018 from 20m to 8pm 

Skirbeck St Nicholas Church Hall, Fishtoft Road, Boston Saturday 15th September 
2018 from 2pm to 8pm 

St Thomas Black Sluice Lock Cottages, Holme Bay, South 
Forty Foot Bank, Boston, PE21 7RA 

Wednesday 19th 
September 2018 from 
2pm to 8pm 

Fishtoft Fishtoft Pavillion, Playing Fields, Church Green 
Road, PE21 0RP 

Thursday 20th September 
2018 from 2pm to 8pm 

Kirton and Frampton Frampton Village Hall, Middlegate Road, Frampton 
PE20 1AW 

Friday 21st September 
2018 from 2pm to 8pm 

 
9.3.2 In addition to these informal consultation events, we issued an invite to all parish 

councils within the consultation zone to attend a meeting, if required. 

9.4 Methods to provide consultation feedback 
9.4.1 Seeking feedback is key to the principles of consultation. This will be sought using 

a variety of mechanisms, including: 

•Drop in Public Information Days
•Stakeholder Events/Briefings

Consultation 
Events

•Project website updates (including responses to 
'Frequently Asked Questions')

•Email updates
•Maildrop to residential and business addresses 
within a 5km radius of the site

•Responses to letters/emails
•The PEIR, consultation packs and consultation 
booklet/leaflet

Written 
Communication

•Presentations to Local Authorities, Parish Councils, 
specific interest groups, hard to reach groups etc.,  
by invite

Verbal 
Communication

Page 250



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
25  

 

• Feedback forms provided at the Public Information Days to provide detailed 
comments in response to specific questions; 

• An online version of the feedback form to be made available for 28 days after the 
Public Information Days. 

• A dedicated email and Freepost address to allow comments, questions and 
feedback to be made directly to the project team; and 

• A Freephone number will be available to contact the project team with comments 
and questions. 

9.4.2 Where consultees approach the Boston Alternative Energy Facility project team by 
email or mail, the communication will be acknowledged within three working days 
following receipt of the enquiry.  The team will endeavour to respond to the 
consultee within 20 working days, or up to a maximum of one month for complex 
queries. We will advise the enquirer if the enquiry is considered to be complex. 

9.5 How we will respond to consultee comments 
9.5.1 Following each phase of consultation, we will have a period to consider feedback 

and review our proposals. We will collate and review the findings of each phase 
and publish a report on the Boston Alternative Energy Facility website, and discuss 
updates with key stakeholders. 

 
9.5.2 This will set out consultee responses and how we have addressed those responses 

in formulating the DCO application. Following this, we may carry out additional 
targeted consultation with members of the local community, as feedback is 
received, and the project is refined.  

9.5.3 All comments and information we receive will be recorded in a consultation 
database and be considered by Boston Alternative Energy Facility. As part of our 
DCO application, we will provide a Consultation Report to explain how the views 
received have been incorporated into the project design process and EIA. If an 
issue has not resulted in a change to the proposed development, the Consultation 
Report will explain this. As there may be a large number of responses, the 
Consultation Report may group comments into broad issues of concern. Please 
note that all communications will be publicly available; however, no personal details 
will be published. 

9.5.4 Names and personal contact details (including email addresses, telephone number 
and home address) may be collected for the purpose of contacting and 
corresponding with consultees. Appropriate technical and organisational security 
measures are in place to protect any personal information we receive against 

Page 251



 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
26  

 

unauthorised or unlawful use, and against accidental loss, damage or destruction 
in line with GDPR (General Data Protection Regulation) requirements. More 
information about these measures is available on request.    

9.6 Timeline 

 
 
9.6.1 When the DCO application has been submitted, we are required to publicise this 

via an advert in the London Gazette, a national newspaper and local newspapers 
for two consecutive weeks. We will also inform the local community via a newsletter 
to be circulated via Royal Mail, and updates via our website www.baef.co.uk  

9.7 General consultation enquiries 
9.7.1 All project information will be available on our website at the following address 

https://www.bostonaef.co.uk  

9.7.2 We also have a dedicated email address for you to communicate with us: 
consultation@BostonAEF.co.uk  

9.7.3 You can also write to us at the following Freepost address: 

Boston Alternative Energy Facility 
RTLY-RLGH-GKSE 
FREEPOST 
25 Priestgate 
Peterborough PE1 1JL 

September/October 
2018

• Phase one: Public Information Days
• Production of draft SoCC and review by LCC and BCC
• Publication of SoCC

Quarter 1 2019

• Phase two: Public Information Days coinciding with PEIR 
consultation

• Section 42 consultation

Quarter 2

• Development Consent Order application

Page 252

http://www.baef.co.uk/
https://www.bostonaef.co.uk/
mailto:consultation@BostonAEF.co.uk


 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
27  

 

 
9.7.4 Should you wish to follow the project on the PINS website, the Boston Alternative 

Energy Facility website is at the following address 
https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/projects/north-east/boston-
alternative-energy-facility-baef/  

9.8 Local information points 
9.8.1 We want to make sure information is accessible locally.  

9.8.2 Electronic and hard copies of key project documents will be available to view free 
of charge for inspection at the locations listed below throughout the pre-application 
period. These will include the SoCC, consultation documents and the PEIR during 
the relevant stages of the period. 

Venue and Address Opening Times 
Boston Borough Council, Municipal Buildings, 
West Street, Boston, PE21 8QR 

Monday – Thursday 8.45am – 5.15pm 
Friday 8.45am – 4.45pm 

Boston Library, County Hall, Boston, PE21 6DY 

Monday – Wednesday 9.00am – 5.00pm  
Thursday 9.00am – 6.00pm 
Friday 9.00am – 5.00pm 
Saturday 9.00am – 4.00pm 

Kirton Library, Wash Road, Kirton, Boston, PE20 
1AN 

Tuesday 10.00am – 1.00pm  
Thursday 2.00pm – 4.00pm  
Saturday 10.00am – 12.00pm 

Kirton Town Hall, 19 Station Road, Kirton, Boston, 
PE20 1LD 

Monday 9.00am – 9.00pm 
Tuesday 1.30pm – 3.30pm 
Wednesday 9.00am – 11.00am; 2.00pm – 4.00pm 

 
9.8.3 The opening times of these organisations are controlled by the venue operators 

and may be subject to change. 
  

Page 253

https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/projects/north-east/boston-alternative-energy-facility-baef/
https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/projects/north-east/boston-alternative-energy-facility-baef/


 
P r o j e c t  r e l a t e d  

 

  

 
 
15 October 2018 BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY SOCC  PB6934-ATH-01-ZZ-RP-N-

1001 
28  

 

 Glossary of abbreviations 
 

 

 

Abbreviation Term 

AUBP Alternative Use Boston Projects Ltd. 

CEMS  Continuous Emissions Monitoring Systems 

CO2  Carbon Dioxide 

DCO Development Consent Order 

DCLG Department for Communities and Local 
Government 

EIA Environmental Impact Assessment 

ES Environmental Statement 

IED Industrial Emissions Directive 

MW MegaWatt 

NSIP Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project  

PINS Planning Inspectorate 

PID Public Information Day 

PEI Preliminary Environmental Information 

PEIR Preliminary Environmental Information Report 

RDF Refuse Derived Fuel 

SoCC Statement of Community Consultation 

Page 254



Appendix B 
 

Glossary of Abbreviations 
 
Abbreviation  Term  
AUBP  Alternative Use Boston Projects Ltd.  
CEMS  Continuous Emissions Monitoring 

Systems  
CO2  Carbon Dioxide  
DCO  Development Consent Order  
DCLG  Department for Communities and 

Local Government  
EIA  Environmental Impact Assessment  
ES  Environmental Statement  
IED  Industrial Emissions Directive  
MW  MegaWatt  
NSIP  Nationally Significant Infrastructure 

Project  
PINS  Planning Inspectorate  
PID  Public Information Day  
PEI  Preliminary Environmental 

Information  
PEIR  Preliminary Environmental 

Information Report  
RDF  Refuse Derived Fuel  
SoCC  Statement of Community 

Consultation  
 
 

Page 255



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix C 
 
Consultation Response from Boston Borough Council’s Principal Environmental 
Health Officer 
 
2.1 Site Location 
Detailed map of residential receptors within 500m of BAEF and proposed wharf 
Detailed map of sensitive commercial receptors within industrial estate within 500m of BAEF and 
proposed wharf 
 
3.0 Assessment of Alternatives 
Justification for the location of the proposed wharf so close to residential properties across the 
river. Why is the wharf not located towards the mouth of the river away from residential properties. 
 
6.4 Noise and vibration 
Need to define the hours of operation including the delivery and handling of feedstock by river and 
road. 
Further background noise monitoring over an extended period is required. 
Low frequency noise assessment is required for BAEF and potentially feedstock /aggregate 
handling. 
All feedstock and aggregate handling and storage activities need to be assessed. 
Traffic noise assessment for feedstock delivery via Marsh Lane. 
 
6.8 Air Quality  
Detailed feedstock odour assessment for wharf handling and storage 
Detailed odour assessment for BAEF 
Detailed feedstock and aggregate dust assessment for wharf handling and storage 
 
6.12 Transport 
Air quality assessment for feedstock HGV deliveries including routing. 
 
6.15 Waste 
Detailed definition of all waste types proposed is required including any leachate 
 
7.6 Lighting 
Environmental lighting assessment for BAEF and wharf should be provided. 
 
John Chapman 
Principal Environmental Health Officer 
 
  
We received the following consultation response from the Environment Agency and I have 
reproduced the response in full for your consideration: - 
  
 
The Environment Agency 

 
We have reviewed the Report, undertaken by Royal Haskoning DHV, dated 30 May 2018 
(ref: I&BPB6934-RH002R001F01) and have the following comments to make on it, which 
cover issues that fall within our remit.  
 
6.4 Noise and Vibration  
The noise and vibration assessment needs to include, with the receptors, the complete 
range of species present on site; for freshwater fauna this needs to include resident and  
  

Page 257



migratory fish species. Both adult and juvenile life stages that may be moving in different 
directions within the Witham at the time of the proposed works.  
 
6.5 Contaminated Land, Land Use and Hydrogeology  
A preliminary risk assessment (PRA) has been completed, which has revealed the site to be 
historically farmland and on unproductive strata (Non-Aquifer). Consequently, we consider this to 
be a low risk site in respect of groundwater. Furthermore, investigations are proposed in the 
Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) with the aim to refine the environmental setting of the 
site but these will be predominantly for geotechnical and human health risks. I can, therefore, 
confirm that we are satisfied with the findings of the PRA and EIA scope of works in this respect. 
 

6.6 Ecology  
Updated protected species surveys may need to be undertaken by suitably qualified 
ecologists at appropriate times of year to account for the dynamic nature of some species 
and the suitable habitat that exist within the boundary of the proposed development and 
in the surrounding area. It is also feasible the presence may change between now and 
construction starting.  
Where possible, suitable habitat should be integrated within the project to deliver net 
gains for Biodiversity in line with current environmental policy. The integration of 
mitigation measures under the Water Framework Directive (WFD) may also have wider 
ecological and biodiversity gains, further than preventing deterioration of water status.  
Section 6.6.54 – The applicant expects the proposed project will result in loss of 
saltmarsh and intertidal mudflat habitats, and proposes early liaison with the Borough and 
County Councils regarding potential mitigation measures. The applicant should also liaise 
with us at an early stage on this issue. These are WFD biological quality elements in the 
Witham and potential impacts would need to be considered as part of their WFD 
Assessment. We are the competent authority for the WFD, we have a national policy on 
encroachment (see link under chapter 6.10 comments below), and we are monitoring the 
saltmarsh in the Haven due to the construction of the Boston Barrier.  
The final designs of the wharf should look to integrate environmental improvements and 
delivery of mitigation measures wherever possible. We will review the development 
against the WFD and the Natural Environment and Rural Communities (NERC) Act 
requirements, to ensure no loss or detriment in environmental quality results from the 
proposal.  
No information on aquatic species is currently included; it has been noted that a data 
request has been sent to us requesting information. This may need to be supplanted with 
additional surveys to provide evidence on the potential impacts and suitable mitigation as 
part of the proposed development.  
 
6.7 Surface Water, Flood Risk and Drainage Strategy  
The Report correctly identifies that the proposed development is at a high risk of flooding 
and located in flood zone 3. Flood zone 3 is where land has been assessed as having a 1 
in 100 or greater annual probability of river flooding (>1%), or a 1 in 200 or greater annual 
probability of flooding from the sea (>0.5%) in any year, ignoring the presence of 
defences.  
As such, the EIA will need to include a detailed flood risk assessment (FRA), which 
complies with the requirements of section 5.7 of the National Policy Statement for Energy 
(EN-1). This will need to take into account the potential impacts of climate change using 
the latest UK Climate Projections available at the time the EIA is prepared (see EN1, 
paragraphs 4.8.5 – 4.8.13). In accordance with this, all critical elements should be set 
above an appropriate level, based on the high emissions scenario (high impact, low 
likelihood).  
  

Page 258



We note that the proposal includes the construction of a new wharf through which waste will be 
delivered by vessels; approximately 560 ships per year. This will need to be appropriately 
designed to ensure that there is no increased flood risk to others. The town of Boston suffered 
extensive flooding in the tidal surge of December 2013, with 688 residential properties and 115 
commercial properties being inundated by tidal waters. Most relevant to this proposal is that the 
areas of the proposed development, identified under the Indicative Site Boundary as 2 – 
Gasification Plant and 3 – Lightweight Aggregate Plant, were subjected to tidal inundation during 
the December 2013 tidal surge. 
 

The potential consequence of flooding from tidal inundation on the floodplain is shown on 
our hazard breach mapping. This shows the hazard rating based on depths and velocity 
of flood waters should a breach occur to a defence in base year 2006 and future year of 
2115. The proposed development location could be subject to a range of depths of 1m-
1.6m for a tide with a 0.1% chance of occurring in any one year following a breach in the 
defences for the 2006 scenario. In the climate change scenario for 2115 depths in excess 
of 1.6m could be expected.  
This data should be used in the initial assessment of flood risk and the Scoping Report 
has correctly identified the need to obtain a flood Product 8 package from us for this 
purpose.  
As well as addressing the issues included in section 5.7 of EN-1, we would request that 
the FRA also includes the following:  

tidal Witham Haven waters. This will need to be evidenced and mitigation proposed 
if/where negative impacts are identified.  

raise the flood embankment heights to 6.5m by 
2021 in this location. The wharf will, as a minimum, need to be in-line with this. However, 
details will be required in respect of the proposed wharf crest, how this will tie into the 
defence height as currently exists, and when raised in the future.  

 

whether there is any risk posed to third parties as a result of it. This may require hydraulic 
modelling to demonstrate no increase in risk to existing developments.  

consider if the development will impact this.  

order to establish permissive rights and protection under Schedule 22 of the Water 
Resources Act.  
 
Flood risk is a significant factor for any development in Boston, especially when the 
proposal involves changes to flood risk management infrastructure. As the proposal is 
developed, there may be additional aspects, relevant to flood risk (such as to the need for 
Protective Provisions and/or entering into a legal agreement with us regarding the 
construction of the wharf), that will need to be addressed and we would, therefore, 
welcome the opportunity for early discussions with the applicant on this matter.  
Sediment management and the application of SUDS needs to be considered in regard to fine 
sediment input and scour and deposition within the Witham/South Footy Foot Drain from all 
elements of the development that could change the baseline. This could be an opportunity for 
environmental benefit habitat creation. 
 

With regards to the supply of fine sediments during operation, there is the potential for 
additional mobilisation of fines within the Witham as a result of scour due to the presence 
of the wharf along with potential propeller scour and anchor drag. We request that these 
issues are also given consideration.  
  

Page 259



Section 6.7.31 – refers to sources of WFD guidance documents. The applicant correctly 
refers to the Clearing the Waters For All guidance which is available via the internet at: 
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-framework-directive-assessment-estuarine-and-
coastal-waters 
  
6.8 Air Quality  
Section 6.8.13 of the report refers to compliance with the requirements of the Industrial 
Emissions Directive (IED) and revised Best Available Techniques (BAT) Conclusions for 
power generation plant. From an IED/Environmental Permitting Regulations (EPR) point 
of view the proposed facility would be undertaking a waste incineration activity and 
therefore would need to comply with the IED/BAT requirements for waste incineration, 
including consideration/assessment of all relevant pollutants and emissions associated 
with “abnormal operation”.  
As part of the air quality assessment we would want the applicant to undertake a stack 
height assessment (i.e. to demonstrate that the proposed stack height is BAT in terms of 
preventing/minimising pollution). This would need to be undertaken as part of (or at the 
same time as) the EIA, as stack height is likely to be subject to planning 
Requirements/conditions etc.  
Detailed air quality modelling will need to be undertaken to support your application under 
the EPR and further details on this are available from our website at: 
www.gov.uk/guidance/environmental-permitting-air-dispersion-modelling-reports 
  
6.9 Marine Ecology and Fisheries  
Paragraph 6.9.7 - The EIA must consider and address risks to resident fish species within 
the tidal Witham as well as the listed migratory species and where possible net gains and 
adequate mitigation included for at all stages of the proposed development.  
Paragraph 6.9.14 - Noise and vibration operating levels need to be agreed to minimise 
impact upon resident and migratory species that are known to be present.  
Paragraph 6.9.18 - The new wharf should be designed to minimise future maintenance 
needs at the Wharf and within the wider Witham in regards to upstream and downstream 
sediment transport, erosion and bank stability.  
Paragraph 6.9.23 - More information may be required to inform the final EIA for this 
proposed development as the Boston Barrier may not have considered any in 
combination impacts or information within the immediate area of this proposed 
development.  
Section 6.9 and final summary – We disagree with the conclusion that the impact of the 
project’s operational phase on marine ecology and fisheries can be scoped out of the EIA. 
This is because the impacts of the operational phase on estuarine and geomorphological 
processes during the operational phase is scoped in. Estuarine processes and ecology 
are intrinsically linked. The applicant will need to determine the impacts on 
geomorphology and estuarine processes before concluding whether or not there is a risk 
of impacts to ecological elements.  
 
6.10 Estuarine and Geomorphology Processes  
The EIA will need to include further information surrounding the tidal regime i.e. the tidal 
range and tidal symmetry. According to the UK Estuaries database the Witham is flood 
dominant; understanding this will help to address sedimentation issues.  
Sub-section 6.10.3 states incorrect information; according to both our Catchment Data 
Explorer and Catchment Planning System the Haven (Witham Transitional) waterbody is 
currently classed as having bad ecological potential (this represents the 2016 
classification – the 2015 classification was moderate). The project should consider if there  
  

Page 260

https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-framework-directive-assessment-estuarine-and-coastal-waters
https://www.gov.uk/guidance/water-framework-directive-assessment-estuarine-and-coastal-waters
http://www.gov.uk/guidance/environmental-permitting-air-dispersion-modelling-reports


is any scope to offer better mitigation to help achieve good ecological potential?  
6.10.8 Refers to a high level pre-scoping document that looked into the potential 
environmental effects. It would be helpful to have this document appended or 
summarised to the EIA. There are many potential impacts; loss of tidal prism and 
sediment storage due to the wharf along with scour due to navigation, vessel movements 
and anchoring etc. Given the proposals to dredge a significant area of the bank we have 
a concern that the application may have underestimated how frequently they will need to 
dredge the frontage of the wharf to maintain a viable depth – this should be covered in 
detail in the EIA.  
We note that there is no mention in these sections (or within the ecology section) of 
providing mitigation for the direct loss of habitat. This conflicts with our National 
Encroachment Policy for Tidal Rivers and Estuaries, which will need to be considered.  
 
Environmental Permitting Regulations 2010  
The proposed development will require a bespoke permit under Schedule 5.1 Part A(1) of 
the Environmental Permitting Regulations 2010. We do not currently have enough 
information to know if the proposed development can meet our requirements to prevent, 
minimise and/or control pollution.  
We therefore strongly advise the applicant to consider parallel tracking of the planning 
and permit applications to allow these issues to be resolved if possible. Parallel tracking 
planning and environmental permit applications offers the best option for ensuring that all 
issues can be identified and resolved, where possible, at the earliest possible stages. 
This will avoid the potential need for amendments to the planning application post-
permission.  
Further guidance for developments requiring planning permission and environmental 
permits is available on the .gov.uk website.  

 
 

Page 261



This page is intentionally left blank



  Appendix D 

 
 

Draft minute from Environment and Performance Committee meeting 

held 8 November 2018 

 
Subject: STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY CONSULTATION 

BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY 
 

The Deputy Chief Executive addressed the committee and prior to presenting the 
report, referenced a list of questions Cllr Alison Austin had submitted to the 
applicant, during a one to one session she had held with them.  Those questions and 
answers had kindly been circulated for the meeting as the Deputy Chief Executive 
felt they would be of benefit to the meeting and thanked Councillor Austin for 
providing them. 
 
Presenting the report, members were advised that there were only two aspects for 
their consideration within the report tabled:  the first was the statement of the 
consultation whereby members were asked to consider if it was reasonable, and if 
not, to identify any consultation areas which may have been missed. (Members were 
referenced to the previous Boston Barrier Consultation which was also an NSIP 
project and asked to identify any issues which arose when communities had been 
engaged at the enquiry stage.  They were further reminded that PINS advised that 
as much information be sought up-front in the pre-application part of the process as 
that was the point where influence on the final project would be submitted to the 
DCO).   
 
Members were asked to consider how they would engage with their own residents 
and the wider borough in terms in the adequacy of the Statement of Consultation. 
The second part required consideration as to whether or not the information provided 
was sufficient to clearly identify what the proposal and structure was.  Boston 
Borough Council was acting as a consultee in the process because the project was 
of public interest due to its scale and size and the potential outcomes.  Once 
committee had commented, Cabinet would also be approached to seek their views.  
Further stages of consultation would take place, but the report tabled was only the 
initial stage and the role of committee was purely to identify if the consultation 
process in place was adequate.   Members were referred to paragraph 1.4 of the 
report which set out the purpose of why there was a Statement of Community 
Consultation and also to the appendix which was set out in greater detail.  They were 
asked to reference the actual proposal which was detailed on page 23, and then 
advised that paragraph 3.2 provided a summary of what the developers were intent 
on doing: paragraph 3.3 identifying outstanding information which need to be 
captured.  Consultation responses from Council Officer’s and from the Environment 
Agency were also provided.   
 
Summarising her opening overview of the report the Deputy Chief Executive 
suggested committee address the two aspects separately in their deliberation, with 
consideration firstly to the proposed consultation process and identify missing areas, 
followed by the second task of the report which was to identify any missing 
information. 
 

Page 263



  Appendix D 

 
 

 
 
The Portfolio Holder interjected at this point in the proceedings and stated he felt that 
the round of exhibitions which had already taken place would not be the last and he 
hoped further consultation in village halls and drop in centres would be taking place: 
he stated he felt confident that there would be enough effort put into consultation.  
 
The Deputy Chief Executive concurred with the Portfolio Holder stressing to 
committee that this was their opportunity to articulate what they expected to see, 
including consultations at all village halls.  The Portfolio Holder responded that he 
also hoped that hub for a visitor centre would be provided to allow members of the 
public to drop in and view the proposal and ask questions. 

 
(At this point in the proceedings Councillor Alison Austin asked that it be recorded 
that she was both the County Councillor and Ward Member for the proposed site 
area.  She stated the only reason she had been afforded a one to one session had 
been due to her being unable to attend the scheduled member consultation, due to a 
long standing commitment elsewhere.  As such she had needed the one to one to 
ensure she was fully aware of the project, ahead of it being made public to her 
constituents) 

 
Committee deliberation followed with the following concerns, comments and 
questions being raised in respect of the report tabled.    (A summary of suggestions 
in respect of the two key areas for response and for the Deputy Chief Officer to take 
forward, is attached to the minute). 
 
A member voiced concern that Alternative Use Boston Project Ltd (AUBP) had only 
been incorporate in 2017 with no accounts being available.  Whilst the project plan 
had been submitted there was no financial plan which the member stressed, would 
have been provided with any established business.  Further concern noted use of 
public money and the impact on the public purse the development would have. The 
same member also noted concerns about hazardous waste travelling through the 
town via road and how it would be controlled.  Concluding the member also noted 
the size of project and asked if eventually, overseas waste would need to be sourced 
to maintain the output resulting in a loss of control of the waste. 
In response the Deputy Chief Executive referenced the member to page 4 of the list 
of questions circulated by Cllr Austin which noted road haulage and identified the 
hazardous substances that would be carried on the roads. The member was advised 
that should the project be approved by the Secretary of State it would be a highly 
regulated facility with the Environment Agency having full control through an 
operating permit: a permit would not be issued until they evidenced sound 
construction.  The origin of waste was not something that could be controlled by the 
Council as it was a system regulated by the Environment Agency.  What the Council 
could ask for would be greater clarity in respect of the nature of the waste.  Noting 
the comments in respect of public money being used, members were reassured that 
the Council was making no contribution to the project and how the project would be 
financed was a private matter. The Company AUBP had been created solely to deal 
with the project which was common practice in such large projects, once the project 
was concluded the company would likely be dissolved. 
 

Page 264



  Appendix D 

 
 

 
 
 
 
The Portfolio Holder stated that if possible, the applicant could be encouraged to 
provide a new link road from the football stadium roundabout, across the fields 
directly to the Marsh Lane area.  It would be of benefit to the new facility and the 
businesses and homes in that area.  
 
Referencing the technical information within the report a member questioned the 
amount of homes that would be powered by the supply of electricity generated.  He 
noted the general production of power was 102 megawatts gross with 22 megawatts 
being used to power the facility.  Referencing the intended 185.000 homes to be 
powered the member felt it to be ambitious and unreasonable amount.  The member 
further voiced strong concerns about the toxins the site would create, citing nitrous 
oxide, hydrogen dioxide and sulphur dioxide and even possibly hydrogen cyanide. 
The report provided no detail on any emissions and it was unknown what 
components were likely to be emitted from the process and whether they were 
dangerous.  The site was in proximity to residential areas and the information in 
respect of emissions should be clear, along with full details of any hazards and also 
how much carbon dioxide would be produced annually bearing in mind current 
issues in respect of reducing the carbon footprint.  Furthermore there was no 
information advising if medical waste would be processed on the site, nor any detail 
on the cost of the electricity to the National Grid. 
Responding the Deputy Chief Executive advised she had been checking figures and 
noted 1 megawatt was a million watts so the report showed 1 megawatt could 
provide electricity for 164 homes per year. Furthermore she reiterated that 
committee were not making a decision; the report was not a planning application but 
an initial informative seeking the committee’s comments only on its consultation 
process and on the information provided. 
 
Noting a point of clarification The Head of Environmental Operations confirmed that 
the fuel used to fuel the gasification process was household derived, it was what was 
in the green bin for Boston residents (known as RDF – Refuse derived fuel). 
Members were further advised that the process was one of gasification and not 
incineration as some members had stated. The waste was not burnt like in Lincoln 
Energy from Waste facility, it was technically a different process and members 
should refrain from using the term incineration and use the term gasification. 
 
A further member questioned what experience and expertise the applicant had in 
operating such a facility.  He also sought reassurance that the company were 
competent at what they did as he felt that the report did not demonstrate proof of any 
similar experience elsewhere.  The members also voiced concern at a lack of any 
advice in the report of any issues or problems experienced at any similar facilities 
along with a lack of a case of safety which should have been provided for such a 
dangerous site. 
Advice was provided that Royal Haskoning were an experienced developer and also 
that AUBP who were the promoter had been actively engaged in industrial 
development in Boston since 2004 
 

Page 265



  Appendix D 

 
 

 
 
 
 
 
Stating he was not as concerned as fellow members and suggesting that committee 
have more faith, a Councillor voiced support of the project, stating that Boston was a 
growing town.  He stated the primary issue was that of consultation and referencing 
paragraph 6.42 of the report, suggested that the statement was ambiguous with the 
words ‘proposed to do’ and that the matter of the translation should be done 
automatically with the material being placed where ethnic minority groups 
congregated.    
 
Furthermore he stated that legislation in respect of such facilities was rigorous and 
he doubted any developer could wittingly pollute neighbouring areas.    He felt 
reassured that only UK waste from Green Bins would be used with no overseas 
waste being processed and also that the goods would be transported by river and 
not by road.  Addressing concerns about a lack of experience by the developer, the 
member noted page 8 of the report which stated that the developer AUBP – had 
indeed been involved with similar plant projects, not least in selling a power station to 
Aviva.   
 
Referencing the Pollution Air Control system which was supposed to be in place a 
member voiced concern that information about it was not detailed and that further 
knowledge on how the system actually works was required.   
 
A member voiced her concern that there had been no link to signposting of other 
documents which were available in respect of the overall project which she felt would 
have answered a lot more questions for members and offered more reassurance and 
encouraged members to have a look if they had time to do so. The member further 
noted the volume of consultation exercises undertaken during the previous large 
project within the town and stated that no matter how many strands of public 
consultation were provided, it was not possible to force people to attend or become 
engaged with the project.  The member suggested issuing of information on more 
social media strands be used to encourage younger people to be made aware. 
Responding the Deputy Chief Executive once again stated that committee were 
consulting purely on the consultation document at this point in the proceedings.  She 
noted if a 220 page document issued generally people were less likely to read the 
fully document as against part thereof.  Equally part of actual engagement in the 
consultation process was not to overload people but to focus on the requisite part of 
the document as required by the developer.   
 
The Portfolio Holder then added that once the news was released further media 
promotion would be needed in respect of the significant job creation opportunities the 
development would create.  Whilst the initial construction would require up to 400 
workers which would include specialist workers from outside the local area, once 
completed the site itself would create between 80 / 100 posts and of course there 
would also be the secondary layer of employment with the local supply chains.  The 
development would require product; equipment and servicing along with other things 
and local companies should be afforded the opportunity to tender for such contracts.  

Page 266



  Appendix D 

 
 

It needed to be recognised that such a new development would also attract new 
business. 
 

 
At this point in the proceedings the Deputy Chief Executive whilst agreeing the points 
raised were important, asked members to focus on the reasons for the report and to 
address the proposed consultation process. 
 
 

 A member who stated he felt the consultation proposed was not very 
imaginative and suggested that all 6th form pupils at the senior schools within 
the borough be consulted.  He noted that by the time of the delivery of the 
site, many of the said pupils would be working and living within the 
town/borough.  It was important to consult with the students not only to gain a 
different perspective but they would probably discuss the subject with their 
parents thus providing a further strand for the consultation. 

 
 A number of members agreed that they wanted to see something innovative 

in the consultation throughout the lifetime of the project:  whilst traditional 
social media was good, new ways of consulting were needed to be sourced to 
engage a younger demographic.   It was agreed that more research into 
technology to identify how today’s modern companies worked was needed 
with Boston comms and that the Council itself needed to signpost events and 
run its own articles to keep abreast of the consultation events to capture local 
people. 

 
 The Chairman asked for regular briefings at each stage of the NSIP with a 

presentation to members to allow information to be provided at the right point.  
This would ensure all members were able to update and advise their 
constituents. 

 
 Referencing paragraph 6.42 of the report a member suggested that the 

statement was ambiguous with the words ‘proposed to do’ and that the matter 
of the translation should be done automatically with the translated material 
being placed where ethnic minority groups congregated to try to reach those 
groups who proved hard to consult with. 

 
 A member noted the recent mail drop identified in paragraph 6.4.4 which 

covered a five kilometre radius of the site and questioned why it had not taken 
place in Wyberton. Another member advised that some residents in that area 
had received the mail drop and concern was raised that not all residents may 
have been contacted and it was agreed that the developer be made aware of 
the concern. It was further agreed to extend the radius of the consultation 
area from 5 kilometres to between 7 – 10 kilometres this would enable other 
wards within the borough which would be subject to impact by the 
development in a variety of ways – road haulage; construction vehicles and 
noise plus other, to be able to comments.     

 

Page 267



  Appendix D 

 
 

 Referencing the consultation events noted under 9.3 of the report members 
asked if additional locations could be added.  It was agreed that Rochford 
Tower Hall in Fishtoft; Wyberton Parish Hall, Trinity Church Hall and Kirton 
Town Hall all be added to the list of venues for further consultation events. 

 
 
 
 

 Members further agreed that the additional ‘drop-in’ centres could be used for 
the pre-app consultation allowing consultation to be locality based to capture 
local feelings and then noted that should the Secretary of State accept the 
application then a hub would be developed to provide a pool of information 
available for people to drop-in and ask questions.  It was suggested that the 
developer may erect a building on the perimeter of the site for security 
purposes which could also act as a hub but as any intent for a hub was 
unknown, and having seen how successful the hub for the Barrier project had 
been, committee agreed that they recommend of a community hub be 
provided. 

   
 The Head of Environmental Operations further added that the household 

waste recycling centre in Boston could be used as an information site for data 
on the development.  The site was heavily used and could offer an alternative 
site for promotion / distribution of information for the project. 

  
 Referencing the consultation process for the Barrier a member suggested that 

the developer be asked to liaise with the EA in respect of lessons learnt by 
them, during their own consultation process on the Barrier with local people.  
It was recommended that an approach be made to see if they may be 
prepared to share feedback on their experience 

 

Having agreed the above points in respect of the consultation process committee 
moved to identify outstanding information it felt was missing and needed to be 
captured to further expand the consultation: 
 

 Clarification of the number of homes the site would power was required as a 
member felt the information and conversions to be questionable. 

 
 A breakdown of the expected pollutants from gasification was needed to 

identify any emissions expected.  Advice on where the pollutants would go / 
how they would be gotten rid of was also requested. 

 
 How much CO2 would be generated from the site and would the level 

fluctuate. 
 

 Would any medical waste ever be processed at the site and if so what control 
measures would be in place for it 

 
 Would there be any charge for Electricity to National Grid and if so what would 

it be. 

Page 268



  Appendix D 

 
 

 
 Could a list of stakeholders be provided? 

 
 Further expansion around both light pollution and air pollution was required to 

enable residents to understand any likely impact. 
 

 Advice on where the ash pellets end up once they leave the site and also on 
what they are used for. 

 
 
 
General comments outside of the consultation and information feedback are noted 
below -  

 
 A member asked for enquiries to be made to see what, if any, funding 

streams were available for local communities / groups in respect of mitigating 
the effects of the development on the area.  Information to be provided and 
the Council to offer assistance in order to make the application as best as 
possible to help them get the monies.  The construction period would be long 
and there would be inconvenience to residents. 
 

 The Deputy Chief Executive to liaise with both the Environmental Health and 
Planning departments to ascertain what impact and harm the construction 
might cause and at what radius from the actual site. 

 
 Local residents / businesses should be made aware of any tendering 

opportunities for the development with details made available of how to 
approach the developer. 

 
 A member stated they had had a chance meeting with a local company where 

the MD stated they had already been having talks with the developer for many 
months about the product they would be manufacturing for the developer.   

 
 The inclusion of a link road from the roundabout direct to the site should be 

pursued as the benefits whilst predominantly benefitting the developer for 
access to the site would also benefit local residents and businesses.  
 

 Could soft landscaping and planting be incorporated alongside the hard 
landscaping with larger specimens that would establish quicker and provide 
screening to integrate the site into the landscape. 
 

 
 
RECOMMENDED:    That due to the significant volume of response, draft minutes to 
be produced and issued to committee members for their consideration.  The Deputy 
Chief Executive to be delegated powers in consultation with the Chairman Councillor 
Judith Skinner to agree the final draft of the minutes and the official response and 
then issue the document for Cabinet without the need to reconvene the Environment 
and Performance committee to agree the final response.  
 

Page 269



  Appendix D 

 
 

It is recorded that this draft minute is agreed by the Deputy Chief Executive and the 
Chairman of the Environment and Performance Committee Councillor Judith 
Skinner, and that the hard copy of this minute to be signed off by both parties within 
the hard copy of the final minutes issued for the next scheduled meeting of the 
committee on 8 January 2019. 
 

Page 270



  Appendix E 

 

Consultation Response 
 

 

 
Subject: BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY 
 
 

Consultee: BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL 

 

Boston Borough Council’s Environment and Performance Committee (Scrutiny 

Committee) considered a report tabled by Alternative Use Boston Projects Ltd at its 

meeting held on the evening of Thursday 8th November 2018.   

This response is in addition to the responses already provided by the Council’s 
Environmental Health Officer; Forward Plans, the Head of Environmental Operations and 
the Economic Development Manager. 
 

The report sought the committee’s consideration of two areas of the developer’s full report.   

 The first was to consider the proposed statement of consultation to see if it was 

reasonable and if not, to identify any consultation areas which may have been 

missed.  
  

 The second was to consider whether or not the information provided was sufficient to 

clearly identify the proposal and structure thereof. 

 

Addressing the first requisite of the report the committee agreed the following additional 

consultation streams be included within the consultation process: 

 

 All 6th form pupils at the senior schools within the borough along with students at 
Boston College be consulted.   
 

The reason:   by the time of the delivery of the site, many of the said pupils would be 
working and living within the town/borough.  It was important to consult with the 
students not only to gain a different perspective but they would probably discuss the 
subject with their parents thus providing a further feeding strand for the consultation. 

 
 That a greater innovative approach be undertaken in respect of media consultation 

throughout the lifetime of the project to allow engagement with the younger 
demographic and that research into today’s modern companies was required to seek 
new ways of working alongside the traditional social media.   
 

The reason:  A number of members agreed new ways of consulting was needed as 
the importance of interaction with the younger demographic of the Borough was very 
important.   It was also agreed that the Council’s own communications department 
needed to support coverage alongside the developer and signpost consultation 

Page 271



  Appendix E 

 

events and run its own articles to keep abreast of the consultation events to capture 
local people. 
 

 
 That regular briefings be provided for all Boston Borough Councillors at each stage 

of the NSIP with up to date presentations providing information at the right point in 
the process.  
 

Reason:  To ensure all members are able to update and advise their constituents on 
a regular basis 

 
 That wording within paragraph 6.42 of the report ‘proposed to do’ be amendment to 

‘will do’. 
 

Reason:   The wording was ambiguous.  Translation should be done automatically 
with the translated material being placed where ethnic minority groups congregated 
to try to reach those groups who proved hard to consult with. 

 
 That the radius of the consultation area from the development site be increased to 

between 7 – 10 kilometres. 
 

Reason:   to include a wider scope of residents and again greater feedback. 

 
 That in line with the extension of the consultation area the following venues be 

added to the list of consultation venues for all future events: 
 

1. Rochford Tower Hall in Fishtoft. 
2. Wyberton Parish Hall 
3. Kirton Town Hall 
4. Trinity Church Spilsby Road Boston. 

 

Reason:  Many of the wards were spread over a large area and the secondary sites 
would ensure ease of access to the venues all the respective residents. 

 
 That the additional venues also be used as ‘drop-in’ centres with all venues being 

used for the pre-app consultation. 
 

Reason:  it would allow consultation to be locality based to capture local feelings.  

 
 That should the Secretary of State accept the application then the developer to be 

requested to provide a dedicated hub to allow on-going access to the progress of the 
development for the public.    
 

Reason:    to allow on-going information to be readily available for public interest in 
the development at a central point.  The developer to be advised that a similar hub 
had been very successful for the recent Barrier project in Boston. 

   
 

Page 272



  Appendix E 

 

 
 
 
 

 That the Household Waste Recycling Centre at Slippery Gowt be used as an 
information site to issue information on the development. 
 

Reason:  the site was heavily used and information could be promoted and handed 
out offering another stream to the consultation process. 

 
 That the developer be asked to liaise with the Environment Agency to ask if they 

would feedback on their experience of consultation with residents during their 
consultation on the Boston Barrier project. 
 

Reason:   Any feedback highlighting problem areas / positive areas could assist the 
developer in on-going consultation. 
 
 

 
Addressing the second requisite of the report the committee agreed the following additional 

information should be provided to clearly identify the proposal: 

 

 That clarification of the number of homes the site would power be confirmed with a 
detailed breakdown of the technical specification 
 

Reason:  to allow a clear understanding by the public of how the supply of power to 
the homes was calculated. 

 
 That a breakdown of the expected pollutants from the gasification be provided to 

identify any emissions expected.   
 

Reason:   To allay fears of pollution and to advise the public of what emissions would 
arise from the development once in operation. 

 
 That full details of procedures to deal with the disposal of any pollutants be provided. 

 

Reason:  To offer reassurance that there was a procedure in place. 

 
 That information be provided on the volume of CO2 levels which would be generated 

from the site along with confirmation if the levels would fluctuate. 
 

Reason:  To offer reassurance that there was a procedure in place. 

 
 That information on the intent to dispose of medical waste at the site be provided 

along with the measures in place to control it. 
 

Reason:  To reassure residents that procedures were in place to control disposal of 
medical waste. 

Page 273



  Appendix E 

 

 
 
 

 That the charge for Electricity to National Grid (if any) be provided. 
 

Reason:   To advise residents.  
 

 
 That a list of stakeholders be provided 

 

Reason:  For information for all interested parties. 

 
 That a more detailed explanation in respect of the measures in place to control both 

light pollution and air be provided. 
 

Reason:   To assure residents in the locality of the site that measures are in place 
and to advise them of any impact on them. 

 

 Advice on where the ash pellets end up once they leave the site and also on what 
they are used for. 
 

Reason:    For general information for residents 
 
 
 

Summarising the general comments of the meeting: 
 

Members agreed the benefits of such a development for the town of Boston.  They 
acknowledged the employment benefits it would create – both in construction and thereafter 
in on-going supply and maintenance.  Consultation was agreed as being key for residents 
and they agreed that the additional requests for inclusion in the statement as identified, 
would reassure them that the scope of consultation was reasonable.   The outstanding 
points for information to be included had also been agreed to allow clear identification of the 
project.   
 

Whilst members commended the report they did note 5 separate items identified for   
consideration and action by the developer which although not direct to the consultation 
process - they felt were fundamental in taking the project forward for Boston: 

 
 That any information on any funding streams available for residents to help them 

mitigate the impact of the construction in their area, be made available as soon as 
possible.   This would allow those residents who would be significantly affected the 
opportunity to consider applying for funding.    It was further agreed that should 
funding be available the Council would offer support to residents to assist them in 
their application process. 

 
 That any information in respect of potential tendering for work on the development 

be signposted by the developer.   The importance of this could not be 
underestimated as it would enable local businesses to be made aware of any 

Page 274



  Appendix E 

 

tendering opportunities for the development with clear direction on the tendering 
process. 
 

 That the request for serious consideration of the provision of a link road from the 
roundabout direct to the site should be given as the benefits whilst predominantly 
benefitting the developer for access to the site both during construction and then for 
direct access thereafter once operational, it would also benefit local residents and 
businesses.  

 
 That serious consideration be given to a soft landscaping scheme to be provided and 

incorporated alongside the hard landscaping scheme, providing with larger 
specimens that would establish quicker and provide screening to integrate the site 
into the landscape. 

 

 That the developer consult with Royal Mail in respect of the mail drop it undertook on 
their behalf, within a five kilometre radius of the site.  Not all residents in the 
Wyberton ward received the mail shot which resulted in complaints to ward members 
who were asked why some had been provided within the information and others not.  
The Council would appreciate a response as to what happened on that occasion in 
order to reassure residents in that area, which is very close to the site, that all future 
consultation would be provided to them. 
 

 
 
 
 
 

End. 
 
 
 

 
 
 
 
 
NOTE: 
It is recorded that this official response will be presented to the applicant undercover of 
standing Boston Borough Council livery subject to any additional comment by Cabinet 
Members during consultation at the Cabinet meeting 28 November 2018. 

 
 
 

 

Page 275



This page is intentionally left blank



 
 

 

 

 

 

 

REPORT TO: CABINET 

DATE: 28th NOVEMBER 2018 

SUBJECT: LEISURE, GUILDHALL AND SPORT – FUTURE 
OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER: COUNCILLOR CLAIRE RYLOTT 

REPORT AUTHOR: HEAD OF PLACE AND SPACE 

EXEMPT REPORT? 

APPENDIX 1 & 
APPENDIX 2: 

 

NO 

YES – NOT TO BE PUBLISHED BY VIRTUE OF 
PARAGRAPH 3 OF PART 1 OF SCHEDULE 12A OF THE 
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 1972, AS AMENDED BY 
THE LOCAL GOVERNMENT (ACCESS TO 
INFORMATION) (VARIATION) ORDER 2006 

 

 

SUMMARY: 
 
Previous reports have been presented to members on the future operational 
arrangements for the running of the Council’s Leisure, Guildhall and Sport services.   
 
A tender exercise seeking Expressions of Interest (EoI) was undertaken earlier this 
year and this report provides the Cabinet with an update. 
 
 

 

RECOMMENDATION FROM CORPORATE AND COMMUNITY OVERVIEW & 
SCRUTINY COMMITTEE 
 
The updated position was debated at the Corporate & Community Overview and 
Scrutiny Committee1 November meeting.  This Committee asked to see the detail 
behind the Council’s own business case, which was supplied for scrutiny and formed 
the basis for its recommendation to Cabinet. The Committee’s recommendation is 
included in Appendix 1. 
 
 

RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
That Cabinet considers the report and recommends the way forward. 
 
 

 

 

B   O   S   T   O   N 
  B O R O U G H  C O U N C I L  

 

 

 

Page 277

Agenda Item 7



 
 

REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS 
 
To enable progress on this project.  
 

 
 
REPORT:  
 
1.0  INTRODUCTION: 
 
1.1 The continuing reductions in Government funding to support the Council’s 

services mean that the Transformation Programme (agreed in June 2016) and 
Medium Term Financial Strategy agreed in February 2018 include a savings 
target for leisure and associated services, of £250K in 2019/20.  Officers have 
identified approximately £50K, which will be progressed through the budget 
process, leaving in the region of £200K still to find.  

 
1.2 A report was presented to Cabinet on 16 May 2018 at which members agreed 

to seek expressions of interest from companies wishing to work with the 
Council to help meet the target.  

 
1.3  A Prior Information Notice (PIN) was published on the 5th July with a deadline 

for completed selection questionnaires and initial proposals being set for the 
6th August, covering: 

 

 Lot 1 – The Geoff Moulder Leisure Centre 

 Lot 2 – The Guildhall 

 Lot 3 – Sport & Play Development Services 
 
2.0 EXPRESSIONS RECEIVED 
 
2.1 Support for the tendering process was provided by officers from the Borough 

Council of Kings Lynn and West Norfolk. 
 
2.2 At the deadline for the return of EoI, several organisations, with not for profit 

distributing organisational status, submitted documentation to express their 
interest. 

  
3.0 PROGRESS  
 
3.1 The Cabinet at its 5 September meeting debated the outcomes of the EoI and 

agreed the following recommendations:   
 

1. That officers fully explore and progress the Expressions of Interest 
received from the ‘light touch’ regime of the Public Contracts Regulations 
2015 in respect of the future operational and development arrangements 
for the Council’s leisure, Guildhall and sports services, the outcome and 
detail to then be reported back to the Corporate and Community 
Committee for further consideration and recommendation, and 

 

Page 278



 
 

2. That improvements, efficiencies and savings to current services continue 
to be explored where possible. 

 
3.2 To fully explore and progress the Expressions of Interest received; officers     

subsequently met and received further detail from interested parties where 
necessary, in an effort to clarify elements that were not fully defined or 
quantified in respective EoI submissions. 

 
3.3 Details and outcomes of the further exploration are set out in Appendix 1.  As 

this Appendix contains exempt information, the Cabinet will need to resolve to 
move into private session if they wish to discuss the information contained in it 

 
3.4 Alongside this process officers have been working to assess the potential for 

savings, in line with the remaining target of £200K needed in the 2019/20 
financial year, should the Council determine to continue to deliver the services 
in-house.  Securing investment, from the successful Controlling Migration 
Fund, into the gym has enabled officers to identify proposed budget savings 
from continued in house operation.  These savings are a combination of 
income generation from growth, restructuring of staffing and changes to 
operational practices & programmes.      

 
3.5 The updated position was debated at the 1 November Corporate & 

Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee.  This Committee asked to see 
the detail behind the Council’s own business case, which was supplied to the 
Committee for scrutiny and formed the basis for its recommendation to 
Cabinet.   

 
3.6 Details of the improvements, efficiencies and savings to current services are 

set out in Appendix 1 and the detailed Business Case, in Appendix 2.  The 
prospective savings are appended for determination against the business 
plans supplied with the EoI’s.  As this Appendix contains exempt information, 
the Committee will need to resolve to move into private session if they wish to 
discuss the information contained in it.   

 
  
4.0 CONCLUSION 
 
4.1 Members are asked to review the information and put forward their views on 

the appropriate route for the Council to progress. 
 
 
 

 
FINANCIAL IMPLICATIONS 
 
None because of this report. The Council’s Transformation Programme and 2019/20 
draft estimate within the Medium Term Financial Strategy include the requirement to 
make savings from the Leisure budget to ensure that annual balanced budgets can 
be maintained. 
 

Page 279



 
 

 
 

 
LEGAL & EQUALITY IMPLICATIONS 
 
The Council provides these services under Public Health Act 1936, Local 
Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1976, Public Libraries & Museums act 
1964 and Local Government Act 1972.  
 
A full Equality Impact Assessment will be undertaken once the proposed way forward 
is clear. 

 
 

 
ANY OTHER IMPLICATIONS 
 
None 
 

 
APPENDICES 
 
Appendix 1 – Exempt – Review of offers, and potential continuing Council operations 
Appendix 2 – Exempt – Boston Borough Council Business Case 
 
CONSULTATION 
 
An initial report on this subject was considered by the Cabinet at its meeting on 16 
May 2018. It can be found at -  
 
http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/documents/s4769/Alternative%20Delivery%20Arran
gements%20Leisure%20and%20Cultural%20Services.pdf  
 
A further report on this subject was subsequently considered by the Corporate & 
Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 30 August 2018. It 
can be found at -  
 
http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/documents/s5259/Leisure%20Guildhall%20and%20
Sport%20Future%20Operational%20Arrangements.pdf  
 
A report on this subject was also considered by the Cabinet at its meeting on 5 

September 2018. It can be found at -  
 
http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/documents/s5277/Leisure%20Guildhall%20and%20
Sport%20-%20Future%20Operational%20Arrangements.pdf  
 
A further report on this subject was subsequently considered by the Corporate & 
Community Overview and Scrutiny Committee at its meeting on 1 November 2018. It 
can be found at -  
 
http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=1333&Ver=4  

Page 280

http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/documents/s4769/Alternative%20Delivery%20Arrangements%20Leisure%20and%20Cultural%20Services.pdf
http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/documents/s4769/Alternative%20Delivery%20Arrangements%20Leisure%20and%20Cultural%20Services.pdf
http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/documents/s5259/Leisure%20Guildhall%20and%20Sport%20Future%20Operational%20Arrangements.pdf
http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/documents/s5259/Leisure%20Guildhall%20and%20Sport%20Future%20Operational%20Arrangements.pdf
http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/documents/s5277/Leisure%20Guildhall%20and%20Sport%20-%20Future%20Operational%20Arrangements.pdf
http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/documents/s5277/Leisure%20Guildhall%20and%20Sport%20-%20Future%20Operational%20Arrangements.pdf
http://moderngov.boston.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=135&MId=1333&Ver=4


Document is Restricted

Page 281

Agenda Item 9
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 285

By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	A MINUTES
	3 COUNCIL TAX SUPPORT SCHEME - 2019/20
	4 QUARTER 2 REPORT - PERFORMANCE, RISK AND FINANCE
	Appendix A - Performance
	Appendix B - Risk
	Appendix C - Finance

	5 WASTE MANAGEMENT STRATEGY FOR LINCOLNSHIRE
	Appendix A - The Waste Management Strategy for Lincolnshire. Final Version 6.0 – October 2018
	Appendix B – What’s new in the final JMWMS (version 6.0)
	Appendix C – Slide deck presented to the All Member Briefing on 8th October by M Michell, Lincolnshire County Council
	Appendix D - Slide deck presented to the All Member Briefing on 8th October by C Allen, Head of Operations, Boston Borough Council

	6 STATEMENT OF COMMUNITY CONSULTATION - BOSTON ALTERNATIVE ENERGY FACILITY
	Appendix A -  Statement of Community Consultation - Boston Alternative Energy Facility
	REPORT
	1 Introduction
	1.1 Purpose of this Document
	1.1.1 This document is the Statement of Community Consultation (SoCC) for the proposed Boston Alternative Energy Facility, which is to be located within the Riverside Industrial Estate adjacent to the River Witham (the Haven) in Boston, Lincolnshire. ...
	1.1.2 It explains how we have identified who to consult (see section 8), the consultation methods proposed (see section 9), the timescales for consultation and how consultees can help shape the project.
	1.1.3 Prior to finalisation, a draft version of this SoCC was issued to Lincolnshire County Council and Boston Borough Council in order to obtain their feedback prior to the formal consultation taking place.
	1.1.4 The document will be issued formally to Lincolnshire County Council, Boston Borough Council, South Holland District Council, South Kesteven District Council, North Kesteven District Council and East Lindsey District Council in accordance with se...
	1.1.5 The SoCC is being advertised in the Boston Standard, Boston Target, Lincolnshire Free Press and the Spalding Guardian and is available on the Project website www.bostonaef.co.uk and at the information points listed in paragraph 9.8.2. Members of...
	1.1.6 As well as local community consultation, Alternative Use Boston Projects Ltd (AUBP; the Applicant) is consulting with statutory consultees in accordance with section 42 of the Act. Information on this consultation process is outside the scope of...
	1.1.7 This SoCC has been prepared in accordance with the Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local Government’s (formerly the DCLG) pre-application process guidance note0F .

	1.2 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility
	1.2.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility is a state-of-the-art power generation plant that will generate 102 MW (gross) of renewable energy. It is proposed that it will deliver approximately 80 MW (net) to the National Grid. The energy recovery pl...
	1.2.2 The RDF will be sourced from UK suppliers and will comprise residual waste (i.e. ‘black bag waste’) from householders that has not been segregated for recycling. Therefore, the facility will not use any source-segregated waste that can be recycled.
	1.2.3 The proposed facility is a Nationally Significant Infrastructure Project (NSIP) because it will have a generation capacity over 50 MW of energy. This means it requires a Development Consent Order (DCO) under the Planning Act 2008. The DCO applic...

	1.3 The Consultation Process
	1.3.1 The aim of the SoCC is to clarify the development programme, lines of communication and means of engagement with the local community. During the determination of the application, the Boston Alternative Energy Facility will be measured against th...
	1.3.2 PINS’ advice acknowledges that responding to a developer’s proposals at the pre-application consultation stage is the best time to influence a proposal’s final design or mitigate any perceived impacts.
	1.3.3 This SoCC will detail the nature and extent of the consultation that AUBP intends to undertake with the communities potentially affected by the Boston Alternative Energy Facility before the DCO application is submitted.
	1.3.4 The consultation process will focus on the details of the proposed DCO application. This will include:


	2 About the Promoter
	2.1.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility will be developed and funded by AUBP. AUBP is a privately-owned project company.
	2.1.2 The project team has been involved in industrial development at the site in Boston, Lincolnshire since 2004. In March 2005 planning consent was obtained for a Special & Clinical Waste Processing Plant, with conditions discharged and construction...
	2.1.3 By September 2016 Boston 1 was transferred to Biomass UK No. 3 Ltd. The facility is currently undergoing commissioning (as at October 2018).

	3 The Proposal
	3.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility
	3.1.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility is a proposed power-generation plant, with associated development, which will deliver approximately 80 MW of renewable energy to the National Grid. The development includes:
	3.1.2 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility will be designed to operate for an expected period of at least 25 years, after which ongoing operation will be reviewed. If it is not appropriate to continue operation the plant will be decommissioned.
	3.1.3 The proposal comprises a range of buildings, silos, conveyors and structures, the tallest of which will be the gasification plant exhaust stack and the proposed lightweight aggregate plant stack. The height of these features will be confirmed by...

	3.2 What is Gasification?
	3.2.1 Gasification is a process that converts organic material (the organic content of the feedstock for the facility) into carbon monoxide, hydrogen and carbon dioxide (see Figure 3.1 for a schematic of this process). This is achieved by reacting the...
	3.2.2 This syngas is ignited and the hot flue gas (comprising water vapour, air, and carbon dioxide, plus non-hazardous ash residue) is routed to the boiler section of the plant for heat recovery which generates the energy. The power derived from gasi...
	3.2.3 When in operation, the Boston Alternative Energy Facility will generate energy equivalent to the power demand of more than 185,000 homes. This cutting-edge technology provides significant environmental benefits compared to landfill.  The UK has ...

	3.3 The Process (see Figure 3.2 for process diagram)
	3.3.1 Household waste is separated at home by the householder into dry recyclables that are sent for recycling and residual ‘black bag’ waste, which contains material that cannot be recycled. This might either be because it is unsuitable, contaminated...
	3.3.2 Currently, around three million tonnes of RDF from the UK is sent abroad to generate energy in European facilities. The Boston Alternative Energy Facility will process approximately one million tonnes of RDF, allowing the UK to benefit from this...
	3.3.3 The RDF will be delivered to the facility by ship to a new dedicated wharf. The wharf will be able to receive two ships delivering the RDF at any one time. The RDF will be received in bales. The bales will be removed from the ships by crane and ...
	3.3.4 The bales will be removed from the storage area using a first-in first-out principle. The bales will be taken to a feedstock processing unit, where the RDF will be shredded. The shredded material will then be mechanically sorted to remove items ...
	3.3.5 The shredded material will be transferred to storage silos prior to being fed into the gasification plant. The material will be removed from the silos in metered quantities into the gasification process to generate energy.
	3.3.6 The residues from the gasification process will be in the form of an ash. There will be two types of residue: a non-hazardous ash from the gasification process; and a hazardous residue from the air pollution control system. The different types o...
	3.3.7 The lightweight aggregates facility will process the ash into a lightweight aggregate by blending it with a binder (typically river sediment; or clay). The mix is formed into pellets, with controllable variation in size between 4mm and 20mm. The...
	3.3.8 The DCO application for the proposed Boston Alternative Energy Facility will include all of these features. In addition, temporary works and associated infrastructure necessary for the construction and operation of the project shall be included.
	3.3.9 It is currently expected that the DCO application for the proposed project will be submitted in 2019.

	3.4 Site Location
	3.4.1 The site is located within the Riverside Industrial Estate to the south of Boston town centre (see Figure 3.3 for indicative red line boundary and site location). The eastern site margins are defined in part by The Haven (the tidal waterway of t...
	3.4.2 The site is in the parliamentary constituency of Boston and Skegness; the Lincolnshire County Council division of Boston South; and Boston Borough Council’s St Thomas’ ward. The site is not covered by a civil parish and falls under the remit of ...
	3.4.3 The site comprises former agricultural fields bounded by drainage ditches and forms part of a wider emerging industrial/commercial area, as defined by local planning documents.
	3.4.4 The area is significantly influenced by urban/industrial features including electricity pylons, industrial units, cranes and gantries at the Port of Boston.
	3.4.5 Current access to the site is gained via the Riverside Industrial Estate's existing road network from Nursery Road. Access to the site is also intended to be gained from Bittern Way, from the newly-completed link road.
	3.4.6 A waste management facility (operated by Mick George) that processes construction and demolition waste is located to the west of the proposed wharf elements of the proposed development. That facility processes waste wood that will be used as fee...
	3.4.7 A new household waste recycling centre has been built to the west of the site, with access off Nursery Road/Bittern Way. To the south of the Boston Alternative Energy Facility site there is a material recycling facility (operated by Lincolnshire...

	3.5 Public Rights of Way
	3.5.1 There are existing public rights of way that cross the Boston Alternative Energy Facility site. A permanent diversion will be required in respect of the Macmillan Way public footpath, where it follows the line of the flood defence embankment wit...

	3.6 Allocation
	3.6.1 The site is within a larger area of land that has been allocated for employment (industrial and commercial) development with reference to the saved policies of the adopted Boston Borough Local Plan 1999 and emerging South East Lincolnshire Local...
	3.6.2 Policy SL3 (Waste Site and Area Allocations) identifies the proposal site lies within the allocated area referred to as WA22-BO which has been assessed as a potential suitable location for broad range of open and enclosed industrial facilities r...


	4 Consenting Process
	4.1.1 A diagram of the full DCO Consenting Process is shown in Figure 4.1 below. This SoCC outlines the consultation required for the pre-application stage only to allow public stakeholders to influence the project before the DCO application is submit...
	4.2 Pre-application Consultation
	4.2.1 This document identifies below how local communities will be able to comment on the proposals and help shape the proposed DCO application for the project.  The first informal, non-statutory events of community consultation were held in September...
	4.2.2 Formal, statutory consultation is anticipated to take place in the first quarter of 2019. This round will mirror the first, informal round in terms of scope, content and reach, subject to any incorporated consultee suggestions and comments.
	4.2.3 As part of both the informal and formal consultation we will consult prescribed consultees (statutory consultees, statutory undertakers, relevant local authorities and relevant land ownership interests) and this will take place alongside the com...

	4.3 Environmental Scoping
	4.3.1 Our Scoping Report was submitted to the Planning Inspectorate at the end of May 2018 and accepted on the 7 June 2018. The Scoping Report contains our proposed approach to the Environmental Impact Assessment (EIA) for the project, including the s...

	4.4 Supporting Environmental Information
	4.4.1 The Project is considered ‘EIA development’ under Schedule 2 of the Infrastructure Planning (Environmental Impact Assessment) Regulations 2017. The Boston Alternative Energy Facility is likely to have significant effects on the environment by vi...
	4.4.2 A Preliminary Environmental Information Report (PEIR) will be prepared before the final Environmental Statement. The PEIR will include details of preliminary assessment findings associated with the issues that were agreed at the Scoping stage. T...
	4.4.3 There will be a formal round of public information events after the PEIR is published. These are required by law as part of the consultation process for a DCO. This will allow the consultees to see how the first round of consultation influenced ...


	5 Environmental Effects and Benefits of the Project
	5.1 Potential Benefits and Effects
	5.1.1 The Environmental Statement will identify likely significant environmental effects of the Boston Alternative Energy Facility and will set out the mitigation proposed to reduce any significant adverse effects; and will identify proposed benefits.

	5.2 Delivering on National Policies and Targets
	5.2.1 The UK is committed to generate at least 15% of energy demand from renewable energy sources by 2020. The proposed facility would provide a sustainable and renewable form of energy recovery, to contribute towards meeting renewable targets and car...
	5.2.2 In particular, EN-1 sets out the Government’s conclusion that there is a significant need for new major energy infrastructure. EN-1 includes assessments of the need for new major renewable energy infrastructure. In the light of this, the need fo...
	5.2.3 EN-3 identifies that the recovery of energy from waste, where in accordance with the waste hierarchy, will play an increasingly important role in meeting the UK’s energy needs and can also contribute to meeting the UK’s renewable energy targets....
	5.2.4 The EU action plan for the Circular Economy sets a target to reduce landfill to a maximum of 10% of municipal waste by 2030; and will also provide concrete measures to promote re-use and stimulate industrial symbiosis - turning one industry's by...

	5.3 Delivering Regional and Local Economic Benefits
	5.3.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility signifies a multi-million pound investment in the economy of Boston, Lincolnshire and the UK during its development and operation.
	5.3.2 The project will bring investment to the region’s economy and improve its economic resilience by increasing the diversity of employment sectors.
	5.3.3 During construction, it is anticipated that approximately 300 jobs will be created as well as contractual opportunities for local and UK companies.
	5.3.4 During operation, it is anticipated that the project will require a workforce of around 80, including some highly skilled roles.
	5.3.5 It will also provide additional revenue to the Port of Boston as the RDF will arrive via ship; and the aggregate will depart on ships.

	5.4 Environmental Effects
	5.4.1 Our consultation materials will include information on the potential community impacts and likely environmental topics and will identify the topics which have the potential to give rise to significant effects during construction and/or operation...
	5.4.2 Our second round of consultation will outline proposed environmental mitigation to avoid or reduce any adverse impacts on local communities; and will also highlight the significant potential benefits to the local and regional community, for exam...


	6 The Consultation Process
	6.1 Consultation Objectives
	6.1.1 The project team is committed to consulting widely, honestly and comprehensively – to allow representations to be incorporated into the project and influence it, where practicable and appropriate.
	6.1.2 PINS’ guidance on the pre-application process advocates early involvement of local communities, local authorities and statutory consultees, bringing about significant benefits for all parties by:

	6.2 Consultation Strategy
	6.2.1 The consultation strategy for Boston Alternative Energy Facility has been split into two phases as described below.

	6.3 Phase One Consultation
	6.3.1 We have completed a phase of early engagement to introduce the project to statutory bodies and key stakeholders, allowing them an opportunity to be aware of (and comment on if necessary) our initial proposals. An inception meeting was held with ...
	6.3.2 We have published a project brochure giving high level details of the proposed project that provides contact details for consultee engagement. Additionally, a website has been created showing details of the project and frequently asked questions...
	6.3.3 We also met with the Local Communities Development Officer from Boston Borough Council to seek her expertise of the local area and advice when communicating with stakeholders.
	6.3.4 A series of informal Public Information Days were held in September 2018 (see section 9.2) as part of Phase One consultation.
	6.3.5 Phase One comprises a ‘non-statutory’ consultation, in that it is not formally subject to the statutory consultation requirements. As the proposed development is at an early stage, AUBP has taken the decision to undertake an initial informal con...
	6.3.6 The events provided further information on our proposals, including details of potential local environmental and economic impacts, and gave those interested in the project an opportunity to provide feedback.
	6.3.7 Prior to the Public Information Days, letters were sent to key stakeholders including the MP, county and borough councillors and parish councils, with the offer of a meeting, In September 2018, meetings were held with Councillor Alison Austin, B...

	6.4 Hard To Reach Groups
	6.4.1 For the purpose of our consultation, we have defined ‘Hard to Reach’ groups as including those where English is not their first language and those living in rural areas.
	6.4.2 In order to secure the attention of the ‘Hard to Reach’ audiences, it is proposed to offer the opportunity for materials to be translated to other appropriate languages on request. The languages, as agreed with Boston Borough Council, would be P...
	6.4.3 This approach will be reviewed ahead of the Phase Two Public Information Days, and extended as required.
	6.4.4 Within the Boston Borough Council area, there is a sizeable element of the population who live rurally. In some of these areas, public transport is infrequent and internet capability is poor. For this reason, we are holding Public Information Da...

	6.5 Advertising
	6.5.1 We have discussed the best channels to engage with the local Boston audience with a Community Engagement representative from Boston Borough Council. These channels will include:

	6.6 Phase Two Consultation
	6.6.1 The second phase of consultation will be in early 2019 after the PEIR is published. The PEIR will inform the Environmental Statement (to that point) to support the DCO application.
	6.6.2 As required by law as part of the consultation process for a DCO, a round of formal Public Information Days (as part of the formal statutory consultation phase) will be held following the publication of the PEIR. During these events, we will upd...


	7 What We Will Consult On
	7.1.1 The purpose of pre-application consultation is to gather views whilst the proposal is being developed to allow people the opportunity to influence the design of the project.
	7.1.2 It is important that it is clear what is being consulted upon during both the informal (non-statutory) and formal (statutory) phases of consultation. This will include:
	7.1.3 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility will be a source of renewable energy and the need for this is supported by the Government’s National Policy Statements EN-1 and EN-3. For this reason, AUBP is not required to seek feedback on the need for t...

	8 Identifying Our Consultees
	8.1 The Local Community
	8.1.1 In defining the consultation area for the local community, we have identified an inner consultation area and a wider consultation area, shown in Figure 8.1.
	8.1.2 The inner area, shown in green, includes the community which has the potential to be most impacted by the proposals and this has been defined at a five-kilometre radius of the site. The wider area, within the red line, has been determined by the...
	8.1.3 We have focused on residents of the town of Boston itself and communities in the surrounding local area. However, the consultation events will be advertised on a regional basis using the Boston Standard (part of the Lincolnshire Series), Lincoln...

	8.2 Statutory Consultees
	8.2.1 We are required by section 42 of the Act to consult with certain organisations and people on our proposed application.  We will also notify these parties if the application is accepted by PINS.  Information on this consultation process is outsid...

	8.3 Other Non-Statutory Consultees
	8.3.1 The other non-statutory consultees are those agencies and organisations with whom we consult with as best practice and these include:
	8.3.2 Please note that these lists are not exhaustive.


	9 Communication Tools
	9.1.1 We want to create opportunities for as many people as possible to get involved with the consultation. To do so, we will ensure the following documents are prepared and are made available on the project website, with hard copies available on requ...
	9.2 Communication Methods
	9.2.1 The Boston Alternative Energy Facility project team recognises that one method of consultation will not meet the requirements of every stakeholder group.  For this reason, it is proposed to use a variety of communication methods as shown below.

	9.3 Consultation Events
	9.3.1 A series of drop-in Public Information Days were held at the following venues and on the dates below:
	9.3.2 In addition to these informal consultation events, we issued an invite to all parish councils within the consultation zone to attend a meeting, if required.

	9.4 Methods to provide consultation feedback
	9.4.1 Seeking feedback is key to the principles of consultation. This will be sought using a variety of mechanisms, including:
	9.4.2 Where consultees approach the Boston Alternative Energy Facility project team by email or mail, the communication will be acknowledged within three working days following receipt of the enquiry.  The team will endeavour to respond to the consult...

	9.5 How we will respond to consultee comments
	9.5.1 Following each phase of consultation, we will have a period to consider feedback and review our proposals. We will collate and review the findings of each phase and publish a report on the Boston Alternative Energy Facility website, and discuss ...
	9.5.2 This will set out consultee responses and how we have addressed those responses in formulating the DCO application. Following this, we may carry out additional targeted consultation with members of the local community, as feedback is received, a...
	9.5.3 All comments and information we receive will be recorded in a consultation database and be considered by Boston Alternative Energy Facility. As part of our DCO application, we will provide a Consultation Report to explain how the views received ...
	9.5.4 Names and personal contact details (including email addresses, telephone number and home address) may be collected for the purpose of contacting and corresponding with consultees. Appropriate technical and organisational security measures are in...

	9.6 Timeline
	9.6.1 When the DCO application has been submitted, we are required to publicise this via an advert in the London Gazette, a national newspaper and local newspapers for two consecutive weeks. We will also inform the local community via a newsletter to ...

	9.7 General consultation enquiries
	9.7.1 All project information will be available on our website at the following address https://www.bostonaef.co.uk
	9.7.2 We also have a dedicated email address for you to communicate with us: consultation@BostonAEF.co.uk
	9.7.3 You can also write to us at the following Freepost address:
	9.7.4 Should you wish to follow the project on the PINS website, the Boston Alternative Energy Facility website is at the following address https://infrastructure.planninginspectorate.gov.uk/projects/north-east/boston-alternative-energy-facility-baef/

	9.8 Local information points
	9.8.1 We want to make sure information is accessible locally.
	9.8.2 Electronic and hard copies of key project documents will be available to view free of charge for inspection at the locations listed below throughout the pre-application period. These will include the SoCC, consultation documents and the PEIR dur...
	9.8.3 The opening times of these organisations are controlled by the venue operators and may be subject to change.


	10 Glossary of abbreviations

	Appendix B - Statement of Community Consultation - Glossary of Abbreviations
	Appendix C - Consultation Response from Boston Borough Council’s Principal Environmental Health Officer
	Appendix D - Draft Minutes of the Environment and Performance Committee – 8 November 2018
	Appendix E - Draft Proposed Response to the Statement of Community Consultation

	7 LEISURE, GUILDHALL AND SPORT - FUTURE OPERATIONAL ARRANGEMENTS
	9 EXEMPT APPENDICES - REVIEW OF OFFERS, AND POTENTIAL CONTINUING COUNCIL OPERATIONS AND BOSTON BOROUGH COUNCIL BUSINESS CASE
	Appendix 2 – Exempt – Boston Borough Council Business Case




